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You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus and any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred
you. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different. We are offering to sell our ordinary shares, and seeking offers to buy our
ordinary shares, only in jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus,
regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or any sale of our ordinary shares.
Until and including _________, 25 days after the date of this prospectus, all dealers that buy, sell or trade our ordinary shares, whether or not participating in this offering,
may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealer’s obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as an underwriter and with respect to unsold allotments
or subscriptions.
For investors outside of the United States: Neither we nor any of the underwriters have done anything that would permit this offering or possession or distribution of this
prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than in the United States. You are required to inform yourselves about and to observe any
restrictions relating to this offering and the distribution of this prospectus.

In this prospectus, “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” and “Alcobra” refer to Alcobra Ltd.
Our reporting currency and functional currency is the U.S. dollar.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. This summary does not contain all of the information you should consider before investing in
our ordinary shares. Before you decide to invest in our ordinary shares, you should read the entire prospectus carefully, including the “Risk Factors” section and the financial
statements and related notes appearing at the end of this prospectus.
Our Company
We are an emerging biopharmaceutical company primarily focused on the development and commercialization of our proprietary drug, MG01CI, to treat Attention Deficit
Hyperactivity Disorder, or ADHD. The most common currently available treatments for ADHD are stimulants that increase the brain chemical dopamine. Stimulants have
significant side effects, and as controlled substances have significant potential for misuse, abuse and addiction. MG01CI is a non-stimulant with a different mechanism of action.
MG01CI is a proprietary, combined rapid onset/extended release formulation of the chemical Pyridoxine Pyroglutamate, which is more broadly known as Metadoxine.
Metadoxine has been available since the 1980’s in immediate release forms for the acute treatment of alcohol intoxication and the chronic treatment of alcoholic liver disease in
Italy, Portugal, Hungary, Russia, India, China, Mexico and Thailand. In September 2011, we completed a 120-patient double-blind Phase II study in Israel that showed significant
improvement in clinical ADHD symptoms, and also showed favorable tolerability with no significant side effects over a placebo. The trial met all primary and secondary clinical
endpoints showing statistically significant improvement over the placebo-treated control group.
We plan to initiate discussions with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, within six months from the date of this prospectus to seek approval, via an
Investigational New Drug, or IND, Application submission, to conduct advanced clinical trials in the United States for the use of MGO1CI to treat ADHD in adults. If such FDA
approval of our IND Application is granted and if these and any future clinical trials demonstrate the safety and efficacy of MGO1CI, we will seek to obtain marketing approval
from the FDA for MG01CI for use in adults. We have similar plans to seek marketing approval in the European Union and later in Japan. Following the successful completion of
our next clinical trial in adults, we will seek to obtain regulatory approvals for clinical trials, via additional IND Application submissions, in order ultimately to obtain marketing
approval of MG01CI for use in children. The requirements to conduct pediatric clinical trials are more stringent than those for adults. If our requests for approval to conduct
clinical trials are denied, or if our clinical trials are unsuccessful, we will have to re-design our drug candidate and conduct additional preliminary clinical trials after any
necessary regulatory approvals.
ADHD is one of the most common behavioral disorders in the world. It is estimated that between 5% and 12% of children worldwide are affected by this condition. Once
believed to only affect children, ADHD is now known to persist into adolescence and adulthood in a large number of cases, with approximately 46% of all adults who had ADHD
as children continuing to have symptoms of the disorder as adults. Approximately 95% of these adults experience impaired inattention and executive function symptoms, of
which approximately 35% also experience hyperactivity-impulsivity symptoms.
ADHD is a treatable condition. The most commonly used therapeutic drugs are stimulants (Schedule II, Controlled Substances), such as Ritalin, Adderall, Vyvanse and
Concerta, which are all dopaminergic (related to dopamine) compounds with significant abuse and misuse potential because their use may lead to severe psychological or
physical dependence. In addition, stimulants have numerous side effects, such as uncomfortable mental states, interference with sleep and appetite, development of nervous ticks
and potential cardiovascular effects resulting from increased blood pressure. These side effects have limited effective treatment in those taking the drugs and have also
dramatically limited medication adherence rates. Up to 30% to 50% of those who are prescribed stimulants for ADHD either do not respond or cannot tolerate these treatments,
and only about 20% of those prescribed with stimulants renew their prescription the following month. There also is a non-stimulant drug on the market called Strattera
(Atomoxetine), launched in 2003. This drug also has significant side effects, such as fatigue, decreased appetite, sexual problems, palpitations, increased heart rate and high blood
pressure and also has regulatory warning labels relating to suicidal thoughts and liver damage. Moreover, Strattera takes 6-10 weeks to achieve full clinical effectiveness. More
recently, two additional non-stimulant medications with similar safety and efficacy profiles were approved for use only in children (Guanfacine and Clonidine). These two drugs
have not had significant commercial success and have not been proven effective in adults. All approved ADHD drugs need to be carefully monitored by the treating physician to
optimize the dose, starting with a low dose and slowly escalating to the most effective and tolerable dose.
In contrast to the most common available treatments which involve the use of stimulants, MG01CI is a non-stimulant with a differentiated mechanism of action that is
neither dopaminergic (related to dopamine) nor noradrenergic (related to norepinephrine). Our 120-patient Phase II study showed significant improvement in clinical symptoms
with higher response rates, and a more rapid onset than available non-stimulants. The trial also demonstrated favorable tolerability with no significant side effects over a placebo.
MG01CI therefore potentially represents a safer alternative to stimulant-based treatments and a more tolerable and effective treatment than the non-stimulants which are currently
in the market. Additionally, because of its unique mechanism of action and specific clinical effect on inattention and executive function, we believe that MG01CI possibly may be
useful in treating additional cognitive disorders.
Our Strategy
Our objective is to develop and commercialize proprietary pharmaceutical products for treatment of central nervous system disorders, and cognitive dysfunctions in
particular. To this effect, we intend to conduct additional clinical trials for MG01CI and, if those trials are successful, seek marketing approval from the FDA and other worldwide
regulatory bodies for MG01CI for the treatment of ADHD in adults and children. We also plan to advance clinical studies and commercialization plans for MG01CI in additional
indications of cognitive dysfunction which present significant market opportunities such as mood disorders, memory impairment, autism, and shift work/jet lag. Finally, we
intend to develop products other than MG01CI that we have invented or that may be acquired by the Company.
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To achieve these objectives, we plan to:
·

Subject to receiving the necessary regulatory approvals, initiate and complete two parallel Phase III clinical trials of MG01CI for the treatment of ADHD in adults, and,
if they are successful, file for marketing approval for adults initially in the U.S. and the EU.

·

If our adult clinical trials are successful, subject to receiving the necessary regulatory approvals, initiate and complete clinical trials in a pediatric ADHD population,
and, if successful, file for marketing approval for that use in the U.S. and EU.

·

Subject to receiving the necessary regulatory approvals, initiate and complete clinical trials in Japan for both adult and pediatric ADHD, and, if successful, file for
marketing approval of such uses in that country.

·

After receipt of marketing approval, prepare to commercialize MG01CI for the treatment of patients with ADHD by establishing distribution capabilities primarily in
conjunction with large pharmaceutical companies.

·

Conduct clinical investigations into the possible use of MG01CI to treat other cognitive disorders and impairments such as mood disorders, memory impairment, autism
and shift work/jet lag.

·

Conduct development of additional new molecules in our pipeline that are protected by patents, or in-license products in similar therapeutic areas.

Corporate Information
We are an Israeli corporation based in Tel Aviv and were incorporated in 2008. Our principal executive offices are located at 65 Rothschild Blvd., Tel Aviv, Israel, and our
telephone number is +972 72 220 4661. Our website address is www.alcobra-pharma.com. The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part
of this prospectus. We have included our website address in this prospectus solely as an inactive textual reference.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups
Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. As such, we are eligible to, and intend to, take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public
companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports. We could remain an “emerging growth company” for
up to five years, or until the earliest of (a) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue exceeds $1 billion, (b) the date that we become a “large
accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of our
common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter, or (c) the date on which we
have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the preceding three-year period.
Risks Associated with Our Business
Our business is subject to numerous risks, as more fully described in the section entitled “Risk Factors” immediately following this prospectus summary. You should read
these risks before you invest in our ordinary shares. In particular, our risks include, but are not limited to, the following:
·

We depend entirely on the success of our only current product candidate, MG01CI, for the treatment of ADHD and other cognitive disorders. We have not received FDA
approval to conduct the clinical trials that are necessary to receive regulatory approval to market MG01CI. We require additional and more complex clinical trials of
MG01CI that must be successful if we are to seek and obtain regulatory marketing clearances. Advanced clinical trials are often not successful even if prior trials were
successful, and even if we are able to conduct advanced clinical trials and those trials are successful, we may not obtain necessary regulatory approvals for MG01CI or
we may be unable to successfully commercialize it even if we receive the necessary regulatory approvals.

·

Our data from future clinical trials may not satisfy the FDA, or the FDA may require additional time or studies to assess the safety and efficacy of MG01CI.

·

To date, we have not generated revenue from the sale of any product, and we do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we obtain marketing approval
of, and commercialize, MG01CI. We are unable to predict the extent of future losses or when we will become profitable based on the sale of any product, if at all. Even
if we succeed in developing and commercializing our product candidate, we may never generate sufficient revenue to sustain profitability. As of December 31, 2012, we
had an accumulated deficit of $8.2 million.

·

We have no sources of revenue and will need to raise substantial additional capital to successfully commercialize MG01CI, and such capital may not be available to us
or available only on unfavorable terms.
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·

We do not have any issued patents relating to our MG01CI technology, but one of our patent applications has been allowed by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or
U.S. PTO. Our current patent applications may not result in issued patents, and even if issued, those patents may be challenged by our competitors. Any such challenge
would be extremely expensive and distracting, and if we cannot successfully defend our intellectual property, competitors may be able to develop generic versions of
MG01CI, which would have a material adverse effect on our business or even force us to cease operations.

·

As a public company following the conclusion of this offering, we will need to comply with extensive additional governmental regulations, which will be expensive and
which will require significant management attention.
THE OFFERING

Ordinary shares offered by us

1,365,000 shares

Ordinary shares to be outstanding after this offering
Over-allotment option

9,345,514 shares
The underwriters have an option for a period of 45 days to purchase up to 204,750 additional ordinary shares
to cover over-allotments, if any.

Use of proceeds

We expect to receive approximately $13 million in net proceeds from the sale of 1,365,000 ordinary shares
offered by us in this offering (approximately $15.1 million if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment
option in full), after deducting estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering
expenses payable by us, assuming the shares are offered at $11.00 per share, the midpoint of the estimated
price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus. We currently expect to use the net proceeds from
this offering for:
·

completing at least one advanced clinical trial of MG01CI for adult ADHD, estimated at $6,000,000;

·

preparing for our proposed registration studies in adults and Phase I/II clinical studies in children for
MG01CI, including engaging the FDA in discussions related to protocols for the trials, estimated at
$1,000,000 to $3,000,000;

·

evaluating MG01CI in Phase II clinical trials of additional disorders of cognitive function estimated
at $1,000,000 to $2,000,000; and

·

the remainder for working capital and general corporate purposes.

Risk factors

You should read the “Risk Factors” section starting on page 7 of this prospectus for a discussion of factors to
consider carefully before deciding to invest in ordinary shares.

Proposed NASDAQ Capital Market Symbol

“ADHD"

The number of our ordinary shares to be outstanding immediately after this offering is based on 7,794,256 ordinary shares outstanding as of April 1, 2013 (giving
prospective effect to the issuance of bonus shares equivalent to a stock split described below) and includes also: (i) 89,044 shares resulting from the mandatory conversion of our
outstanding convertible notes upon closing of this offering and (ii) 97,214 shares issued contingent upon the closing of this offering consequent to cashless exercise of 129,257
warrants outstanding as of April 1, 2013 having a weighted average exercise price of $2.73 per share, at an assumed offering price of $11 per share which is the midpoint of the
price range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, or, the Warrant Cashless Exercise. This number excludes:
·

764,444 shares issuable upon the exercise of share options outstanding as of April 1, 2013 under our equity incentive plan;

·

58,700 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants outstanding as of April 1, 2013 with a nominal exercise price, which warrants are expected to remain outstanding
upon completion of this offering; and

·

7,009 shares reserved as of April 1, 2013 for future grants under our equity incentive plan.
Unless otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes or gives effect to:

·

the filing of our amended and restated articles of association, which will occur immediately prior to the completion of this offering;

·

the issuance of bonus shares under Israeli law to all of our shareholders on a basis of 4.87 bonus shares for each ordinary share outstanding (equivalent to a 5.87-for-1
stock split) immediately prior to the completion of this offering and the customary adjustments to our outstanding options and warrants; and

·

no exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA
The following table summarizes our financial data. We have derived the following statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012 from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected in the future. The following summary financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share amounts)
Years Ended December 31,
2012
2011
Statements of Operations Data:
Research and development expenses

$

General and administrative expenses
Financial expense, net
Deemed dividend
Loss attributable to holders of ordinary shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share (1)
_____________

818

$

1,822

683

2,084

78

23

-

180

1,579

4,109

7,791,932

7,843,388

(1) See Note 2(m) to our financial statements for an explanation of the method used to calculate basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share and the weighted average number
of shares used in computation of the per share amounts.
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

As of December 31, 2012
As Adjusted
Actual
(unaudited)(1)

Balance Sheet Data:
Total long-term assets

$

21 $

Total current liabilities

768

Shareholders equity (deficiency)

(567)

21
106
13,102

(1) The unaudited as adjusted column in the balance sheet data above gives effect to the sale of 1,365,000 ordinary shares in this offering at an assumed initial public offering
price of $11.00 per share (the midpoint of the estimated price range on the cover page of this prospectus), after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses payable by us, as if the sale had occurred on December 31, 2012, and to mandatory conversion of our outstanding convertible notes on the
closing of this offering.
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RISK FACTORS
An investment in our ordinary shares involves a high degree of risk. We operate in a dynamic and rapidly changing industry that involves numerous risks and uncertainties.
You should consider carefully the risks and uncertanties described below, together with all of the other information in this prospectus, including the consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, before deciding whether to invest in our ordinary shares. If any of the risks discussed below actually occur,
our business, financial condition, operating results or cash flows could be materially adversely affected. This could cause the trading price of our ordinary shares to decline, and
you may lose all or part of your investment.
Risks Related to Product Development, Regulatory Approval and Commercialization
We depend entirely on the success of our only current product candidate, MG01CI, and we may not obtain regulatory approval of MG01CI for the treatment of ADHD or we
may be unable to successfully commercialize it.
We have invested almost all of our efforts and financial resources in the research and development of MG01CI, which is currently our only product candidate. As a result,
our business is entirely dependent on our ability to complete the development of, obtain regulatory approval for, and successfully commercialize, MG01CI in a timely manner.
The process to develop, obtain regulatory approval for, and commercialize MG01CI is long, complex, costly and uncertain of outcome.
The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, approval, sale, marketing and distribution of drugs are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA in the United States and
other regulatory agencies in other countries. These regulations differ from country to country. We are not permitted to market MG01CI or any other product candidate in the
United States until we receive approval of a New Drug Application, or NDA, from the FDA, or in any foreign countries until we receive the requisite approval from regulatory
agencies in such countries. We have not received regulatory clearance to conduct the additional clinical trials that are necessary to be able to submit an NDA to the FDA or
comparable applications to other regulatory authorities in other countries or received marketing approval for MG01CI. The results of additional clinical trials may be
unsatisfactory, and even if we believe those clinical trials to be successful, there are many reasons why the FDA may not approve our NDA should we be in a position to file one.
Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional product testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in
other countries might differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The marketing approval process in other countries may include all of the risks detailed above regarding
FDA approval in the United States as well as other risks. In particular, in many countries outside the United States, it is required that a product receive pricing and reimbursement
approval before the product can be commercialized. This can result in substantial delays in such countries. In other countries, product approval depends on showing superiority to
an approved alternative therapy. This can result in significant expense for conducting complex clinical trials. Finally, we do not have any products approved for sale in any
jurisdiction, including international markets, and we do not have experience in obtaining regulatory approval in international markets. If we fail to comply with regulatory
requirements in international markets or to obtain and maintain required approvals or if regulatory approvals in international markets are delayed, our target market will be
reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our products will be harmed.
Marketing approval in one country does not ensure marketing approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining marketing approval in one country may have a negative
effect on the regulatory process in others. Failure to obtain marketing approval in other countries or any delay or setback in obtaining such approval would impair our ability to
develop foreign markets for MG01CI. This would reduce our target market and limit the full commercial potential of MG01CI. Many countries are undertaking cost-containment
measures that could affect pricing or reimbursement of a product.
The commencement and completion of clinical trials can be delayed or prevented for a number of reasons.
We may not be able to commence or complete the clinical trials that would support our submission of an NDA to the FDA. Drug development is a long, expensive and
uncertain process, and delay or failure can occur at any stage of any of our clinical trials. Clinical trials can be delayed or prevented for a number of reasons, including:
·

difficulties obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical trial or complying with conditions imposed by a regulatory authority regarding the scope or term of a
clinical trial;

·

delays in reaching or failing to reach agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and trial sites, the terms of which can be
subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;
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·

insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of a product candidate or other materials necessary to conduct our clinical trials;

·

difficulties obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, approval to conduct a clinical trial at a prospective site; and

·

challenges recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in clinical trials for a variety of reasons, including size and nature of patient population, proximity of patients to
clinical sites, eligibility criteria for the trial, nature of trial protocol, the availability of approved effective treatments for the relevant disease and competition from other
clinical trial programs for similar indications.

Clinical trials may also be delayed or terminated as a result of ambiguous or negative interim results. In addition, a clinical trial may be suspended or terminated by us, the
FDA, the IRBs at the sites where the IRBs are overseeing a trial, or a data safety monitoring board overseeing the clinical trial at issue, or other regulatory authorities due to a
number of factors, including:
·

failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols;

·

inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities;

·

unforeseen safety issues or lack of effectiveness; and

·

lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.

Positive results in previous clinical trials of MG01CI may not be replicated in future clinical trials of MG01CI, which could result in development delays or a failure to
obtain marketing approval.
Positive results in previous clinical studies of MG01CI may not be predictive of similar results in future clinical trials. Also, interim results during a clinical trial do not
necessarily predict final results. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials even
after achieving promising results in early-stage development. Accordingly, the results from the completed preclinical studies and clinical trials for MG01CI may not be predictive
of the results we may obtain in later stage trials. Our clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct
additional clinical trials. Moreover, clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates
performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain FDA approval for their products.
Obtaining approval of an NDA even after clinical trials that are believed to be successful is an uncertain process.
Even if we complete our planned clinical trials and believe the results to be successful, all of which are uncertain, obtaining approval of an NDA is an extensive, lengthy,
expensive and uncertain process, and the FDA (and other regulatory agencies) may delay, limit or deny approval of MG01CI for many reasons, including:
·

we may not be able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA that MG01CI is safe and effective for any indication;

·

the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance or clinical significance required by the FDA for approval;

·

the FDA may disagree with the number, design, size, conduct or implementation of our clinical trials;

·

the FDA may not find the data from preclinical studies and clinical trials sufficient to demonstrate that MG01CI’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks;

·

the FDA may disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials;

·

the FDA may not accept data generated at our clinical trial sites;

·

the data collected from preclinical studies and clinical trials of MG01CI may not be sufficient to support the submission of an NDA;

·

the FDA may have difficulties scheduling an advisory committee meeting in a timely manner or the advisory committee may recommend against approval of our
application or may recommend that the FDA require, as a condition of approval, additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, limitations on approved labeling, or
distribution and use restrictions;

·

the FDA may require development of a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy as a condition of approval;
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·

the FDA may identify deficiencies in the manufacturing processes or facilities of third party manufacturers with which we enter into agreements for clinical and
commercial supplies;

·

the FDA may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations; and

·

the FDA may require simultaneous approval for both adults and children delaying needed approvals, or we may have successful clinical trial results for adults but not
children, or vice versa.

Before we can submit an NDA to the FDA, we must conduct at least two Phase III clinical trials that will be substantially broader than our Phase II trial. We will also need to
agree on a protocol with the FDA for the clinical trials before commencing those trials. Phase III clinical trials frequently produce unsatisfactory results even though prior clinical
trials were successful. Therefore, the results of the additional trials that we conduct may or may not be successful. The FDA may suspend all clinical trials or require that we
conduct additional clinical, nonclinical, manufacturing validation or drug product quality studies and submit those data before it will consider or reconsider the NDA. Depending
on the extent of these or any other studies, approval of any applications that we submit may be delayed by several years, or may require us to expend more resources than we have
available. It is also possible that additional studies, if performed and completed, may not be considered sufficient by the FDA to approve the NDA. If any of these outcomes
occur, we would not receive approval for MG01CI and may be forced to cease operations.
Even if we obtain FDA approval for MG01CI for the treatment of ADHD, the approval might contain significant limitations related to use restrictions for certain age
groups, warnings, precautions or contraindications, or may be subject to significant post-marketing studies or risk mitigation requirements. If we are unable to successfully
commercialize MG01CI, we may be forced to cease operations.
MG01CI may produce undesirable side effects after approval of an NDA.
Even if MG01CI receives marketing approval, we or others may later identify undesirable side effects caused by the product, and in that event a number of potentially
significant negative consequences could result, including:
·

regulatory authorities may suspend or withdraw their approval of the product;

·

regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as warnings or contraindications or distribution and use restrictions;

·

regulatory authorities may require us to issue specific communications to healthcare professionals, such as “Dear Doctor” letters;

·

regulatory authorities may issue negative publicity regarding the affected product, including safety communications;

·

we may be required to change the way the product is administered, conduct additional preclinical studies or clinical trials or restrict the distribution or use of the product;

·

we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and

·

our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidate and could substantially increase commercialization costs
or even force us to cease operations.
We have only minimal preliminary pre-clinical or clinical data that support the applicability of MG01CI to other cognitive conditions, and ultimate regulatory approval for
any additional applications is speculative.
We intend to investigate the use of MG01CI to treat other cognitive disorders and impairments. These efforts have just commenced, and very little data regarding such uses
has been obtained. The regulatory approval process for additional indications would be as complex, time consuming and expensive as that for MG01CI in ADHD. As a result,
ultimate regulatory approval for one or more of such indications is speculative.
Obtaining regulatory approval for clinical trials of MGO1CI in children will be more difficult than obtaining such approvals for adult clinical trials since the requirements
for regulatory approval to conduct pediatric clinical trials are more stringent.
Pediatric drug development requires additional non-clinical work (such as animal studies in juvenile animals and additional reproductive toxicity work), as well as staged
clinical work in determining safe dosing and monitoring. These additional tasks involve investment of significant additional resources beyond those needed for approval of the
drug for adults. Approval of our drug for children may be significantly delayed due to these additional requirements.
Changes in regulatory requirements and guidance or unanticipated events during our clinical trials may occur, which may result in necessary changes to clinical trial
protocols, which could result in increased costs to us, delay our development timeline or reduce the likelihood of successful completion of our clinical trials.
Changes in regulatory requirements and guidance or unanticipated events during our clinical trials may occur, as a result of which we may need to amend clinical trial
protocols. Amendments may require us to resubmit our clinical trial protocols to IRBs for review and approval, which may impact the cost, timing or successful completion of a
clinical trial. If we experience delays in completion of, or if we terminate, any of our clinical trials, the commercial prospects for MG01CI would be harmed and our ability to
generate product revenue would be delayed, possibly materially.
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Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us to obtain marketing approval of and commercialize MG01CI or any other product
candidate that we develop and affect the prices we may obtain.
In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system
that could prevent or delay marketing approval for MG01CI or any other product candidate that we develop, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to
profitably sell MG01CI or any other product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.
Legislative and regulatory proposals have been made to expand post-approval requirements and restrict sales and promotional activities for pharmaceutical products. We are
not sure whether additional legislative changes will be enacted, or whether the FDA regulations, guidance or interpretations will be changed, or what the impact of such changes
on the marketing approvals of MG01CI, if any, may be. In addition, increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the FDA’s approval process may significantly delay or prevent
marketing approval, as well as subject us to more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.
In the United States, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, or the MMA, changed the way Medicare covers and pays for
pharmaceutical products. The legislation expanded Medicare coverage for drug purchases by the elderly and introduced a new reimbursement methodology based on average
sales prices for drugs. In addition, this legislation authorized Medicare Part D prescription drug plans to limit the number of drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic class. As
a result of this legislation and the expansion of federal coverage of drug products, we expect that there will be additional pressure to contain and reduce costs. These cost
reduction initiatives and other provisions of this legislation could decrease the coverage and price that we receive for any approved products and could seriously harm our
business. While the MMA applies only to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their
own reimbursement rates, and any reduction in reimbursement that results from the MMA may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors.
More recently, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, a sweeping law intended to broaden access to health insurance, reduce or
constrain the growth of healthcare spending, enhance remedies against fraud and abuse, add new transparency requirements for healthcare and the health insurance industry,
impose new taxes and fees on the healthcare industry and impose additional health policy reforms. This law revises the definition of “average manufacturer price” for reporting
purposes, which could increase the amount of Medicaid drug rebates to states once the provision is effective. Further, the new law imposes a significant annual fee on companies
that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products. Substantial new provisions affecting compliance have also been enacted, which may require us to modify our
business practices with healthcare practitioners. We will not know the full effects of this law until applicable federal and state agencies issue regulations or guidance under it.
Although it is too early to determine its effect, the new law appears likely to continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricing, especially under the Medicare program, and may
also increase our regulatory burdens and operating costs.
Even if MG01CI or any other product candidate that we develop receives marketing approval, we will continue to face extensive regulatory requirements and the product
may still face future development and regulatory difficulties.
Even if marketing approval is obtained, a regulatory authority may still impose significant restrictions on a product’s indications, conditions for use, distribution or
marketing or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-market surveillance, post-approval studies or clinical trials. For example, any labeling ultimately approved
by the FDA for MG01CI, if it is approved for marketing, may include restrictions on use, such as limitations on how ADHD is defined and diagnosed or limiting MG01CI to
second-line or concomitant therapy. In addition, the labeling may include significant restrictions on use. MG01CI will also be subject to ongoing FDA requirements governing the
labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, distribution, promotion, recordkeeping and submission of safety and other post-market information, including adverse events, and any
changes to the approved product, product labeling, or manufacturing process. The FDA has significant post-market authority, including, for example, the authority to require
labeling changes based on new safety information and to require post-market studies or clinical trials to evaluate serious safety risks related to the use of a drug. These risks
include adverse drug—drug interactions and concomitant therapy with other medications. In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual
review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, and other regulations.
If we, our drug products or the manufacturing facilities for our drug products fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may:
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·

issue warning letters or untitled letters;

·

seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;

·

suspend or withdraw marketing approval;

·

suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

·

refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications;

·

suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements;

·

seize or detain products, refuse to permit the import or export of products or request that we initiate a product recall; or

·

refuse to allow us to enter into supply contracts, including government contracts.

If we obtain approval to commercialize MG01CI outside of the United States, a variety of risks associated with international operations could materially adversely affect our
business.
If MG01CI is approved for commercialization outside the United States, we will likely enter into agreements with third parties to market MG01CI outside the United
States. We expect that we will be subject to additional risks related to entering into or maintaining international business relationships, including:
·

different regulatory requirements for drug approvals in foreign countries;

·

differing United States and foreign drug import and export rules;

·

reduced protection for intellectual property rights in foreign countries;

·

unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements;

·

different reimbursement systems;

·

economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

·

compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;

·

foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

·

foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenues, and other obligations incident to doing business in another
country;

·

workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

·

production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad;

·

potential liability resulting from development work conducted by these distributors; and

·

business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war and terrorism, or natural disasters.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response, and could generate negative publicity. Any
failure to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements may significantly and adversely affect our ability to commercialize and generate revenues from MG01CI. If regulatory
sanctions are applied or if regulatory approval is withdrawn, the value of our company and our operating results will be adversely affected.
If we receive marketing approval for MG01CI, sales will be limited unless the product achieves broad market acceptance.
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The commercial success of MG01CI and any other product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval from the FDA or other regulatory authorities will depend
upon the acceptance of the product by the medical community, including physicians, patients and healthcare payors. The degree of market acceptance of any approved product
will depend on a number of factors, including:
·

demonstration of clinical safety and efficacy compared to other products;

·

the relative convenience and ease of administration;

·

the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects;

·

limitations or warnings contained in the product’s approved labeling;

·

distribution and use restrictions imposed by the FDA or agreed to by us as part of a mandatory or voluntary risk management plan;

·

availability of alternative treatments, including, in the case of MG01CI, a number of competitive products already approved for the treatment of ADHD or expected to be
commercially launched in the near future;

·

pricing and cost effectiveness;

·

the effectiveness of our or any future collaborators’ sales and marketing strategies;

·

our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement; and

·

the willingness of patients to pay for drugs out of pocket in the absence of third-party coverage.

If MG01CI is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, healthcare payors and patients, we may not generate sufficient revenue from the
product, and we may not become or remain profitable. In addition, our efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of the product may require
significant resources and may never be successful.
The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses. If we are found to have improperly promoted
off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability.
The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about prescription products. In particular, a product may not be promoted
for uses that are not approved by the FDA or such other regulatory agencies as reflected in the product’s approved labeling. In particular, any labeling approved by the FDA for
MG01CI may include restrictions on use, such as limitations on how ADHD is defined and diagnosed or limiting MG01CI to second-line or concomitant therapy. The FDA may
impose further requirements or restrictions on the distribution or use of MG01CI as part of a mandatory plan, such as limiting prescribing to certain physicians or medical centers
that have undergone specialized training, limiting treatment to patients who meet certain safe-use criteria and requiring treated patients to enroll in a registry. If we receive
marketing approval for MG01CI, physicians may nevertheless prescribe MG01CI to their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label. If we are found to have
promoted such off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability. The federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged
improper promotion and has enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees or
permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed.
It will be difficult for us to profitably sell MG01CI if reimbursement for the product is limited.
Market acceptance and sales of MG01CI will depend on reimbursement policies and may be affected by healthcare reform measures. Government authorities and thirdparty payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations (HMOs), decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. A
primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Government authorities and these third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting
coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for MG01CI and, if reimbursement is available,
the level of reimbursement. Reimbursement may impact the demand for, or the price of, any product for which we obtain marketing approval. In addition, third-party payors are
likely to impose strict requirements for reimbursement in order to limit off label use of a higher priced drug. Reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon a number of
factors including the third-party payor’s determination that use of a product candidate is:
·

a covered benefit under its health plan;

·

safe, effective, and medically necessary;

·

appropriate for the specific patient;

·

cost effective; and

·

neither experimental nor investigational.
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Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product candidate from a government or other third-party payor is a time-consuming and costly process that could
require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical, and cost effectiveness data for the use of our product candidates to the payor. We may not be able to provide data sufficient to
gain acceptance with respect to coverage and reimbursement. We cannot be sure that coverage or adequate reimbursement will be available for any of our product candidates.
Also, we cannot be sure that reimbursement amounts will not reduce the demand for, or the price of, our product candidate. If reimbursement is not available or is available only
to limited levels, we may not be able to commercialize certain of our product candidates profitably, or at all, even if approved.
If third-party manufacturers fail to comply with manufacturing regulations, our financial results and financial condition will be adversely affected.
Before they can begin commercial manufacture of MG01CI, contract manufacturers must obtain regulatory approval of their manufacturing facilities, processes and quality
systems. In addition, pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities are continuously subject to inspection by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities before and after product
approval. Due to the complexity of the processes used to manufacture pharmaceutical products and product candidates, any potential third-party manufacturer may be unable to
continue to pass or initially pass federal, state or international regulatory inspections in a cost effective manner.
If a third-party manufacturer with whom we contract is unable to comply with manufacturing regulations, we may be subject to fines, unanticipated compliance expenses,
recall or seizure of our products, total or partial suspension of production and/or enforcement actions, including injunctions, and criminal or civil prosecution. These possible
sanctions would adversely affect our financial results and financial condition.
We intend to rely primarily on third parties to market and sell MG01CI.
We currently have no manufacturing, sales or distribution capabilities. To the extent we rely on third parties to commercialize MG01CI, if marketing approval is obtained,
we may receive less revenue than if we commercialized MG01CI ourselves. In addition, we would have less control over the sales efforts of any third parties involved in our
commercialization efforts. In the event we are unable to collaborate with a third-party marketing and sales organization to commercialize MG01CI, particularly for broader
patient populations, our ability to generate revenue will be limited.
Our market is subject to intense competition. If we are unable to compete effectively, MG01CI or any other product candidate that we develop may be rendered
noncompetitive or obsolete.
There are a number of existing treatments for ADHD currently on the market, all of which are marketed by pharmaceutical companies that are far larger and more
experienced than we are. Patients and doctors are often unwilling to change medications, and this factor will make it difficult for MG01CI to penetrate the market. Further, our
industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid and significant technological change. Our potential competitors include large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies,
specialty pharmaceutical and generic drug companies, academic institutions, government agencies and research institutions. All of these competitors currently engage in, have
engaged in or may engage in the future in the development, manufacturing, marketing and commercialization of new pharmaceuticals, some of which may compete with
MG01CI or other product candidates. Smaller or early stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large,
established companies. These companies may have products in development that are superior to MG01CI. Key competitive factors affecting the commercial success of MG01CI
and any other product candidates that we develop are likely to be efficacy, time of onset, safety and tolerability profile, reliability, convenience of dosing, price and
reimbursement.
Many of our potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than we do and significantly greater experience in the discovery and
development of drug candidates, obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of products and the commercialization of those products. Accordingly, our competitors may be
more successful than we may be in obtaining FDA and other marketing approvals for drugs and achieving widespread market acceptance. Our competitors’ drugs may be more
effective, or more effectively marketed and sold, than any drug we may commercialize and may render MG01CI or any other product candidate that we develop obsolete or noncompetitive before we can recover the expenses of developing and commercializing the product. We anticipate that we will face intense and increasing competition as new drugs
enter the market and advanced technologies become available. Finally, the development of new treatment methods for the diseases we are targeting could render MG01CI or any
other product candidate that we develop non-competitive or obsolete.
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We face potential product liability exposure, and, if claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability.
The use of MG01CI or other drugs exposes us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims might be brought against us by consumers, healthcare providers
or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our products. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims, we could incur substantial
liabilities. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:
·

decreased demand for MG01CI or any other product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval;

·

impairment of our business reputation and exposure to adverse publicity;

·

increased warnings on product labels;

·

withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

·

costs of related litigation;

·

distraction of management’s attention from our primary business;

·

substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;

·

loss of revenue; and

·

the inability to successfully commercialize MG01CI or any other product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.

If product liability lawsuits are successfully brought against us, our insurance may be inadequate.
We have obtained product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials with a $5.0 million annual aggregate coverage limit. However, our insurance coverage may not
be sufficient to reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and, in the future, we may not be able
to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. If and when we obtain marketing approval for MG01CI or
any other product candidate, we intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial products; however, we may be unable to obtain this product liability
insurance on commercially reasonable terms. On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on drugs that had unanticipated side effects. The
cost of any product liability litigation or other proceedings, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought
against us could cause our share price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and adversely affect our business.
The product liability insurance we will need to obtain in connection with the commercial sales of our product candidates if and when they receive regulatory approval may
be unavailable in meaningful amounts or at a reasonable cost. If we are the subject of a successful product liability claim that exceeds the limits of any insurance coverage we
obtain, we would incur substantial charges that would adversely affect our earnings and require the commitment of capital resources that might otherwise be available for the
development and commercial launch of our product programs.
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital
We have a limited operating history and we have incurred significant operating losses since our inception, and anticipate that we will incur continued losses for the
foreseeable future.
We are an emerging biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. To date, we have focused almost exclusively on developing our lead compound, MG01CI.
We have funded our operations to date primarily through proceeds from the private placement of ordinary shares and convertible debt. We have only a limited operating history
upon which you can evaluate our business and prospects. In addition, we have limited experience and have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully overcome many of the
risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in new and rapidly evolving fields, particularly in the pharmaceutical industry. We have not generated any revenue
from product sales to date. We have incurred losses in each year since our inception in February 2008. Our loss attributable to holders of our ordinary shares for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2012 was approximately $4.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2012, we had an accumulated deficit of $8.2 million.
Substantially all of our operating losses resulted from costs incurred in connection with our development program and from general and administrative costs associated with our
operations.
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We expect our research and development expenses to increase in connection with our planned expanded clinical trials. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for
MG01CI, we will likely incur significant sales, marketing and outsourced manufacturing expenses, as well as continued research and development expenses. Furthermore, in the
period following this offering, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company, which we estimate will be at least several hundred thousand
dollars annually. As a result, we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties
associated with developing pharmaceutical products, we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will become profitable, if at all.
We have not generated any revenue from MG01CI or any other product candidate and may never be profitable.
Our ability to become profitable depends upon our ability to generate revenue. To date, we have not generated any revenue from our development stage product candidate,
MG01CI, and we do not know when, or if, we will generate any revenue. We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless or until we obtain marketing approval of, and
commercialize, MG01CI. Our ability to generate revenue depends on a number of factors, including our ability to:
·

obtain favorable results from and progress the clinical development of MG01CI;

·

develop and obtain regulatory approval for registration studies protocols for MG01CI;

·

subject to successful completion of registration, clinical trials and perhaps additional clinical trials of MG01CI, apply for and obtain marketing approval;

·

contract for the manufacture of commercial quantities of MG01CI at acceptable cost levels if marketing approval is received; and

·

establish sales and marketing capabilities, both internal and external, to effectively market and sell MG01CI in the United States and other countries.

Even if MG01CI is approved for commercial sale for the treatment of ADHD, it may not gain market acceptance or achieve commercial success. In addition, we anticipate
incurring significant costs associated with commercialization. We may not achieve profitability soon after generating product revenue, if ever. If we are unable to generate
product revenue, we will not become profitable and would be unable to continue operations without continued funding.
We will need substantial additional capital in the future. If additional capital is not available, we will have to delay, reduce or cease operations.
We will need to raise substantial additional capital to fund our operations and to develop and commercialize MG01CI. As of December 31, 2012, we had negative working
capital of $(588,000) and cash and cash equivalents of $97,000. Our future capital requirements may be substantial and will depend on many factors including:
·

our clinical trial results;

·

the cost, timing and outcomes of seeking marketing approval of MG01CI;

·

the cost of filing and prosecuting patent applications and the cost of defending our patents;

·

the cost of prosecuting infringement actions against third parties;

·

exploration and possible label expansion of MG01CI for the treatment of other conditions;

·

the costs associated with commercializing MG01CI if we receive marketing approval, including the cost and timing of establishing sales and marketing capabilities to
market and sell MG01CI;

·

subject to receipt of marketing approval, revenue received from sales of approved products, if any, in the future;

·

any product liability or other lawsuits related to our products;

·

the expenses needed to attract and retain skilled personnel; and

·

the costs associated with being a public company.
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Based on our current operating plan, we anticipate that the net proceeds of this offering, together with our existing resources, will be sufficient to enable us to maintain our
currently planned operations, including our continued product development, at least through 2014. We believe these funds will enable us to complete any preparatory clinical and
non-clinical work, as well as one of two Phase III clinical trials. We will require significant additional funds to initiate and complete the FDA approval process. However,
changing circumstances may cause us to consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate. We have no committed external sources of funds. Additional financing
may not be available when we need it or may not be available on terms that are favorable to us. If adequate funds are not available to us on a timely basis, or at all, we may be
required to:
·

terminate or delay clinical trials or other development activities for MG01CI; or

·

delay our establishment of sales and marketing capabilities or other activities that may be necessary to commercialize MG01CI, if we obtain marketing approval.

Raising additional capital would cause dilution to our existing shareholders, and may restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights.
We may seek additional capital through a combination of private and public equity offerings, debt financings and collaborations and strategic and licensing arrangements.
To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may include
liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a shareholder. Debt financing, if available, would result in increased fixed payment obligations and may
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions such as incurring debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If
we raise additional funds through collaboration, strategic alliance and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies,
future revenue streams or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.
Our recurring operating losses have raised substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern.
As of December 31, 2012, we had an accumulated deficit of $8.2 million. Our recurring operating losses raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going
concern. Our financial statements include a note describing the conditions which raise this substantial doubt. As a result, our independent registered public accounting firm
included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012 with respect to this uncertainty. We have no current
source of revenue to sustain our present activities, and we do not expect to generate revenue until, and unless, the FDA or other regulatory authorities approve MG01CI and we
successfully commercialize MG01CI. Accordingly, our ability to continue as a going concern will require us to obtain additional financing to fund our operations. According to
our estimates, based on our budget, if we are not successful in obtaining additional capital resources, there is a substantial doubt that we will be able to continue our activities
after March 31, 2013. The perception of our ability to continue as a going concern may make it more difficult for us to obtain financing for the continuation of our operations and
could result in the loss of confidence by investors, suppliers and employees.
Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties
We have no manufacturing capacity and anticipate reliance on third-party manufacturers for our products.
We do not currently operate manufacturing facilities for clinical production of MG01CI. We do not intend to develop facilities for the manufacture of products for clinical
trials or commercial purposes in the foreseeable future. We will rely on third-party manufacturers to produce bulk drug products required for our clinical trials. We plan to
continue to rely upon contract manufacturers and, potentially, collaboration partners to manufacture commercial quantities of our drug product candidates if and when approved
for marketing by the applicable regulatory authorities. Our contract manufacturers have not completed process validation for the drug substance manufacturing process. If our
contract manufacturers are not approved by the FDA, our commercial supply of drug substance will be significantly delayed and may result in significant additional costs. We
purchase finished MG01CI drug product from a third party under a clinical supply agreement. We do not have an agreement in place for, and we have not identified, a secondary
fill/finish supplier. If we need to identify an additional fill/finish manufacturer, we would not be able to do so without significant delay and likely significant additional cost.
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Our contract manufacturer’s failure to achieve and maintain high manufacturing standards, in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements, or the incidence of
manufacturing errors, could result in patient injury or death, product shortages, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns or
other problems that could seriously harm our business. Contract manufacturers often encounter difficulties involving production yields, quality control and quality assurance, as
well as shortages of qualified personnel.
Our existing manufacturers and any future contract manufacturers may not perform as agreed or may not remain in the contract manufacturing business. In the event of a
natural disaster, business failure, strike or other difficulty, we may be unable to replace a third-party manufacturer in a timely manner and the production of MG01CI would be
interrupted, resulting in delays and additional costs.
In addition, because our contract manufacturers of the bulk drug substance are located outside of the United States, we may face difficulties in importing our drug
substances into the United States as a result of, among other things, FDA import inspections, incomplete or inaccurate import documentation or defective packaging.
Any collaboration arrangements that we may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our
current and potential future product candidates.
We may seek collaboration arrangements with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies for the development or commercialization of our current and potential future
product candidates. We may enter into these arrangements on a selective basis depending on the merits of retaining commercialization rights for ourselves as compared to
entering into selective collaboration arrangements with other pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies for each product candidate, both in the United States and
internationally. We will face, to the extent that we decide to enter into collaboration agreements, significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Moreover,
collaboration arrangements are complex and time consuming to negotiate, document and implement. We may not be successful in our efforts to establish and implement
collaborations or other alternative arrangements should we so choose to enter into such arrangements. The terms of any collaborations or other arrangements that we may
establish may not be favorable to us.
We previously had a collaboration with Teva Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., a large Israeli generic drug manufacturer. After our successful proof of concept trial in 2010, Teva made
an equity investment in us, negotiated the right to acquire us should MG01CI reach market, and funded the next stage of clinical development of MG01CI. All of Teva’s rights
with respect to the development of MG01CI and any outcomes thereof terminated when it failed to timely exercise an option to continue financing the development of MG01CI
in November 2011. We do not have any continuing obligations to Teva other than that Teva continues to be a shareholder of the Company with related rights.
Any future collaborations that we enter into may not be successful. The success of our collaboration arrangements will depend heavily on the efforts and activities of our
collaborators. Collaborators generally have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations.
Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement regarding clinical development and commercialization matters can lead to delays in the development process
or commercializing the applicable product candidate and, in some cases, termination of the collaboration arrangement. These disagreements can be difficult to resolve if neither of
the parties has final decision making authority.
Collaborations with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies and other third parties often are terminated or allowed to expire by the other party. Any such termination or
expiration would adversely affect us financially and could harm our business reputation.
We currently depend on third parties to conduct our clinical trials.
We rely on third parties, such as contract research organizations, medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories to oversee some of the operations of
our clinical trials and to perform data collection and analysis. As a result, we may face additional delays outside of our control if these parties do not perform their obligations in a
timely fashion or in accordance with regulatory requirements. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations and meet expected
deadlines, if they need to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or for other
reasons, our financial results and the commercial prospects for MG01CI or any other potential product candidates could be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to
obtain regulatory approval and commence product sales could be delayed.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
We have filed multiple patent applications but have no issued patents and only one of our patent applications has been allowed by the U.S. PTO. There can be no assurance
that any of our patent applications will result in issued patents. As a result, we may not be able to protect our proprietary technology in the marketplace.
We have filed patent applications in many countries worldwide. These applications cover a range of areas including: different formulations of Metadoxine, the use of
Metadoxine for all cognitive impairments, combination therapy including Metadoxine, new molecular derivatives of Metadoxine and the manufacturing and production of
Metadoxine API. Unless and until our pending applications issue, their protective scope is impossible to determine. It is impossible to predict whether or how many of these
applications will result in issued patents. Even if pending applications issue, they may issue with claims significantly narrower than those we currently seek.
Even if we are issued patents, because the patent positions of pharmaceutical products are complex and uncertain, we cannot predict the scope and extent of patent
protection for MG01CI.
Any patents that may issue to use will not ensure the protection of our intellectual property for a number of reasons, including without limitation the following:
·

any issued patents may not be broad or strong enough to prevent competition from other products including identical or similar products;

·

if we are not issued patents or if issued patents expire, there would be no protections against competitors making generic equivalents;

·

there may be prior art of which we are not aware that may affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim;

·

there may be other patents existing in the patent landscape for MG01CI that will affect our freedom to operate;

·

if our patents are challenged, a court could determine that they are not valid or enforceable;

·

a court could determine that a competitor’s technology or product does not infringe our patents;

·

our patents could irretrievably lapse due to failure to pay fees or otherwise comply with regulations, or could be subject to compulsory licensing; and

·

if we encounter delays in our development or clinical trials, the period of time during which we could market our products under patent protection would be reduced.

We may not be able to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world. This risk is exacerbated for us because Metadoxine is manufactured and used in a
number of foreign countries in other applications.
The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many companies have encountered
significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. This risk is exacerbated for us because Metadoxine is manufactured
and used in a number of foreign countries in other applications and is widely available. The manufacture of Metadoxine and its use in other indications will not infringe our IP
rights, and will make it more difficult to monitor and enforce any patent rights that may be issued to us.
The legal systems of some countries, particularly developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, especially those
relating to life sciences. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of any in-licensed patents we may acquire or the misappropriation of our other intellectual
property rights. For example, many foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many countries
limit the enforceability of patents against third parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, patents may provide limited or no benefit.
Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.
Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by courts in the United
States and foreign countries may affect our ability to obtain adequate protection for our technology and the enforcement of intellectual property.
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We may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which may prevent or delay our product development efforts and stop us from commercializing or increase the
costs of commercializing our products.
Our commercial success depends significantly on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties. For example,
there could be issued patents of which we are not aware that our products infringe. There also could be patents that we believe we do not infringe, but that we may ultimately be
found to infringe. Moreover, patent applications are in some cases maintained in secrecy until patents are issued. The publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent
literature frequently occurs substantially later than the date on which the underlying discoveries were made and patent applications were filed. Because patents can take many
years to issue, there may be currently pending applications of which we are unaware that may later result in issued patents that our products infringe. For example, pending
applications may exist that provide support or can be amended to provide support for a claim that results in an issued patent that our product infringes.
Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. If a court held that any third-party patents are valid, enforceable and
cover our products or their use, the holders of any of these patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize our products unless we obtained a license under the
applicable patents, or until the patents expire. We may not be able to enter into licensing arrangements or make other arrangements at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms.
Any inability to secure licenses or alternative technology could result in delays in the introduction of our products or lead to prohibition of the manufacture or sale of products by
us.
We may be unable to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.
We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietary know-how and technological advances, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable.
However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored
researchers and other advisors to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary information. These agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information
and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In addition, others may independently discover our trade secrets and
proprietary information. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights. Failure to obtain or maintain trade
secret protection could enable competitors to use our proprietary information to develop products that compete with our products or cause additional, material adverse effects
upon our competitive business position.
Under applicable employment laws, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from the
expertise of some of our former employees. In addition, employees may be entitled to seek compensation for their inventions irrespective of their agreements with us.

We generally enter into non-competition agreements with our employees and certain key consultants. These agreements prohibit our employees
and certain key consultants, if they cease working for us, from competing directly with us or working for our competitors or clients for a limited
period of time. We may be unable to enforce these agreements under the laws of the jurisdictions in which our employees work and it may be
difficult for us to restrict our competitors from benefitting from the expertise our former employees or consultants developed while working for us.
For example, Israeli courts have required employers seeking to enforce non-compete undertakings of a former employee to demonstrate that the
competitive activities of the former employee will harm one of a limited number of material interests of the employer which have been recognized
by the courts, such as the secrecy of a company's confidential commercial information or the protection of its intellectual property. If we cannot
demonstrate that such interests will be harmed, we may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from the expertise of our former
employees or consultants and our ability to remain competitive may be diminished. In addition, the Israeli Supreme Court ruled in 2012 that an
employee who receives a patent or contributes to an invention during his employment may be allowed to seek compensation for it from their
employer, even if the employee’s contract of employment specifically states otherwise and the employee has transferred all intellectual property
rights to the employer. The Supreme Court ruled that the fact that a contract revokes the employee’s right for royalties and compensation, does not
rule out the right of the employee to claim their right for royalties. As a result, it is unclear if, and to what extent, our employees may be able to
claim compensation with respect to our future revenue. As a result, we may receive less revenue from future products if such claims are successful
which in turn could impact our future profitability.
Any lawsuits relating to infringement of intellectual property rights necessary to defend ourselves or enforce our rights will be costly and time consuming.
Our ability to defend our intellectual property may require us to initiate litigation to enforce our rights or defend our activities in response to alleged infringement of a third
party. In addition, we may be sued by others who hold intellectual property rights who claim that their issued patents are infringed by MG01CI or any future products or product
candidates. These lawsuits can be very time consuming and costly. There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the
biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries generally.
In addition, our patents and patent applications, or those of our licensors, could face other challenges, such as interference proceedings, opposition proceedings, and reexamination proceedings. Any of these challenges, if successful, could result in the invalidation of, or in a narrowing of the scope of, any of our patents and patent applications
subject to challenge. Any of these challenges, regardless of their success, would likely be time consuming and expensive to defend and resolve and would divert our
management’s time and attention.
Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our products.
As is the case with other pharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the
biopharmaceutical industry involve both technological and legal complexity. Therefore, obtaining and enforcing pharmaceutical patents is costly, time-consuming and inherently
uncertain. In addition, the United States has recently enacted and is currently implementing wide-ranging patent reform legislation. The United States Supreme Court has ruled on
several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain
situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the
value of patents, once obtained. Depending on decisions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts, and the U.S. PTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in
unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.
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Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by
governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
The U.S. PTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other provisions during
the patent process. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent
rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, competitors might be able to enter the market earlier than would otherwise have been the case.
Risks Related to Our Business Operations and Industry
We manage our business through a small number of employees and key consultants. We depend on them even more than similarly-situated companies.
Our key employees include our Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Yaron Daniely, who has been with us since 2010. Key consultants include our Chief Financial Officer/Chief
Accounting Officer, Udi Gilboa, who co-founded us in 2008 and has been with us since our founding; our Director of Non-Clinical Development, Hanna Ron, who has been with
us since 2011; and our Clinical Advisory Board chairperson, Dr. Lenard A. Adler, who has been with us since 2011. Our future growth and success depend on our ability to
recruit, retain, manage and motivate our employees and key consultants. The loss of the services of our chief executive officer or any of our key consultants or the inability to hire
or retain experienced management personnel could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan and harm our operating results. Although we have employment
agreements in place with management, these agreements are terminable at will with minimal notice.
Because of the specialized scientific and managerial nature of our business, we rely heavily on our ability to attract and retain qualified scientific and technical consultants.
In particular, the loss of one or more of our senior executive officers or key consultants could be detrimental to us if we cannot recruit suitable replacements in a timely manner.
We do not currently carry “key person” insurance on the lives of members of senior management. The competition for qualified personnel in the pharmaceutical field is intense.
Due to this intense competition, we may be unable to attract and retain qualified personnel necessary for the development of our business or to recruit suitable replacement
personnel.
Failure to build our finance infrastructure and improve our accounting systems and controls could impair our ability to comply with the financial reporting and internal
controls requirements for publicly traded companies.
As a public company, we will operate in an increasingly challenging regulatory environment which requires us to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the related rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and securities exchanges, expanded disclosures, accelerated reporting requirements and more complex accounting
rules. Company responsibilities required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act include establishing corporate oversight and adequate internal control over financial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. Effective internal controls are necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and are important to help prevent financial fraud. We will be required
to disclose material changes made in our internal controls and procedures on a quarterly basis. However, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to
attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act until the date we are no longer an “emerging growth
company” as defined in the JOBS Act, because we are taking advantage of the exemptions contained in the JOBS Act. We will remain an emerging growth company until the
earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of this offering, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least
$1.0 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million
as of the prior June 30, and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.
To date, we have never conducted a review of our internal control for the purpose of providing the reports required by these rules. During the course of our review and
testing, we may identify deficiencies and be unable to remediate them before we must provide the required reports. Furthermore, if we have a material weakness in our internal
controls over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and our financial statements may be materially misstated. We or our independent registered public
accounting firm may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over financial reporting, which could harm our operating results, cause
investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and cause the trading price of our stock to fall.
To build our finance infrastructure, we will need to hire additional accounting personnel and improve our accounting systems, disclosure policies, procedures and
controls. We are currently in the process of:
·

initiating our plans to upgrade our computer systems, including hardware and software;

·

establishing written policies and procedures; and

·

enhancing internal controls and our financial statement review process.
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If we are unsuccessful in building an appropriate accounting infrastructure, we may not be able to prepare and disclose, in a timely manner, our financial statements and
other required disclosures, or comply with existing or new reporting requirements. Any failure to report our financial results on an accurate and timely basis could result in
sanctions, lawsuits, delisting of our shares from The NASDAQ Capital Market or other adverse consequences that would materially harm to our business. If we cannot provide
reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our business and results of operations could be harmed and investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information.
We will need to significantly increase the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing growth.
We currently have only one employee and in order to commercialize our products, we will need to substantially increase our operations, including expanding our employee
base of managerial, operational and financial personnel. Any future growth will impose significant added responsibilities on members of management, including the need to
identify, recruit, maintain and integrate additional employees. To that end, we must be able to:
·

manage our clinical trials and the regulatory process effectively;

·

develop our administrative, accounting and management information systems and controls;

·

hire and train additional qualified personnel; and

·

integrate current and additional management, administrative, financial and sales and marketing personnel.

Our business may be affected by macroeconomic conditions.
A deterioration in global economic conditions and uncertainties may have an adverse effect on our business. For instance, interest rates, the liquidity of the credit markets
and the volatility of the capital markets could also affect the value of our investments and our ability to liquidate our investments in order to fund our operations.
Interest rates and the ability to access credit markets could also adversely affect the ability of patients and distributors to purchase, pay for and effectively distribute our
products. Similarly, these macroeconomic factors could affect the ability of our contract manufacturers, sole-source or single-source suppliers to remain in business or otherwise
manufacture or supply product. Failure by any of them to remain a going concern could affect our ability to manufacture products.
Risks Related to this Offering and Ownership of Our Ordinary Shares
The market price of our ordinary shares may be highly volatile, and you may not be able to resell your shares at or above the initial public offering price.
Prior to this offering, there has not been a public market for our ordinary shares. If an active trading market for our ordinary shares does not develop following this offering,
you may not be able to sell your shares quickly or at the market price. The initial public offering price for the shares will be determined by negotiations between us and
representatives of the underwriters and may not be indicative of prices that will prevail in the trading market.
The trading price of our ordinary shares is likely to be volatile. The following factors, in addition to other risk factors described in this section, may have a significant
impact on the market price of our ordinary shares:
·

inability to obtain the approvals necessary to commence further clinical trials;

·

unsatisfactory results of clinical trials;

·

announcements of regulatory approval or the failure to obtain it, or specific label indications or patient populations for its use, or changes or delays in the regulatory
review process;

·

announcements of therapeutic innovations or new products by us or our competitors;

·

adverse actions taken by regulatory agencies with respect to our clinical trials, manufacturing supply chain or sales and marketing activities;

·

changes or developments in laws or regulations applicable to MG01CI;

·

any adverse changes to our relationship with manufacturers or suppliers;

·

any intellectual property infringement actions in which we may become involved;
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·

announcements concerning our competitors or the pharmaceutical industry in general;

·

achievement of expected product sales and profitability or our failure to meet expectations;

·

our commencement of, or involvement in, litigation;

·

any major changes in our board of directors or management; and

·

legislation in the United States relating to the sale or pricing of pharmaceuticals.

In addition, the stock market in general, and The NASDAQ Stock Market in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been
unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of small companies. Broad market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our ordinary shares,
regardless of our actual operating performance. Further, a systemic decline in the financial markets and related factors beyond our control may cause our share price to decline
rapidly and unexpectedly.
We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.
In the past companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this
type of litigation in the future. Litigation of this type could result in substantial costs and diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could seriously hurt our
business. Any adverse determination in litigation could also subject us to significant liabilities.
Our principal shareholders, chief executive officer and directors currently own over 80% of our outstanding ordinary shares and will own over 70% of our ordinary shares
upon the closing of this offering. They will therefore be able to exert significant control over matters submitted to our shareholders for approval.
After this offering, our chief executive officer and directors, and shareholders who own more than 5% of our outstanding ordinary shares before this offering will, in the
aggregate, beneficially own approximately 70.83% of our ordinary shares (assuming no exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option and no exercise of outstanding
options). This significant concentration of share ownership may adversely affect the trading price for our ordinary shares because investors often perceive disadvantages in
owning stock in companies with controlling shareholders. As a result, these shareholders, if they acted together, could significantly influence or even unilaterally approve matters
requiring approval by our shareholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other business combination transactions. The interests of these
shareholders may not always coincide with our interests or the interests of other shareholders.
If you purchase our ordinary shares in this offering, you will incur immediate and substantial dilution in the book value of your shares.
The initial public offering price is substantially higher than the net tangible book value per share of our ordinary shares. Investors purchasing ordinary shares in this offering
will pay a price per share that substantially exceeds the net tangible book value of our ordinary shares. As a result, investors purchasing ordinary shares in this offering will incur
immediate dilution of $9.58 per share, based on an assumed initial public offering price of $11.00 per share, and our pro forma net tangible book value as of December 31, 2012.
In addition, as of that date, options and warrants to purchase 952,402 of our ordinary shares at a weighted average exercise price of $2.845 per share were outstanding. The
exercise of these options and warrants would result in additional dilution. As a result of this dilution, investors purchasing shares in this offering may receive significantly less
than the purchase price paid in this offering in the event of liquidation. For more information, please refer to the section of this prospectus entitled “Dilution.”
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our ordinary shares in the public market by our existing shareholders could cause our share price to fall.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our ordinary shares in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market price of our
ordinary shares and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may have on the
prevailing market price of our ordinary shares. Substantially all of the shares owned by our existing shareholders and option holders are subject to lock-up agreements with the
underwriters of this offering that restrict the shareholders’ ability to transfer our ordinary shares for at least six months from the date of this prospectus. Substantially all of our
outstanding shares will become eligible for unrestricted sale upon expiration of the lockup period, as described in the section of this prospectus entitled “Shares Eligible for
Future Sale.” In addition, shares issued or issuable upon exercise of options and warrants vested as of the expiration of the lock-up period will be eligible for sale at that time.
Sales of shares by these shareholders could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our ordinary shares.
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Our management will have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds from this offering and may allocate the net proceeds from this offering in ways that you and other
shareholders may not approve.
Our management will have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds, including for any of the purposes described in the section entitled “Use of Proceeds,” and you
will not have the opportunity as part of your investment decision to assess whether the net proceeds are being used appropriately. Because of the number and variability of factors
that will determine our use of the net proceeds from this offering, their ultimate use may vary substantially from their currently intended use. The failure of our management to
use these funds effectively could harm our business. Pending their use, we may invest the net proceeds from this offering in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing
securities. These investments may not yield a favorable return to our shareholders.
If we were to be characterized as a “passive foreign investment company” for U.S. tax purposes, U.S. holders of our ordinary shares could have adverse U.S. income tax
consequences.
If we were to be characterized as a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, in any taxable
year during which a U.S. taxpayer owns ordinary shares, such U.S. holder could be liable for additional taxes and interest charges upon certain distributions by us and any gain
recognized on a sale, exchange or other disposition, including a pledge, of the ordinary shares, whether or not we continue to be a PFIC. See “U.S. Federal Income Tax
Consequences.”
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they adversely change their
recommendations or publish negative reports regarding our business or our shares, our share price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our ordinary shares will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our business, our market
or our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts and we cannot provide any assurance that analysts will cover us or provide favorable coverage. If any of the
analysts who may cover us adversely change their recommendation regarding our shares, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, our share
price would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
Because we do not intend to declare cash dividends on our ordinary shares in the foreseeable future, shareholders must rely on appreciation of the value of our ordinary
shares for any return on their investment.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our ordinary shares. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and
expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Moreover, the Israeli Companies Law imposes certain
restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends. See “Description of Share Capital—Dividend and Liquidation Rights” for additional information.
The requirements associated with being a public company will require significant company resources and management attention.
Following this offering, we will become subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the listing requirements of the securities
exchange on which our ordinary shares is traded, and other applicable securities rules and regulations. The Exchange Act requires that we file periodic reports with respect to our
business and financial condition and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. In addition, subsequent rules implemented
by the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock Market may also impose various additional requirements on public companies. As a result, we will incur additional legal, accounting and
other expenses that we did not incur as a nonpublic company, particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. In the period
following this offering, we estimate that these expenses will be at least several hundred thousand dollars annually. Further, the need to establish the corporate infrastructure
demanded of a public company may divert management’s attention from implementing our development plans. We have made changes to our corporate governance standards,
disclosure controls and financial reporting and accounting systems to meet our reporting obligations. The measures we take, however, may not be sufficient to satisfy our
obligations as a public company, which could subject us to delisting of our ordinary shares, fines, sanctions and other regulatory action and potentially civil litigation.
The recently enacted JOBS Act will allow us to postpone the date by which we must comply with some of the laws and regulations intended to protect investors and to reduce
the amount of information we provide in our reports filed with the SEC, which could undermine investor confidence in our company and adversely affect the market price of
our ordinary shares.
For so long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various requirements that are
applicable to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including:
·

the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requiring that our independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting;
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·

the “say on pay” provisions requiring a non-binding shareholder vote to approve compensation of certain executive officers and the “say on golden parachute” provisions
requiring a non-binding shareholder vote to approve golden parachute arrangements for certain executive officers in connection with mergers and certain other business
combinations of the Dodd-Frank Act and some of the disclosure requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act relating to compensation of our chief executive officer;

·

our ability not to comply with new accounting principles that do not apply to public companies until such accounting principles become applicable to private companies;

·

any rules that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report on the
financial statements; and

·

our ability to furnish two rather than three years of income statements and statements of cash flows in various required filings.

We intend to take advantage of these exemptions until we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of
(1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of this offering, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.0 billion, or
(c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior
June 30th, and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.
We cannot predict if investors will find our ordinary shares less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our ordinary shares less attractive
as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our ordinary shares, and our share price may be more volatile and may decline.
Our election to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards under the recently enacted JOBS Act could undermine
investor confidence in our company and adversely affect the market price of our ordinary shares.
Our election to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards means that we may delay the adoption of new or revised
accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until those standards apply to private companies. This election could undermine investor
confidence in our company and adversely affect the market price of our ordinary shares in part because our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply
with public company effective dates.
As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted, and intend, to follow certain home country corporate governance practices instead of otherwise applicable SEC and NASDAQ
requirements, which may result in less protection than is accorded to investors under rules applicable to domestic U.S. issuers.
As a foreign private issuer, we will be permitted, and intend, to follow certain home country corporate governance practices instead of those otherwise required under the
Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market for domestic U.S. issuers. For instance, we intend to follow home country practice in Israel with regard to, among other things,
director nomination procedures and approval of compensation of officers. In addition, we may follow our home country law instead of the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock
Market that require that we obtain shareholder approval for certain dilutive events, such as the establishment or amendment of certain equity based compensation plans, an
issuance that will result in a change of control of the company, certain transactions other than a public offering involving issuances of a 20% or greater interest in the company,
and certain acquisitions of the stock or assets of another company. Following our home country governance practices as opposed to the requirements that would otherwise apply
to a United States company listed on NASDAQ may provide less protection to you than what is accorded to investors under the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market
applicable to domestic U.S. issuers.
In addition, as a foreign private issuer, we will be exempt from the rules and regulations under the Exchange Act related to the furnishing and content of proxy statements,
and our officers, directors and principal shareholders will be exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act.
In addition, we will not be required under the Exchange Act to file annual, quarterly and current reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as
domestic U.S. issuers whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act. These exemptions and leniencies will reduce the frequency and scope of information and
protections to which you are entitled as an investor.
Risks Related to Israeli Law and Our Operations in Israel
Our headquarters and other significant operations are located in Israel and, therefore, our results may be adversely affected by political, economic and military instability in
Israel.
Our executive offices are located in Tel-Aviv, Israel. In addition, the majority of our officers and directors are residents of Israel. Accordingly, political, economic and
military conditions in Israel may directly affect our business. Since the establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a number of armed conflicts have taken place between Israel
and its neighboring countries. Any hostilities involving Israel or the interruption or curtailment of trade between Israel and its trading partners could adversely affect our
operations and results of operations. During November 2012, Israel was engaged in an armed conflict with a militia group and political party which controls the Gaza Strip, and
during the summer of 2006, Israel was engaged in an armed conflict with Hezbollah, a Lebanese Islamist Shiite militia group and political party. These conflicts involved missile
strikes against civilian targets in various parts of Israel, including areas in which our employees and some of our consultants are located, and negatively affected business
conditions in Israel. Any armed conflicts, terrorist activities or political instability in the region could adversely affect business conditions and could harm our results of
operations and could make it more difficult for us to raise capital. Parties with whom we do business have sometimes declined to travel to Israel during periods of heightened
unrest or tension, forcing us to make alternative arrangements when necessary in order to meet our business partners face to face. In addition, the political and security situation in
Israel may result in parties with whom we have agreements involving performance in Israel claiming that they are not obligated to perform their commitments under those
agreements pursuant to force majeure provisions in such agreements.
Our commercial insurance does not cover losses that may occur as a result of an event associated with the security situation in the Middle East. Although the Israeli
government is currently committed to covering the reinstatement value of direct damages that are caused by terrorist attacks or acts of war, we cannot assure you that this
government coverage will be maintained, or if maintained, will be sufficient to compensate us fully for damages incurred. Any losses or damages incurred by us could have a
material adverse effect on our business. Any armed conflicts or political instability in the region would likely negatively affect business conditions generally and could harm our
results of operations.
Further, in the past, the State of Israel and Israeli companies have been subjected to an economic boycott. Several countries still restrict business with the State of Israel and
with Israeli companies. These restrictive laws and policies may have an adverse impact on our operating results, financial condition or the expansion of our business.
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Our operations may be disrupted as a result of the obligation of management or key personnel or consultants to perform military service.
Our male employees and consultants in Israel, including members of our senior management, may be obligated to perform one month, and in some cases longer periods, of
annual military reserve duty until they reach the age of 45 (or older, for citizens who hold certain positions in the Israeli armed forces reserves). In this connection, we note that
our chief executive officer, Yaron Daniely, is 37 years old. In the event of a military conflict, he and other of our key personnel or consultants may be called to active duty. In
response to increases in terrorist activity, there have been periods of significant call-ups of military reservists. It is possible that there will be similar large-scale military reserve
duty call-ups in the future. Our operations could be disrupted by the absence of a significant number of our officers, directors, employees and consultants. Such disruption could
materially adversely affect our business and operations.
Exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the New Israeli Shekel currencies may negatively affect our earnings.
We incur expenses both in U.S. dollars and New Israeli Shekels, or NIS. Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. As a result, we are exposed to the risks that the NIS may
appreciate relative to the U.S. dollar, or, if the NIS instead devalues relative to the U.S. dollar, that the inflation rate in Israel may exceed such rate of devaluation of the NIS, or
that the timing of such devaluation may lag behind inflation in Israel. In any such event, the U.S. dollar cost of our operations in Israel would increase and our U.S. dollardenominated results of operations would be adversely affected. The exchange rate as of April 11, 2013 was $1.00 = NIS 3.62. We cannot predict any future trends in the rate of
inflation in Israel or the rate of devaluation (if any) of the NIS against the U.S. dollar.
In the past, we received Israeli government grants for certain of our research and development activities. The terms of those grants may require us, in addition to payment of
royalties, to satisfy specified conditions in order to manufacture products and transfer technologies outside of Israel. We may be required to pay penalties in addition to
repayment of the grants.
Our research and development efforts, during the period between May 1, 2009 and April 30, 2010, were financed in part through royalty-bearing grants, in an amount of
$106,494 that we received from Israel's Office of the Chief Scientist of the Ministry of Industry, Trade and Labor, or OCS. With respect to such grants we are committed to pay
royalties at a rate of 3% to 5% on sales proceeds from MG01CI, according to the OCS approval, the company is required to pay royalties from any income generated in
connection with delayed release Metadoxine tablets up to the total amount of grants received, linked to the dollar and bearing interest at an annual rate of LIBOR applicable to
dollar deposits. Regardless of any royalty payment, we are further required to comply with the requirements of the Israeli Encouragement of Industrial Research and
Development Law, 5744-1984, and related regulations, or the Research Law, with respect to those past grants. When a company develops know-how, technology or products
using OCS grants, the terms of these grants and the Research Law restrict the transfer of such know-how, and the transfer of manufacturing or manufacturing rights of such
products, technologies or know-how outside of Israel, without the prior approval of the OCS. Therefore, if aspects of our technologies are deemed to have been developed with
OCS funding, the discretionary approval of an OCS committee would be required for any transfer to third parties outside of Israel of know-how or manufacturing or
manufacturing rights related to those aspects of such technologies, and may result in payment of increased royalties (both increased royalty rates and increased royalties ceilings)
and/or payment of additional amounts to the OCS. We may not receive those approvals. Furthermore, the OCS may impose certain conditions on any arrangement under which it
permits us to transfer technology or development out of Israel (including for the purpose of manufacturing). Currently, under the Research Law, there is no mechanism for the
approval of licensing transactions of OCS-supported technologies, however, licensing OCS supported technologies may under certain circumstances be considered a transfer of
know-how and therefore requires approval as aforementioned.
The transfer of OCS-supported technology or know-how outside of Israel may involve the payment of additional amounts depending upon the value of the transferred
technology or know-how, the amount of OCS support, the time of completion of the OCS-supported research project and other factors up to a maximum of six times the amount
of grants received. These restrictions and requirements for payment may impair our ability to sell our technology assets outside of Israel or to outsource or transfer development
or manufacturing activities with respect to any product or technology outside of Israel (particularly since currently there is no mechanism for the approval of licensing
transactions of OCS supported technologies). Furthermore, the consideration available to our shareholders in a transaction involving the transfer outside of Israel of technology or
know-how developed with OCS funding (such as a merger or similar transaction) may be reduced by any amounts that we are required to pay to the OCS.
Our obligations and limitations pursuant to the Research Law are not limited in time and may not be terminated by us at will. As of the date of this prospectus, we have not
been required to pay any royalties with respect to the OCS grants. As of the date of this prospectus, production of bulk drug substance and drug products required for our clinical
trials does not involve manufacture of OCS supported products, technologies or know-how, and/or transfer of OCS supported technologies or know-how, and therefore no OCS
committee approval has been sought after or required in connection with such production by our third-party manufacturer, Patheon Inc., located in Cincinnati, Ohio.
Provisions of Israeli law and our amended and restated articles of association may delay, prevent or otherwise impede a merger with, or an acquisition of, our company,
which could prevent a change of control, even when the terms of such a transaction are favorable to us and our shareholders.
Israeli corporate law regulates mergers, requires tender offers for acquisitions of shares above specified thresholds, requires special approvals for transactions involving
directors, officers or significant shareholders and regulates other matters that may be relevant to such types of transactions. For example, a merger may not be consummated
unless at least 50 days have passed from the date on which a merger proposal is filed by each merging company with the Israel Registrar of Companies and at least 30 days have
passed from the date on which the shareholders of both merging companies have approved the merger. In addition, a majority of each class of securities of the target company
must approve a merger. Moreover, a tender offer for all of a company's issued and outstanding shares can only be completed if the acquirer receives positive responses from the
holders of at least 95% of the issued share capital. Completion of the tender offer also requires approval of a majority of the offerees that do not have a personal interest in the
tender offer, unless, following consummation of the tender offer, the acquirer would hold at least 98% of the Company's outstanding shares. Furthermore, the shareholders,
including those who indicated their acceptance of the tender offer, may, at any time within six months following the completion of the tender offer, petition an Israeli court to alter
the consideration for the acquisition, unless the acquirer stipulated in its tender offer that a shareholder that accepts the offer may not seek such appraisal rights.
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Furthermore, Israeli tax considerations may make potential transactions unappealing to us or to our shareholders whose country of residence does not have a tax treaty with
Israel exempting such shareholders from Israeli tax. See “Taxation—Israeli Tax Considerations” for additional information.
Our amended and restated articles of association that will be in effect immediately prior to the consummation of this offering will also contain provisions that could delay or
prevent changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our board of directors. These provisions will include the following:
·

no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates; and

·

the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation, death or
removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors.

It may be difficult to enforce a judgment of a United States court against us and our officers and directors and the Israeli experts named in this prospectus in Israel or the
United States, to assert United States securities laws claims in Israel or to serve process on our officers and directors and these experts.
We were incorporated in Israel. Substantially all of our executive officers and directors reside outside of the United States, and all of our assets and most of the assets of
these persons are located outside of the United States. Therefore, a judgment obtained against us, or any of these persons, including a judgment based on the civil liability
provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws, may not be collectible in the United States and may not necessarily be enforced by an Israeli court. It also may be difficult for you
to effect service of process on these persons in the United States or to assert U.S. securities law claims in original actions instituted in Israel. Additionally, it may be difficult for
an investor, or any other person or entity, to initiate an action with respect to United States securities laws in Israel. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a claim based on an alleged
violation of United States securities laws reasoning that Israel is not the most appropriate forum in which to bring such a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear
a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not United States law is applicable to the claim. If United States law is found to be applicable, the content of applicable United
States law must be proven as a fact by expert witnesses, which can be a time consuming and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law.
There is little binding case law in Israel that addresses the matters described above. As a result of the difficulty associated with enforcing a judgment against us in Israel, you may
not be able to collect any damages awarded by either a United States or foreign court. See "Enforceability of Civil Liabilities" for additional information on your ability to
enforce a civil claim against us and our executive officers or directors named in this prospectus.
Your liabilities and responsibilities as a shareholder will be governed by Israeli law, which differs in some material respects from the U.S. law that governs the liabilities and
responsibilities of shareholders of U.S. companies.
The liabilities and responsibilities of the holders of our ordinary shares are governed by our amended and restated articles of association and by Israeli law. These liabilities
and responsibilities differ in some material respects from the liabilities and responsibilities of shareholders in typical U.S.-based corporations. In particular, a shareholder of an
Israeli company has certain duties to act in good faith and fairness towards the company and other shareholders, and to refrain from abusing its power in the Company. See
"Management—Approval of Related Party Transactions under Israeli Law—Shareholder Duties" for additional information. There is limited case law available to assist us in
understanding the nature of this duty or the implications of these provisions. These provisions may be interpreted to impose additional obligations and liabilities on holders of our
ordinary shares that are not typically imposed on shareholders of U.S. corporations.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Some of the statements made under “Prospectus Summary,” “Risk Factors,” “Use of Proceeds,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” “Business” and elsewhere in this prospectus constitute forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” “intends” or “continue,” or the negative of these
terms or other comparable terminology.
Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:
·

FDA approval of, or other regulatory action with respect to, MG01CI;

·

the commercial launch and future sales of MG01CI or any other future products or product candidates;

·

our ability to achieve favorable pricing for MG01CI;

·

our expectations regarding the commercial supply of our ADHD products;

·

third-party payor reimbursement for MG01CI;

·

our estimates regarding anticipated capital requirements and our needs for additional financing;

·

the ADHD patient market size and market adoption of MG01CI by physicians and patients;

·

the timing, cost or other aspects of the commercial launch of MG01CI;

·

the timing and cost of Phase III trials for MG01CI or whether such trials will be conducted at all;

·

completion and receiving favorable results of Phase III trials for MG01CI;

·

the development and approval of the use of MG01CI for additional indications or in combination therapy; and

·

our expectations regarding licensing, acquisitions and strategic operations.

These statements are only current predictions and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our or our industry’s actual
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those anticipated by the forward-looking statements. We discuss many of these risks in this
prospectus in greater detail under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future
events.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or
achievements. Except as required by law, we are under no duty to update or revise any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, after the date of this prospectus.
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USE OF PROCEEDS
We expect to receive approximately $13,007,025 in net proceeds from the sale of 1,365,000 ordinary shares offered by us in this offering (approximately $15,102,000 if the
underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full), after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.
We currently expect to use the net proceeds from this offering for:
·

completing at least one advanced clinical trial of MG01CI for adult ADHD, estimated at $6,000,000;

·

preparing for our proposed registration studies in adults and Phase I/II clinical studies in children for MG01CI, including engaging the FDA in discussions related to
protocols for the trials, estimated at $1,000,000 to $3,000,000;

·

evaluating MG01CI in Phase II trials for additional disorders of cognitive function, estimated at $1,000,000 to $2,000,000; and

·

the remainder for working capital and general corporate purposes.

The amounts and timing of our actual expenditures will depend upon numerous factors, including the progress of our development and commercialization efforts, the status
of and results from our clinical trials, whether or not we enter into strategic collaborations or partnerships, and our operating costs and expenditures. Accordingly, our
management will have significant flexibility in applying the net proceeds of this offering.
We have no current understandings, commitments or agreements with respect to any material acquisition of or investment in any technologies, products or companies.
We expect to conduct two Phase III clinical trials. We do not expect that these funds will be adequate to complete the second of these Phase III clinical trials, which will
require us to raise additional funds for this purpose.
DIVIDEND POLICY
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Payment of cash
dividends, if any, in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then-existing conditions, including our financial condition, operating results,
contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.
The Israeli Companies Law imposes further restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends. See “Description of Share Capital—Dividend and Liquidation Rights”
for additional information.
Payment of dividends may be subject to Israeli withholding taxes. See “Taxation—Israeli Tax Considerations” for additional information.
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CAPITALIZATION
The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and our capitalization as of December 31, 2012:
·

on an actual basis;

·

on a pro forma basis to give effect to the mandatory conversion of our Convertible Notes at the closing of this offering and the Warrant Cashless Exercise; and

·

on a pro forma, as adjusted, basis to also give effect to: (i) the sale of 1,365,000 ordinary shares in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $11.00 per
share (the midpoint of the range set forth on the cover page of this prospectus), after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses
payable by us; (ii) the conversion of Convertible Notes in the principal amount of $600,000 and accrued interest in the amount of $10,000 (as of December 31, 2012) at
the closing of the offering, at an assumed conversion price of $8.25 (75% of an assumed initial public offering price of $11.00, which is the midpoint of the price range
set forth on the cover page of this prospectus) as if the sale of the shares in each case had occurred on December 31, 2012; and (iii) the Warrant Cashless Exercise.

You should read this table in conjunction with the sections titled “Selected Financial Data” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.
December 31, 2012

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Convertible Notes
Ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value 10,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2012 and 2011; 8,098,581 and 8,096,109 issued
shares at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively; 7,794,256 and 8,096,109 shares outstanding at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Deficit accumulated during the development stage
Total shareholders’ equity (deficiency)
Total capitalization

Actual
$

$

662

4
7,615
(8,186)
(567)
95

Adjustments
(unaudited)
$
(662)

$

4
13,803
(138)
13,669
13,007

Pro Forma
as adjusted
(unaudited)
$

$

–

8
21,418
(8,324)
13,102
13,102

The number of our ordinary shares to be outstanding immediately after this offering is based on 7,794,256 ordinary shares outstanding as of April 1, 2013 (giving
prospective effect to the issuance of bonus shares equivalent to a stock split described below) and includes also: (i) 89,044 shares resulting from the mandatory conversion of our
outstanding convertible notes upon closing of this offering and (ii) 97,214 shares issued in connection with the Warrant Cashless Exercise. This number excludes:
·

764,444 shares issuable upon the exercise of share options outstanding as of April 1, 2013 under our equity incentive plan;

·

58,700 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants outstanding as of April 1, 2013 with a nominal exercise price, which warrants are expected to remain outstanding
upon completion of this offering; and

·

7,009 shares reserved as of April 1, 2013 for future grants under our equity incentive plan.

As of December 31, 2012, we had Convertible Notes outstanding in the aggregate redemption amount of $662,000. This debt will be converted into ordinary shares at the
closing of the offering at a conversion price equal to 75% of the initial public offering price.
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DILUTION
If you invest in our ordinary shares, you will experience immediate and substantial dilution to the extent of the difference between the initial public offering price of our
ordinary shares and the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value (deficit) per share of our ordinary shares immediately after the offering.
Our historical net tangible book value (deficit) per share is determined by dividing our total tangible assets, less total liabilities, by the actual number of outstanding
ordinary shares. The historical net tangible book value (deficit) of our ordinary shares as of December 31, 2012 was $(567,000), or $(0.07) per share. On a pro forma basis, giving
effect to the conversion of our outstanding promissory notes in the principal amount of $600,000 and accrued interest in the amount of $10,000 at a price of $8.25 into 73,939
ordinary shares and the cashless exercise of 129,257 warrants resulting in the issuance of 97,214 shares, our historical net tangible book value per share was $0.012.
The pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value of our ordinary shares as of December 31, 2012 was $13,102,025, or $1.40 per share. The pro forma as adjusted net
tangible book value gives effect to the sale of ordinary shares in this offering at an assumed initial public offering price of $11.00 per share (the midpoint of the price range set
forth on the cover page of this prospectus), after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. The difference between the
initial public offering price and the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value (deficit) per share represents an immediate dilution of $9.58 per share to new investors
purchasing ordinary shares in this offering.
The following table illustrates this dilution on a per share basis to new investors:
Assumed initial public offering price per share
Net tangible book value per share before this offering, as of December 31, 2012
Pro forma increase in net tangible book value per share attributable to conversion of promissory notes
Pro forma net tangible book value per share as of December 31, 2012
Increase in net tangible book value per share attributable to new investors in this offering
Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after offering
Dilution in pro forma tangible book value (deficit) per share to new investors

$

$

11.00

$
$

1.40
9.60

(0.07)
0.082
0.012
1.388

If the underwriters’ over-allotment option to purchase additional shares from us is exercised in full, and based on an assumed initial public offering price of $11.00 per
share, the pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering would be approximately $1.59 per share, the increase in the pro forma net tangible book value
per share attributable to new investors would be approximately $1.58 per share and the dilution to new investors purchasing shares in this offering would be approximately $9.41
per share.
The table below summarizes as of December 31, 2012, on the pro forma as adjusted basis described above, the number of ordinary shares we issued and sold, the total
consideration we received and the average price per share (1) paid by our existing shareholders and (2) to be paid by new investors purchasing our ordinary shares in this offering
at the initial public offering price of $11.00 per share, before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

Existing shareholders
New investors
Total

Shares Purchased
Number
Percent
7,965,410
85.4%
1,365,000
14.6%
9,233,195
100%

$
$

Total Consideration
Amount
Percent
5,761,000
27.7%
15,015,000
72.3
20,776,000
$
100%

Average
Price
Per Share
$
$

0.72
11.00
—

The number of our ordinary shares to be outstanding immediately after this offering is based on 7,794,256 ordinary shares outstanding as of April 1, 2013 (giving
prospective effect to the issuance of bonus shares equivalent to a stock split described below) and includes also: (i) 89,044 shares resulting from the mandatory conversion of our
outstanding convertible notes upon closing of this offering and (ii) 97,214 shares issued in connection with the Warrant Cashless Exercise. This number excludes:
·

764,444 shares issuable upon the exercise of share options outstanding as of April 1, 2013 under our equity incentive plan;

·

58,700 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants outstanding as of April 1, 2013 with a nominal exercise price, which warrants are expected to remain
outstanding upon completion of this offering; and

·

7,009 shares reserved as of April 1, 2013 for future grants under our equity incentive plan.

To the extent that new options are granted under our equity benefit plans, there will be further dilution to investors purchasing ordinary shares in this offering.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following table summarizes our financial data. We have derived the following statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012 from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the
results that may be expected in the future. The following summary financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share amounts)
Years ended December 31,
2012
2011
Statements of Operations Data:
Research and development expenses

$

General and administrative expenses
Financial expense, net
Deemed dividend
Loss attributable to holders of ordinary shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

818

$

1,822

683

2,084

78

23

-

180

1,579

4,109

7,791,932

7,843,388

Year Ended December 31, 2012
Pro forma
(unaudited)
(1)(2)

Actual

Pro forma,
as adjusted
(unaudited)

Balance Sheet Data:
Total long-term assets

$

21

Total current liabilities

768

Shareholders’ equity (deficiency)

(567)

$

–

$

21

662

106

13,669

13,102

(1) Gives effect to the mandatory conversion of our outstanding Convertible Notes on the closing of this offering.
(2) Gives effect to the sale of 1,365,000 ordinary shares in this offering at the initial public offering price of $11.00 per share, after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us, as if the sale had occurred on December 31, 2012.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. This discussion
and other parts of the prospectus contain forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results and the timing of
selected events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of several factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors”
and elsewhere in this prospectus.
Introduction
We are an emerging biopharmaceutical company primarily focused on the development and commercialization of our proprietary drug, MG01CI, to treat Attention Deficit
Hyperactivity Disorder, or ADHD. The most common currently available treatments for ADHD are stimulants that increase the brain chemical dopamine. Stimulants have
significant side effects, and as controlled substances have significant potential for misuse, abuse and addiction. MG01CI is a non-stimulant with a different mechanism of action.
In September 2011, we completed a 120-patient double-blind Phase II study in Israel that showed significant improvement in clinical ADHD symptoms, and also showed
favorable tolerability with no significant side effects over a placebo. The trial met all primary and secondary clinical endpoints showing statistically significant improvement
over the placebo-treated control group.
We plan to initiate discussions with the FDA within six months from the date of this prospectus to seek approval, via an IND Application submission, to conduct one or
more advanced clinical trials in the United States for the use of MGO1CI to treat ADHD in adults. If such FDA approval of our IND Application is granted and if our clinical
trials demonstrate the safety and efficacy of MGO1CI, we will then seek to obtain marketing approval from the FDA for MG01CI for use in adults. We have similar plans to seek
marketing approval in the European Union and later in Japan. If our clinical trials for adults are successful, we will seek to obtain regulatory approvals for clinical trials, via
additional IND Application submissions, in order ultimately to obtain marketing approval of MG01CI for use in children. The requirements to conduct pediatric clinical trials are
more stringent than those for adults. If our requests for approval to conduct clinical trials are denied, or if our clinical trials are unsuccessful, we will have to re-design our drug
candidate and conduct additional preliminary clinical trials after any necessary regulatory approvals.
To date, we have not generated revenue from the sale of any product, and we do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we obtain marketing approval of,
and commercialize, MG01CI. As of December 31, 2012, we had an accumulated deficit of $8.2 million.
Our financing activities are described below under “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” We will need to raise substantial additional funds to achieve our long-term strategic
objectives, including at least two Phase III clinical trials. If the results of our Phase III trials are successful, we plan to submit an NDA to the FDA. Obtaining approval of an NDA
is an extensive, lengthy, expensive and uncertain process, and the FDA (and other regulatory agencies) may delay, limit or deny approval of MG01CI.
Financial Overview
Operating Expenses
Our current operating expenses consist of two components – research and development expenses, and general and administrative expenses.
Research and Development Expenses
Our research and development expenses consist primarily of the cost of third party clinical consultants and expenses related to conducting clinical trials, as well as salaries
and related personnel expenses, travel expenses, and share-based compensation expenses to research and development employees.
The following table discloses the breakdown of research and development expenses for the last two fiscal years.
(in thousands of U.S. dollars)

December 31,
2012

Salaries and related personnel expenses
Cost to third party clinical consultants and expenses related to conducting clinical trials
Share-based compensation
Travel expenses
Other expenses
Total

$

$

2011
56
663
*) 48
51
818

$

161
1,464
18
81
98
1,822

*) Represents an amount less than $1.
We expect that our research and development expenses will increase as we conduct at least two Phase III clinical trials that are broader than our Phase II trial prior to
submitting an NDA to the FDA. The Company plans to launch two Phase III trials in adults with ADHD, each including 250 patients, in 2014, as well as a Phase I/II pediatric
study in 2014.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salary and compensation costs paid to our CEO, share- based compensation expenses, payments to our CFO,
professional service fees for accounting, legal, bookkeeping and facilities costs (including rent expense for our facility in Tel Aviv Israel), and depreciation expenses.
We expect our general and administrative expenses, such as accounting and legal fees, to increase after we become a U.S. public company, and we expect increases in
the number of our executive, accounting and administrative personnel due to the anticipated growth of our company.
Financial Expense and Income
Financial expense and income consist of bank fees and other transactional costs, exchange rate differences, financial expenses related to our outstanding convertible
notes and interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimate
We describe our significant accounting policies more fully in Note 2 to our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012. We believe that the accounting
policies below are critical in order to fully understand and evaluate our financial condition and results of operations.
We prepare our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP").
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions. Our management believes
that the estimates, judgments and assumptions used are reasonable based upon information available at the time they are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
JOBS Act
On April 5, 2012, the U.S. Congress enacted the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “emerging
growth company” can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting
standards. This means that an “emerging growth company” can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private
companies. We are electing to delay such adoption of new or revised accounting standards.
Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, as an “emerging growth company”, we intend to rely on other exemptions, including without limitation, (i) providing
an auditor’s attestation report on our system of internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 and (ii) complying with any requirement that may be adopted by
the PCAOB regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements (auditor
discussion and analysis). These exemptions will apply for a period of five years following the completion of our initial public offering or until we are no longer an “emerging
growth company,” whichever is earlier.
Stock-Based Compensation and Fair Value of Ordinary Shares
We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, “Compensation - Stock Compensation,” which requires companies to estimate the fair values of
equity-based payments awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the stock options is recognized as an expense over the requisite service periods in
our statement of operations. We recognize compensation expenses for the value of our awards granted based on the straight-line method over the requisite service period of each
of the awards.
We selected the Black-Scholes-Merton ("Black-Scholes") option-pricing model as a fair value method for our options awards. The option-pricing model requires a number
of assumptions:
Expected dividend yield - The expected dividend yield assumption is based on our historical experience and expectation of no future dividend payouts. We have
historically not paid cash dividends and have no foreseeable plans to pay cash dividends in the future.
Volatility - Since the Company is not traded on any stock exchange market, quoted prices of our shares are unavailable. According to ASC 718-10-30-20, in case of no
historical data for a company, the expected volatility was based on similar companies' stock volatility.
Risk free interest rate - The risk free interest rate is based on the yield of U.S. Treasury bonds with equivalent terms.
Expected term - ASC 718 provides the factors to consider when estimating the expected term of an option: An option’s expected term must at least include the vesting
period and the Employees’ historical exercise and post-vesting employment termination behavior for similar grants. It also determines that if the amount of past exercise
data is limited, that data may not represent a sufficiently large sample on which to base a robust conclusion on expected exercise behavior. In that circumstance, it may
be appropriate to consider external data or the SEC staff’s “simplified” method to the expected term. Accordingly, we used the "simplified" method, meaning the
expected life is set as the average of the vesting period for each vested tranche of options and the contractual term for those options.
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Share price - Because there has been no public market for our ordinary shares, the fair value of the ordinary shares underlying the options had been determined by our
management, using the assistance of an independent valuation firm.
We did not grant options to employees or directors in 2011 and 2012 (other than two grants as stated in Note 9(c) to the financial statements included herein, for which
no compensation expense was recorded). For options granted up until December 31, 2010, the fair value of the ordinary shares was based on the application of OptionPricing Method ("OPM"). The first step in performing a valuation using OPM involves estimating the present value of the total shareholders’ equity (preferred and
Ordinary). As part of our analysis, we used recent investment rounds, respectively to the option valuation dates, in our shares in order to evaluate the present value of our
total shareholders' equity.
Under the option-pricing method, we estimated the fair value of the ordinary shares as the net value of a series of call options, representing the present value of the
expected future returns to the Ordinary shareholders. Essentially, the rights of the Ordinary shareholders are equivalent to a call option on any value of the Company
above the respective preferred shareholders’ liquidation preferences, with adjustment to account for the rights retained by the preferred shareholders related to their share
in any value above the values at which they would convert to ordinary shares. Thus, the Ordinary shares were valued by estimating the value of its share in each of these
call option rights.
Results of Operations
December 31, 2012
2012
2011
(in thousands US$)
Research and development expenses

$

General and administrative expenses
Operating loss
Financial Expense, net
$

Net Comprehensive loss
Deemed dividend

818

$

683

2,084

1,501

3,906

78

23

1,579

$

$

Net loss attributable to holders of ordinary shares

1,822

1,579

3,929
180

$

4,109

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2012 to the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Research and development expenses
Our research and development expenses amounted to $818,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, representing a decrease of $1,004,000, or 55%, compared to
$1,822,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011. The decrease in our research and development expenses in 2012 resulted partially from a decrease in available funds, but
primarily from a decrease in research and development activity that took place once our clinical trials were completed. Following clinical trial completion, research and
development is limited to clinical study report writing, regulatory preparation and document collection, and study data presentations. Payroll related expenses decreased
$105,000, reflecting a decrease in the number of employees engaged in research and development related activities from four to one, and third party clinical consultants and
expenses related to conducting clinical trials decreased $801,000 due to a decrease in our clinical trials.
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General and administrative expenses
Our general and administrative expenses totaled $683,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, a decrease of $1,401,000, or 67%, compared to $2,084,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2011. In 2011, we recorded share based compensation expenses in the amount of $1,535,000. This reduction was offset by an increase of $113,000 in
professional services and an additional increase of $52,000 in travel expenses.
Operating loss
As a result of the foregoing, our operating loss for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $1,501,000, as compared to an operating loss of $3,906,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2011, a decrease of $2,405,000, or 62%.
Financial expense
We recognized financial expenses of $78,000 for the year ended December 31, 2012, representing an increase of $55,000, or 239%, compared to financial expenses of
$23,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011.
Loss
As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $1,579,000, as compared to $3,929,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011, a
decrease of $2,350,000, or 62%.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
Since our inception through December 31, 2012, we have funded our operations principally with $5.8 million from the sale of ordinary shares, preferred shares and
convertible loans. As of December 31, 2012, we had $97,000 in cash and cash equivalents.
Years Ended,
December 31,
2012
2011
(in thousands US$)
Operating activities

$

(1,585)

Investing activities

1,026

Financing activities

601

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

42

$

(2,361)
(1,041)
2,620
(782)

Operating Activities
Net cash used in operating activities of $2.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2011 was primarily used for a payment of $1.6 million for clinical trials and
other third party expenses and an aggregate of $0.4 million in salary payments. The remaining amount was for travel, rent and other miscellaneous expenses. Net cash used in
operating activities of $1.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily used for payment of $0.8 million for clinical trials and other third party expenses and
an aggregate of $0.3 million in salary payments. The remaining amount of $0.5 million was for travel, rent and other miscellaneous expenses.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities during 2011 was $1 million primarily reflected our use of cash to invest in short-term bank deposits, and increase in restricted bank
deposits. In 2012, we withdrew these deposits into cash.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2011 consisted of $2.1 million of net proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares, and $0.5
million of proceeds from loans. Net cash provided by financing activities in the year ended December 31, 2012 consisted of $0.6 million of net proceeds from convertible notes.
Current Outlook
Our independent registered public accounting firm’s report to our financial reports for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, states that there is a substantial doubt
that we will be able to continue as a going concern. Furthermore, according to our estimates, based on our budget, if we are not successful in obtaining additional capital
resources, there is a substantial doubt that we will be able to continue our activities after March 31, 2013. Even if we are able to raise funds in the offering contemplated herein,
we believe that we will need to raise additional funds before we have any cash flow from operations.
We believe that our existing cash resources and the net proceeds from the current offering will be sufficient to fund our projected cash requirements approximately
through the conclusion of 2014. Nevertheless, we will require significant additional financing in the future to fund our operations if and when we obtain regulatory approval of
MG01CI and commercialize the drug. We currently anticipate that, assuming consummation of the current offering, we will utilize approximately $6 million for clinical trial
activities over the course of the next 18 months. We also anticipate utilizing approximately between $1 million to $3 million for capital expenditures over such 18-month period,
which consists primarily of expenditures for the manufacture of our drug candidate for use in clinical trials and supporting pre-clinical studies required for obtaining approval to
conduct such clinical studies. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:
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·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

the progress and costs of our preclinical studies, clinical trials and other research and development activities;
the scope, prioritization and number of our clinical trials and other research and development programs;
the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory approval for our drug candidate;
the costs of filing, prosecuting, enforcing and defending patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
the costs of, and timing for, strengthening our manufacturing agreements for production of sufficient clinical and commercial quantities of our drug candidate;
the potential costs of contracting with third parties to provide marketing and distribution services for us or for building such capacities internally;
the costs of acquiring or undertaking the development and commercialization efforts for additional, future therapeutic applications of our drug candidate;
the magnitude of our general and administrative expenses;
any cost that we may incur under current and future in- and out-licensing arrangements relating to our drug candidate; and
payments to the OCS.

Until we can generate significant recurring revenues, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through the net proceeds from the current offering, debt or equity
financings, or by out-licensing applications of our drug candidate. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. If funds are
not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate research or development plans for, or commercialization efforts with respect to, one or more
applications of our drug candidate. This may raise substantial doubts about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations at December 31, 2012:
Total
Operating leases:
Facility
Motor Vehicles

Less than 1 year

4
17

1-3 years
(in thousands US$)

4
14

3

3-5 years

More than 5 years

-

-

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We currently do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse
changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of foreign currency exchange rates. Approximately 40% of our expenses are
denominated in New Israeli Shekel. Changes of 5% and 10% in the USD/NIS exchange rate will increase/decrease the operation expenses by 2% and 4%, respectively.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
Our results of operations and cash flow are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Certain of our expenses are denominated in New
Israeli Shekels. Our results of operations and cash flow are, therefore, subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and may be adversely affected in
the future due to changes in foreign exchange rates. We do not hedge our foreign currency exchange risk. In the future, we may enter into formal currency hedging transactions to
decrease the risk of financial exposure from fluctuations in the exchange rates of our principal operating currencies. These measures, however, may not adequately protect us
from the material adverse effects of such fluctuations.
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BUSINESS
We are an emerging biopharmaceutical company primarily focused on the development and commercialization of our proprietary drug, MG01CI, to treat Attention Deficit
Hyperactivity Disorder, or ADHD. The most common currently available treatments for ADHD are stimulants that increase the brain chemical dopamine. Stimulants have
significant side effects, and as controlled substances have significant potential for misuse, abuse and addiction. MG01CI is a non-stimulant with a different mechanism of action.
In September 2011, we completed a 120-patient double-blind Phase II study in Israel that showed significant improvement in clinical ADHD symptoms, and also showed
favorable tolerability with no significant side effects over a placebo. The trial met all primary and secondary clinical endpoints showing statistically significant improvement over
the placebo-treated control group.
We plan to initiate discussions with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, within six months from the date of this prospectus to seek approval, via an IND
Application submission, to conduct advanced clinical trials in the United States for the use of MGO1CI to treat ADHD in adults. If such FDA approval of our IND Application is
granted and if these and any future clinical trials demonstrate the safety and efficacy of MGO1CI, we will seek to obtain marketing approval from the FDA for MG01CI for use
in adults. We have similar plans to seek marketing approval in the European Union and later in Japan. Following the successful completion of our next clinical trial in adults, we
will seek to obtain regulatory approvals for clinical trials, via additional IND Application submissions, in order ultimately to obtain marketing approval of MG01CI for use in
children. The requirements to conduct pediatric clinical trials are more stringent than those for adults. If our requests for approval to conduct clinical trials are denied, or if our
clinical trials are unsuccessful, we will have to re-design our drug candidate and conduct additional preliminary clinical trials after any necessary regulatory approvals.
ADHD is one of the most common behavioral disorders in the world. It is estimated that between 5% and 12% of children worldwide are affected by this condition. Once
believed to only affect children, ADHD is now known to persist into adolescence and adulthood in a large number of cases, with approximately 46% of all adults who had ADHD
as children continuing to have symptoms of the disorder as adults. Approximately 95% of these adults experience impaired inattention and executive function symptoms, of
which approximately 35% also experience hyperactivity-impulsivity symptoms.
ADHD is a treatable condition. The most commonly used therapeutic drugs are stimulants (Schedule II, Controlled Substances), such as Ritalin, Adderall, Vyvanse and
Concerta, which are all compounds that increase the brain chemical dopamine, and which have significant abuse and misuse potential because their use may lead to severe
psychological or physical dependence. In addition, stimulants have numerous side effects, such as uncomfortable mental states, interference with sleep and appetite, development
of nervous ticks and potential cardiovascular effects resulting from increased blood pressure. These side effects have limited the effectiveness of treatment for those taking the
drugs and have also dramatically limited medication adherence rates. Up to 30% to 50% of those who are prescribed stimulants for ADHD either do not respond or cannot
tolerate these treatments, and only about 20% of those prescribed with stimulants renew their prescription the following month.

The only non-stimulant drug approved to treat adult ADHD is Strattera. Strattera affects the chemical norepinephrine, which is a stress hormone
that affects parts of the brain where attention and responses are controlled. This drug has significant side effects, such as fatigue, decreased appetite, sexual
problems, palpitations, increased heart rate and high blood pressure and also has regulatory warning labels relating to suicidal thoughts and liver
damage. Moreover, Strattera takes 6-10 weeks to achieve full clinical effectiveness. More recently, two additional non-stimulant medications with
similar safety and efficacy profiles were approved for use only in children (Guanfacine and Clonidine). These two drugs have not had significant
commercial success. All approved ADHD drugs need to be carefully monitored by the treating physician to optimize the dose, starting with a low
dose and slowly escalating to the most effective and tolerable dose.
In contrast to all available treatments, MG01CI is a non-stimulant with a differentiated mechanism of action that targets neither dopamine nor norepinephrine. Our 120patient Phase II study showed significant clinical improvement in clinical symptoms with higher response rates, and a more rapid onset than available non-stimulants. The trial
also demonstrated favorable tolerability with no significant side effects over a placebo. MG01CI therefore potentially represents a safer alternative to stimulant-based treatments
and a more tolerable and effective treatment than the non-stimulants which are currently in the market. Additionally, because of its unique mechanism of action and specific
clinical effect on inattention and executive function, we believe that MG01CI possibly may be useful in treating additional cognitive disorders, such as schizophrenia, mild
cognitive impairment in Alzheimer’s disease, Tourette’s syndrome and cognitive impairment in mood disorders, and we plan to use proceeds from this offering to evaluate
MG01CI in one or more of such disorders.
Market Overview
About ADHD
The U.S. ADHD market size in 2011 has been estimated to be $3.8 billion, which accounted for approximately 90% of the global ADHD market. The difference in market
sizes between U.S. and non-U.S. sales does not stem from a difference in sales volumes, but simply the lack of significant sales of innovative ADHD drugs outside the U.S. (nonU.S. markets are dominated by generic drugs). Global prevalence rates of the disease are estimated to be approximately 8-10% of school-aged children and approximately 4-5%
of the adult population. Adult diagnosis and treatment is forecast to grow in the near future due to increased disease awareness and less sociological stigmatization towards the
condition. In the United States, the diagnosis rate is approximately 51% in children and 31% in adults with consequent treatment rates of approximately 70% in children and 49%
in adults. Overall, the U.S. market is forecast to grow at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 7.3% per annum and reach $6.2 billion by 2018. The global ADHD market is
forecast to grow at a CAGR of 8.0% in part because higher disease recognition is expected in Japan and Europe due to the adoption of the broader diagnostic criteria prevalent in
the U.S. Further, these predominant criteria are expected to broaden further in 2013. Also, the estimated growth for the non-U.S. markets is higher due to prospective approval
dates for major ADHD drugs that have already been marketed in the U.S., such as Vyvanse, Intuniv and Kapvay. Despite upcoming patent expiration dates and the entry of
several generic compounds, the market size is expected to grow further as new drugs enter the market and compensate for the generic erosion.
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Development of ADHD Symptoms
Once perceived to only affect children, ADHD is now known to persist into adolescence and adulthood in a sizeable number of cases. The following graphic illustrates how
the nature of ADHD symptoms change with age:
Children

Adolescents

Adults

Hyperactive
Aggressive
Low frustration tolerance
Impulsive

Easily distracted
Inattentive

Shifts activities
Easily bored
Impatient
Restless

A recent study showed that approximately 46% of adults who suffered from ADHD as children continue to have symptoms of the disorder as adults, with approximately
95% experiencing attention deficit symptoms and about 35% of them experiencing hyperactivity- impulsivity symptoms. As the majority of sufferers of ADHD age, their
symptoms tend toward impatience, restlessness, boredom and low concentration levels from the more aggressive hyperactivity and impulsive behavior evident in children.
Although the definitive causes of ADHD are still unclear, current research suggests that ADHD is caused by an interaction between environmental factors and genetic
predispositions. Biologic factors that reportedly increase the risk of having ADHD include maternal smoking, drug or alcohol abuse during pregnancy, brain injury and exposure
to toxins. Furthermore, diet may play a role in ADHD.
Impact of Untreated and Undertreated ADHD
ADHD is believed to be one of the most under-diagnosed and under-treated mental health conditions facing children and adults. ADHD increases health risks, adverse
social externalities and economic costs as illustrated in the following table. Despite the disorder being highly treatable, most adults with ADHD remain undiagnosed and
untreated.
The following illustrates the effects on society when ADHD remains untreated:
Healthcare System
ñ 50% in bicycle accidents
ñ 33% in ER visits
2-4x more car accidents
School and Occupation
46% expelled
35% drop out
Lower occupational status

Patient
ñ criminal activity
ñ incarceration
Society
Substance use disorders:
2x risk and earlier onset
Less likely to quit in adulthood

Family
3-5x more divorce/separation
2-4x more sibling fights
Employer
Increased parental absenteeism and lower
productivity

Diagnosis of ADHD
The diagnosis of ADHD is obtained by a psychiatric assessment which is intended to eliminate other potential causes. A formal diagnosis is completed by a qualified
physician and is based on a number of set criteria. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition (DSM-IV), diagnostic criteria are most widely used
to diagnose ADHD.
· DSM-IV criteria. The American Psychiatric Association provides a set of standardized criteria for classifying mental disorders known as the Diagnostic and Statistical
Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM). These criteria are based on the premise that attention deficits are distinct and differentiated conditions that are abnormalities resulting
from biological origins that can be reliably and objectively measured. The diagnostic criteria include:
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•

Inattention – the patient makes careless mistakes in activities and is easily distracted

•

Hyperactivity – the patients fidgets, squirms, talks excessively or displays restless behavior

•

Impulsiveness – the patient interrupts others and cannot wait for a turn

•

There must be clear evidence of significant impairment in social, school, or work functioning

•

Signs of impairment present before 7 years of age and present in two or more settings (school/work and home)

•

Signs are not better accounted for by another mental disorder

The DSM-IV criteria are becoming more prevalent as the diagnostic measure for ADHD in Europe and Japan. If the DSM-IV criteria are used, rather than an alternative
measure in declining use, a diagnosis of ADHD is 3–4 times more likely. Consequently, the size of the market in Europe and Japan is set to grow with improved diagnosis rates
driven by adoption of the DSM-IV criteria.
Key Products and Market Participants
The principal pharmaceutical companies marketing drugs to treat ADHD are shown in the following table, together with the drug brand name, patent expiration date,
class/method of action and reported 2011 sales.
Brand Name
Vyvanse

Company
Shire

Patent Expires

Class/Method of Action
Stimulant
(Dopamine reuptake inhibitor)

June 2023

2011 Sales
$1272 million

Concerta

J&J

May 2011

Stimulant
(Dopamine reuptake inhibitor)

$682 million

Adderall XR

Shire

2012

Stimulant
(Dopamine reuptake inhibitor)

$953 million

Strattera

Eli Lilly

August 2010

Non-Stimulant
(NE reuptake inhibitor)

$620 million

Focalin

Novartis

December 2015

Stimulant
(Dopamine reuptake inhibitor)

$340 million

Ritalin/ Ritalin LA

Novartis

2015

Stimulant
(Dopamine reuptake inhibitor)

$490 million

Intuniv

Shire

September 2015

Non-Stimulant
(NE receptor agonist)

$223 million

Dextroamphetamine ER

Teva

N/A

Stimulant
(Dopamine reuptake inhibitor)

$269 million

Adderall IR

Teva

N/A

Stimulant
(Dopamine reuptake inhibitor)

$29 million

In addition to the foregoing drugs, neuropsychological tools are being used in the diagnosis of ADHD, and there are exploratory studies being conducted to assess the
potential efficacy of neurofeedback in the treatment of ADHD.
Limitations of Current Treatment Options for ADHD
Because of the significant side effects and abuse potential associated with current stimulant treatment options for ADHD which are narcotics, there is a significant need to
develop safe and effective non-stimulant/non-narcotic treatment alternatives.
Historically, the first line treatment for ADHD was stimulants, such as methylphenidate and amphetamine. These are classified as Schedule II controlled substances that can
cause dependence and abuse. The danger of prescription drug abuse is one of the main causes of low treatment rates, particularly by primary care physicians (PCPs) who are the
largest group of prescribers. All but one of the current drugs on the market to treat adult ADHD are stimulants. Strattera is the only drug currently on the market for adults that is
a non-stimulant. Strattera has been effective, but it also has serious side effects, such as fatigue, decreased appetite, sexual problems, palpitations, increased heart rate, blood
pressure, and regulatory warning labels on suicidal thoughts and liver damage. Moreover, Strattera also takes 6-10 weeks to achieve full clinical effects. New non-stimulant
therapies, such as MG01CI, will not have the risk of abuse and do not have significantly delayed effect, and we believe that their market entry should increase treatment rates and
drive market growth.
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While stimulants have been shown to be effective for the treatment of ADHD, up to 30% to 50% of those who are prescribed stimulants for ADHD either do not respond or
cannot tolerate these treatments. Consequently, medication adherence rate for these ADHD therapies is poor, with less than 20% of prescriptions re-filled beyond the first month.
Therefore, there is a significant need to develop safe and effective non-stimulant treatment alternatives, particularly ones devoid of abuse potential and significant side effects.
Our Strategy
Our objective is to develop and commercialize proprietary pharmaceutical products for treatment of central nervous system disorders, and cognitive dysfunctions in
particular. To this effect, we intend to conduct additional clinical trials for our most advanced product (MG01CI) and, if those trials are successful, seek marketing approval from
the FDA and other worldwide regulatory bodies for MG01CI for the treatment of ADHD in adults and children. We also plan to advance clinical studies and commercialization
plans for MG01CI in additional indications of cognitive dysfunction which present significant market opportunities such as mood disorders, memory impairment, autism, and
shift work/jet lag. Finally, we intend to develop products other than MG01CI that we have invented or that may be acquired by the Company. To achieve these objectives, we plan
to:
·

Initiate and complete two Phase III clinical trials of MG01CI for the treatment of ADHD in adults, and, if they are successful, file for marketing approval for adults in
the U.S.. (Expected initiation in the fourth quarter of 2014 and expected completion in the second quarter of 2015)

·

Initiate and complete clinical trials in a pediatric ADHD population, and, if successful, file for marketing approval for that use in the U.S.. (Expected initiation in the
third quarter of 2014 and expected completion in the second quarter of 2015)

·

Initiate and complete clinical trials in EU and Japan for both adult and pediatric ADHD, and, if successful, file for marketing approval of such uses in these regions.
(Expected initiation in the first quarter of 2015 for EU and 2016 for Japan and expected completion in the fourth quarter of 2016)

·

Prepare to commercialize MG01CI for the treatment of patients with ADHD by establishing distribution capabilities primarily in conjunction with large pharmaceutical
companies.

·

Conduct clinical investigations into the possible use of MG01CI to treat other cognitive disorders and impairments such as mood disorders, memory impairment, autism
and shift work/jet lag. (Expected initiation in the fourth quarter of 2014 and expected completion in the fourth quarter of 2015)

·

Conduct development of additional new molecules in Alcobra's pipeline that are protected by patents, or in-license products in similar therapeutic areas.

MG01CI Overview and Mechanism of Action
MG01CI is a proprietary, combined rapid onset/extended release formulation of the chemical Pyridoxine Pyroglutamate, which is more broadly known as Metadoxine. Our
internal studies suggest that Metadoxine attaches to and neutralizes a unique protein in the brain called the 5-HT2B receptor, and excludes binding of all other molecules that
normally attach there. This protein has been associated with ADHD in studies exploring the hereditary basis of ADHD, as well as in studies that attempt to understand the
molecular basis of the disorder, but no approved or, to our knowledge, investigational drug has yet to display this profile other than ours. MG01CI consists of a single oral tablet,
which includes both a rapid onset release Metadoxine formulation and an extended release Metaxdoxine formulation together providing the desired dual release profile. The new
extended-release formulation prolongs the serum levels of Metadoxine for up to 12 hours, which results in enhanced efficacy benefits.
Metadoxine has been available since the 1980’s in immediate release forms for the acute treatment of alcohol intoxication and the chronic treatment of alcoholic liver
disease. Metadoxine was approved for these indications in Italy, Portugal, Hungary, Russia, India, China, Mexico and Thailand. A literature survey covering over 20 years of
post-marketing surveillance identifies only a few cases of minor adverse events. To our knowledge, no drug-related serious adverse events have ever been reported. We have
multiple claims in our pending patent applications (including one application that has been allowed by the U.S. PTO) that, if issued, would prevent the use by others of
Metadoxine to treat ADHD and all other cognitive disorders.
Normally, the level of neurotransmitters in the brain, such as dopamine, norepinephrine and serotonin, are fully regulated in order to ensure proper neurological function and
neuron-to-neuron communication. Communication between neurons is achieved by the controlled release of neurotransmitters from one neuron, their transport by a dedicated
transporter across the synapse (the gap between two neurons) to another neuron, and their binding and internalization into the target neuron using a unique, designated receptor.
One of the purported causes of the symptoms of ADHD is low levels in the brain of these neurotransmitters causing the lack of regulation of neuronal networks. In the design of
pharmacological treatments for ADHD, low neurotransmitter levels can be modulated through blocking the release, delivery and/or the uptake of neurotransmitters by their
respective plasma transporters/receptors. All stimulants modulate dopamine. Atomoxetine (Strattera), the only non-stimulant approved for adults, works through modulating
norepinephrine. MG01CI has the potential to be the first product approved for ADHD that works on the brain network that is controlled by the serotonin protein, in contrast to the
dopamine pathway and the norepinephrine pathway.
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The neural networks operating in the brain are directed by various proteins and signals. One way to affect these networks is to identify a drug that binds to the site and
inhibits the action of the protein or signal. In investigating the proposed mechanism of action for MG01CI, over 80 different central nervous system receptors and transporters
were tested in the laboratory for binding with Metadoxine. Binding of Metadoxine was tested on targets that are part of the muscarinic network, dopamine network, serotonin
network, GABA network, noradrenaline network, opioid network and cannabinoid network. These networks each function to orchestrate different activities and signals in the
brain in different regions of the brain using different protein agents. Metadoxine displayed extensive and highly specific receptor binding to only one of the serotonin receptors
named 5-HT2B that has been implicated genetically in ADHD and molecularly in control of dopamine outflow. The binding had approximately 50-fold selectivity over all other
5-HT receptor subtypes and a variety of other receptors. No binding was detected to any of the proteins involved in the brain networks controlled by dopamine or noradrenaline.
Selectivity in binding is important because the goal is to bind only with the targeted receptor to achieve the desired effect and not bind to other receptors where it may have an
undesired effect. Therefore, MG01CI displays a novel mechanism of action because it is the only ADHD drug candidate which exclusively affects the 5-HT2B serotonin receptor.

Although there are scientific papers that suggest that the 5-HT2B protein may take part in some aspects of the ADHD neurological disorder, the
clinical trials using MG01CI are the first to show that by using a molecule that binds and neutralizes 5-HT2B, one can proactively improve the
clinical symptoms of this disorder.
In summary, we believe that MG01CI is the first drug candidate to affect the serotonergic pathway and is currently the only drug candidate that shows exclusive binding to
the 5-HT2B serotonin receptor. Moreover, the 5-HT2B receptor is implicated genetically and physiologically as a possible etiologic factor in the development of ADHD, creating
the potential for MG01CI to be an effective treatment for ADHD.
Clinical Data
Symptom and Clinical Efficacy Measurement
There are various methodologies for evaluating and measuring changes in the symptoms of ADHD patients, including behavior rating scales, computer-based cognitive tests
and verbal and pictorial performance tests. The key approved and widely accepted methodologies used to test the clinical efficacy of ADHD pharmacotherapies include:
· Conners’ Adult ADHD Rating Scales (CAARS). CAARS measure the presence and severity of ADHD symptoms to determine whether or not ADHD is a contributing
factor to a patient’s symptoms. The scales quantitatively measure the frequency and severity of ADHD symptoms across clinically significant areas using a 30-item
questionnaire. The scale has been used extensively in clinical trials including pivotal Phase III studies of approved pharmacotherapies for ADHD. Modified versions of the
CAARS measure are used for diagnostics in children, with a different emphasis on the type of symptoms.
· Adult ADHD Quality of Life Questionnaire (AAQoL). AAQoL provides a validated disease-specific measure of the impact of ADHD on the quality of life. It is measured
as an overall score (totaling 29 items) and four subscale scores including: life productivity (11 items), psychological health (6 items), life outlook (7 items) and relationships
(5 items). It has been validated in clinical trials and used in the Phase III study of Atomoxetine (Strattera) in adults.
· Test of Variables of Attention (TOVA). TOVA is a computerized test that assists in the screening, diagnosis, and treatment monitoring of attention disorders such as ADHD.
The test provides an objective, quantitative neurological measure of attention. The test consists of a 20-minute, simple "computer game" that measures responses to either
visual or auditory stimuli. These measurements are then compared to the measurements of a group of people without attention disorders who complete the same test. The
test provides information about a subject’s response style, such as the tendency to make impulsive errors or errors due to inattention, distraction or reaction time. TOVA
outcomes include subscores for Response Time Variability (a time measurement of how consistently a target signal is identified and a microswitch is pressed throughout the
test), Response Time (a time measurement of how fast or slow information is processed and responded to), Commission Errors (a measure of impulsivity: how many times
an incorrect signal is identified and the micorswitch is pressed erroneously), and Omission Errors (a measure of inattention: how many times is the correct target signal
missed and the microswitch is not pressed). The TOVA also provides a calculated ADHD Score that provides a cumulative index. ADHD scores <-1.8 are considered
outside the normative range.
Clinical Results
We have conducted several clinical trials in adult ADHD patients in Israel testing the safety and efficacy of our novel non-stimulant drug candidate, MG01CI. These trials
included:
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·

A Phase IIa proof of concept study of 38 adult ADHD patients, followed by two extension studies to determine length of efficacy and optimized dosages; and

·

A six-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, multi-center Phase IIb study of 120 adult ADHD patients, in which ADHD subjects
were randomly assigned in a 1:1 ratio to one of two treatment groups : a 1,400mg dose of MG01CI and a matching placebo.

Additional information about our clinical trials is shown in the following chart.
Phase IIa
Phase IIb
When the clinical study was held
Q1-Q2 2010
Q2-Q3 2011
How long the clinical study was active
3 months
4 months
How we targeted patients to enroll
Existing adult patients in local ADHD
Existing adult patients in local clinics; online
treatment clinic
advertisement; newspaper advertisement
Whether we conducted the study with any other parties
No
No
The steps taken to ensure the accuracy of the results
Outside contract research organization (CRO) oversight, including monitoring visits; outside medical
monitor; double-typing of data in the data management system; automatic and manual query
generation; and external expert review
The Phase IIa study was designed to evaluate the effect on cognitive function of a single oral administration of MG01CI in subjects ranging from ages 18-45 who had been
diagnosed as having ADHD. The study was performed at the ADHD unit of the Geha Mental Health Hospital (Israel). The primary outcome measures in the trial were the onehour post-medication ADHD Score, and various TOVA subscores, Secondary outcome measures were subtests from the WAIS-R test. The Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, or
WAIS, is a battery of tests designed to measure intelligence in adolescents and adults. WAIS includes both non-verbal performance scales as well as verbal intelligence items. A
revised form of the WAIS, WAIS-R, consists of six verbal and five performance subtests. The verbal tests are: information, comprehension, arithmetic, digit span, similarities, and
vocabulary. The performance subtests are: picture arrangement, picture completion, block design, object assembly, and digit symbol.
Results of this clinical study showed clinically and highly statistically significant improvement in all the TOVA parameters that were abnormal at baseline (see table below).
“P values” are a measure of statistical significance. P is a statistical measure for the probability of an error. In clinical investigations, p<0.05 (meaning that the probability of an
error in the outcome is less than 5%) is considered a statistically significant finding.
Parameter (n=38)

Change from baseline

p

Omission Score

+12.9 (+16.6%)

p<0.03

Commission Score

+7.0 (+7.1%)

p<0.01

Response Time Score

+11.0 (+12.4%)

p<0.02

Response Time Variability Score

+17.1 (+38.6%)

p<0.001

ADHD Score

+3.9 (+65.8%)

p<0.001

TOVA Subscores
Furthermore, results of the Wechsler subtests confirmed the ability of MG01CI to improve cognitive functions in adults with ADHD, with clinical and statistically
significant improvement seen in both working memory and spatial memory tests. A significant correlation was found between the drug response measured by the TOVA and the
response measured by the WISC subtests.
WAIS-R subtest
(n-38)

Baseline mean (min,max)

Post medication mean (min,max)

Change

p

Correct Symbols

34.5 (18,59)

37.9 (22,57)

+3.4

p<0.002

Symbol Search

74.6 (54,119)

81.7 (61,112)

+7.2

p<0.001

Digits Forward

10.0 (5,14)

10.7 (7,14)

+0.7

p<0.003

Digits Backward

7.0 (3,13)

7.8 (2,14)

+0.9

p<0.01

Total Digits

17.0 (9,26)

18.6 (10,27)

+1.6

p<0.002

Wechsler Subscores
In a small extension study to study the duration of drug benefits, 10 subjects were evaluated using TOVA immediately before, and 90 minutes, 4 hours and 7 hours after,
taking a single 1400mg dose of MG01CI. Data below show the mean TOVA scores in these patients at the specified time points, showing an extended effect of the drug on
cognitive functions. A TOVA score of -1.8 or less is considered abnormal.

Mean ADHD Scores Following Single MG01CI Dosing
In another extension study designed to validate the MG01CI dose used in studies thus far, 10 subjects were evaluated using TOVA 90 minutes after blindly taking either
700mg, 1400mg or 2100mg doses of MG01CI on separate occasions. TOVA results following these treatments were compared to the baseline and data obtained before any
treatment in these patients. Data below show the mean ADHD score in these patients at baseline and following each of the three evaluated drug doses, establishing the likely
effective dose range for MG01CI to be 700-1400mg.
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Mean ADHD Scores Before and 90 Minutes Following One of Three MG01CI Doses
Summary of Phase IIb Clinical Study
We recently completed a six-week randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, multi-center Phase IIb study in 120 adult subjects with ADHD that was
performed in two centers in Israel: the ADHD unit at Geha Mental Health Hospital and the Cognitive Neurology unit at Rambam Healthcare Campus.
ADHD subjects were randomly assigned in a 1:1 ratio to one of two treatment groups: 1,400mg MG01CI and matching placebo. The primary efficacy measure was the
CAARS questionnaire, and the secondary efficacy measures were the TOVA test and the AAQoL questionnaire.
Significant improvements in CAARS scores (p<0.016), TOVA ADHD scores (p<0.02) and AAQoL scores (p<0.01) were observed in the MG01CI treated group versus the
placebo group, as can be seen in the image below. Improvements in CAARS and TOVA scores were statistically significant over the placebo after as little as two weeks of
treatment. Sub-analysis of subjects with ADHD inattentive type (n=48) showed an even greater improvement in CAARS scores over the placebo, as well as a larger response rate.

Physical examination, laboratory parameters, vital signs, and ECGs showed no consistent differences between treatment groups or cumulative changes over time. The most
commonly reported adverse events were nausea, fatigue and headache. Nausea was the only adverse event to occur exclusively in the MG01CI group and should be considered an
anticipated event in future MG01CI research; fatigue occurred in similar numbers in both groups, and headache occurred notably less frequently in the MG01CI group.
Summary of Clinical Data and Key Conclusions
Subjects treated with MG01CI showed statistically significant improvement in CAARS Total ADHD Symptoms Score, as well as higher response rates on the CAARS
Total ADHD Symptom Score over subjects treated with placebo.
Improvements in ADHD symptoms (scored by CAARS) were significantly different in subjects treated with MG01Cl vs. placebo as early as 2 weeks following treatment
initiation.
Improvement in inattention symptoms was statistically significant. One measure of effectiveness is called an “effect size” based on various statistical computations. An
effect size of 0.4 has been reported for Atomoxetine, the only approved non-stimulant medication of Adult ADHD. An effect size of 0.9, calculated for the predominantlyinattentive ADHD population in Alcobra's Phase IIb study is therefore significantly higher, and in fact comparable to reported effect sizes of stimulant medications such as
Concerta and Adderall.
Statistically significant findings were found using the TOVA neuropsychological test, as well as the Quality of Life questionnaire. TOVA scores were significantly better as
early as two weeks after study initiation, and remained significantly better throughout the trial. AAQoL scores were significantly better starting at week 6 of treatment.
Adverse Events
The most commonly reported adverse events in the various clinical studies were nausea, fatigue and headache. Transient moderate nausea was the only adverse event to
occur exclusively in the MG01CI group, with an incidence of approximately 17%; fatigue was largely the same in the control groups and the MGOCI groups, and headache
occurred notably less frequently in the MG01CI group, in about 5% of the subjects.
In addition, products containing Metadoxine outside the United States cite either complete lack of adverse events or infrequent diarrhea and moderate skin rash.
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Commercialization
We do not have any internal sales, marketing or distribution infrastructure. In the event we receive regulatory approval for MG01CI, we intend, where appropriate, to
pursue commercialization relationships with pharmaceutical companies and other strategic partners providing for distribution through their sales and marketing organizations in
order to gain access to global markets. Over the longer term, we may ultimately build an internal commercial infrastructure.
Third-Party Reimbursement
Sales of pharmaceutical products depend in significant part on the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement by third-party payors, such as state and federal
governments, including Medicare and Medicaid, managed care providers, and private insurance plans. Decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of reimbursement
to be provided for MG01CI will be made on a plan by plan, and in some cases, patient by patient, basis.
Within the Medicare program, as a self-administered drug, MG01CI would be reimbursed under the expanded prescription drug benefit known as Medicare Part D. This
program is a voluntary Medicare benefit administered by private plans that operate under contracts with the federal government. These Part D plans negotiate discounts with drug
manufacturers, which may be passed on to each of the plan’s enrollees. Historically, Part D beneficiaries have been exposed to significant out-of-pocket costs after they surpass
an annual coverage limit and until they reach a catastrophic coverage threshold. However, changes made by recent legislation will reduce this patient coverage gap, known as the
donut hole, by reducing patient responsibility in that coverage range.
An ongoing trend has been for third-party payors, including the United States government, to apply downward pressure on the reimbursement of pharmaceutical products.
Also, the trend towards managed health care in the United States and the concurrent growth of organizations such as health maintenance organizations tend to result in lower
reimbursement for pharmaceutical products. We expect that these trends will continue as these payors implement various proposals or regulatory policies, including various
provisions of the recent health reform legislation that affect reimbursement of these products. There are currently, and we expect that there will continue to be, a number of
federal and state proposals to implement controls on reimbursement and pricing, directly and indirectly.
Research and Development
We are conducting development activities to expand the commercial potential of MG01CI. We sponsor and conduct clinical research activities with investigators and
institutions to measure key clinical outcomes that are necessary in order for us to be able to file an NDA with the FDA and equivalent filings with other regulatory authorities. For
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, we incurred $818,000 and $1,822,000, respectively, of research and development expense.
Our clinical studies have been conducted at two established medical institutions in Israel, the ADHD clinic of the Geha Mental Health Hospital and the Cognitive
Neurology unit at Rambam Healthcare Campus. We entered into customary clinical trial agreements in February 2011 with each of the institutions. The clinical trial agreements
are in customary form and provide financial support for personnel, equipment, laboratory tests and filing during the clinical trial through payment to the research fund of the
medical institution. The agreements were terminated with the conclusion of the clinical trials, and the finalization of the Clinical Study Report. The principal investigators at these
institutions were Dr. Iris Manor (Geha) and Dr. Rachel Ben Hayun (Rambam). All clinical and nursing staff was compensated entirely by their employer institution. We do not
have any other business relationship with any of the investigators.
Grants from the Office of the Israeli Chief Scientist
Our research and development efforts, during the period between May 1, 2009 and April 30, 2010, were financed in part through royalty-bearing grants, in an amount of
$106,494 that we received from Israel's Office of the Chief Scientist of the Ministry of Industry, Trade and Labor, or OCS. With respect to such grants we are committed to pay
certain royalties. Regardless of any royalty payment, we are further required to comply with the requirements of the Research Law with respect to those past grants. When a
company develops know-how, technology or products using OCS grants, the terms of these grants and the Research Law restrict the transfer of such know-how, and the transfer
of manufacturing or manufacturing rights of such products, technologies or know-how outside of Israel, without the prior approval of the OCS. We do not believe that these
requirements will materially restrict us in any way.
Former Strategic Relationship with Teva Pharmaceuticals
Following our successful proof of concept trial in 2010, Teva Pharmaceuticals, the large Israeli generic drug company, made an equity investment in us, negotiated the right
to acquire us should MG01CI reach the market, and funded the next stage of clinical development of MG01CI. All of Teva’s rights to the product terminated when it failed to
timely exercise an option to continue development of MG01CI in November 2011 after requesting an extension of the deadline. We do not have any continuing obligations to
Teva other than that Teva continues to be a shareholder of the Company with related rights.
Manufacturing
We currently have no manufacturing facilities and no personnel with commercial-scale manufacturing experience. We currently rely on one third-party manufacturer,
Patheon Inc., which is located in Cincinnati, Ohio, to produce bulk drug substance and drug products required for our clinical trials. We have entered into a customary clinical
trial agreement with Patheon. Supply under the agreement is done by purchase orders, there are no minimum purchase requirements or unusual financial arrangements and the
agreement is terminable at will by either party. We plan to continue to rely upon contract manufacturers and, potentially, collaboration partners to manufacture commercial
quantities of our drug product candidates if and when we receive approval for marketing by the applicable regulatory authorities.
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We have not identified a secondary fill/finish supplier. We do not have a long-term commercial supply arrangement in place with any of our contract manufacturers. If we
need to identify an additional fill/finish manufacturer, we would not be able to do so without significant delay and likely significant additional cost.
Our third-party manufacturers, their facilities and all lots of drug substance and drug products used in our clinical trials are required to be in compliance with current Good
Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP. The cGMP regulations include requirements relating to organization of personnel, buildings and facilities, equipment, control of components
and drug product containers and closures, production and process controls, packaging and labeling controls, holding and distribution, laboratory controls, records and reports, and
returned or salvaged products. The manufacturing facilities for our products must meet, and continue to meet, cGMP requirements and FDA satisfaction before any product is
approved and we can manufacture commercial products. Contract manufacturers often encounter difficulties involving production yields, quality control and quality assurance, as
well as shortages of qualified personnel.
Competition
We face competition from established pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that currently market a wide range of drugs to treat ADHD. All of these competitors
have far greater marketing and research capabilities than us. We also face potential competition from academic institutions, government agencies and private and public research
institutions, among others, which may in the future develop products to treat ADHD. All of these companies and institutions may have products in development that are superior
to MG01CI. Our commercial opportunity would be reduced significantly if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, more convenient,
have fewer side effects or are less expensive than MG01CI. Public announcements regarding the development of competing drugs could adversely affect the commercial potential
of MG01CI.
Intellectual Property
We seek patent protection in the United States and internationally for MG01CI and any other products that we may develop. Our policy is to pursue, maintain and defend
patent rights developed internally and to protect the technology, inventions and improvements that are commercially important to the development of our business. Our portfolio
of patent applications that cover the release formulations and pharmacokinetic profile of Metadoxine, including our special sustained release, combined release and burst release
formulations and the associated methods of treatment.
One of our patent applications has been allowed by the U.S. PTO, and we expect the patent to be issued shortly. No patents have yet been issued on any of our patent
applications. We cannot be sure that any patents will be granted with respect to any of our pending patent applications or with respect to any patent applications filed by us in the
future. There is also a significant risk that any issued patents will have substantially narrower claims than those that are currently sought. Even with respect to any patents that
may be issued to us, we cannot be sure that any such patents will be commercially useful in protecting our technology. Any patents issued with respect to our current patent
applications would expire from 2028 to 2030. We also rely on trade secrets to protect our product candidates. Our commercial success also depends in part on our noninfringement of the patents or proprietary rights of third parties. For a more comprehensive discussion of the risks related to our intellectual property, please see “Risk Factors —
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property.”
The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many companies have encountered
significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. This risk is exacerbated for us because Metadoxine is manufactured
and used in a number of foreign countries in other applications and is widely available. The manufacture of Metadoxine and its use in other indications will not infringe our IP
rights, and will make it more difficult to monitor and enforce any patent rights that may be issued to us.
Our success depends in part on our ability to:
·

preserve trade secrets;

·

prevent third parties from infringing upon our proprietary rights; and

·

operate our business without infringing the patents and proprietary rights of third parties, both in the United States and internationally.
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We also protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, by confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific
advisors and other contractors. These agreements may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any breach. In addition, our trade secrets may otherwise become
known or be independently discovered by competitors. To the extent that our employees, consultants, scientific advisors or other contractors use intellectual property owned by
others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.
Regulatory Matters
Clinical trials, the drug approval process, and the marketing of drugs is intensively regulated in the United States and in all major foreign countries.
In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and related regulations. Drugs are also subject to other federal,
state and local statutes and regulations. Failure to comply with the applicable United States regulatory requirements at any time during the product development process, approval
process or after approval may subject an applicant to administrative or judicial sanctions. These sanctions could include the imposition by the FDA or an Institutional Review
Board, or IRB, of a clinical hold on trials, the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications or supplements, withdrawal of an approval, warning letters, product recalls, product
seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties or criminal prosecution. Any agency or judicial enforcement action could have
a material adverse effect on us.
The FDA and comparable regulatory agencies in state and local jurisdictions and in foreign countries impose substantial requirements upon the clinical development,
manufacture and marketing of pharmaceutical products. These agencies and other federal, state and local entities regulate research and development activities and the testing,
manufacture, quality control, safety, effectiveness, labeling, storage, distribution, record keeping, approval, advertising and promotion of our products.
The FDA’s policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of MG01CI or any future product
candidates or approval of new disease indications or label changes. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse governmental regulation that might arise from
future legislative or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad.
Marketing Approval
The process required by the FDA before drugs may be marketed in the United States generally involves the following:
·

nonclinical laboratory and animal tests;

·

submission of an Investigational New Drug, or IND, application which must become effective before clinical trials may begin;

·

adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended use or uses;

·

pre-approval inspection of manufacturing facilities and clinical trial sites; and

·

FDA approval of a new drug application (NDA) which must occur before a drug can be marketed or sold.

The testing and approval process requires substantial time and financial resources, and we cannot be certain that any approvals for MG01CI will be granted on a timely
basis if at all.
We will need to successfully complete extensive additional clinical trials in order to be in a position to submit a new drug application to the FDA. Our planned future
clinical trials for MG01CI may not begin or be completed on schedule, if at all. Clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including delays in:
·

obtaining regulatory approval to commence a study;

·

reaching agreement with third-party clinical trial sites and their subsequent performance in conducting accurate and reliable studies on a timely basis;

·

obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct a study at a prospective site;

·

recruiting patients to participate in a study; and

·

supply of the drug.
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We must reach agreement with the FDA on the proposed protocols for our future clinical trials in the U.S. A separate submission to the FDA must be made for each
successive clinical trial to be conducted during product development. Further, an independent IRB for each site proposing to conduct the clinical trial must review and approve
the plan for any clinical trial before it commences at that site. Informed consent must also be obtained from each study subject. Regulatory authorities, an IRB, a data safety
monitoring board or the sponsor, may suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the participants are being exposed to an
unacceptable health risk.
Our objective is to conduct additional clinical trials for MG01CI and, if those trials are successful, seek marketing approval from the FDA and other worldwide regulatory
bodies. To achieve this objective, we plan to initiate and complete two parallel Phase III clinical trials of MG01CI for the treatment of ADHD in adults, and, if it is successful, file
for marketing approval for adults initially in the United States and the European Union. We completed a Phase II trial in 2011 and plan to begin an advanced clinical study in
2013.
For purposes of NDA approval, human clinical trials are typically conducted in phases that may overlap.
· Phase I. The drug is initially introduced into healthy human subjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution and excretion. In the
case of some products for severe or life-threatening diseases, especially when the product may be too inherently toxic to ethically administer to healthy volunteers, the initial
human testing is often conducted in patients.
· Phase II. This phase involves trials in a limited patient population to identify possible adverse effects and safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the
product for specific targeted diseases and to determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage. Phase II studies may be sub-categorized to Phase IIa studies which are smaller,
pilot studies to evaluate limited drug exposure and efficacy signals, and Phase IIb studies which are larger studies testing more rigorously both safety and efficacy.
· Phase III. This phase involves trials undertaken to further evaluate dosage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expanded patient population, often at geographically
dispersed clinical trial sites. These trials are intended to establish the overall risk/benefit ratio of the product and provide an adequate basis for product labeling.
All of these trials must be conducted in accordance with good clinical practice requirements in order for the data to be considered reliable for regulatory purposes.
Typically, if a drug product is intended to treat a chronic disease, as is the case with MG01CI, safety and efficacy data must be gathered over an extended period of time,
which can range from six months to three years or more. Government regulation may delay or prevent marketing of product candidates or new drugs for a considerable period of
time and impose costly procedures upon our activities. We cannot be certain that the FDA or any other regulatory agency will grant approvals for MG01CI or any future product
candidates on a timely basis, if at all. Success in early stage clinical trials does not ensure success in later stage clinical trials. Data obtained from clinical activities is not always
conclusive and may be susceptible to varying interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval.
The NDA Approval Process
In order to obtain approval to market a drug in the United States, a marketing application must be submitted to the FDA that provides data establishing to the FDA’s
satisfaction the safety and effectiveness of the investigational drug for the proposed indication. Each NDA submission requires a substantial user fee payment unless a waiver or
exemption applies. The application includes all relevant data available from pertinent non-clinical studies and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous results as well as
positive findings, together with detailed information relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, controls and proposed labeling, among other things. Data can come from
company-sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and effectiveness of a use of a product, or from a number of alternative sources, including studies initiated by
investigators.
The FDA will initially review the NDA for completeness before it accepts it for filing. The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of an NDA to determine whether the
application will be accepted for filing based on the agency’s threshold determination that the application is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. After the NDA
submission is accepted for filing, the FDA reviews the NDA to determine, among other things, whether the proposed product is safe and effective for its intended use, and
whether the product is being manufactured in accordance with cGMP to assure and preserve the product’s identity, strength, quality and purity. The FDA may refer applications
for novel drug products or drug products that present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel that includes clinicians and other experts,
for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and, if so, under what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations
of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations carefully when making decisions.
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Based on pivotal Phase III trial results submitted in an NDA, upon the request of an applicant, the FDA may grant a priority review designation to a product, which sets the
target date for FDA action on the application at six months, rather than the standard ten months. Priority review is given where preliminary estimates indicate that a product, if
approved, has the potential to provide a significant improvement compared to marketed products or offers a therapy where no satisfactory alternative therapy exists. Priority
review designation does not change the scientific/medical standard for approval or the quality of evidence necessary to support approval.
After the FDA completes its initial review of an NDA, it will communicate to the sponsor that the drug will either be approved, or it will issue a complete response letter to
communicate that the NDA will not be approved in its current form and inform the sponsor of changes that must be made or additional clinical, nonclinical or manufacturing data
that must be received before the application can be approved, with no implication regarding the ultimate approvability of the application.
Before approving an NDA, the FDA will inspect the facilities at which the product is manufactured. The FDA will not approve the product unless it determines that the
manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required specifications.
Additionally, before approving an NDA, the FDA may inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with good clinical practices (GCPs). If the FDA determines the
application, manufacturing process or manufacturing facilities are not acceptable, it typically will outline the deficiencies and often will request additional testing or information.
This may significantly delay further review of the application. If the FDA finds that a clinical site did not conduct the clinical trial in accordance with GCP, the FDA may
determine the data generated by the clinical site should be excluded from the primary efficacy analyses provided in the NDA. Additionally, notwithstanding the submission of any
requested additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.
The testing and approval process for a drug requires substantial time, effort and financial resources, and this process may take several years to complete. Data obtained from
clinical activities are not always conclusive and may be susceptible to varying interpretations, which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. The FDA may not grant
approval on a timely basis, or at all. We may encounter difficulties or unanticipated costs in our efforts to secure necessary governmental approvals, which could delay or
preclude us from marketing our products.
The FDA may require, or companies may pursue, additional clinical trials after a product is approved. These so-called Phase IV studies may be made a condition to be
satisfied for continuing drug approval. The results of Phase IV studies can confirm the effectiveness of a product candidate and can provide important safety information. In
addition, the FDA now has express statutory authority to require sponsors to conduct post-market studies to specifically address safety issues identified by the agency.
Any approvals that we may ultimately receive could be withdrawn if required post-marketing trials or analyses do not meet the FDA requirements, which could materially
harm the commercial prospects for MG01CI.
The FDA also has authority to require a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, from manufacturers to ensure that the benefits of a drug or biological product
outweigh its risks. A sponsor may also voluntarily propose a REMS as part of the NDA submission. The need for a REMS is determined as part of the review of the NDA. Based
on statutory standards, elements of a REMS may include “dear doctor letters,” a medication guide, more elaborate targeted educational programs, and in some cases restrictions
on distribution. These elements are negotiated as part of the NDA approval, and in some cases if consensus is not obtained until after the Prescription Drug User Fee Act review
cycle, the approval date may be delayed. Once adopted, REMS are subject to periodic assessment and modification.
Even if a product candidate receives regulatory approval, the approval may be limited to specific disease states, patient populations and dosages, or might contain
significant limitations on use in the form of warnings, precautions or contraindications, or in the form of onerous risk management plans, restrictions on distribution, or postmarketing study requirements. Further, even after regulatory approval is obtained, later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may result in restrictions on the
product or even complete withdrawal of the product from the market. Delay in obtaining, or failure to obtain, regulatory approval for MG01CI, or obtaining approval but for
significantly limited use, would harm our business. In addition, we cannot predict what adverse governmental regulations may arise from future U.S. or foreign governmental
action.
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FDA Post-Approval Requirements
Any products manufactured or distributed by us pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to continuing regulation by the FDA, including requirements for record-keeping and
reporting of adverse experiences with the drug. Drug manufacturers are required to register their facilities with the FDA and certain state agencies, and are subject to periodic
unannounced inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMPs, which impose certain quality processes, manufacturing controls and documentation
requirements upon us and our third-party manufacturers in order to ensure that the product is safe, has the identity and strength, and meets the quality and purity characteristics
that it purports to have. Certain states also impose requirements on manufacturers and distributors to establish the pedigree of product in the chain of distribution, including some
states that require manufacturers and others to adopt new technology capable of tracking and tracing product as it moves through the distribution chain. We cannot be certain that
we or our present or future suppliers will be able to comply with the cGMP and other FDA regulatory requirements. If our present or future suppliers are not able to comply with
these requirements, the FDA may halt our clinical trials, fail to approve any NDA or other application, require us to recall a drug from distribution, shut down manufacturing
operations or withdraw approval of the NDA for that drug. Noncompliance with cGMP or other requirements can result in issuance of warning letters, civil and criminal
penalties, seizures and injunctive action.
Labeling, Marketing and Promotion
The FDA closely regulates the labeling, marketing and promotion of drugs. While doctors are free to prescribe any drug approved by the FDA for any use, a company can
only make claims relating to the safety and efficacy of a drug that are consistent with FDA approval, and is allowed to actively market a drug only for the particular use and
treatment approved by the FDA. In addition, any claims we make for our products in advertising or promotion must be appropriately balanced with important safety information
and otherwise be adequately substantiated. Failure to comply with these requirements can result in adverse publicity, warning letters, corrective advertising, injunctions and
potential civil and criminal penalties. Government regulators recently have increased their scrutiny of the promotion and marketing of drugs.
Pediatric Research Equity Act
The Pediatric Research Equity Act, or PREA, amended the FDCA to authorize the FDA to require certain research into drugs used in pediatric patients. The intent of PREA
is to compel sponsors whose drugs have pediatric applicability to study those drugs in pediatric populations, rather than ignoring pediatric indications for adult indications that
could be more economically desirable. The Secretary of Health and Human Services may defer or waive these requirements under specified circumstances.
Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws
In the United States, the research, manufacturing, distribution, sale and promotion of drug products and medical devices are potentially subject to regulation by various
federal, state and local authorities in addition to the FDA, including the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, other divisions of the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services (e.g., the Office of Inspector General), the U.S. Department of Justice, state Attorneys General, and other state and local government agencies. For example, sales,
marketing and scientific/educational grant programs must comply with the Medicare-Medicaid Anti-Fraud and Abuse Act, as amended (the “Anti-Kickback Statute”), the False
Claims Act, as amended, the privacy regulations promulgated under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, or HIPAA, and similar state laws. Pricing and rebate
programs must comply with the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program requirements of the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990, as amended, and the Veterans Health Care Act
of 1992, as amended. If products are made available to authorized users of the Federal Supply Schedule of the General Services Administration, additional laws and requirements
apply. All of these activities are also potentially subject to federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws.
In the United States, we are subject to complex laws and regulations pertaining to healthcare “fraud and abuse,” including, but not limited to, the Anti-Kickback Statute, the
federal False Claims Act, and other state and federal laws and regulations. The Anti-Kickback Statute makes it illegal for any person, including a prescription drug manufacturer
(or a party acting on its behalf) to knowingly and willfully solicit, receive, offer, or pay any remuneration that is intended to induce the referral of business, including the
purchase, order, or prescription of a particular drug, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare or Medicaid.
The federal False Claims Act prohibits anyone from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, for payment to federal programs (including Medicare and Medicaid)
claims for items or services, including drugs, that are false or fraudulent, claims for items or services not provided as claimed, or claims for medically unnecessary items or
services.
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There are also an increasing number of state laws that require manufacturers to make reports to states on pricing and marketing information. Many of these laws contain
ambiguities as to what is required to comply with the laws. In addition, as discussed below, beginning in 2013, a similar federal requirement will require manufacturers to track
and report to the federal government certain payments made to physicians and teaching hospitals made in the previous calendar year. These laws may affect our sales, marketing,
and other promotional activities by imposing administrative and compliance burdens on us. In addition, given the lack of clarity with respect to these laws and their
implementation, our reporting actions could be subject to the penalty provisions of the pertinent state, and soon federal, authorities.
Patient Protection and Affordable Health Care Act
In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Health Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or collectively PPACA,
was enacted, which includes measures that have or will significantly change the way health care is financed by both governmental and private insurers. The fees, discounts and
other provisions of this law are expected to have a significant negative effect on the profitability of pharmaceuticals.
Many of the details regarding the implementation of PPACA are yet to be determined, and at this time, it remains unclear the full effect that PPACA would have on our
business.
Other Regulations
We are also subject to numerous federal, state and local laws relating to such matters as safe working conditions, manufacturing practices, environmental protection, fire
hazard control, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances. We may incur significant costs to comply with such laws and regulations now or in the future.
Employees
Our company uses a cost-effective business model, only retaining top management as company employees or dedicated consultants, and drawing upon other consultants
globally to advance our development programs. As of the date hereof our management consisted of our chief executive officer, our chief financial and accounting officer, as well
as Ms. Hanna Ron, who is a key employee and an expert in chemistry, manufacturing and controls, and has been providing full-time services to the Company since 2011. We
further have service agreements with US-based regulatory consultants as well as additional US-based clinical consultants who are members of our clinical advisory board. We
believe that we maintain good relations with all of them.
Property and Facilities
Our headquarters is currently located in Tel Aviv, Israel and consists of approximately 1600 square feet of leased office space under a lease for an indefinite period of time,
subject to each party’s right to terminate it within 30 days. We may require additional space and facilities as our business expands.
Legal Proceedings
We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings.
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MANAGEMENT
Executive Officers, Key Employees and Directors
Executive Officers and Directors
The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers, directors and director nominees as of February 15, 2013:
Name
Dr. Aharon Schwartz
Dr. Yaron Daniely
Ehud (Udi) Gilboa
Dr. Dalia Megiddo
Howard B. Rosen
Daniel E. Geffken (1) (2)

Age
70
37
46
61
55
56

Position
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer and Director
Director
Nominee for Director
Nominee for Director

(1) Member of our Audit Committee upon establishment thereof.
(2) Member of our Compensation Committee upon establishment thereof after completion of this offering.
The Company intends to add two additional members to its Board of Directors. Mr. Geffken will become a member of our Board of Directors immediately after this
registration statement becomes effective and execution of the underwriting agreement in connection with this offering. Mr. Rosen will become a member of our Board of
Directors promptly after the closing of this offering. These directors will be “independent directors” as contemplated by the NASDAQ Stock Market rules.
Dr. Aharon Schwartz joined our Board as Chairman in January 2013. He retired from Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd where he served in a number of positions from
1957 through 2011, the most recent being Vice President, Head of Teva Innovative Ventures from 2008. He is also a member of the board of directors of Clal Biotechnology
Industries Ltd. and the chairman of the board of directors of BioLineRx Ltd., BioCancell Therapeutics Inc., and several other biotechnology companies. He also serves as the
chairman of Yissum Research Development Company of the Hebrew University of Jerusalem. Dr. Schwartz received his Ph.D. in organic chemistry from the Weizmann Institute,
his M.Sc. in organic chemistry from the Technion Institute of Technology and a B.Sc. in chemistry and physics from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem.
Dr. Yaron Daniely became our President and Chief Executive Officer and a Director in March 2010. Immediately prior to joining us and since 2007, Dr. Daniely was the
President and Chief Executive Officer of NanoCyte, Inc., a company that develops transdermal delivery technologies based in Caesarea, Israel. Before NanoCyte and from 2004,
Dr. Daniely was a/the General Manager of Gamida Cell—Teva Joint Venture Ltd. , a joint venture company that acquired an exclusive license to develop and commercialize a
Phase III-stage cell therapy product for treatment of Leukemia and Lymphoma based in Jerusalem, Israel. From 2003-2007, Dr. Daniely also served as the Vice President of
Business Development of Gamida Cell Ltd., and engaged in several licensing and financial transactions for the Company. Dr. Daniely holds a B.Sc. degree in Biological Sciences
from Florida International University, and holds a Ph.D. from the Sackler Institute of Graduate Biomedical Sciences at the New York University School of Medicine. Following
his doctoral program, Dr. Daniely served as an NIH Visiting Fellow in its Cell Biology section and a Postdoctoral Fellow in the Department of Molecular Cell Biology at The
Weizmann Institute for Science in Israel. Subsequently, he received an Executive M.B.A. from the Technion, Israel Institute of Technology.
Udi Gilboa co-founded the Company in February 2008 and became a director at that time. He has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
since inception. Mr. Gilboa is the founder and managing partner of Top-Notch Capital, a prominent Israeli life sciences investment bank. He is also the founder of a number of
medical device and pharmaceutical companies. Mr. Gilboa holds a Bachelor’s degree and M.B.A. from Tel Aviv University. Mr. Gilboa serves as a director of Insuline Medical
Ltd. and served, until 2010, as a director and chairman of the board of directors of Topspin Medical Inc., two public companies whose shares are listed for trading on the Tel Aviv
Stock Exchange. In addition, he is a director of the following private companies: Bioblast Ltd., Samson Neurosciences Ltd. and Endospan Ltd.
Dr. Dalia Megiddo co-founded the Company in February 2008 and became a Director at that time. She is an entrepreneur and a medical doctor in family medicine. Since
2000, Dr. Megiddo has been a manager of InnoMed Ventures, an Israeli venture capital fund focused on life sciences. From 2006 to 2010, she was also a manager of 7 Health
Ventures, an Israeli venture capital fund. Dr, Megiddo is also the founder of a number of life science companies. Dr. Megiddo received her M.D. degree from Hebrew University
Hadassah Medical School and also holds an M.B.A. from the Kellogg-Recanati School of Business. She is a director of Bioblast Ltd. and served as a director of Tulip Medical
Ltd., Chiasma Inc. and Angioscore Inc.
Hanna Ron is a key employee of the Company. She has over 26 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry and is an expert in chemistry, manufacturing and
controls. She has been providing full-time services to the Company since 2011 and has been a consultant to the pharmaceutical industry since 2009. From 2004 to 2009, she was
the Vice President of Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls at Biolin Innovations, an Israeli biotechnology company. She has held other positions in biotechnology and
pharmaceutical companies, including being a research and development manager and a pharmaceutical product development manager at Teva Pharmaceuticals.
Howard B. Rosen has consented to being elected as a director of the Company, immediately following the closing of this offering. Since 2008, Mr. Rosen has served as a
consultant to several companies in the biotechnology industry. He has also served as a lecturer at Stanford University in Chemical Engineering since 2008 and in Management
since 2011. Mr. Rosen served as interim President and Chief Executive Officer of Pearl Therapeutics, Inc., a company focused on developing combination therapies for the
treatment of highly prevalent chronic respiratory diseases, from June 2010 to March 2011. From 2004 to 2008, Mr. Rosen was Vice President of Commercial Strategy at Gilead
Sciences, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company. Mr. Rosen was President of ALZA Corporation, a pharmaceutical and medical systems company that merged with Johnson &
Johnson, a global healthcare company, in 2001, from 2003 until 2004. Prior to that, from 1994 until 2003, Mr. Rosen held various positions at ALZA Corporation. Mr. Rosen is
also a member of the board of directors of AcelRx Therapeutics, Inc. (Nasdaq: ACRX), a company developing products for pain relief, and a number of private biotechnology
companies as follows: PavVax, Inc., NTF Therapeutics, Inc., Pearl Therapeutics, Inc., Entrega, Inc. and ALDEA Pharmaceuticals. Previously, Mr. Rosen served on the board of
directors of a number of public companies, as follows: Pharsight Corporation, a company focused on providing software products and consulting services to biopharmaceutical
companies that was acquired by Tripos International in 2008 and CoTherix, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company that was acquired by Actelion Pharmaceuticals Ltd. in 2007. Mr.
Rosen holds a B.S. in Chemical Engineering from Stanford University, an M.S. in Chemical Engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and an M.B.A. from the
Stanford Graduate School of Business.
Daniel E. Geffken has consented to being elected as a director of the Company, effective immediately after this registration statement becomes effective and execution of
the underwriting agreement in connection with this offering. Mr. Geffken has agreed to serve on our Audit Committee and Compensation Committee. Since October 2011, he has
been Managing Director of Danforth Advisors, LLC, a management consulting firm that provides financial and strategic support to emerging life science companies. Mr.
Geffken has also been the chief financial officer or chief operating officer of eight companies, four of which were U.S. public reporting companies and six of which were life
science companies. He has a B.S. in Economics from The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, and a M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.
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Arrangements Concerning Election of Directors; Family Relationships
There are no arrangements or understandings with major shareholders, customers, suppliers or others pursuant to which any of our directors or members of senior
management were selected as such. In addition, there are no family relationships among our executive officers and directors.
Clinical Advisory Board
The Company has a Clinical Advisory Board of 12 experts in ADHD. The chairman is Lenard A. Adler, M.D. Dr. Adler has been the Director of the Adult ADHD Program
in the Department of Psychiatry at New York University (NYU) School of Medicine in New York since 1995. He is also Professor of Psychiatry and Child and Adolescent
Psychiatry at the NYU School of Medicine. Dr. Adler has been a principal contributor to numerous new treatment trials in ADHD and in the development of new scales to
diagnose and evaluate symptoms of adult ADHD. He is also author of a book on adult ADHD titled “Scattered Minds.” We entered into a consulting agreement with Dr. Adler
that provides for hourly and daily consideration for the services provided by him and is terminable by either party upon providing 30 days’ written advance notice.
Corporate Governance Practices
As an Israeli company we are subject to various corporate governance requirements under Israeli law relating to such matters as external directors, the audit committee, the
compensation committee and an internal auditor. These requirements are in addition to the corporate governance requirements imposed by the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ
Stock Market and other applicable provisions of U.S. securities laws to which we will become subject upon consummation of this offering and the listing of our ordinary shares
on the NASDAQ Capital Market. Under the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market, a foreign private issuer may generally follow its home country rules of corporate
governance in lieu of the comparable requirements of the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market, except for certain matters, including (among others) the composition and
responsibilities of the audit committee and the independence of its members within the meaning of the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information, see "Risk
Factors" and "NASDAQ Listing Rules and Home Country Practices."
Board Practices
Board of Directors
Under the Israeli Companies Law, setting up the Company's policy and oversight over our business is vested in our Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors may exercise
all powers and may take all actions that are not specifically granted to our shareholders or to management. Our executive officers are responsible for our day-to-day management
and have individual responsibilities established by our Board of Directors. Our Chief Executive Officer is appointed by, and serves at the discretion of, our Board of Directors,
subject to the employment agreement that we have entered into with him. All other executive officers are appointed by our Chief Executive Officer, and are subject to the terms of
any applicable employment agreements that we may enter into with them.
Under our amended and restated articles of association, which will be effective upon the consummation of this offering, our Board of Directors must consist of at least five
and not more than eleven directors, including at least two external directors required to be appointed under the Israeli Companies Law. Accordingly, at any time, the minimum
number of directors (other than the external directors) may not fall below three. Our Board of Directors will consist of 6 directors upon the consummation of this offering, which
will include 2 new directors. In addition, subject to approval at a meeting of our shareholders to be held no later than three months following the completion of this offering, two
external directors will join our Board of Directors. We have only one class of directors.
Other than external directors, for whom special election requirements and terms of office apply under the Israeli Companies Law as detailed below, our directors are each
elected at a general meeting of our shareholders and serve for a term of one year. Directors shall nevertheless be removed prior to the end of their term by the majority of our
shareholders at a general meeting of our shareholders or upon the occurrence of certain events, all in accordance with the Israeli Companies Law and our amended and restated
articles of association.
In addition, our amended and restated articles of association allow our Board of Directors to appoint directors, other than external directors, to fill vacancies on our Board of
Directors, for a term of office which shall continue until the next annual meeting following his or her appointment. External directors are elected for an initial term of three years
and may be elected for up to two additional three-year terms (or more) under the circumstances described below. External directors may be removed from office only under the
limited circumstances set forth in the Israeli Companies Law. See "—External directors."
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In accordance with the exemption available to foreign private issuers under NASDAQ rules, we do not intend to follow the requirements of the NASDAQ rules with regard
to the process of nominating directors, and instead, will follow Israeli law and practice, in accordance with which our Board of Directors (or a committee thereof) is authorized to
recommend to our shareholders director nominees for election. Under the Israeli Companies Law and our amended and restated articles of association, nominations for directors
may also be added to the agenda of future general meetings, which has yet to have been summoned, upon the request of any shareholder holding at least one percent (1%) of our
outstanding voting power. However, any such shareholder may make such a nomination only if a written notice of such shareholder's intent to make such nomination has been
given to our chairman of the board (or, if we have no chairman of the board, our chief executive officer). Any such notice must include certain information we are required under
the Israeli Companies Law to provide to our shareholders, the consent of the proposed director nominee(s) to serve as our director(s) if elected and a declaration signed by the
nominee(s) declaring that there is no limitation under the Israeli Companies Law preventing their election and that all of the information that is required under the Israeli
Companies Law to be provided to us in connection with such election has been provided.
In addition to its role in making director nominations, under the Israeli Companies Law, our Board of Directors must determine the minimum number of directors who are
required to have accounting and financial expertise. Under applicable regulations, a director with accounting and financial expertise is a director who, by reason of his or her
education, professional experience and skill, has a high level of proficiency in and understanding of business accounting matters and financial statements, sufficient to be able to
thoroughly comprehend the financial statements of the Company and initiate debate regarding the manner in which financial information is presented. In determining the number
of directors required to have such expertise, our Board of Directors must consider, among other things, the type and size of our company and the scope and complexity of its
operations. Our Board of Directors has determined that our company requires one director with such expertise.
External Directors
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the boards of directors of companies whose shares are publicly traded, including companies with shares listed on the NASDAQ Capital
Market, are required to include at least two members elected to serve as external directors. We plan to submit to the approval of a meeting of our shareholders to be held no later
than three months following the completion of this offering, the election of two external directors nominees. We are in the process of evaluating candidates for the position of
external directors.
The Israeli Companies Law provides that external directors must be elected by a majority vote of the shares present and voting at a shareholders meeting, provided that
either:
·

the majority voted in favor of election includes a majority of the shares held by non-controlling shareholders who do not otherwise have a personal interest in the
election of the external director (other than a personal interest not deriving from a relationship with a controlling shareholder) that are voted at the meeting, excluding
for such purpose any abstentions, which we refer to as a disinterested majority; or

·

the total number of shares held by non-controlling disinterested shareholders (as described in the previous bullet-point) that voted against the election of the director
does not exceed two percent (2%) of the aggregate voting rights in the Company.

The term controlling shareholder is defined in the Israeli Companies Law as a shareholder with the ability to direct the activities of the Company, other than by virtue of
being an office holder. A shareholder is in any case deemed to be a controlling shareholder if the shareholder holds 50% or more of the means of control, which include the right
to vote at a shareholders meeting and the right to appoint the directors of the Company or its general manager, and with respect to the approval of certain extraordinary and
interested party transactions by shareholders, any shareholder which has 25% or more of the means of control if no other shareholder holds more than 50% of the voting rights,
would be deemed a controlling shareholder.
After an initial term of three years, external directors may be reelected to serve in that capacity for up to two additional three year terms, provided that either (i) his or her
service for each such additional term is recommended by one or more shareholders holding in aggregate at least one percent (1%) of the Company's voting rights and is approved
at a shareholders meeting by a majority of the shares held by non-controlling shareholders who do not otherwise have a personal interest in the election of the external director
(other than a personal interest not deriving from a relationship with a controlling shareholder) that are voted at the meeting, excluding for such purpose any abstentions, where the
total number of shares held by non-controlling, disinterested shareholders voting for such reelection exceeds two percent (2%) of the aggregate voting rights in the Company; or
(ii) his or her service for each such additional term is recommended by the board of directors and is approved at a shareholders meeting by the same non-controlling and
disinterested majority required for the initial election of an external director (as described above). The term of office for external directors for Israeli companies traded on certain
foreign stock exchanges, including the NASDAQ Capital Market, may be further extended, indefinitely, in increments of additional three-year terms, in each case provided that,
in addition to reelection in such manner described above, (i) the audit committee and subsequently the board of directors of the Company confirm that, in light of the external
director's expertise and special contribution to the work of the board of directors and its committees, the reelection for such additional period is beneficial to the Company, and (ii)
prior to the approval of the reelection of the external director, the Company's shareholders have been informed of the term previously served by such nominee and of the reasons
why the board of directors and audit committee recommended the extension of such nominee’s term.
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If an external directorship becomes vacant and there are less than two external directors on the board of directors at the time, then the board of directors is required under the
Israeli Companies Law to call a shareholders' meeting as soon as possible to appoint a replacement external director.
Each committee of the board of directors that is authorized to exercise the powers of the board of directors must include at least one external director, except that the audit
committee must include all external directors then serving on the board of directors. Under the Israeli Companies Law, external directors of a company are prohibited from
receiving, directly or indirectly, any compensation for their services as external directors, other than compensation and reimbursement of expenses pursuant to applicable
regulations enacted pursuant to the Companies Laws. Compensation of an external director is determined prior to his or her appointment and may not be changed during his or
her term subject to certain exceptions.
The Israeli Companies Law provides that a person is not qualified to serve as an external director if (i) the person is a relative of the controlling shareholder of the Company,
or (ii) if that person or his or her relative, partner, employer, another person to whom he or she was directly or indirectly subject, or any entity under the person's control, has or
had, during the two years preceding the date of appointment as an external director: (a) any affiliation or other prohibited relationship with the Company, with any person or
entity who is a controlling shareholder of the Company at the date of appointment or a relative of such person, or with any entity controlled, during the two years preceding the
date of appointment as an external director, by the Company or a controlling shareholder of the Company; or (b) in the case of a company with no controlling shareholder, any
affiliation or other prohibited relationship with a person serving, at the date of appointment as external director, as chairman of the board, chief executive officer, a substantial
shareholder or the most senior office holder in the Company's finance department.
The term relative is defined as a spouse, sibling, parent, grandparent or descendant; spouse's sibling, parent or descendant; and the spouse of each of the foregoing persons.
The term affiliation and the similar types of prohibited relationships include (subject to certain exemptions):
·
·
·
·

an employment relationship;
a business or professional relationship even if not maintained on a regular basis (excluding insignificant relationships);
control; and
service as an office holder, excluding service as a director in a private company prior to the first offering of its shares to the public if such director was appointed as a
director of the private company in order to serve as an external director following the public offering.

The term office holder is defined under the Israeli Companies Law as the general manager (chief executive officer), chief business manager, deputy general manager, vice
general manager, any other person assuming the responsibilities of any of these positions regardless of that person's title, a director, or a manager directly subordinate to the
general manager.
In addition, no person may serve as an external director if that person's position or professional or other activities create, or may create, a conflict of interest with that
person's responsibilities as a director or otherwise interfere with that person's ability to serve as an external director or if the person is an employee of the Israel Securities
Authority or of an Israeli stock exchange. A person may furthermore not continue to serve as an external director if he or she received direct or indirect compensation for his or
her role as a director, other than compensation paid or given in accordance with Israeli Companies Law regulations or amounts paid pursuant to indemnification and/or
exculpation contracts or commitments and insurance coverage. Following the termination of an external director's service on a board of directors, such former external director
and his or her spouse and children may not be provided with direct or indirect benefit by the Company, its controlling shareholder or any entity under its controlling shareholder's
control. This includes appointment as an office holder of the Company or a company controlled by its controlling shareholder, employment as an employee, or receipt of
professional services for consideration, either directly or indirectly, including through a corporation in his or her control. This restriction extends for a period of two years with
regard to the former external director and his or her spouse or child, and for one year with respect to other relatives of the former external director.
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If at the time at which an external director is appointed all members of the board of directors, who are not controlling shareholders or relatives thereof, are of the same
gender, the external director must be of the other gender. A director of one company may not be appointed as an external director of another company if a director of the other
company is acting as an external director of the first company at such time.
According to regulations promulgated under the Israeli Companies Law, a person may be appointed as an external director only if he or she has professional qualifications
or if he or she has accounting and financial expertise (each, as defined below). In addition, at least one of the external directors must be determined by our Board of Directors to
have accounting and financial expertise. However, if at least one of our other directors (i) meets the independence requirements under the Exchange Act, (ii) meets the standards
of the NASDAQ Listing Rules for membership on the audit committee, and (iii) has accounting and financial expertise as defined under Israeli law, then neither of our external
directors is required to possess accounting and financial expertise as long as both possess other requisite professional qualifications.
A director with accounting and financial expertise is a director who, due to his or her education, experience and skills, possesses an expertise in, and an understanding of,
financial and accounting matters and financial statements, in such a manner which allows him or her to understand the financial statements of the Company and initiate a
discussion about the presentation of financial data. A director is deemed to have professional qualifications if he or she has any of (i) an academic degree in economics, business
management, accounting, law or public service, (ii) an academic degree or has completed other higher education, in the main field of business of the Company or a field relevant
for the position, or (iii) at least five years of experience as one of the following, or at least five years accumulated experience as two or more of the following – (a) a senior officer
in the business management of a company with a significant volume of business, (b) a senior public officer or senior position in the public service, and (c) a senior position in the
Company's main line of business.
Leadership Structure of the Board
In accordance with the Israeli Companies Law and our amended and restated articles of association, our board of directors is required to appoint one of its members to serve
as Chairman of the Board of Directors. Our board of directors has appointed Dr. Aharon Schwartz to serve as Chairman of the Board of Directors.
Role of Board in Risk Oversight Process
Risk assessment and oversight are an integral part of our governance and management processes. Our board of directors encourages management to promote a culture that
incorporates risk management into our corporate strategy and day-to-day business operations. Management discusses strategic and operational risks at regular management
meetings, and conducts specific strategic planning and review sessions during the year that include a focused discussion and analysis of the risks facing us. Throughout the year,
senior management reviews these risks with the board of directors at regular board meetings as part of management presentations that focus on particular business functions,
operations or strategies, and presents the steps taken by management to mitigate or eliminate such risks.
Board Committees
Audit Committee
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the board of directors of a public company must appoint an audit committee. The audit committee must be comprised of at least three
directors, including all of the external directors, one of whom must serve as chairman of the committee. The audit committee may not include the chairman of the board, any
director employed by or otherwise providing services on a regular basis to the Company, to a controlling shareholder or to any entity controlled by a controlling shareholder, any
director whose main livelihood is dependent on a controlling shareholder, nor a controlling shareholder or a relative thereof.
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the audit committee of a publicly traded company must consist of a majority of unaffiliated directors. An "unaffiliated director" is defined
as either an external director or as a director, classified as an “unaffiliated director” by the Company, who meets the following criteria:
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·

he or she meets the qualifications for being appointed as an external director, except for (i) the requirement that the director be an Israeli resident (which in any event
does not apply to companies such as ours whose securities have been offered outside of Israel or are listed outside of Israel) and (ii) the requirement for accounting and
financial expertise or professional qualifications, and the audit committee of the company confirmed such qualifications; and

·

he or she has not served as a director of the Company for a period exceeding nine consecutive years. For this purpose, a break of less than two years in the service shall
not be deemed to interrupt the continuation of the service.

Our Board of Directors intends to adopt an audit committee charter that will set forth the responsibilities of the Audit Committee consistent with the rules of the SEC and
the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market, as well as the requirements for such committee under the Israeli Companies Law, as described below.
Our Audit Committee provides assistance to our Board of Directors in fulfilling its legal and fiduciary obligations in matters involving our accounting, auditing, financial
reporting, internal control and legal compliance functions by pre-approving the services performed by our independent accountants and reviewing their reports regarding our
accounting practices and systems of internal control over financial reporting. Our Audit Committee also oversees the audit efforts of our independent accountants and takes those
actions that it deems necessary to satisfy itself that the accountants are independent of management. We plan to formally form an audit committee that complies with the
provisions of the Israeli Companies Law shortly after the election of external directors to our board. In the interim period commencing on date that we enter into an underwriting
agreement in connection with this offering and until the formal formation of an audit committee that meets the legal requirements under the Israeli Companies Law, we will have
an audit committee with one member.
Under the Israeli Companies Law, our Audit Committee is responsible for (i) determining whether there are deficiencies in the business management practices of our
company, including in consultation with our internal auditor or the independent auditor, and making recommendations to the Board of Directors to improve such practices,
(ii) determining whether to approve certain related party transactions (including transactions in which an office holder has a personal interest) and whether such transaction
should be deemed as material or extraordinary (according to certain criteria set by our Audit Committee on an annual basis) (see "—Approval of related party transactions under
Israeli Law"), (iii) where the Board of Directors approves the working plan of the internal auditor, to examine such working plan before its submission to the Board and propose
amendments thereto, (iv) examining our internal controls and internal auditor's performance, including whether the internal auditor has sufficient resources and tools to dispose of
its responsibilities, (v) examining the scope of our auditor's work and compensation and submitting a recommendation with respect thereto to our Board of Directors or
shareholders, depending on which of them is considering the appointment of our auditor, and (vi) establishing procedures for the handling of employees' complaints as to the
management of our business and the protection to be provided to such employees. In compliance with regulations promulgated under the Israeli Companies Law, our Audit
Committee will also approve our financial statements, thereby fulfilling the requirement that a board committee provide such approval. Our Audit Committee may not approve an
action or a related party transaction, or take any other action required under the Israeli Companies Law, unless at the time of approval a majority of the committee's members are
present, which majority consists of unaffiliated directors including at least one external director, and it further complies with the committee composition set forth above.
Compensation Committee
We intend to rely upon the exemption available to foreign private issuers under the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market with respect to the determination of the
compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers in lieu of forming a compensation committee consisting entirely of independent directors (or the
determination of such compensation solely by the independent members of our Board of Directors), and rather form a compensation committee in compliance with the Israeli
Companies Law. See "—NASDAQ Listing Rules and home country practices."
Under a recent amendment to the Israeli Companies Law, effective December 12, 2012, the board of directors of a public company must appoint a compensation committee.
The compensation committee must be comprised of at least three directors, including all of the external directors, which shall be a majority of the members of the compensation
committee and one of whom must serve as chairman of the committee. The rest of the members of the compensation committee shall be directors who do not receive direct or
indirect compensation for their role as directors (other than compensation paid or given in accordance with Israeli Companies Law regulations applicable to the compensation of
external directors, or amounts paid pursuant to indemnification and/or exculpation contracts or commitments and insurance coverage).
The compensation committee may not include the chairman of the board, any director employed by or otherwise providing services on a regular basis to the Company, to a
controlling shareholder or to any entity controlled by a controlling shareholder, any director whose main livelihood is dependent on a controlling shareholder, nor a controlling
shareholder or a relative thereof.
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We plan to form a compensation committee shortly after the election of external directors to our board.
Under the Israeli Companies Law, our compensation committee is responsible for (i) proposing an office holder compensation policy to the Board of Directors, (ii) propose
necessary revisions to the compensation policy and examine its implementation, (iii) determining whether to approve transactions with respect to compensation of office holders,
and (iv) determining, in accordance with our office holder compensation policy, whether to exempt an engagement with an unaffiliated nominee for the position of chief
executive officer from requiring shareholders’ approval.
Under the amendment to the Israeli Companies Law, we are required to adopt an office holder compensation policy no later than 9 months from the consummation of this
offering.
Nominating Committee
Our Board of Directors does not currently have a nominating committee, as director nominees are presented by our Board of Directors to our shareholders based upon the
nominations made by the Board of Directors itself. We intend to rely upon the exemption available to foreign private issuers under the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock
Market from the NASDAQ listing requirements related to independent director oversight of nominations to our Board of Directors and the adoption of a formal written charter or
board resolution addressing the nominations process. See "—NASDAQ Listing Rules and home country practices."
We do not have service contracts with any of our directors, except for Ehud Gilboa, Dr. Dalia Megiddo and Dr. Yaron Daniely. Dr. Aharon Schwartz’s compensation has
been approved by our shareholders, and the Company expects to enter into a service contract with him shortly. Please see "Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions
—Agreements and Arrangements with, and Compensation of, Directors and Executive Officers" for a summary of these agreements.
Internal auditor
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the board of directors of an Israeli public company must appoint an internal auditor recommended by the audit committee and nominated
by the board of directors. An internal auditor may not be:
·

a person (or a relative of a person) who holds more than 5% of the Company's outstanding shares or voting rights;

·

a person (or a relative of a person) who has the power to appoint a director or the general manager of the Company;

·

an office holder (including a director) of the Company (or a relative thereof); or

·

a member of the Company's independent accounting firm, or anyone on his or her behalf.

The role of the internal auditor is to examine, among other things, our compliance with applicable law and orderly business procedures.
NASDAQ Listing Rules and Home Country Practices
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as related rules subsequently implemented by the SEC, require foreign private issuers, such as us, to comply with various corporate
governance practices. In addition, upon the contemplated listing of our ordinary shares on the NASDAQ Capital Market, we will need to comply with the Listing Rules of the
NASDAQ Stock Market. Under those Listing Rules, we may elect to follow certain corporate governance practices permitted under the Israeli Companies Law in lieu of
compliance with corresponding corporate governance requirements otherwise imposed by the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market for U.S. domestic issuers.
In accordance with Israeli law and practice and subject to the exemption set forth in Rule 5615 of the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market, if we list on the
NASDAQ Capital Market we intend to follow the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law, rather than the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market, with respect to the
following requirements:
· Distribution of periodic reports to shareholders; proxy solicitation. As opposed to the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market, which require listed issuers to
make such reports available to shareholders in one of a number of specific manners, Israeli law does not require us to distribute periodic reports directly to shareholders, and
the generally accepted business practice in Israel is not to distribute such reports to shareholders but to make such reports available through a public website. In addition to
making such reports available on a public website, we plan to make our audited financial statements available to our shareholders at our offices and will only mail such
reports to shareholders upon request. As a foreign private issuer, we are generally exempt from the SEC's proxy solicitation rules.
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· Nomination of our directors. With the exception of our external directors and directors elected by our Board of Directors due to vacancy, our directors are elected by
an annual meeting of our shareholders to hold office until the next annual meeting following one year from his or her election. See "Management—Board Practices—Board
of Directors." The nominations for directors, which are presented to our shareholders by our Board of Directors, are generally made by the Board of Directors itself, in
accordance with the provisions of our amended and restated articles of association and the Israeli Companies Law. Nominations need not be made by a nominating
committee of our Board of Directors consisting solely of independent directors, as required under the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market.
· Compensation of officers. Israeli law and our amended and restated articles of association do not require that the independent members of our Board of Directors (or a
compensation committee composed solely of independent members of our Board of Directors) determine an executive officer’s compensation, as is generally required under
the Listing Rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market with respect to the Chief Executive Officer and all other executive officers.
Instead, compensation of executive officers is determined and approved by our Compensation Committee and our Board of Directors, and in certain circumstances by our
shareholders, either in consistency with our office holder compensation policy or, in special circumstances in deviation therefrom, taking into account certain considerations
stated in the Israeli Companies Law.
Shareholder approval is required for officer compensation in the event (i) approval by our Board of Directors and our Compensation Committee is not consistent with our
office holders compensation policy, or (ii) compensation required to be approved is that of our chief executive officer who is not a director or an executive officer who is also the
controlling shareholder of our company (including an affiliate thereof). Such shareholder approval shall require a majority vote of the shares present and voting at a shareholders
meeting, provided either (i) such majority includes a majority of the shares held by non-controlling shareholders who do not otherwise have a personal interest in the
compensation arrangement that are voted at the meeting, excluding for such purpose any abstentions disinterested majority, or (ii) the total shares held by non-controlling and
disinterested shareholders voted against the arrangement does not exceed two percent (2%) of the voting rights in our company.
Additionally, approval of the compensation of an executive officer, who is also a director, shall require a simple majority vote of the shares present and voting at a
shareholders meeting, if consistent with our office holders compensation policy. Our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors may, in special circumstances, approve the
compensation of an executive officer (other than a director, a chief executive officer or a controlling shareholder) or approve the compensation policy despite shareholders’,
objection, based on specified arguments and taking shareholders’ objection into account. Our Compensation Committee may further exempt an engagement with a nominee for
the position of chief executive officer, who meets the non-affiliation requirements set forth for an external director, from requiring shareholders’ approval, if such engagement is
consistent with our office holders compensation policy and our Compensation Committee determines based on specified arguments that presentation of such engagement to
shareholders’ approval is likely to prevent such engagement. To the extent that any such transaction with a controlling shareholder is for a period extending beyond three years,
approval is required once every three years.
A director or executive officer may not be present when the board of directors of a company discusses or votes upon the terms of his or her compensation, unless the
chairman of the board of directors determines that he or she should be present to present the transaction that is subject to approval.
· Independent directors. Israeli law does not require that a majority of the directors serving on our Board of Directors be "independent," as defined under NASDAQ
Listing Rule 5605(a)(2), and rather requires we have at least two external directors who meet the requirements of the Israeli Companies Law, as described above under
"Management—Board Practices—External Directors." We are required, however, to ensure that all members of our Audit Committee are "independent" under the
applicable NASDAQ and SEC criteria for independence (as we cannot exempt ourselves from compliance with that SEC independence requirement, despite our status as a
foreign private issuer), and we must also ensure that a majority of the members of our Audit Committee are "unaffiliated directors" as defined in the Israeli Companies Law.
Furthermore, Israeli law does not require, nor do our independent directors conduct, regularly scheduled meetings at which only they are present, which the NASDAQ
Listing Rules otherwise require.
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· Shareholder approval. We will seek shareholder approval for all corporate actions requiring such approval under the requirements of the Israeli Companies Law,
rather than seeking approval for corporation actions in accordance with NASDAQ Listing Rule 5635. In particular, under this NASDAQ rule, shareholder approval is
generally required for: (i) an acquisition of shares/assets of another company that involves the issuance of 20% or more of the acquirer's shares or voting rights or if a
director, officer or 5% shareholder has greater than a 5% interest in the target company or the consideration to be received; (ii) the issuance of shares leading to a change of
control; (iii) adoption/amendment of equity compensation arrangements; and (iv) issuances of 20% or more of the shares or voting rights (including securities convertible
into, or exercisable for, equity) of a listed company via a private placement (and/or via sales by directors/officers/5% shareholders) if such equity is issued (or sold) at below
the greater of the book or market value of shares. By contrast, under the Israeli Companies Law, shareholder approval is required for, among other things: (i) transactions
with directors concerning the terms of their service or indemnification, exemption and insurance for their service (or for any other position that they may hold at a
company), for which approvals of the compensation committee, board of directors and shareholders are all required, (ii) extraordinary transactions with controlling
shareholders of publicly held companies, which require the special approval described below under "Approval of related party transactions under Israeli Law — Disclosure
of personal interests of controlling shareholders", and (iii) terms of employment or other engagement of the controlling shareholder of the Company or such controlling
shareholder's relative, which require the special approval described below under "Approval of related party transactions under Israeli Law — Disclosure of personal
interests of controlling shareholders". In addition, under the Israeli Companies Law, a merger requires approval of the shareholders of each of the merging companies.
Approval of Related Party Transactions under Israeli Law
Fiduciary duties of directors and executive officers
The Israeli Companies Law codifies the fiduciary duties that office holders owe to a company. Each person listed in the table under "Management—Executive officers and
directors" is an office holder under the Israeli Companies Law.
An office holder's fiduciary duties consist of a duty of care and a duty of loyalty. The duty of care requires an office holder to act with the level of care with which a
reasonable office holder in the same position would have acted under the same circumstances. The duty of loyalty requires that an office holder act in good faith and in the best
interests of the Company. The duty of care includes a duty to use reasonable means to obtain:
·

information on the advisability of a given action brought for his or her approval or performed by virtue of his or her position; and

·

all other important information pertaining to these actions.

The duty of loyalty requires an office holder to act in good faith and for the benefit of the Company, and includes a duty to:
·

refrain from any conflict of interest between the performance of his or her duties to the Company and his or her other duties or personal affairs;

·

refrain from any activity that is competitive with the Company;

·

refrain from exploiting any business opportunity of the Company to receive a personal gain for himself or herself or others; and

·

disclose to the Company any information or documents relating to the Company's affairs which the office holder received as a result of his or her position as an office
holder.

Disclosure of Personal Interests of an Office Holder
The Israeli Companies Law requires that an office holder promptly disclose to the board of directors any personal interest that he or she may have concerning any existing
or proposed transaction with the Company, as well as any substantial information or document with respect thereof. An interested office holder's disclosure must be made
promptly and in any event no later than the first meeting of the board of directors at which the transaction is considered. A personal interest includes an interest of any person in
an act or transaction of a company, including a personal interest of one's relative or of a corporate body in which such person or a relative of such person is a 5% or greater
shareholder, director or general manager or in which he or she has the right to appoint at least one director or the general manager, but excluding a personal interest stemming
from one's ownership of shares in the Company. A personal interest furthermore includes the personal interest of a person for whom the office holder holds a voting proxy or the
interest of the office holder with respect to his or her vote on behalf of the shareholder for whom he or she holds a proxy even if such shareholder itself has no personal interest in
the approval of the matter. An office holder is not, however, obliged to disclose a personal interest if it derives solely from the personal interest of a relative of such office holder
in a transaction that is not considered an extraordinary transaction. Under the Israeli Companies Law, an extraordinary transaction is defined as any of the following:
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·

a transaction other than in the ordinary course of business;

·

a transaction that is not on market terms; or

·

a transaction that may have a material impact on a company's profitability, assets or liabilities.

If it is determined that an office holder has a personal interest in a transaction, approval by the board of directors is required for the transaction, unless the Company's
articles of association provide for a different method of approval. Further, so long as an office holder has disclosed his or her personal interest in a transaction, the board of
directors may approve an action by the office holder that would otherwise be deemed a breach of duty of loyalty. However, a company may not approve a transaction or action
that is adverse to the Company's interest or that is not performed by the office holder in good faith. Approval first by the Company's audit committee and subsequently by the
board of directors is required for an extraordinary transaction in which an office holder has a personal interest. Arrangements regarding the compensation, indemnification or
insurance of an office holder require the approval of the compensation committee, board of directors and, in certain circumstances, the shareholders, in that order, as described
above under "—NASDAQ Listing Rules and home country practices—Compensation of officers" and "—NASDAQ Listing Rules and home country practices—Shareholder
approval."
Generally, a person who has a personal interest in a matter which is considered at a meeting of the board of directors or the audit committee may not be present at such a
meeting or vote on that matter unless a majority of the directors or members of the audit committee have a personal interest in the matter, or unless the chairman of the audit
committee or board of directors (as applicable) determines that he or she should be present in order to present the transaction that is subject to approval. Generally, if a majority of
the members of the audit committee and/or the board of directors has a personal interest in the approval of a transaction, then all directors may participate in discussions of the
audit committee and/or the board of directors on such transaction and the voting on approval thereof, but shareholder approval is also required for such transaction.
Disclosure of Personal Interests of Controlling Shareholders
Pursuant to Israeli law, the disclosure requirements regarding personal interests that apply to directors and executive officers also apply to a controlling shareholder of a
public company. In the context of a transaction involving a controlling shareholder or an officer who is a controlling shareholder of the Company, a controlling shareholder also
includes any shareholder who holds 25% or more of the voting rights if no other shareholder holds more than 50% of the voting rights. Two or more shareholders with a personal
interest in the approval of the same transaction are deemed to be a single shareholder and may be deemed a controlling shareholder for the purpose of approving such transaction.
Extraordinary transactions, including private placement transactions, with a controlling shareholder or in which a controlling shareholder has a personal interest, and engagements
with a controlling shareholder or his or her relative, directly or indirectly, including through a corporation in his or her control, require the approval of the audit committee, the
board of directors and the shareholders of the Company, in that order. In addition, the shareholder approval must fulfill one of the following requirements:
·

a disinterested majority; or

·

the votes of shareholders who have no personal interest in the transaction and who are present and voting, in person, by proxy or by voting deed at the meeting, and
who vote against the transaction may not represent more than two percent (2%) of the voting rights of the Company.

To the extent that any such transaction with a controlling shareholder is for a period extending beyond three years, approval is required once every three years, unless the
audit committee determines that the duration of the transaction is reasonable given the circumstances related thereto.
Arrangements regarding the terms of engagement and compensation of a controlling shareholder who is an office holder, and the terms of employment of a controlling
shareholder who is an employee of the Company, require the approval of the compensation committee, board of directors and the shareholders, in that order, as described above
under "NASDAQ Listing Rules and home country practices—Compensation of officers".
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Shareholder Duties
Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, a shareholder has a duty to act in good faith and in a customary manner toward the Company and other shareholders and to refrain
from abusing his or her power in the Company, including, among other things, in voting at the general meeting of shareholders and at class shareholder meetings with respect to
the following matters:
·

an amendment to the Company's articles of association;

·

an increase of the Company's authorized share capital;

·

a merger; or

·

approval of interested party transactions and acts of office holders that require shareholder approval.

In addition, a shareholder also has a general duty to refrain from discriminating against other shareholders.
Certain shareholders have a further duty of fairness toward the Company. These shareholders include any controlling shareholder, any shareholder who knows that it has the
power to determine the outcome of a shareholder vote or a shareholder class vote and any shareholder who has the power to appoint or to prevent the appointment of an office
holder of the Company or other power towards the Company. The Israeli Companies Law does not define the substance of this duty of fairness, except to state that the remedies
generally available upon a breach of contract will also apply in the event of a breach of the duty to act with fairness.
Exculpation, Insurance and Indemnification of Directors and Officers
Under the Israeli Companies Law, a company may not exculpate an office holder from liability for a breach of the duty of loyalty. An Israeli company may exculpate an
office holder in advance from liability to the Company, in whole or in part, for damages caused to the Company as a result of a breach of duty of care but only if a provision
authorizing such exculpation is included in its articles of association. Our amended and restated articles of association include such a provision. The company may not exculpate
in advance a director from liability arising out of a prohibited dividend or distribution to shareholders.
Under the Israeli Companies Law, a company may indemnify, or undertake in advance to indemnify, an office holder for the following liabilities and expenses, imposed on
office holder or incurred by office holder due to acts performed by him or her as an office holder, provided its articles of association include a provision authorizing such
indemnification:
· financial liability incurred by or imposed on him or her in favor of another person pursuant to a judgment, including a settlement or arbitrator's award approved by a
court. However, if an undertaking to indemnify an office holder with respect to such liability is provided in advance, then such an undertaking must be limited to events
which, in the opinion of the board of directors, can be foreseen based on the Company's activities when the undertaking to indemnify is given, and to an amount or
according to criteria determined by the board of directors as reasonable under the circumstances, and such undertaking shall detail the abovementioned foreseen events and
amount or criteria;
· reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by the office holder as a result of an investigation or proceeding instituted against him or her by an
authority authorized to conduct such investigation or proceeding, provided that (i) no indictment was filed against such office holder as a result of such investigation or
proceeding; and (ii) no financial liability was imposed upon him or her as a substitute for the criminal proceeding as a result of such investigation or proceeding or, if such
financial liability was imposed, it was imposed with respect to an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent or as a monetary sanction; and
· reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by the office holder or imposed by a court in proceedings instituted against him or her by the
Company, on its behalf, or by a third party, or in connection with criminal proceedings in which the office holder was acquitted, or as a result of a conviction for an offense
that does not require proof of criminal intent.
Under the Israeli Companies Law, a company may insure an office holder against the following liabilities incurred for acts performed by him or her as an office holder if
and to the extent provided in the Company's articles of association:
· a breach of the duty of loyalty to the Company, provided that the office holder acted in good faith and had a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not harm the
Company;
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·

a breach of duty of care to the Company or to a third party; and

·

a financial liability imposed on the office holder in favor of a third party.

Nevertheless, under the Israeli Companies Law, a company may not indemnify, exculpate or insure an office holder against any of the following:
· a breach of fiduciary duty, except for indemnification and insurance for a breach of the duty of loyalty to the Company in the event office holder acted in good faith and
had a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not prejudice the Company;
·

a breach of duty of care committed intentionally or recklessly, excluding a breach arising out of the negligent conduct of the office holder;

·

an act or omission committed with intent to derive unlawful personal benefit; or

·

a fine, monetary sanction, penalty or forfeit levied against the office holder.

Under the Israeli Companies Law, exculpation, indemnification and insurance of office holders require the approval of the compensation committee, board of directors and,
in certain circumstances, the shareholders, as described above under "—NASDAQ Listing Rules and home country practices—Compensation of officers."
Our amended and restated articles of association permit us to exculpate, indemnify and insure our office holders to the fullest extent permitted by the Israeli Companies
Law.
We have obtained directors' and officers' liability insurance for the benefit of our office holders and intend to continue to maintain such coverage and pay all premiums
thereunder to the fullest extent permitted by the Israeli Companies Law. In addition, we have entered into agreements with each of our office holders undertaking to indemnify
them to the fullest extent permitted by Israeli law, including with respect to liabilities resulting from this offering to the extent that these liabilities are not covered by insurance.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
We have adopted, effective upon the consummation of this offering, a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all of our directors and employees, including our
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, controller or principal accounting officer, or other persons performing similar functions, which is a "code of ethics" as defined in
Item 16B of Form 20-F promulgated by the SEC. Upon the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, the full text of the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics will be posted on our website at www.alcobra-pharma.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute a part
of this prospectus and is not incorporated by reference herein. If we make any amendment to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or grant any waivers, including any
implicit waiver, from a provision of the code of ethics, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website to the extent required by the rules and regulations
of the SEC. Under Item 16B of the SEC's Form 20-F, if a waiver or amendment of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to our principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller and relates to standards promoting any of the values described in Item 16B(b) of such Form 20-F, we will disclose such
waiver or amendment on our website in accordance with the requirements of Instruction 4 to such Item 16B.
Compensation of Executive Officers and Directors
The aggregate compensation, including share-based compensation, paid by us to our directors and executive officers with respect to the year ended December 31, 2012 was
approximately $500,000. This amount includes approximately $50,000 set aside or accrued to provide pension, severance, retirement or similar benefits or expenses, but does not
include business travel, relocation, professional and business association due and expenses reimbursed to office holders, and other benefits commonly reimbursed or paid by
companies in our industry.
As of December 31, 2012, options to purchase 430,013 ordinary shares issued to our chief executive officer, Dr. Yaron Daniely, were outstanding under our 2010 Incentive
Option Plan. 340,460 options were granted November 15, 2010. Of such outstanding options which were granted on November 15, 2010, options to purchase 157,756 ordinary
shares were vested as of December 31, 2012, with an exercise price of $0.328 per share. The expiration date of all of these options is November 15, 2020. 89,553 additional
options shall vest upon closing of this offering.
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We do not have written agreements with any director providing for benefits upon the termination of his employment with our company.
Employment Agreements with Executive Officers; Consulting and Directorship Services Provided by Directors
We have entered into a written employment agreement with our chief executive officer. This agreement contains provisions standard for a company in our industry
regarding non-competition, confidentiality of information and assignment of inventions. Under current applicable employment laws, we may not be able to enforce covenants not
to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from the expertise of some of our former employees. Please see "Risk factors—Risks Relating
to Our Business and Industry.” for a further description of the enforceability of non-competition clauses. See "Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions—Agreements
and Arrangements with, and Compensation of, Directors and Executive Officers" for additional information.
We receive consulting and directorship services from certain of our directors. The amounts payable pursuant to these arrangements have been approved by our Board of
Directors and shareholders. See "Certain relationships and related party transactions—Agreements and arrangements with, and compensation of, directors and executive officers"
for additional information.
2010 Incentive Option Plan
We maintain one equity incentive plan—our 2010 Incentive Option Plan, or our 2010 Plan. As of April 1, 2013, a total of 771,453 shares were reserved for issuance under
our 2010 Plan, of which options to purchase 764,444 ordinary shares were issued and outstanding thereunder. Of such outstanding options, options to purchase 380,247 ordinary
shares were vested as of April 1, 2013, with a weighted average exercise price of $0.26 per share.
Our 2010 Plan, which was adopted by our Board of Directors on February 3, 2010, provides for the grant of options to our and our affiliates' respective directors,
employees, office holders, service providers and consultants.
The 2010 Plan is administered by our Board of Directors, which shall determine, subject to Israeli law, the grantees of awards and various terms of the grant. The 2010 Plan
provides for granting options in compliance with Section 102 of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance, 1961, or the Ordinance.
Options granted under the 2010 Plan to Israeli employees have been granted under the capital gains track of Section 102 of the Ordinance.
Section 102 of the Ordinance allows employees, directors and officers, who are not controlling shareholders and are considered Israeli residents, to receive favorable tax
treatment for compensation in the form of shares or options. Our Israeli non-employee service providers and controlling shareholders may only be granted options under
Section 3(9) of the Ordinance, which does not provide for similar tax benefits. Section 102 of the Ordinance includes two alternatives for tax treatment involving the issuance of
options or shares to a trustee for the benefit of the grantees and also includes an additional alternative for the issuance of options or shares directly to the grantee. Section 102(b)
(2) of the Ordinance, the most favorable tax treatment for grantees, permits the issuance to a trustee under the "capital gains track." However, under this track we are not allowed
to deduct an expense with respect to the issuance of the options or shares. In order to comply with the terms of the capital gains track, all options granted under the 2010 Plan
pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 102 of the Ordinance, as well as the ordinary shares issued upon exercise of these options and other shares received subsequently
following any realization of rights with respect to such options, such as share dividends and share splits, must be granted to a trustee for the benefit of the relevant employee,
director or officer and should be held by the trustee for at least two years after the date of the grant.
Options granted under the 2010 Plan will generally vest over four years commencing on the date of grant such that 25% vest after one year and an additional 6.25% vest at
the end of each subsequent three-month period thereafter for 36 months. Options that are not exercised within ten years from the grant date expire, unless otherwise determined
by the Board or its designated committee, as applicable. In case of termination for reasons of disability or death, the grantee or his legal successor may exercise options that have
vested prior to termination within a period of six months from the date of disability or death. If we terminate a grantee's employment or service for cause, all of the grantee's
vested and unvested options will expire on the date of termination. If a grantee's employment or service is terminated for any other reason, the grantee may exercise his or her
vested options within 30 days of the date of termination. Any expired or unvested options return to the pool for reissuance.
In the event of a merger or consolidation of our company subsequent to which we shall no longer exist as a legal entity, or a sale of all, or substantially all, of our shares or
assets or other transaction having a similar effect on us, then any outstanding option shall be assumed, or an equivalent option shall be substituted, by such successor corporation
or an affiliate thereof or, in case the successor corporation refuses to assume or substitute the option, our board of directors or its designated committee may (a) provide the
grantee with the opportunity to exercise the option as to all or part of the shares, vested or otherwise, and (b) specify a period of time, no less than 7 days, following which all
outstanding options shall terminate.
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Certain relationships and related party transactions
The following is a description of the material terms of those transactions with related parties to which we, or our subsidiaries, are party and which we are required to
disclose pursuant to the disclosure rules of the SEC.
Agreements and Arrangements With, and Compensation of, Directors and Executive Officers
Employment Agreement with Dr. Yaron Daniely
We entered into an employment agreement, dated March 4, 2010, with our Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Yaron Daniely. This employment agreement was amended several
times, with the latest amendment approved by our shareholders on January 2, 2013. Under the terms of his amended employment agreement, upon conclusion of this offering, Dr.
Daniely will be entitled to a gross monthly salary of $15,000. In addition, Dr. Daniely will be eligible to receive (i) a special bonus of $100,000 upon successful completion of
Phase III Clinical Studies, (ii) a special bonus of $75,000 upon the successful completion of this offering and (iii) an annual bonus in an amount of two to six monthly salaries, to
be determined based on the achievement of certain milestones set by our board of directors. In addition, Dr. Daniely receives under the agreement other benefits that are provided
for by Israeli law or that are customary for senior executives in Israel, including the right to use (and all related fixed and variable costs in respect of) a leased car and cellular
telephone. Dr. Daniely is also entitled to company contributions equivalent to 5%, 8.33%, 2.5%, and 7.5% of his gross monthly salary towards certain pension, severance,
disability and tax-advantaged savings funds (known as a manager's insurance policy, severance compensation fund, disability insurance, and a study fund, respectively). Dr.
Daniely also contributes 5% and 2.5% of his gross monthly salary towards the manager's insurance policy and study fund, respectively. Dr. Daniely’s employment engagement is
terminable by either party upon sixty days prior written notice, and contains customary provisions regarding noncompetition, confidentiality of information and assignment of
inventions. As required under Israeli law, the terms of Dr. Daniely’s engagement with our company have been approved by our Board of Directors and shareholders.
We granted Dr. Daniely an aggregate of 430,013 options to purchase our ordinary shares, of which 157,756 have vested as of December 31, 2012.
Consulting Agreement with Dr. Dalia Megiddo
Dr. Dalia Megiddo has provided our company with consulting services related to pre-clinical, clinical, regulatory and intellectual property issues pursuant to an agreement,
effective May 1, 2011 and terminable by either party upon 30 days’ prior written notice, approved by our board of directors and shareholders. The monthly amount payable to Dr.
Megiddo under this arrangement is $2,500.
In March 2013, the Company increased the monthly fee to be payable to Dr. Megiddo to $5,000, subject to and effective upon closing of this offering.
Services Agreement with Udi Gilboa
Udi Gilboa, our chief financial officer, has provided us with part time chief financial officer and chief operating officer services pursuant to a services agreement that
became effective on March 1, 2008. In March of 2013, the Company agreed to increase the amount payable to Mr. Gilboa under the services agreement from $7,000 to $12,000
per month, and to extend the notice required prior to his termination without cause from 60 days to 90 days, in each case subject to and effective upon the consummation of this
offering. In addition, in June 2010, we entered into an agreement with Top-Notch Consulting 2009 Ltd., which is wholly owned by Mr. Gilboa. Under this agreement, Top-Notch
provides the Company with office space and services for a monthly fee of approximately $4,000 since June 1, 2010. Either party may terminate the agreement on 90 days’ notice.
Services of Aharon Schwartz as Director and Chairman of Our Board of Directors
Dr. Aharon Schwartz has served as a director and Chairman of the Board of Directors of our company since January 2, 2013. In connection with such services, Dr. Schwartz
receives a monthly amount of $3,333. In addition, we granted Dr. Schwartz 111,941 options to purchase ordinary shares under our 2010 Incentive Option Plan. Of such options,
89,553 shall vest according to our 2010 Incentive Option Plan, and the remaining 22,388 will vest upon initiation of Phase III Clinical Studies in the United States.
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Indemnification Agreements
Our amended and restated articles of association permit us to exculpate, indemnify and insure each of our directors and office holders to the fullest extent permitted by the
Israeli Companies Law. We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and other office holders, undertaking to indemnify them to the fullest extent
permitted by Israeli law, including with respect to liabilities resulting from this offering to the extent that these liabilities are not covered by insurance. We have also obtained
Directors & Officers insurance for each of our officers and directors. For further information, see "Management—Exculpation, insurance and indemnification of directors and
officers."
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS
The following table sets forth information regarding beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares as of April 1, 2013 by:
·

each person, or group of affiliated persons, known to us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding ordinary shares;

·

each of our directors and executive officers; and

·

all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and includes voting or investment power with respect to ordinary shares. Ordinary shares
issuable under share options or warrants that are exercisable within 60 days after April 1, 2013 are deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of
the person holding the options or warrants but are not deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Percentage of shares
beneficially owned before this offering is based on 7,794,256 shares outstanding on April 1, 2013. The number of ordinary shares deemed outstanding after this offering includes
the ordinary shares being offered for sale in this offering and the mandatory conversion of our outstanding convertible notes but assumes no exercise of the underwriter’s overallotment option.
As of April 1, 2013, there were 18 record holders of our ordinary shares, among whom is one U.S. holder who beneficially owns less than 5% of our ordinary shares.
None of our shareholders has different voting rights from other shareholders. To the best of our knowledge, we are not owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by another
corporation or by any foreign government. We are not aware of any arrangement that may, at a subsequent date, result in a change of control of our company.
Except as indicated in footnotes to this table, we believe that the shareholders named in this table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown
to be beneficially owned by them, based on information provided to us by such shareholders. Unless otherwise noted below, each shareholder’s address is: c/o Alcobra Ltd., 35
Ehad Ha-Am Street, Tel Aviv 65202, Israel.
No. of Shares
Beneficially Owned
Prior to this
Offering
Holders of more than 5% of our voting securities:
Udi Gilboa
Dr. Dalia Megiddo
Hadasit Medical Research Services & Development Ltd.
Directors and executive officers who are not 5% holders:
Dr. Yaron Daniely (1)
All directors and executive officers as a group
(4 persons)
(1)

Percentage Owned
Before this
Offering

Percentage Owned
After this Offering

2,734,927
2,803,817
750,667

34.7%
35.5%
9.5%

29.3%
30.0%
8.1%

173,532

2.2%

1.8%

5,712,276

72.3%

61.1%

Consists of options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of April 1, 2013 to purchase 173,532 ordinary shares (which have an exercise price of $0.328
per share and expire in November 15, 2020). Does not include the following options not currently exercisable: 78,878 options that are time-vested, 88,050 options that
become exercisable upon an initial public offering or an acquisition of the Company and 89,553 options that become exercisable upon an initial public offering or an
acquisition of the Company. The options were granted under our 2010 Plan.
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL
The following description of our share capital and provisions of our amended and restated articles of association which will be adopted immediately prior to the
consummation of this offering are summaries and do not purport to be complete.
General
Ordinary Shares
Immediately prior to the consummation of this offering, our authorized share capital will consist of 50,000,000 ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share. As of April 1,
2013 there were 7,794,256 shares issued and outstanding.
All of our outstanding ordinary shares are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. They are not redeemable and do not have any preemptive rights.
Warrants
As of April 1, 2013, we had the following warrants outstanding:
· Warrants issued to professional advisor. As consideration for certain professional services, on April 2, 2008, we issued to certain advisors warrants to purchase up to
58,700 ordinary shares at an exercise price of NIS 0.01 per share. These warrants shall expire on April 2, 2018.
·
Warrants issued in the February 2010 Preferred B Subscription Agreement. In connection with the February 2010 Preferred B Subscription Agreement, as further
detailed below, we issued to the investors warrants to purchase up to 129,257 series B3 preferred shares at an exercise price of $2.73 per share. The warrants are currently
exercisable into ordinary shares. These warrants shall expire immediately prior to the closing of this offering and are expected to be exercised on a cashless basis contingent
upon the closing of this offering.
Options
Share History
The following is a summary of the history of our share capital for the last three years.
Share Options. Since January 1, 2010, we have issued 292,531 ordinary shares upon the exercise of share options.
February 2010 Preferred B Subscription Agreement. On February 28, 2010, we closed the February 2010 Preferred B Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which we
sold an aggregate of 397,698 series B1 preferred shares, and an aggregate of 128,512 series B2 preferred shares, at a price of $2.18 per share and issued warrants to purchase up
to an aggregate of 129,257 series B3 preferred shares with an exercise price of $2.73 per share, which shall expire immediately prior to the closing of this offering.
February 2011 Share Purchase Agreement. On March 24, 2011, we closed the February 2011 Share Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of
304,324 of our ordinary shares at a price of $11.50 per share.
Recapitalization and conversion of Preferred Shares to Ordinary Shares. In connection with the February 2011 Share Purchase Agreement, on March 24, 2011, all
classes of preferred shares in the Company’s share capital, including all preferred shares issued and outstanding, were converted to ordinary shares on a one for one basis,
resulting in a one-class capital structure consisting solely of ordinary shares.
2012 Convertible Notes. During 2012, we issued convertible notes for a total principal amount of $600,000. According to the terms of the convertible notes, the total
amount, bearing an annual interest rate of 6%, shall be automatically converted into ordinary shares as of immediately after closing of this offering, at a 25% discount from the
initial public offering price.
2013 Convertible Notes. In February 2013 we issued to certain of our existing shareholders additional convertible notes for an aggregate principal amount of $115,000.
Like the 2012 Convertible Notes, these notes bear an annual interest rate of 6%, and shall be automatically converted into ordinary shares as of immediately after the closing of
this offering at a 25% discount from the initial public offering price.
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Voting Rights
Holders of our ordinary shares have one vote for each ordinary share held on all matters submitted to a vote before the shareholders at a general meeting.
Transfer of Shares
Our ordinary shares that are fully paid for are issued in registered form and may be freely transferred under our amended and restated articles of association, unless the
transfer is restricted or prohibited by applicable law or the rules of a stock exchange on which the shares are traded. The ownership or voting of our ordinary shares by nonresidents of Israel is not restricted in any way by our amended and restated articles of association or the laws of the State of Israel, except for ownership by nationals of some
countries that are, or have been, in a state of war with Israel.
Our research and development efforts were financed in part, in the past, through grants that we received from Israel's Office of the Chief Scientist of the Ministry of
Industry, Trade and Labor, as a result of which we must comply with the requirements of the Research Law. According to the Research Law, a change of control of our company
should be reported to the research committee at the Ministry of Industry, Trade and Labor, or the Committee, and a change in the holding of the means of control in our company
(means of control include the right to vote at a general meeting of a company or a corresponding body of another corporation or the right to appoint directors of the corporation or
its general manager) which results in any person not being a citizen or resident of Israel or corporation incorporated in Israel holding 5% or more of the issued share capital or of
the voting power of our company, should be reported to the Committee, which may notify us of its objection to such change, and such person shall be required to sign an
undertaking in a certain form published by the Committee.
Election of Directors
Our ordinary shares do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. As a result, the holders of a majority of the voting power represented at a shareholders
meeting have the power to elect all of our directors, subject to the special approval requirements for external directors described under "Management—External directors."
Our directors hold office for their scheduled term unless they are removed from office upon the occurrence of certain events, in accordance with the Israeli Companies Law
and our amended and restated articles of association. In addition, our amended and restated articles of association allow our Board of Directors to appoint directors to fill
vacancies on the Board of Directors to serve until the next annual meeting following his or her appointment. External directors are elected for an initial term of three years, may
be elected for additional terms of three years each under certain circumstances, and may be removed from office pursuant to the terms of the Israeli Companies Law. See
"Management—Board practices—External directors."
Dividend and Liquidation Rights
We may declare a dividend to be paid to the holders of our ordinary shares in proportion to their respective shareholdings. Under the Israeli Companies Law, dividend
distributions are determined by the board of directors and do not require the approval of the shareholders of a company unless the Company's articles of association provide
otherwise. Our amended and restated articles of association do not require shareholder approval of a dividend distribution and provide that dividend distributions may be
determined by our Board of Directors.
Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, the distribution amount is limited to the greater of retained earnings or earnings generated over the previous two years, as such items
are defined under the Companies Law, according to our then last reviewed or audited financial reports, provided that the date of the financial reports is not more than six months
prior to the date of distribution, or we may distribute dividends that do not meet such criteria only with court approval. In each case, we are only permitted to pay a dividend if our
Board of Directors or the court, as applicable, determined that there is no reasonable concern that payment of the dividend will prevent us from satisfying our existing and
foreseeable obligations as they become due.
In the event of our liquidation, after satisfaction of liabilities to creditors, our assets will be distributed to the holders of our ordinary shares in proportion to their
shareholdings. This right, as well as the right to receive dividends, may be affected by the grant of preferential dividend or distribution rights to the holders of a class of shares
with preferential rights that may be authorized in the future.
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Exchange Controls
There are currently no Israeli currency control restrictions on remittances of dividends on our ordinary shares, proceeds from the sale of the shares or interest or other
payments to non-residents of Israel, except for shareholders who are subjects of countries that are, or have been, in a state of war with Israel.
Shareholder Meetings
Under Israeli law, we are required to hold an annual general meeting of our shareholders once every calendar year that must be no later than 15 months after the date of the
previous annual general meeting. All meetings other than the annual general meeting of shareholders are referred to as special meetings. Our Board of Directors may call special
meetings whenever it sees fit, at such time and place, within or outside of Israel, as it may determine. In addition, the Israeli Companies Law provides that our Board of Directors
is required to convene a special meeting upon the written request of (i) any two of our directors or one-quarter of our Board of Directors, or (ii) one or more shareholders holding,
in the aggregate, either (a) 5% of our outstanding issued shares and 1% of our outstanding voting power, or (b) 5% of our outstanding voting power.
Subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law and the regulations promulgated thereunder, shareholders entitled to participate and vote at general meetings are the
shareholders of record on a date to be decided by the board of directors, which may generally be between four and 40 days prior to the date of the meeting. Furthermore, the
Israeli Companies Law requires that resolutions regarding the following matters must be passed at a general meeting of our shareholders:
·

amendments to our amended and restated articles of association;

·

appointment or termination of our auditors;

·

appointment of external directors;

·

approval of acts and transactions involving related parties, as defined by the Israeli Companies Law;

·

increases or reductions of our authorized share capital; and

·

a merger.

The Israeli Companies Law and our amended and restated articles of association require that a notice of any annual general meeting or special shareholders meeting be
provided to shareholders at least 21 days prior to the meeting and if the agenda of the meeting includes matters upon which shareholders may vote by means of a voting deed,
including the appointment or removal of directors, the approval of transactions with office holders or interested or related parties, or an approval of a merger, notice must be
provided at least 35 days prior to the meeting.
Under the Israeli Companies Law and our amended and restated articles of association, our shareholders are not permitted to take action via written consent in lieu of a
meeting.
Voting Rights
Quorum Requirements
The quorum required for our general meetings of shareholders consists of at least two shareholders present in person, by proxy or written ballot who hold or represent
between them at least one-third of the total outstanding voting rights. A meeting adjourned for lack of a quorum is generally adjourned to the same day in the following week at
the same time and place or to a later time/date if so specified in the summons or notice of the meeting. At the reconvened meeting, any two or more shareholders present in person
or by proxy shall constitute a lawful quorum.
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Vote Requirements
Our amended and restated articles of association provide that all resolutions of our shareholders require a simple majority vote, unless otherwise required by the Israeli
Companies Law or by our amended and restated articles of association. Under the Israeli Companies Law certain actions require a special majority, which may include (i)
appointment of external directors, requiring the approval described above under “Management—Board Practices—External Directors”, (ii) approval of an extraordinary
transaction with a controlling shareholder and the terms of employment or other engagement of the controlling shareholder of the Company or such controlling shareholder's
relative (even if not extraordinary), requiring the approval described above under "Approval of Related Party Transactions under Israeli Law—Disclosure of Personal Interests of
Controlling Shareholders.", and (iii) approval of a compensation policy, approval of executive officer compensation inconsistent with our office holder compensation policy,
compensation of our chief executive officer, or the compensation of an executive officer who is also the controlling shareholder of our company (including an affiliate thereof),
all of which require the approval described above under “Management—NASDAQ Listing Rules and Home Country Practices—Compensation of Officers.”
Under our amended and restated articles of association, the alteration of the rights, privileges, preferences or obligations of any class of our share capital requires a decision
of the Board of Directors, and a simple majority of the class so affected (or such other percentage of the relevant class that may be set forth in the governing documents relevant
to such class), in addition to the ordinary majority vote of all classes of shares voting together as a single class at a shareholder meeting.
Further exceptions to the simple majority vote requirement are a resolution for the voluntary winding up, or an approval of a scheme of arrangement or reorganization, of
the Company pursuant to Section 350 of the Israeli Companies Law, which requires the approval of holders of 75% of the voting rights represented at the meeting, in person, by
proxy or by voting deed and voting on the resolution.
Israeli law provides that a shareholder of a public company may vote in a meeting and in a class meeting by means of a voting deed in which the shareholder indicates how
he or she votes on resolutions relating to the following matters:
·

appointment or removal of directors;

·

approval of transactions with office holders or interested or related parties;

·

approval of a merger;

· authorization of the chairman of the board or a relative thereof to assume the role or responsibilities of our chief executive officer, and authorization of our chief
executive officer or a relative thereof to assume the role or responsibilities of the chairman of the board;
·

approval of an arrangement or reorganization of the Company pursuant to Section 350 of the Israeli Companies Law; and

· other matters in respect of which there is a provision in the articles of association providing that decisions of the general meeting may also be passed by voting deed or
which may be prescribed by Israel's Minister of Justice.
The provision allowing the vote by voting deed does not apply if, to the best knowledge of the Company at the time of calling the general shareholders meeting, a
controlling shareholder will hold on the record date for such shareholders meeting, voting power sufficient to determine the outcome of the vote.
The Israeli Companies Law provides that a shareholder, in exercising his or her rights and performing his or her obligations toward the Company and its other shareholders,
including voting at general meetings, must act in good faith and in a customary manner, and avoid abusing his or her power. See "Approval of Related Party Transactions under
Israeli Law—Shareholder Duties" above for further detail.
Access to Corporate Records
Under the Israeli Companies Law and our amended and restated articles of association, shareholders are provided access to the following corporate records: minutes of our
general meetings; our shareholders register and principal shareholders register, articles of association and financial statements; and any document that we are required by law to
file publicly with the Israeli Companies Registrar or the Israel Securities Authority. In addition, shareholders may submit a reasoned request to be provided with any document
related to an action or transaction requiring shareholder approval under the related party transaction provisions of the Companies Law. We may deny this request if we believe it
has not been submitted in good faith or if such denial is necessary to protect our interest or protect a trade secret or patent.
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Modification of Class Rights
The rights attached to any class of shares, such as voting, liquidation and dividend rights, may be amended by adoption of a resolution by the holders of a majority of the
shares of that class present at a separate class meeting, or otherwise in accordance with the rights attached to such class of shares, as set forth in our amended and restated articles
of association.
Acquisitions under Israeli Law
Full Tender Offer
A person wishing to acquire shares of a public Israeli company and who could as a result hold over 90% of the target company's issued and outstanding share capital or
voting rights is required by the Israeli Companies Law to make a tender offer to all of the company's shareholders for the purchase of all of the issued and outstanding shares of
the company. A person wishing to acquire shares of a public Israeli company and who could as a result hold over 90% of the issued and outstanding share capital or voting rights
of a certain class of shares is required to make a tender offer to all of the shareholders who hold shares of the relevant class for the purchase of all of the issued and outstanding
shares of that class. If the shareholders who do not accept the offer hold less than 5% of the issued and outstanding share capital and voting rights of the company or of the
applicable class, all of the shares that the acquirer offered to purchase will be transferred to the acquirer by operation of law (provided that a majority of the offerees that do not
have a personal interest in such tender offer shall have approved it, which condition shall not apply if, following consummation of the tender offer, the acquirer would hold at
least 98% of all of the company's outstanding shares and voting rights (or shares and voting rights of the relevant class)). However, shareholders may, at any time within six
months following the completion of the tender offer, petition the court to alter the consideration for the acquisition. Even shareholders who indicated their acceptance of the
tender offer may so petition the court, unless the acquirer stipulated that a shareholder that accepts the offer may not seek appraisal rights). If the shareholders who did not accept
the tender offer hold 5% or more of the issued and outstanding share capital or voting rights of the company or of the applicable class, the acquirer may not acquire shares of the
company that will increase its holdings to more than 90% of the company's issued and outstanding share capital or voting rights or 90% of the shares or voting rights of the
applicable class, from shareholders who accepted the tender offer.
Special Tender Offer
The Israeli Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares of a public Israeli company must be made by means of a special tender offer if as a result of the
acquisition the purchaser could become a holder of 25% or more of the voting rights in the company, unless one of the exemptions in the Israeli Companies Law (as described
below) is met. This rule does not apply if there is already another holder of at least 25% of the voting rights in the company. Similarly, the Israeli Companies Law provides that an
acquisition of shares in a public company must be made by means of a tender offer if as a result of the acquisition the purchaser could become a holder of more than 45% of the
voting rights in the company, if there is no other shareholder of the company who holds more than 45% of the voting rights in the company, unless one of the exemptions in the
Israeli Companies Law is met. Such exemptions include (a) acquisition of shares issued in the course of a private placement approved by the general meeting of the company as a
private placement intended to provide purchaser with holdings of 25% or more of the voting rights in the company, if there is no other shareholder of the company who holds
more than 25% of the voting rights in the company, or as a private placement intended to provide purchaser with holdings of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company,
if there is no other shareholder of the company who holds more than 45% of the voting rights in the company, (b) acquisition of shares from a holder of 25% or more of the
voting rights in the company following which purchaser shall hold 25% or more of the voting rights in the company, or (c) acquisition of shares from a holder of 45% or more of
the voting rights in the company following which purchaser shall hold 45% or more of the voting rights in the company.
A special tender offer must be extended to all shareholders of a company but the offeror is not required to purchase shares representing more than 5% of the voting power
attached to the company's outstanding shares, regardless of how many shares are tendered by shareholders. A special tender offer may be consummated only if (i) at least 5% of
the voting power attached to the company's outstanding shares will be acquired by the offeror and (ii) the number of shares tendered in the offer exceeds the number of shares
whose holders objected to the offer (disregarding holders who have a personal interest).
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If a special tender offer is accepted, then the purchaser or any person or entity controlling it or under common control with the purchaser or such controlling person or entity
may not make a subsequent tender offer for the purchase of shares of the target company and may not enter into a merger with the target company for a period of one year from
the date of the offer, unless the purchaser or such person or entity undertook to effect such an offer or merger in the initial special tender offer.
Merger
The Israeli Companies Law permits merger transactions if approved by each party's board of directors and, unless certain requirements described under the Israeli
Companies Law are met, by a majority vote of each party's shares, and, in the case of the target company, a majority vote of each class of its shares, voted on the proposed merger
at a shareholders meeting called with at least 35 days' prior notice.
For purposes of the shareholder vote, unless a court rules otherwise, the merger will not be deemed approved if a majority of the votes of shares represented at the
shareholders meeting that are held by parties other than the other party to the merger, or by any person (or group of persons acting in concert) who holds (or hold, as the case may
be) 25% or more of the voting rights or the right to appoint 25% or more of the directors of the other party, vote against the merger. If, however, the merger involves a merger
with a company's own controlling shareholder or if the controlling shareholder has a personal interest in the merger, then the merger is instead subject to the same special majority
approval that governs all extraordinary transactions with controlling shareholders (as described above in this prospectus under "Management—NASDAQ Listing Rules and
Home Country Practices—Shareholder Approval.")
If the transaction would have been approved by the shareholders of a merging company but for the separate approval of each class or the exclusion of the votes of certain
shareholders as provided above, a court may still approve the merger upon the request of holders of at least 25% of the voting rights of a company, if the court holds that the
merger is fair and reasonable, taking into account the value of the parties to the merger and the consideration offered to the shareholders of the company that have petitioned the
court to approve the merger.
Upon the request of a creditor of either party to the proposed merger, the court may delay or prevent the merger if it concludes that there exists a reasonable concern that, as
a result of the merger, the surviving company will be unable to satisfy the obligations of any of the parties to the merger, and may further give instructions to secure the rights of
creditors.
In addition, a merger may not be consummated unless at least 50 days have passed from the date on which a proposal for approval of the merger was filed by each party
with the Israeli Registrar of Companies and at least 30 days have passed from the date on which the merger was approved by the shareholders of each party.
Anti-takeover Measures under Israeli Law
The Israeli Companies Law allows us to create and issue shares having rights different from those attached to our ordinary shares, including shares providing certain
preferred rights, distributions or other matters and shares having preemptive rights. As of the closing of this offering, no preferred shares will be authorized under our amended
and restated articles of association. In the future, if we do authorize, create and issue a specific class of preferred shares, such class of shares, depending on the specific rights that
may be attached to it, may have the ability to frustrate or prevent a takeover or otherwise prevent our shareholders from realizing a potential premium over the market value of
their ordinary shares. The authorization and designation of a class of preferred shares will require an amendment to our amended and restated articles of association, which
requires the prior approval of the holders of a majority of the voting power attaching to our issued and outstanding shares at a general meeting. The convening of the meeting, the
shareholders entitled to participate and the majority vote required to be obtained at such a meeting will be subject to the requirements set forth in the Israeli Companies Law as
described above in "—Voting Rights."
Borrowing Powers
Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law and our amended and restated articles of association, our Board of Directors may exercise all powers and take all actions that are not
required under law or under our amended and restated articles of association to be exercised or taken by our shareholders, including the power to borrow money for company
purposes.
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Changes in Capital
Our amended and restated articles of association enable us to increase or reduce our share capital. Any such changes are subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies
Law and must be approved by a resolution duly passed by our shareholders at a general meeting by voting on such change in the capital. In addition, transactions that have the
effect of reducing capital, such as the declaration and payment of dividends in the absence of sufficient retained earnings or profits and an issuance of shares for less than their
nominal value, require the approval of both our Board of Directors and an Israeli court.
Transfer Agent
Our transfer agent in the United States will be Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE
Prior to this offering, no public market existed for our ordinary shares. Sales of substantial amounts of our ordinary shares following this offering, or the perception that
these sales could occur, could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our ordinary shares and could impair our future ability to obtain capital, especially through an offering
of equity securities. Assuming that the underwriters do not exercise their over-allotment option with respect to this offering and assuming no exercise of options outstanding
following the offering, we will have an aggregate of 9,345,514 ordinary shares outstanding upon completion of this offering. Of these shares, the ordinary shares sold in this
offering will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, unless purchased by "affiliates" (as that term is defined under Rule 144 of the
Securities Act), who may sell only the volume of shares described below and whose sales would be subject to additional restrictions described below.
The remaining ordinary shares will be held by our existing shareholders. Because substantially all of these shares were sold outside the United States to persons residing
outside the United States at the time, they also will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration, except that shares held by affiliates must be sold under Rule 144,
and except for the lock-up restrictions described below. Further, substantially all of our outstanding shares are subject to the lock-up agreements.
Lock-up agreements
We, all of our directors and executive officers and holders of all of our outstanding ordinary shares have signed lock-up agreements pursuant to which, subject to certain
exceptions, they have agreed not to sell or otherwise dispose of their ordinary shares or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for ordinary shares for a period of 180
days after the date of this prospectus without the prior written consent of Aegis Capital Corp. In addition, certain holders of options to purchase our shares have entered into
similar lock-up agreements.
The 180-day lock-up period described in the preceding paragraph will be extended if:
•

during the last 17 days of the 180-day lock-up period, we release earnings results or announce material news or a material event; or

•

prior to the expiration of the 180-day lock-up period, we announce that we will release earnings results during the 15-day period following the last day of the 180day period,

in which case the restrictions described in the preceding paragraph will continue to apply until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the date of release of the earnings
results or the announcement of the material news or material event, unless such extension is waived, in writing, by Aegis Capital Corp.
Rule 144
In general, under Rule 144, beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, any person who is not our affiliate and has held their shares for at least six months, including
the holding period of any prior owner other than one of our affiliates, may sell shares without restriction. In addition, under Rule 144, any person who is not an affiliate of ours
and has held their shares for at least one year, including the holding period of any prior owner other than one of our affiliates, would be entitled to sell an unlimited number of
shares immediately upon the closing of this offering without regard to whether current public information about us is available.
Beginning 90 days after the date of this prospectus, a person who is our affiliate or who was our affiliate at any time during the preceding three months and who has
beneficially owned restricted securities for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other than one of our affiliates, is entitled to sell a number of
shares within any three-month period that does not exceed the greater of:
·

one percent of the number of ordinary shares then outstanding, which will equal 93,455 shares; or

·

the average weekly trading volume of our ordinary shares on the NASDAQ Capital Market during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on
Form 144 with respect to the sale.

If an affiliate acquires “restricted securities,” those securities will also be subject to holding period requirements.
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Upon expiration of the 180-day lock-up period described above, substantially all of our outstanding ordinary shares will either be unrestricted or will be eligible for sale
under Rule 144. We cannot estimate the number of our ordinary shares that our existing stockholders will elect to sell.
Form S-8 Registration Statements
Following the completion of this offering, we intend to file one or more registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register up the ordinary shares issued
or reserved for issuance under our 2010 Plan. The registration statement on Form S-8 will become effective automatically upon filing. Ordinary shares issued upon exercise of a
share option and registered under the Form S-8 registration statement will, subject to vesting and lock-up provisions and Rule 144 volume limitations applicable to our affiliates,
be available for sale in the open market immediately unless they are subject to the 180-day lock-up or, if subject to the lock-up, immediately after the 180-day lock-up period
expires.
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TAXATION
The following description is not intended to constitute a complete analysis of all tax consequences relating to the ownership or disposition of our ordinary shares. You should
consult your own tax advisor concerning the tax consequences of your particular situation, as well as any tax consequences that may arise under the laws of any state, local,
foreign, including Israeli, or other taxing jurisdiction.
ISRAELI TAX CONSIDERATIONS
The following is a summary of the material Israeli income tax laws applicable to us. This section also contains a discussion of material Israeli income tax consequences
concerning the ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares. This summary does not discuss all the aspects of Israeli income tax law that may be relevant to a particular
investor in light of his or her personal investment circumstances or to some types of investors subject to special treatment under Israeli law. Examples of this kind of investor
include residents of Israel or traders in securities who are subject to special tax regimes not covered in this discussion. To the extent that the discussion is based on new tax
legislation that has not yet been subject to judicial or administrative interpretation, we cannot assure you that the appropriate tax authorities or the courts will accept the views
expressed in this discussion. This summary is based on laws and regulations in effect as of the date of this prospectus and does not take into account possible future amendments
which may be under consideration.
General corporate tax structure in Israel
Israeli resident companies, such as the Company, are generally subject to corporate tax at the rate of 25% of their taxable income in 2013.
Capital gains derived by an Israeli resident company are generally subject to tax at the same rate as the corporate tax rate. Under Israeli tax legislation, a corporation will be
considered as an “Israeli Resident” if it meets one of the following: (a) it was incorporated in Israel; or (b) the control and management of its business are exercised in Israel.
Taxation of our Israeli individual shareholders on receipt of dividends
Israeli residents who are individuals are generally subject to Israeli income tax for dividends paid on our ordinary shares (other than bonus shares or share dividends) at a
rate of 25%, or 30% if the recipient of such dividend is a "substantial" shareholder (as defined below) at the time of distribution or at any time during the preceding 12-month
period.
Recently, the Israeli Parliament passed the Reduction the Deficit and Coping with Implications resulting from the Global Economic Crisis (Legislative Amendments), 2012
according to which starting in 2013, an additional income tax at a rate of 2% will be imposed on high earners whose annual income or gains exceed NIS 811,560.
A “Substantial Shareholder” is generally a person who alone, or together with his relative or another person who collaborates with him on a regular basis, holds, directly or
indirectly, at least 10% of any of the “means of control” of the corporation. “Means of control” generally include the right to vote, receive profits, nominate a director or an
officer, receive assets upon liquidation, or instruct someone who holds any of the aforesaid rights regarding the manner in which he or she is to exercise such right(s), and all
regardless of the source of such right.
The term “Israeli Resident” is generally defined under Israeli tax legislation with respect to individuals as a person whose center of life is in Israel. The Israeli Tax
Ordinance New Version, 1961 (as amended by Amendment Law No. 132 of 2002) (the “Israeli Tax Ordinance”) determines that in order to determine the center of life of an
individual, account will be taken of the individual’s family, economic and social connections, including: (a) place of permanent home; (b) place of residential dwelling of the
individual and the individual’s immediate family; (c) place of the individual’s regular or permanent occupation or the place of his permanent employment; (d) place of the
individual’s active and substantial economic interests; (e) place of the individual’s activities in organizations, associations and other institutions. The center of life of an individual
will be presumed to be in Israel if: (a) the individual was present in Israel for 183 days or more in the tax year; or (b) the individual was present in Israel for 30 days or more in
the tax year, and the total period of the individual’s presence in Israel in that tax year and the two previous tax years is 425 days or more. The presumption in this paragraph may
be rebutted either by the individual or by the assessing officer.
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Taxation of Israeli Resident Corporations on Receipt of Dividends
Israeli resident corporations are generally exempt from Israeli corporate income tax with respect to dividends paid on our ordinary shares.
Capital Gains Taxes Applicable to Israeli Resident Shareholders
The income tax rate applicable to Real Capital Gain derived by an Israeli individual from the sale of shares which had been purchased after January 1, 2012, whether listed
on a stock exchange or not, is 25%. However, if such shareholder is considered a “Substantial Shareholder” (as defined above) at the time of sale or at any time during the
preceding 12-month period, such gain will be taxed at the rate of 30%. Recently, the Israeli Parliament passed the Reduction of Deficit and Coping with Implications resulting
from the Global Economic Crisis (Legislative Amendments), 2012 according to which starting in 2013, an additional tax at a rate of 2% will be imposed on high earners whose
annual income or gains exceed NIS 811,560.
Moreover, capital gains derived by a shareholder who is a dealer or trader in securities, or to whom such income is otherwise taxable as ordinary business income, are taxed
in Israel at ordinary income rates (currently, 25% for corporations and up to 50% for individuals in 2013).
Taxation of Non-Israeli Shareholders on Receipt of Dividends
Non-Israeli residents are generally subject to Israeli income tax on the receipt of dividends paid on our Shares at the rate of 25% (or 30% for individuals, if such person is a
“substantial shareholder” at the time receiving the dividend or on any date in the 12 months preceding such date), which tax will be withheld at source, unless a lower tax rate is
provided in a tax treaty between Israel and the shareholder’s country of residence.
A non-Israeli resident who receives dividends from which tax was withheld is generally exempt from the duty to file returns in Israel in respect of such income; provided
such income was not derived from a business conducted in Israel by the taxpayer, and the taxpayer has no other taxable sources of income in Israel.
For example, under the Convention Between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of Israel with Respect to Taxes on Income, as amended
(the "U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty"), Israeli withholding tax on dividends paid to a U.S. resident for treaty purposes may not, in general, exceed 25%, or 15% in the case of dividends
paid out of the profits of a Benefited Enterprise, subject to certain conditions. Where the recipient is a U.S. corporation owning 10% or more of the voting shares of the paying
corporation during the part of the paying corporation’s taxable year which precedes the date of payment of the dividend and during the whole of its prior taxable year (if any) and
the dividend is not paid from the profits of a Benefited Enterprise, the Israeli tax withheld may not exceed 12.5%, subject to certain conditions.
Capital gains income taxes applicable to non-Israeli shareholders.
Non-Israeli resident shareholders are generally exempt from Israeli capital gains tax on any gains derived from the sale, exchange or disposition of our ordinary shares,
provided that such shareholders did not acquire their shares prior to January 1, 2009 and such gains were not derived from a permanent establishment or business activity of such
shareholders in Israel. However, non-Israeli corporations will not be entitled to the foregoing exemptions if an Israeli resident (i) has a controlling interest of 25% or more in such
non-Israeli corporation or (ii) is the beneficiary of or is entitled to 25% or more of the revenues or profits of such non-Israeli corporation, whether directly or indirectly.
In addition, a sale of securities may be exempt from Israeli capital gains tax under the provisions of an applicable tax treaty. For example, under the US-Israel Income Tax
Treaty, the sale, exchange or disposition of our ordinary shares by a shareholder who is a U.S. resident (for purposes of the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty) holding the ordinary shares as
a capital asset and is entitled to claim the benefits afforded to such a resident by the U.S.-Israel Tax Treaty (called a "Treaty U.S. Resident") is generally exempt from Israeli
capital gains tax unless (i) such Treaty U.S. Resident is an individual and was present in Israel for more than 183 days during the relevant taxable year; (ii) such Treaty U.S.
Resident holds, directly or indirectly, shares representing 10% or more of our voting power during any part of the 12 month period preceding such sale, exchange or disposition,
subject to certain conditions; or (iii) the capital gains arising from such sale, exchange or disposition are attributable to a permanent establishment of the Treaty U.S. Resident
located in Israel. In any such case, the sale, exchange or disposition of ordinary shares would be subject to Israeli tax, to the extent applicable.
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Regardless of whether shareholders may be liable for Israeli income tax on the sale of our ordinary shares, the payment of the consideration may be subject to withholding
of Israeli tax at the source. Accordingly, shareholders may be required to demonstrate that they are exempt from tax on their capital gains in order to avoid withholding at source
at the time of sale.
Estate and gift tax
Israeli law presently does not impose estate or gift taxes.
EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR REGARDING THE PARTICULAR ISRAELI TAX CONSEQUENCES
OF PURCHASING, HOLDING, AND DISPOSING OF OUR ORDINARY SHARES, INCLUDING THE CONSEQUENCES OF ANY PROPOSED CHANGE IN
APPLICABLE LAWS.
U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES
Except as specifically set forth below, the following discussion is limited to the material U.S. federal income tax consequences relating to the purchase, ownership and
disposition of our ordinary shares by U.S. Holders (as defined below) that purchase ordinary shares pursuant to the offering and hold such ordinary shares as capital assets. This
discussion is based on the Code, U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, all as in effect on the date hereof and
all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. This discussion does not address all of the U.S. federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to
specific U.S. Holders in light of their particular circumstances or to U.S. Holders subject to special treatment under U.S. federal income tax law (such as certain financial
institutions, insurance companies, broker-dealers and traders in securities or other persons that generally mark their securities to market for U.S. federal income tax purposes, taxexempt entities, retirement plans, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, certain former citizens or residents of the United States, persons who hold
ordinary shares as part of a "straddle," "hedge," "conversion transaction," "synthetic security" or integrated investment, persons that have a "functional currency" other than the
U.S. dollar, persons that own (or are deemed to own) 10% or more (by voting power or value) of our shares, corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income
tax, partnerships and other pass-through entities, and investors in such pass-through entities). Except as expressly set forth herein, this discussion does not address any U.S. state
or local or non-U.S. tax consequences or any U.S. federal estate, gift or alternative minimum tax consequences.
As used in this discussion, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of ordinary shares that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (i) an individual who is a
citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation (or entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized in or under the laws of the
United States, any state thereof, or the District of Columbia, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source or (iv) a trust (x) with
respect to which a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over its administration and one or more United States persons have the authority to
control all of its substantial decisions or (y) that has elected under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations to be treated as a domestic trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
If an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds the ordinary shares, the U.S. federal income tax consequences relating to an investment in the
ordinary shares will depend in part upon the status and activities of such entity and the particular partner. Any such entity should consult its own tax advisor regarding the U.S.
federal income tax consequences applicable to it and its partners of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the ordinary shares.
Persons considering an investment in the ordinary shares should consult their own tax advisors as to the particular tax consequences applicable to them relating to
the purchase, ownership and disposition of the ordinary shares, including the applicability of U.S. federal, state and local tax laws and non-U.S. tax laws.
Distributions
Subject to the discussion below under "Passive foreign investment company consequences," a U.S. Holder that receives a distribution with respect to an ordinary share
generally will be required to include the amount of such distribution in gross income as a dividend (without reduction for any Israeli tax withheld from such distribution) when
actually or constructively received to the extent of the U.S. Holder's pro rata share of our current and/or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined under U.S. federal
income tax principles). To the extent a distribution received by a U.S. Holder is not a dividend because it exceeds the U.S. Holder's pro rata share of our current and accumulated
earnings and profits, it will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital and reduce (but not below zero) the adjusted tax basis of the U.S. Holder's ordinary shares. To the extent
the distribution exceeds the adjusted tax basis of the U.S. Holder's shares, the remainder will be taxed as capital gain. Because we do not account for our income in accordance
with U.S. federal income tax purposes, U.S. Holders should expect all distributions to be reported to them as dividends.
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The U.S. dollar value of any distribution on the ordinary shares made in NIS generally should be calculated by reference to the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and
the NIS in effect on the date of receipt of such distribution by the U.S. Holder regardless of whether the NIS so received is in fact converted into U.S. dollars at that time. If the
NIS so received is converted into U.S. dollars on the date of receipt, such U.S. Holder generally should not recognize currency gain or loss on such conversion. If the NIS so
received is not converted into U.S. dollars on the date of receipt, such U.S. Holder generally will have a basis in such NIS equal to the U.S. dollar value of such NIS on the date of
receipt. Any gain or loss on a subsequent conversion or other disposition of such NIS by such U.S. Holder generally will be treated as ordinary income or loss and generally will
be income or loss from sources within the United States for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes.
Distributions on the ordinary shares that are treated as dividends generally will constitute income from sources outside the United States for foreign tax credit purposes.
Such dividends will not be eligible for the "dividends received" deduction generally allowed to corporate shareholders with respect to dividends received from U.S. corporations.
Distributions treated as dividends that are received by non-corporate U.S. Holders before January 1, 2013 are expected to qualify for the 15% reduced maximum tax rate available
for dividends received from "qualified foreign corporation" provided certain holding periods and other requirements are met. Absent a change in current law, dividends received
by a U.S. Holder from us on or after January 1, 2013, will be taxed at regular ordinary income tax rates. We will not be treated as a qualifying foreign corporation, and therefore
the reduced maximum tax rate in effect for 2012 described above will not apply, if we are a PFIC for the taxable year in which the dividend is paid or the preceding taxable year
(see "Passive foreign investment company consequences," below).
Distributions may be subject to Israeli withholding tax—see—"Taxation—Israeli tax considerations—Taxation of our shareholders—Taxation of non-Israeli shareholders on
receipt of dividends." Subject to certain conditions and limitations, Israeli taxes withheld from distributions by us may be credited against a U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax
liability or, alternatively, deducted to determine the U.S. Holder's taxable income. This election to deduct foreign income taxes is made on a year-by-year basis and applies to all
foreign taxes paid by a U.S. Holder that year. Dividends paid on the ordinary shares generally will constitute income from sources outside the United States and be categorized as
"passive category income" for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes.
Sale, exchange or other disposition of the ordinary shares
Subject to the discussion below under "Passive foreign investment company consequences," a U.S. Holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss for U.S. federal
income tax purposes upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of a ordinary share in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between the amount realized (i.e., the amount of
cash plus the fair market value of any property received) on the sale, exchange or other disposition and such U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the ordinary share, both amounts
determined in U.S. dollars. Such capital gain or loss generally will be long-term capital gain taxable at a reduced rate for non-corporate U.S. Holders (currently a maximum of
15% and increasing to a maximum of 20% after January 1, 2013) or loss if, on the date of sale, exchange or other disposition, the ordinary share was held by the U.S. Holder for
more than one year. Any capital gain of a non-corporate U.S. Holder that is not long-term capital gain is taxed at ordinary income rates. The deductibility of capital losses is
subject to limitations. Any gain or loss recognized from the sale or other disposition of our ordinary shares will generally be gain or loss from sources within the United States for
U.S. foreign tax credit purposes.
A U.S. Holder that receives NIS from the sale, exchange or other disposition of ordinary shares will generally realize an amount equal to the U.S. dollar value of the NIS
received at the spot rate on the date of sale (or, in the case of cash basis and electing accrual basis U.S. Holders, the settlement date). A U.S. Holder will recognize foreign
currency gain or loss to the extent the U.S. dollar value of the amount received at the spot exchange rate on the settlement date differs from the amount realized. A U.S. Holder
will have a tax basis in the NIS received equal to its U.S. dollar value on the settlement date. Any gain or loss on a subsequent conversion or other disposition of the NIS will be
U.S. source ordinary income or loss.
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Passive foreign investment company consequences
In general, a corporation organized outside the United States will be treated as a PFIC in any taxable year in which either (i) at least 75% of its gross income is "passive
income" or (ii) on average at least 50% of its assets is attributable to assets that produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income. Passive income for this
purpose generally includes, among other things, dividends, interest, royalties, rents, and gains from commodities transactions and from the sale or exchange of property that gives
rise to passive income. Assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income include cash, even if held as working capital or raised in a public offering, marketable
securities and other assets that may produce passive income. The average percentage of a corporation's assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income
generally is determined on the basis of the fair market value of the corporation's assets at the end of each quarter. This determination is based on the adjusted tax basis of the
corporation's assets however, if the corporation is a "controlled foreign corporation", that is not a publicly traded corporation for the taxable year. In determining whether a
foreign corporation is a PFIC, a proportionate share of the income and assets of each corporation in which it owns, directly or indirectly, at least a 25% interest (by value) is taken
into account.
Based on the nature of our business, the projected composition of our income and the projected composition and estimated fair market values of our assets, we do not expect
to be a PFIC in 2013, 2014 or a subsequent year. Nevertheless, because this determination is made annually after the close of each taxable year, because we hold and expect to
continue to hold following this offering a substantial amount of cash and cash equivalents, and because the calculation of the value of our assets may be based in part on the value
of our ordinary shares, which may fluctuate after this offering and may fluctuate considerably given that market prices of technology companies historically often have been
volatile, it is difficult to predict whether we will be a PFIC in any taxable year. Even if we determine that we are not a PFIC after the close of our taxable year, there can be no
assurance that the Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, will agree with our conclusion.
If we are a PFIC in any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder owns ordinary shares, such U.S. Holder could be liable for additional taxes and interest charges upon
(i) certain distributions by us (generally any distribution paid during a taxable year that is greater than 125 percent of the average annual distributions paid in the three preceding
taxable years, or, if shorter, the U.S. Holder's holding period for our ordinary shares), and (ii) any gain recognized on a sale, exchange or other disposition, including a pledge, of
the ordinary shares, whether or not we continue to be a PFIC. In these circumstances, the tax will be determined by allocating such distributions or gain ratably over the U.S.
Holder's holding period for the ordinary shares. The amount allocated to the current taxable year (i.e., the year in which the distribution occurs or the gain is recognized) and any
year prior to the first taxable year in which we are a PFIC will be taxed as ordinary income earned in the current taxable year. The amount allocated to other taxable years will be
taxed at the highest marginal rates in effect for individuals or corporations as appropriate applicable to ordinary income for each such taxable year, and an interest charge,
generally that applicable to underpayments of tax, will be added to the tax. If we are a PFIC for any year during which a U.S. Holder holds our ordinary shares, we will generally
continue to be treated as a PFIC with respect to the holder for all succeeding years during which the U.S. Holder holds ordinary shares even if we cease to meet the requirements
for PFIC status.
The tax consequences that would apply if we were a PFIC would be different from those described above if a timely and valid "mark-to-market" election is made by a U.S.
Holder for our ordinary shares. An electing U.S. Holder generally would take into account as ordinary income each year, the excess of the fair market value of our ordinary shares
held at the end of the taxable year over the adjusted tax basis of such ordinary shares. The U.S. Holder would also take into account, as an ordinary loss each year, the excess of
the adjusted tax basis of such ordinary shares over their fair market value at the end of the taxable year, but only to the extent of the amount previously included in income as a
result of the mark-to-market election. The U.S. Holder's tax basis in our ordinary shares would be adjusted to reflect any income or loss resulting from the mark-to-market
election. Any gain from a sale, exchange or other disposition of the ordinary shares in any taxable year in which we are a PFIC would be treated as ordinary income and any loss
from such sale, exchange or other disposition would be treated first as ordinary loss (to the extent of any net mark-to-market gains previously included in income) and thereafter
as capital loss. If, after having been a PFIC for a taxable year, we cease to be classified as a PFIC, the U.S. Holder would not be required to take into account any latent gain or
loss in the manner described above and any realized gain or loss would be classified as a capital gain or loss.
A mark-to-market election is available to a U.S. Holder only if the ordinary shares are considered "marketable stock". Generally, stock will be considered marketable stock
if it is "regularly traded" on a "qualified exchange" within the meaning of applicable U.S. Treasury regulations. A class of stock is regularly traded during any calendar year
during which such class of stock is traded, other than in de minimis quantities, on at least 15 days during each calendar quarter. Our ordinary shares will be marketable stock as
long as they remain listed on the NASDAQ Global Market and are regularly traded. A mark-to-market election will not apply to our ordinary shares for any taxable year during
which we are not a PFIC, but will remain in effect with respect to any subsequent taxable year in which we become a PFIC. Such election will not apply to any subsidiary that we
own.
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The tax consequences that would apply if we were a PFIC would also be different from those described above if a U.S. Holder were able to make a valid "qualified electing
fund" ("QEF") election. As we do not expect to provide U.S. Holders with the information required in order to permit a QEF election, prospective investors should assume that a
QEF election will not be available.
If we are a PFIC in any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder owns the ordinary shares, such U.S. Holder may also suffer adverse tax consequences under the PFIC rules
described above with respect to any lower-tier PFIC in which we have a direct or indirect equity interest.
Each U.S. Holder who is a shareholder of a PFIC must file an annual report containing certain information.
The U.S. federal income tax rules relating to PFICs are complex. Prospective U.S. investors are urged to consult their own tax advisers with respect to the
purchase, ownership and disposition of ordinary shares, the consequences to them of an investment in a PFIC, any elections available with respect to our ordinary
shares and the IRS information reporting obligations with respect to the purchase, ownership and disposition of ordinary shares.
Certain reporting requirements with respect to payments of Offer Price
U.S. Holders paying more than U.S. $100,000 for ordinary shares generally will be required to file IRS Form 926 reporting the payment of the Offer Price for an ordinary
share to us. Substantial penalties may be imposed upon a U.S. Holder that fails to comply. Each U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor as to the possible obligation to file
IRS Form 926.
Information reporting and backup withholding
Dividends on and proceeds from the sale or other disposition of the ordinary shares may be reported to the IRS unless the U.S. Holder establishes a basis for exemption.
Backup withholding may apply to amounts subject to reporting if (i) the holder fails to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number or otherwise establish a basis for
exemption, or (ii) is described in certain other categories of persons. Backup withholding is not an additional tax.
Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules generally will be allowed as a refund or a credit against a U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability if the
required information is furnished by the U.S. Holder on a timely basis to the IRS.
For taxable years beginning after March 18, 2010, new legislation requires certain U.S. Holders who are individuals to report information relating to stock of a non-U.S.
person, subject to certain exceptions (including an exception for stock held in custodial accounts maintained by a U.S. financial institution). U.S. Holders are urged to consult
their tax advisers regarding the effect, if any, of this legislation on their ownership and disposition of ordinary shares.
THE DISCUSSION ABOVE IS A GENERAL SUMMARY. IT DOES NOT COVER ALL TAX MATTERS THAT MAY BE OF IMPORTANCE TO A
PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR IS URGED TO CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR ABOUT THE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO
IT OF AN INVESTMENT IN ORDINARY SHARES IN LIGHT OF THE INVESTOR'S OWN CIRCUMSTANCES.
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UNDERWRITING
Aegis Capital Corp. is acting as the representative of the underwriters of this offering (the “Representative”). We have entered into an underwriting agreement dated the date
of this prospectus with the Representative. Subject to the terms and conditions of the underwriting agreement, we have agreed to sell to each underwriter named below and each
underwriter named below has severally agreed to purchase, at the public offering price less the underwriting discounts and commissions set forth on the cover page of this
prospectus, the number of our ordinary shares next to its name in the following table:
Underwriter

Number of Shares

Aegis Capital Corp.

_____

Sunrise Securities Corp.

_____

Total

1,365,000

The underwriters are committed to purchase all the shares offered by us if any shares are purchased, other than those covered by the option to purchase additional shares
described below. The underwriting agreement also provides that if an underwriter defaults, the purchase commitments of non-defaulting underwriters may be increased or the
offering may be terminated.
The underwriters propose to offer the shares offered by us to the public at the public offering price set forth on the cover of this prospectus. In addition, the underwriters
may offer some of the shares to other securities dealers at such price less a concession of $_____ per share. If all of the shares offered by us are not sold at the public offering
price, the underwriters may change the offering price and other selling terms by means of a supplement to this prospectus.
The obligations of the underwriters may be terminated upon the occurrence of certain events specified in the underwriting agreement. Furthermore, pursuant to the
underwriting agreement, the underwriters’ obligations are subject to customary conditions, representations and warranties, such as receipt by the underwriters of officers’
certificates and legal opinions.
We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against specified liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, and to contribute to payments the
underwriters may be required to make in respect thereof.
The underwriters are offering the shares, subject to prior sale, when, as and if issued to and accepted by them, subject to approval of legal matters by their counsel and other
conditions specified in the underwriting agreement. The underwriters reserve the right to withdraw, cancel or modify offers to the public and to reject orders in whole or in part.
We have granted the underwriters an over-allotment option. This option, which is exercisable for up to 45 days after the date of this prospectus, permits the underwriters to
purchase a maximum of 204,750 additional shares from us to cover over-allotments. If the underwriters exercise all or part of this option, they will purchase shares covered by the
option at the public offering price less the underwriting discounts and commissions that appear on the cover page of this prospectus. If this option is exercised in full, the total
price to the public will be approximately $17,267,250, and the total proceeds to us, before expenses, will be $16,058,543.
Underwriting Discounts and Commissions. We have agreed to pay underwriting discounts and commissions of 7% of the gross proceeds of the offering (equivalent to 7% of
the per share public offering price of $11.00). The following table shows the public offering price, underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses to be paid by us to the
underwriters and the proceeds of the public offering, before expenses, to us.
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Without overallotment exercise
$
15,015,000

With full overallotment exercise
$
17,267,250

Underwriting discounts and commissions paid by us (per ordinary share)

_____

_____

Underwriting discounts and commissions paid by us (total)

_____

_____

Proceeds before other expenses (1)
______________________

_____

_____

Public offering price

(1) We have agreed to pay the underwriters a non-accountable expense allowance in the amount of 1% of the total public offering price of the shares sold (excluding the
over-allotment option).
We have paid a $50,000 advance to the underwriters, which will be applied against the accountable expenses that will be paid by us to the underwriters in connection
with this offering. The underwriting agreement provides that in the event the offering is terminated, the $50,000 advance paid to the underwriters will be returned to us
to the extent that offering expenses are not actually incurred by the underwriters.
We have also agreed to pay or reimburse the underwriters, over and above the underwriting discount, for certain out of pocket expenses in connection with this offering,
including (i) up to $10,000 for expenses of counsel for the underwriters associated with the review of this offering by FINRA, (ii) an aggregate of $15,000 for expenses
relating to background checks of our officers and directors, (iii) $21,775 for costs associated with the use of Ipreo’s book-building, prospectus tracking and compliance
software, and (iiv) up to $20,000 for the underwriter’s actual accountable “road show” expenses.
The total estimated expenses of the offering, including the registration, filing and listing fees, printing fees and legal and accounting expenses, but excluding
underwriting discounts, commissions and non-accountable expense allowances, are approximately $806,000 and are payable by us.
Right of First Refusal . We have agreed to grant to the Representative the right of first refusal to act as co-manager/co-book runner on customary terms for such transactions
for each and every public equity and public debt offering of the Company, or any successor to or any subsidiary of the Company, that takes place within a period of six (6) months
from the effective date of the Registration Statement. The Representative shall not have more than one opportunity to waive or terminate this right of first refusal in consideration
of any payment or fee.
Representative’s Warrants. We have also agreed to issue to the Representative or its designees, at the closing of this offering, warrants (the “Representative’s Warrants”) to
purchase that number of our ordinary shares equal to 5% of the aggregate number of shares sold in the offering (excluding the over-allotment option). The Representative’s
Warrants will be exercisable at any time and from time to time, in whole or in part, during a period commencing one year from the date of effectiveness of this registration
statement (the “First Anniversary”), as follows: 1/3 of the Representative’s Warrants will have an exercise period of 12 months beginning on the First Anniversary, at a price per
share equal to 150.0% of the public offering price per share of ordinary shares at the offering; 1/3 of the Representative’s Warrants will have an exercise period of 18 months
beginning on the First Anniversary, at a price per share equal to 200.0% of the public offering price per share of ordinary shares at the offering; and 1/3 of the Representative’s
Warrants will have an exercise period of 24 months beginning on the First Anniversary, at a price per share equal to 250.0% of the public offering price per share of ordinary
shares at the offering. The Representative's Warrants and the shares of common stock underlying the Representative's Warrants have been deemed compensation by FINRA and
are, therefore, subject to a 180-day lock-up pursuant to Rule 5110(g)(1) of FINRA. The Representative (or permitted assignees under the Rule) will not sell, transfer, assign,
pledge or hypothecate the Representative's Warrants or the shares of common stock underlying the Representative's Warrants, nor will it engage in any hedging, short sale,
derivative, put or call transaction that would result in the effective economic disposition of the Representative's Warrants or the common stock underlying the Representative's
Warrants for a period of 180 days after the effective date of the registration statement. The Representative’s Warrants will provide for one demand registration right and
customary anti-dilution provisions (for share dividends and splits and recapitalizations) consistent with FINRA Rule 5110, and further, the number of shares underlying the
Representative’s Warrants shall be reduced if necessary to comply with FINRA rules or regulations.
Discretionary Accounts.

The underwriters do not intend to confirm sales of the shares offered hereby to any accounts over which they have discretionary authority.

Lock-Up Agreements. We, our officers and directors and holders of all of our outstanding ordinary shares have entered into lock-up agreements with the underwriters.
Under these agreements, we and these other individuals have agreed, subject to specified exceptions, not to sell or transfer any common stock or securities convertible into, or
exchangeable or exercisable for, our common stock, during a period ending 180 days after the date of this prospectus, without first obtaining the written consent of the
Representative. Specifically, we and these other individuals have agreed not to:
•

offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge, grant any option to purchase, make any short sale or otherwise dispose of any ordinary shares, or any options or warrants to
purchase any shares of our common stock, or any securities convertible into, exchangeable for or that represent the right to receive ordinary shares; or

•

engage in any hedging or other transactions, including, without limitation, any short sale or any purchase, sale or grant of any right (including without limitation
any put or call option) with respect to any of the ordinary shares or with respect to any security that includes, relates to, or derives any significant part of its value
from the individual’s ordinary shares;
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whether any such transaction described above is to be settled by delivery of ordinary shares or other securities, in cash or otherwise.
The restrictions described above, applicable to us, do not apply to:
•

the sale of shares of common stock to the underwriters pursuant to the underwriting agreement;

•

the issuance by us of shares of our common stock upon the exercise of an option or warrant or the conversion of a security outstanding on the date of this
prospectus of which the underwriters have been advised in writing or that is described in this prospectus;

•

the grant by us of stock options or other stock-based awards, or the issuance of shares of our common stock upon exercise thereof, to eligible participants pursuant
to employee benefit or equity incentive plans described in this prospectus, provided that, prior to the grant of any such stock options or other stock-based awards
that vest within the restricted period, each recipient of such grant shall sign and deliver a lock-up agreement agreeing to be subject to the restrictions on transfer
described above; and

•

the filing by us of a registration statement on Form S-8 or any successor form thereto with respect to the registration of securities to be offered under any employee
benefit or equity incentive plans described in this prospectus.

The 180-day restricted period is subject to extension if (1) during the last 17 days of the restricted period we issue an earnings release or material news or a material event
relating to us occurs or (2) prior to the expiration of the restricted period, we announce that we will release earnings results during the 15-day period beginning on the last day of
the restricted period, in which case the restrictions imposed in the lock-up agreements will continue to apply until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the issuance of
the earnings release or the occurrence of the material news or material event. In addition, if the Representative agrees to release any party from the restrictions set forth in the
lock-up agreement with such party prior to the expiration of the restricted period, all other parties subject to the lock-up agreement shall be entitled to a proportionate release of
their ordinary shares from the lock-up agreement restrictions.
Electronic Offer, Sale and Distribution of Shares. A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the websites maintained by one or more of the underwriters
or selling group members, if any, participating in this offering and one or more of the underwriters participating in this offering may distribute prospectuses electronically. The
Representative may agree to allocate a number of shares to underwriters and selling group members for sale to their online brokerage account holders. Internet distributions will
be allocated by the underwriters and selling group members that will make internet distributions on the same basis as other allocations. Other than the prospectus in electronic
format, the information on these websites is not part of this prospectus or the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, has not been approved or endorsed by
us or any underwriter in its capacity as underwriter, and should not be relied upon by investors.
Other Relationships. Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates may in the future provide various investment banking, commercial banking and other financial services
for us and our affiliates for which may receive customary fees; however, except as disclosed in this prospectus, no such services were provided in the 180-day period preceding
this filing and we have no present arrangements with any of the underwriters or their affiliates for any further services to be provided through the 90-day period following the
effectiveness of this offering or thereafter.
Stabilization. In connection with this offering, the underwriters may engage in stabilizing transactions, overallotment transactions, syndicate covering transactions, penalty
bids and purchases to cover positions created by short sales.
·
Stabilizing transactions permit bids to purchase shares so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a specified maximum, and are engaged in for the purpose of
preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the shares while the offering is in progress.
·
Overallotment transactions involve sales by the underwriters of shares in excess of the number of shares the underwriters are obligated to purchase. This creates a
syndicate short position which may be either a covered short position or a naked short position. In a covered short position, the number of shares over-allotted by the
underwriters is not greater than the number of shares that they may purchase in the overallotment option. In a naked short position, the number of shares involved is greater
than the number of shares in the overallotment option. The underwriters may close out any short position by exercising their overallotment option and/or purchasing shares
in the open market.
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·
Syndicate covering transactions involve purchases of shares in the open market after the distribution has been completed in order to cover syndicate short
positions. In determining the source of shares to close out the short position, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in
the open market as compared with the price at which they may purchase shares through exercise of the overallotment option. If the underwriters sell more shares than could
be covered by exercise of the overallotment option and, therefore, have a naked short position, the position can be closed out only by buying shares in the open market. A
naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that after pricing there could be downward pressure on the price of the shares in the open
market that could adversely affect investors who purchase in the offering.
·
Penalty bids permit the representative to reclaim a selling concession from a syndicate member when the shares originally sold by that syndicate member are
purchased in stabilizing or syndicate covering transactions to cover syndicate short positions.
These stabilizing transactions, syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market price of our ordinary shares or
preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of our ordinary shares. As a result, the price of our ordinary shares in the open market may be higher than it would otherwise
be in the absence of these transactions. Neither we nor the underwriters make any representation or prediction as to the effect that the transactions described above may have on
the price of our ordinary shares. These transactions may be effected on Nasdaq, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.
Initial public offering of ordinary shares
Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our ordinary shares. The initial public offering price will be determined by negotiations between us and the
representatives of the underwriters. In determining the initial public offering price, we and the representatives of the underwriters expect to consider a number of factors
including:
·

the information set forth in this prospectus and otherwise available to the representative;

·

our prospects and the history and prospects for the industry in which we compete;

·

an assessment of our management;

·

our prospects for future earnings;

·

the general condition of the securities markets at the time of this offering;

·

the recent market prices of, and demand for, publicly traded common stock of generally comparable companies; and

·

other factors deemed relevant by the underwriters and us.

Neither we nor the underwriters can assure investors that an active trading market will develop for our ordinary shares, or that the shares will trade in the public market at or
above the initial public offering price.
Offering Restrictions Outside the United States
Other than in the United States, no action has been taken by us or the underwriters that would permit a public offering of the shares offered by this prospectus in any
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. The shares offered by this prospectus may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor may this prospectus or any other
offering material or advertisements in connection with the offer and sale of any such shares be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will
result in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this prospectus comes are advised to inform themselves about
and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering and the distribution of this prospectus. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy
any shares offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or a solicitation is unlawful.
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European economic area
In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State") an offer to the public
of any shares which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Prospectus (the "Shares") may not be made in that Relevant Member State, except that an offer to the
public in that Relevant Member State of any Shares may be made at any time under the following exemptions under the Prospectus Directive, if they have been implemented in
that Relevant Member State:
·

to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;

· to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal persons (other
than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the representative for
any such offer; or
· in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, provided that no such offer of Shares shall result in a requirement for the publication
by us or any underwriter of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.
For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Shares in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and
by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and any Shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase any Shares, as the same may be
varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC
(and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing
measure in the Relevant Member State, and the expression "2010 PD Amending Directive" means Directive 2010/73/EU.
United Kingdom
Each underwriter has represented and agreed that:
· it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment
activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Shares in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the
FSMA does not apply to us; and
· it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the Shares in, from or otherwise involving
the United Kingdom.
Israel
In the State of Israel, the securities offered hereby may not be offered to any person or entity other than the following:
· a fund for joint investments in trust (i.e., mutual fund), as such term is defined in the Law for Joint Investments in Trust, 5754-1994, or a management company of such
a fund;
·

a provident fund as defined in the Control of the Financial Services (Provident Funds) Law 5765-2005, or a management company of such a fund;

·

an insurer, as defined in the Law for Oversight of Insurance Transactions, 5741-1981;

· a banking entity or satellite entity, as such terms are defined in the Banking Law (Licensing), 5741-1981, other than a joint services company, acting for its own account
or for the account of investors of the type listed in Section 15A(b) of the Securities Law, 1968;
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· a company that is licensed as a portfolio manager, as such term is defined in Section 8(b) of the Law for the Regulation of Investment Advisors and Portfolio Managers,
5755-1995, acting on its own account or for the account of investors of the type listed in Section 15A(b) of the Securities Law, 1968;
· an investment advisor or investment distributer, as such term is defined in Section 7(c) of the Law for the Regulation of Investment Advisors and Portfolio Managers,
5755-1995, acting on its own account;
·

a member of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, acting on its own account or for the account of investors of the type listed in Section 15A(b) of the Securities Law, 1968;

·

an underwriter fulfilling the conditions of Section 56(c) of the Securities Law, 5728-1968, acting on its own account;

· a venture capital fund (defined as an entity primarily involved in investments in companies which, at the time of investment, (i) are primarily engaged in research and
development or manufacture of new technological products or processes and (ii) involve above-average risk);
·

an entity fully owned by investors of the type listed in Section 15A(b) of the Securities Law, 1968;

·

an entity, other than an entity formed for the purpose of purchasing securities in this offering, in which the shareholders’ equity is in excess of NIS 50 million; and

· an individual fulfilling the conditions of Section 9 to the supplement to the Law for the Regulation of Investment Advisors and Portfolio Managers, 5755-1995, acting
on its own account (for this matter, Section 9 to the supplement shall be referred to as “as an investor for the meaning of Section15A(b)(1) of the Securities Law 1968”
instead of “as an eligible client for the meaning of this law”).
Offerees of the securities offered hereby (“Investors”) in the State of Israel shall be required to submit written confirmation that they fall within the scope of one of the
above criteria, that they are fully aware of the significance of being an Investor pursuant to such criteria and that they have given their consent (the “Consent”). An appeal to an
Investor for the Consent shall not be considered a public offering. This prospectus supplement will not be distributed or directed to investors in the State of Israel who do not fall
within one of the above criteria.
In addition, if a purchase of securities is made within an institutional trading system, as that term is defined in the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange regulations, a person giving a
stock exchange member his prior Consent before submitting a purchase order to the institutional trading system for the first time will be seen as acting within the provisions the
above criteria with respect to the Consent, provided that if such person is an investor pursuant to the sixth, tenth, eleventh or twelfth bullet points specified above, such person
committed in advance that, until the last business day of the third month in each year, he will renew his Consent, and that if he withdraws his Consent, he will notify the stock
exchange member immediately and will cease to give purchase orders in such institutional trading institution.
Canada
The Shares sold in this offering have not been and will not be qualified for distribution under applicable Canadian securities laws. Shares may be offered to residents of
Canada pursuant to exemptions from the prospectus requirements of such laws.
_____________
The address of Aegis Capital Corp. is 810 Seventh Avenue, 18th Floor, New York, New York 10019.
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EXPENSES
We estimate that the total expenses of this offering payable by us, excluding the underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses, will be approximately $750,000 as
follows:
SEC filing fee
FINRA filing fee
Nasdaq listing fee
Transfer agent fees and expenses
Printer fees and expenses
Legal fees and expenses
Accounting fees and expenses
Miscellaneous
Total

$

$

2,790
3,567
50,000
5,000
10,000
500,000
160,000
18,643
750,000

LEGAL MATTERS
Certain legal matters concerning this offering will be passed upon for us by Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer and Sullivan & Worcester LLP, New York, New York. Certain legal
matters with respect to the legality of the issuance of the securities offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Co., Tel Aviv, Israel. As
of the date of this prospectus, certain partners with Zysman Aharoni Gayer & Co. Law Offices beneficially own 65,350 ordinary shares and options to purchase 58,700 of our
ordinary shares. Certain legal matters related to the offering will be passed upon for the underwriters by Troutman Sanders LLP, New York, New York and Yigal Arnon & Co.,
Tel-Aviv, Israel.
EXPERTS
The financial statements of Alcobra Ltd. for its fiscal years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 included herein have been audited by Kost Forer Gabbay &
Kasierer (a Member of Ernst & Young Global), independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon, which contains an explanatory paragraph
describing conditions that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern as described in Note 1(b) to the financial statements included herein.
Such financial statements are included herein in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing. The address of Kost Forer
Gabbay & Kasierer is 3 Aminadav St., Tel-Aviv, Israel 67067.
ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES
We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel. Service of process upon us and upon our directors and officers and the Israeli experts named in this registration
statement, substantially all of whom reside outside of the United States, may be difficult to obtain within the United States. Furthermore, because substantially all of our assets
and substantially all of our directors and officers are located outside of the United States, any judgment obtained in the United States against us or any of our directors and
officers may not be collectible within the United States.
We have been informed by our legal counsel in Israel, Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Co., that it may be difficult to assert U.S. securities law claims in original actions
instituted in Israel. Israeli courts may refuse to hear a claim based on a violation of U.S. securities laws because Israel is not the most appropriate forum to bring such a claim. In
addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not U.S. law is applicable to the claim. If U.S. law is found to be applicable, the
content of applicable U.S. law must be proved as a fact which can be a time-consuming and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law.
Subject to specified time limitations and legal procedures, Israeli courts may enforce a United States judgment in a civil matter which, subject to certain exceptions, is nonappealable, including judgments based upon the civil liability provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and including a monetary or compensatory judgment in a
non-civil matter, provided that among other things:
· the judgment is obtained after due process before a court of competent jurisdiction, according to the laws of the state in which the judgment is given and the rules of
private international law currently prevailing in Israel;
·

the judgment is final and is not subject to any right of appeal;
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·

the prevailing law of the foreign state in which the judgment was rendered allows for the enforcement of judgments of Israeli courts;

·

adequate service of process has been effected and the defendant has had a reasonable opportunity to be heard and to present his or her evidence;

· the liabilities under the judgment are enforceable according to the laws of the State of Israel and the judgment and the enforcement of the civil liabilities set forth in the
judgment is not contrary to the law or public policy in Israel nor likely to impair the security or sovereignty of Israel;
·

the judgment was not obtained by fraud and do not conflict with any other valid judgments in the same matter between the same parties;

·

an action between the same parties in the same matter is not pending in any Israeli court at the time the lawsuit is instituted in the foreign court; and

·

the judgment is enforceable according to the law of the foreign state in which the relief was granted.

If a foreign judgment is enforced by an Israeli court, it generally will be payable in Israeli currency, which can then be converted into non-Israeli currency and transferred
out of Israel. The usual practice in an action before an Israeli court to recover an amount in a non-Israeli currency is for the Israeli court to issue a judgment for the equivalent
amount in Israeli currency at the rate of exchange in force on the date of the judgment, but the judgment debtor may make payment in foreign currency. Pending collection, the
amount of the judgment of an Israeli court stated in Israeli currency ordinarily will be linked to the Israeli consumer price index plus interest at the annual statutory rate set by
Israeli regulations prevailing at the time. Judgment creditors must bear the risk of unfavorable exchange rates.
WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form F-1 under the Securities Act relating to this offering of our ordinary shares. This prospectus does not contain
all of the information contained in the registration statement. The rules and regulations of the SEC allow us to omit certain information from this prospectus that is included in the
registration statement. Statements made in this prospectus concerning the contents of any contract, agreement or other document are summaries of all material information about
the documents summarized, but are not complete descriptions of all terms of these documents. If we filed any of these documents as an exhibit to the registration statement, you
may read the document itself for a complete description of its terms.
You may read and copy the registration statement, including the related exhibits and schedules, and any document we file with the SEC without charge at the SEC's public
reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. You may also obtain copies of the documents at prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference
Section of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. The
SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Our filings with the SEC are also
available to the public through the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov.
Upon completion of this offering, we will be subject to the information reporting requirements of the Exchange Act that are applicable to foreign private issuers, and under
those requirements will file reports with the SEC. Those other reports or other information may be inspected without charge at the locations described above. As a foreign private
issuer, we will be exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act related to the furnishing and content of proxy statements, and our officers, directors and principal shareholders
will be exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition, we will not be required under the
Exchange Act to file annual, quarterly and current reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as United States companies whose securities are
registered under the Exchange Act. However, we will file with the SEC, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year, or such applicable time as required by the SEC, an
annual report on Form 20-F containing financial statements audited by an independent registered public accounting firm, and will submit to the SEC, on Form 6-K, unaudited
quarterly financial information.
We expect to maintain a corporate website at www.alcobra-pharma.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not constitute a part of
this prospectus. We have included our website address in this prospectus solely as an inactive textual reference.
88

ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012
U.S. DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS
INDEX
Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

F-2

Balance Sheets

F-3 - F-4

Statements of Comprehensive Loss

F-5

Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity (Deficiency)

F-6

Statements of Cash Flows

F-7

Notes to Financial Statements

F-8 - F-24

-------------F-1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To Board of Directors and the shareholders of
ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Alcobra Ltd. (a development stage company) ("the Company") as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related
statements of comprehensive loss and changes in shareholders' equity (deficiency) and cash flow for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2012 and for the
period from February 7, 2008 (date of inception) to December 31, 2012. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's board of directors and management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the board of directors and management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audits, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December
31, 2012 and 2011, and the statements of comprehensive loss and cash flows and the changes in shareholders' equity (deficiency) for each of the two years in the period ended
December 31, 2012 and for the period from February 7, 2008 (date of inception) to December 31, 2012, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States.
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note 1b, the
Company has incurred losses in the amount of $ 1,579 thousand during the year ended December 31, 2012, and has an accumulated deficit of $ 8,186 thousand as of December
31, 2012. Its ability to continue to operate is dependent upon obtaining additional financial support. These conditions, among other matters described in Note 1b, raise substantial
doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the
recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Tel-Aviv, Israel
January 14, 2013
Except for Note 9(a) and Note 13 to which the date is XX, 2013

KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER
A Member of Ernst & Young Global

The foregoing report is in the form that will be signed upon completion of the bonus shares described in Note 9(a) to the financial statements.
/s/ Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer

KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER

Tel-Aviv, Israel

A Member of Ernst & Young Global

April 25, 2013
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ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
BALANCE SHEETS
U.S. dollars in thousands
December 31,
2012

2011

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term bank deposit
Receivables and prepaid expenses

$

Total current assets

97
83

$

55
517
95

180

667

3
18

507
5
25

21

537

LONG-TERM ASSETS:
Restricted bank deposits
Long-term deposit
Property and equipment, net
Total long-term assets
$

TOTAL ASSETS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
F-3

201

$

1,204

ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
BALANCE SHEETS
U.S. dollars in thousands, (except share and per share data)
December 31,
2012

2011

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Trade payables
Other accounts payable
Convertible Notes

$

Total current liabilities

23
83
662

$

768

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY):
Ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value 10,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2012 and 2011; 8,098,581 and 8,096,109 issued shares at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively; 7,794,256 and 8,096,109 shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively
Treasury shares (304,324 Ordinary shares as of December 31, 2012)
Additional paid- in capital
Deficit accumulated during the development stage

219

4
*) 7,615
(8,186)

Total shareholders' equity (deficiency)

4
7,588
(6,607)

(567)
$

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
*) Represents an amount lower than $ 1.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
F-4

201

124
95
-

985
$

1,204

ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
U.S. dollars in thousands, (except share and per share data)
Period from
February 7, 2008
(date of inception) to
December 31,
2012

December 31,
2012
Research and development expenses, net

$

General and administrative expenses
Operating loss
Financial expenses, net
Net comprehensive loss

$

Deemed dividend

2011
818

$

$

Net basic and diluted loss per share

$

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss
per share

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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$

3,768

683

2,084

4,042

1,501

3,906

7,810

78

23

196

1,579

$

-

Net loss attributable to holders of Ordinary shares

1,822

1,579
(0.2)

7,791,932

3,929

$

180
$
$

4,109
(0.5)

7,843,388

8,006
180

$

8,186

ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data

Ordinary shares
Number
Amount
Balance as of February 7, 2008 (date of inception)
Issuance of Ordinary shares at par share
Issuance of Preferred A shares, net ($0.92 per share)
Preferred A shares issued to service provider ($0.92 per share)
Share based compensation related to warrants granted to
consultant
Net loss

5,752,600
-

$

Preferred A shares
Number
Amount

3
-

747,339
81,528

-

-

Balance as of December 31, 2008
Issuance of Preferred A shares, net ($0.92 per share)
Issuance of Preferred A shares granted to service provider
($0.92 per share)
Conversion of Preferred A shares into Ordinary shares
Net loss

5,752,600
-

3
-

461,987
-

*) -

Balance as of December 31, 2009
Issuance of Preferred B shares and warrants, net ($2.18 per unit
of 1 share and 0.25 warrant)
Issuance of Preferred B shares and warrants upon conversion of
convertible notes ($1.75 per unit of 1 share and 0.25
warrant)
Issuance of Preferred B shares and warrants granted to service
provider
Share based compensation related to options granted to a service
provider and employees
Exercise of options
Net loss

6,214,587
-

Preferred B shares
Number
Amount
-

-

-

-

-

28
-

(666)

28
(666)

828,867
203,818

*) *) -

-

-

760
187

(666)
-

97
187

190,229
(461,987)
-

*) *) -

-

-

175
-

(608)

175
*) (608)

3

760,927

*) -

-

-

1,122

(1,274)

(149)

-

-

-

342,691

*) -

723

-

723

-

-

-

-

128,512

*) -

279

-

279

-

-

-

-

55,008

*) -

120

-

120

288,681
-

*) -

-

-

-

-

242
*) -

(1,224)

242
*) (1,224)

Balance as of December 31, 2010
Conversion of Preferred A and B shares into Ordinary shares
Deemed dividend in respect of equity restructuring
Issuance of Ordinary shares upon conversion of loan into
Ordinary shares net ($11.5 per share)
Issuance of Ordinary shares, net ($11.5 per share)
Exercise of options
Share based compensation related to options granted to
consultants and employees
Net loss

6,503,268
1,287,138
-

3
1
-

2,486
(1)
180

(2,498)
(180)

(9)
-

104,345
199,979
1,379

*) *) *) -

-

-

-

-

1,200
2,170
*) -

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,553
-

(3,929)

1,553
(3,929)

Balance as of December 31, 2011
Treasury shares
Exercise of options
Share based compensation related to options granted to
consultants and employees
Net loss

8,096,109
(304,324)
2,471

4
*) *) -

-

-

-

-

7,588
1

(6,607)
-

985
*) 1

-

-

-

-

-

26
-

(1,579)

26
(1,579)

Balance as of December 31, 2012

7,794,256

4

-

-

-

$

760,927
(760,927)
-

*) Represents an amount lower than $ 1.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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*) *) -

$

$

526,211
(526,211)
-

-

$

*) *) -

$

-

$

657
75

7,615

$

-

Total
shareholders'
equity
(deficiency)

*) *) -

-

$

Deficit
accumulated
during the
development
stage

Additional
paid-in
capital

$

-

$

(8,186)

3
657
75

1,200
2,170
*) -

$

(567)

ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
U.S. dollars in thousands, except share data
Period from
February 7, 2008
(date of inception) to
December 31,
2012

Year ended
December 31,
2012

2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Decrease (increase) in receivables and prepaid expenses
Increase (decrease) in trade payables
Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable
Interest on convertible notes
Stock base compensation

$

Net cash used in operating activities

(1,579)

$

(3,929)

$

(8,006)

7
12
(101)
(12)
62
26

6
(49)
95
(37)
1,553

22
(83)
23
83
121
2,219

(1,585)

(2,361)

(5,621)

517
2
507

(24)
(517)
(500)

(40)
(3)
-

1,026

(1,041)

(43)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment
Investment in (proceeds from) short-term bank deposit
Decrease (increase) in long-term deposit
Investment in (proceeds from) restricted bank deposit

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
Proceeds from loan
Issuance of shares, net
Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

600
1

450
2,170

820
1,200
3,741

601

2,620

5,761

42
55

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

(782)
837

97
-

$

97

$

55

$

97

$
$

-

$
$

1,200

$
$

224
1,200

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Issuance of Preferred B shares and warrants upon conversion of convertible notes
Issuance of Ordinary shares upon conversion of loans

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
NOTE 1:- GENERAL
a.

Alcobra Ltd. (the "Company”) was incorporated in Israel and commenced its operation on February 7, 2008. The Company is an emerging
biopharmaceutical company primarily focused on the development and commercialization of a proprietary drug to treat neurological disturbance like
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder ("ADHD"). The Company's objective is to conduct additional clinical trials for its drug called MG01CI (the
"Drug") and, if those trials are successful, seek marketing approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA") and other worldwide
regulatory bodies. The Company has not generated revenue from the sale of any product, and does not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until
the obtaining of marketing approval, and commercialize the MG01CI. Accordingly, the Company is considered to be in the development stage as defined in
ASC 915, "Development stage entities".

b.

The Company has incurred losses in the amount of $ 1,579 thousand during the year ended December 31, 2012. The Company has an accumulated deficit in
the total amount of $ 8,186 as of December 31, 2012 and as of that date the accumulated negative cash flow from operating activity is in the amount of
$ 5,621. These conditions raise substantial doubts about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Company's ability to continue to operate
is dependent upon raising additional funds to finance its activities. According to the management's estimates, based on the Company's budget, if the
Company is not successful in obtaining additional capital resources to maintain its operational activities, there is substantial doubt that the Company will be
able to continue its activity after March 31, 2013. The Company plans to have its securities listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market (the "NASDAQ") early in
the second quarter of 2013, for the purpose of raising capital to finance its operations. There are no assurances, however, that the Company will be successful
in obtaining an adequate level of financing needed for the long-term development and commercialization of its products. The financial statements do not
include any adjustments with respect to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their classification that might be necessary should the Company be
unable to continue as a going concern.

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP").
a.

Use of estimates:
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions. The
Company's management believes that the estimates, judgments and assumptions used are reasonable based upon information available at the time they are
made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the dates of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
b.

Financial statements in U.S. dollars:
The Company finances its operation in U.S. dollars. The majority of the Company's operations are currently conducted in Israel, a significant part of the
Company's expenses are denominated and determined in U.S. dollars. The Company's management believes that the dollar is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Company operates and expects to continue to operate in the foreseeable future. Thus, the functional and reporting
currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar.
The Company transactions and balances denominated in U.S. dollars are presented at their original amounts. Non-dollar transactions and balances have been
remeasured to U.S. dollars in accordance with ASC 830, "Foreign Currency Matters", of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"). All
transaction gains and losses from remeasurement of monetary balance sheet items denominated in non-dollar currencies are reflected in the statements of
operations as financial income or expenses, as appropriate.

c.

Cash equivalents:
Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with original maturities of three months or less at acquisition.

d.

Short-term bank deposit
Short-term bank deposits are deposits with maturities of more than three months but less than one year. The short-term bank deposits are presented at their
cost, including accrued interest, which approximates fair value. As of December 31, 2011, the Company's bank deposits were in U.S. dollars and bore
interest at a weighted average interest rate of 1.85%.

e.

Restricted bank deposits:
Restricted bank deposits are pledged in favor of the bank which provides to the Company guarantees with respect to office lease agreements and credit card
usage.

f.

Property and equipment, net:
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets at the following rates:
%
Computers and electronic equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Clinical and medical equipment

15-33
6
15-33
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ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
The Company's property and equipment are reviewed for impairment in accordance with ASC 360, "Property, Plant, and Equipment," whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If such assets are considered to
be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. In 2012 and 2011, no impairment losses have been
identified.
g.

Long-term deposits:
Long-term deposits include long-term deposits for motor vehicles under operating leases, presented at their cost.

h.

Research and development expenses:
Research and development expenses are expensed as incurred. Those expenses include payments to third party clinical consultants, expenses related to
conducting clinical trials, salaries and related personnel expenses, travel expenses, and share based compensations expenses to research and development
employees. During 2012 and 2011, no grants were received.

i.

Severance pay:
The Company's liability for severance pay is pursuant to Section 14 of the Severance Compensation Act, 1963 ("Section 14"), all the employees are included
under this section, and entitled only to monthly deposits, at a rate of 8.33% of their monthly salary, made in the employee's name with insurance companies.
Payments in accordance with Section 14 release the Company from any future severance payments in respect of those employees. The fund is made
available to the employee at the time the employer-employee relationship is terminated, regardless of cause of termination. The severance pay liabilities and
deposits under section 14 are not reflected in the balance sheet as the severance pay risks have been irrevocably transferred to the severance funds.
Severance pay expense for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted to $18 and $14, respectively.
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ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
j.

Income taxes:
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, "Income Taxes". This topic prescribes the use of the liability method whereby
deferred tax assets and liability account balances are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and
are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company provides a valuation
allowance, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
The Company implements a two-step approach to recognize and measure uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that, on an evaluation of the
technical merits, the tax position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. The second step is to measure
the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% (cumulative basis) likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement.
The Company believes that its tax positions are all highly certain of being upheld upon examination. As such, as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 the
Company has not recorded a liability for uncertain tax positions.

k.

Concentrations of credit risk:
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, short term bank
deposit and restricted bank deposits.
Cash and cash equivalents, short term bank deposit and restricted bank deposits are invested in major banks in Israel. Management believes that the financial
institutions that hold the Company's investments are financially sound and, accordingly, minimal credit risk exists with respect to these investments.
The Company has no off-balance-sheet concentration of credit risk such as foreign exchange contracts, option contracts or other foreign hedging
arrangements.

l.

Fair value of financial instruments:
ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures", defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
(i.e., the "exit price") in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
In determining fair value, the Company uses various valuation approaches. ASC 820 establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that
maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available.
Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources
independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company's assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.
The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair
value.
As a basis for considering such assumptions, ASC 820 establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation
methodologies in measuring fair value:
Level 1 -

Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the Company has the ability to access. Valuation adjustments
and block discounts are not applied to Level 1 instruments. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and regularly
available in an active market, valuation of these products does not entail a significant degree of judgment.

Level 2 -

Valuations based on one or more quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 -

Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits, restricted bank deposits, accounts payable, and other accounts payable
approximate their fair value due to the short-term maturities of such instruments.
m.

Basic and diluted net loss per share:
Basic net loss per share is computed based on the weighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding during each year. Diluted net loss per share is
computed based on the weighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding during each year plus dilutive potential equivalent Ordinary shares
considered outstanding during the year, in accordance with ASC 260, "Earnings per Share."
All outstanding stock options and warrants have been excluded from the calculation of the diluted net loss per share because all such securities are antidilutive for all periods presented.
F-12

ALCOBRA LTD.
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
n.

Accounting for stock-based compensation:
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, "Compensation - Stock Compensation" that requires the measurement
and recognition of compensation expense based on estimated fair values for all share-based payment awards made to employees, directors. ASC 718
requires companies to estimate the fair value of equity-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the option
award is recognized as an expense over the requisite service periods in the Company's statement of operations.
The Company selected the Black-Scholes-Merton ("Black-Scholes") option-pricing model as the fair value method for of its stock-options awards. The
option-pricing model requires a number of assumptions as noted below:
Expected dividend yield - The expected dividend yield assumption is based on the Company's historical experience and expectation of no future dividend
payouts. The Company has historically not paid cash dividends and has no foreseeable plans to pay cash dividends in the future.
Volatility - Since the Company is not traded on any stock exchange market, quoted prices of the Company's share are unavailable. According to ASC 718,
due to insufficient or no historical data for a company, the expected volatility determination was based on similar companies' stock volatility.
Risk free interest rate - The risk free interest rate is based on the yield of U.S Treasury bonds with equivalent terms.
Expected term - ASC 718 provides the factors to consider when estimating the expected term of an option: An option's expected term must at least include
the vesting period and the employees' historical exercise and post-vesting employment termination behavior for similar grants. It also determines that if the
amount of past exercise data is limited, that data may not represent a sufficiently large sample on which to base a robust conclusion on expected exercise
behavior. In that circumstance, it may be appropriate to consider external data or the SEC staff's "simplified" method to the expected term. Accordingly, The
Company used the "simplified" method, meaning the expected life can be set as the average of the vesting period for each vested tranche of options and the
contractual term for those options.
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
Because there has been no public market for the Company's Ordinary shares, the fair value of the Ordinary shares underlying the options through December
31, 2012, had been determined by the Company's management, using the assistance of an independent valuation firm. The valuation of the Ordinary shares
was based on recent third-party transactions in the equity of the Company by applying the option-pricing method.
NOTE 3:- RECEIVABLES AND PREPAID EXPENSES
December 31,
2012
Government authorities
Prepaid expenses
Advance to suppliers

2011

$

10
66
7

$

93
2
-

$

83

$

95

NOTE 4: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
December 31,
2012
Cost:
Computers and electronic equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Clinical and medical equipment

$

Accumulated depreciation:
Computers and electronic equipment
Office furniture and equipment
Clinical and medical equipment

Depreciated cost

$

*) Represents an amount lower than $ 1.
Depreciation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were $7 and $6, respectively.
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2011
19
7
14

$

19
7
14

40

40

13
1
8

9
*) 6

22

15

18

$

25

ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
NOTE 5:- OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
December 31,
2012
Employees and payroll accruals
Accrued expenses

2011

$

31
52

$

35
60

$

83

$

95

NOTE 6:- CONVERTIBLE NOTES
a.

On June 23, 2009, the Company entered into a convertible note agreement. Total loan consideration amounted to $220. The loan bore interest of 4% per
annum. The conversion price was set to be at 20% discount of such shares of the following financing round. In case the total convertible note amount
remains due and outstanding upon the elapse of 12 months from closing, then the total convertible note amount shall be automatically converted into an
amount of shares of the Company reflecting a pre-money Company valuation of $ 7,169 on fully diluted basis. In February 2010, as part of a financing round
(see also Note 9(c)(6)) the convertible note and the accumulated interest, in an amount of $ 224 were converted into 128,512 Preferred B2 shares.

b.

During 2012, the Company issued convertible promissory notes to certain investors for a total amount of $ 600. The convertible notes bear an annual interest
rate of 6%. According to the terms of the convertible notes, the total amount shall be automatically converted into securities of the Company upon the earlier
of the following events: (i) a financing round, or (ii) Initial Public Offering ("IPO"), at a 25% discount paid for such shares in the course of a financing round
or the price per share as determined for such shares in an IPO, as applicable. In case the total convertible notes amount remains due and outstanding upon the
elapse of 12 months from closing, then the total convertible notes amount shall be automatically converted into an amount of Ordinary shares of the
Company reflecting a pre-money Company valuation of $ 25,000 on fully diluted basis.

The convertible notes have a conversion option related to financing round and/or IPO that continuously resets as the underlying share price increases or decreases to
provide a fixed value of shares. The conversion upon financing round and/or IPO was determined to be the predominant event and therefore the entire instrument
was considered to be a liability pursuant to ASC No. 480 "Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity". The convertible notes are presented at their redemption amount,
which includes the principal amount of the convertible notes, the accumulated interest and additional redemption amount accrued over the term of the convertible
notes, using the interest method, which approximates the fair value.
Upon conversion of the convertible note in February 2010, the entire redemption amount was derecognized against additional paid in capital in the amount of
$ 279. As of December 31, 2012, the convertible notes redemption amount was $ 662.
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ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
NOTE 7:- INCOME TAXES
a.

Tax rates applicable to the Company:
The Company is incorporated in Israel. Taxable income of Israeli companies is subject to tax at the rate of 24% in 2011 and 25% in 2012 and onwards.

b.

Net operating losses carry forward:
The Company has accumulated losses for tax purposes as of December 31, 2012 in the amount of approximately $ 4,600 which may be carried forward and
offset against taxable income in the future for an indefinite period.

c.

Deferred income taxes:
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets are as follows:
December 31,
2012
Operating loss carryforward
Reserves and allowances

$

Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance
Valuation allowance

2011
1,153
308

$

1,461
(1,461)
$

Net deferred tax asset

-

703
341
1,044
(1,044)

$

-

As of December 31, 2012, the Company has provided valuation allowances of $ 1,461 in respect of deferred tax assets resulting from tax loss carry forward
and other temporary differences. Management currently believes that since the Company has a history of losses it is more likely than not that the deferred tax
regarding the loss carry forward and other temporary differences will not be realized in the foreseeable future.
d.

No liability for uncertain tax positions was recorded as a result of implementation of ASC 740.

e.

The main reconciling item between the statutory tax rate of the Company and the effective tax rate is the recognition of valuation allowances in respect of
deferred taxes relating to accumulated net operating losses carried forward due to the uncertainty of the realization of such deferred taxes.
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NOTE 8:- CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
a.

The Company is engaged in an operating lease agreement for its office facilities. Future minimum non cancelable rental payments under the operating lease
are $4. The rent expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted to $44 and $61 respectively.

b.

The Company has entered into an operating lease agreement for its vehicles until December 2013. The rent expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2011 amounted to $18 and $29 respectively. Future minimum payments under the lease are as follows:
Year ended December 31,

Total

2013
2014

c.

$

14
3

$

17

Royalty bearing Government grants:
The Company partially financed its research and development expenditures under programs sponsored by the Office of Chief Scientist ("OCS") for the
support of certain research and development activities conducted in Israel.
In connection with its research and development, the Company received $ 106 of participation payments from the OCS through December 31, 2012. In
return for the OCS's participation, the Company is committed to pay royalties at a rate of 3%-5% of sales of the developed product linked to U.S dollars, up
to 100% of the amount of grants received (100% plus interest at LIBOR). The Company's total commitment for royalties payable with respect to future
sales, based on OCS participations received or accrued, net of royalties paid or accrued, totaled approximately $ 112 as of December 31, 2012. In addition,
the OCS, in its discretion, may impose certain conditions on any arrangement under which it permits the Company to transfer technology or development
out of Israel (including transfer of any manufacturing rights with respect to the technology), and may require payment of additional amounts and/or payment
of increased royalties with respect thereto. Currently, the OCS is unauthorized to approve the licensing of OCS funded technology outside of Israel.

NOTE 9:- SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
a.

General:
All Ordinary shares, options, warrants, per share data, exercise price and convertible notes conversion ratio included in these financial statements for all
periods presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the 4.87-to-one bonus shares (equivalent to a 5.87-for-1 stock split) to be effective immediately
prior to the effectiveness of the registration statement.

b.

Share capital:
The Ordinary shares confer upon their holders the right to participate and vote in general shareholders meetings of the Company and to share in the
distribution of dividends, if any declared by the Company.

c.

Issuances of shares:
1.

On February 7, 2008, (inception day) the Company issued 5,752,600 Ordinary shares in consideration of their par value.

2.

In February 2008, the Company entered into an investment agreement, according to the agreement, the Company issued 434,814 Preferred A shares
in consideration of $400.
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NOTE 9:- SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) (Cont.)
3.

In May 2008, an agreement to purchase Preferred A shares was signed with a new investor (the "Investor"). Accordingly, as of December 31, 2008,
95,117 Preferred A shares were issued in consideration of $ 88. In January 2009, additional 95,112 Preferred A shares, were issued in consideration
of $ 87.
In addition, the Company and the Investor agreed that the Investor shall supply clinical trial services in a value of up to $ 250 in exchange of up to
271,757 Preferred A shares. As of December 31, 2008, the investor provided part of the clinical trial services, for which 81,528 Preferred A shares
were issued.
In January 2009, the Investor carried out the rest of the services and an additional 190,229 Preferred A shares were issued.

4.

In July 2008, the Company entered into an investment agreement. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2008, 217,408 Preferred A shares were issued in
consideration of $ 184. In February 2009, 108,706 Preferred A shares were issued in consideration of $ 100.

5.

In relation with the convertible loan agreement dated June 2009, in July 2009, 461,987 Preferred A shares of an existing investor that did not
participate in the loan agreement, were converted into 461,987 Ordinary shares.

6.

In February 2010, an agreement to purchase Preferred B shares was signed. Accordingly, 183,356 Preferred B shares were issued in consideration of
$ 400. In addition, the Convertible Notes were converted (see Note 6(a)). As a part of the above agreement, the Company granted to investors
warrants to purchase 77,965 Preferred B-3 shares at an exercise price of $2.73 per share. The warrants will expire five years after the date of grant. As
of December 31, 2012, the warrants were not exercised.
As a part of the 2010 Agreement, the Company entered into a service agreement according to which a service provider will provide clinical trial
services for up to 55,008 Preferred B-1 shares. As of December 31, 2010, the services provider supplied the clinical trial services and 55,008
Preferred B-1 shares and 11,458 warrants to Preferred B-3 were issued. The Company recorded a compensation expense in the amount of $120 in the
year ended December 31, 2010.
In August 2010, additional 159,335 preferred B shares and 39,834 warrants to preferred B-3 were issued for a total consideration of $323 (net of $26
issuance expenses).

7.

On November 17, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement with a strategic investor (the "Strategic Investor") under which the Company
received a loan in an amount of $ 750, which was extended in February 2011 for an additional amount of $ 450. The loan was to be repaid in
February 2011, if the parties did not reach a Buyout agreement. To the extent a Buyout agreement was executed by March 2011, the loan was to be
converted into Ordinary shares. In March 2011, the Buyout agreement was executed and the Company issued to the Strategic Investor 199,979
Ordinary shares in consideration of $ 2,170 (net of $130 issuance expenses).
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NOTE 9:- SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) (Cont.)
Additionally, 104,345 Ordinary shares were issued in consideration of the loan amount. According to the Buyout agreement, the Strategic Investor
has certain options to buy shares from the Company's shareholders according to certain milestones and shall hold 100% of the Company's shares.
According to the Buyout agreement, if one of the options is not exercised, within the agreed time, the Buyout agreement is terminated and the shares
issued will be transferred to the Company free of charge. Due to the fact that the Strategic Investor did not exercise his option, in January 2012, the
agreement was terminated, and the Strategic Investor transferred 304,324 Ordinary shares to back the Company, without any consideration.
Prior to the closing of the Buyout agreement and as a condition to it, the Company affected an equity restructuring, under which, all of the Company's
Preferred shares (1,287,138 Preferred shares) were converted into Ordinary shares at 1:1 ratio. In addition, all options, warrants that were convertible
into share capital of the Company other than Ordinary shares were replaced or exchanged at 1:1 ratio to notes and rights entitling their holders the
right to purchase or receive Ordinary shares. In accordance with ASC 718-20-35-6, the Company recorded a compensation expense in the amount of
$ 15 and of $ 1,466 in the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Additionally, a deemed dividend to other Ordinary shareholders
was recorded in the amount of $ 180 for the year ended December 31, 2011.
d.

2010 incentive option plan:
In February 2010, the Company authorized through its 2010 incentive option plan (the "2010 Plan") the grant of options to officers, directors, advisors,
management and other key employees. The company reserved for grants of options up to 1,063,984 of the Company's Ordinary shares. The options granted
have generally four year vesting terms and expire ten years after the grant date. As of December 31, 2012, 7,009 options were still available for future grants
under the Plan.
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A summary of the Company's options activity (for employees and directors) under the 2010 Plan is as follows:
Year ended December 31,
2012
Number of
options

2011

Weighted
average
exercise price

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

465,520 $
(2,471) $
(1,931) $

Outstanding at end of year

461,118

$

Vested and expected to vest

461,118

Options exercisable at the end of the period

366,464

0.21
0.33
0.33

Number of
options

Weighted
average
exercise price

544,472 $
(1,379) $
(77,572) $

0.18
0.33
0.01

0.2

465,520

$

0.21

$

0.2

465,520

$

0.21

$

0.22

305,017

$

0.2

As of December 31, 2012, the weighted-average remaining contractual term of the outstanding and exercisable options is 7.098 years; the aggregate intrinsic
value of outstanding options and exercisable options is $38 and $38 respectively. As of December 31, 2012, the unrecognized compensation cost is $ 11 and
$ 1 to be recognized in 2013 and 2014, respectively.
In addition, the Company granted an employee the following: (a) Options to purchase 88,050 Ordinary shares granted in 2010, at an exercise price of $ 0.33
per share. The options will vest immediately prior to and subject to the event of a merger of the Company into another corporation; (b) Options to purchase
89,553 Ordinary shares granted in December 2012. The options will vest immediately prior to and subject to the earlier of: (i) the next round of equity
financing of at list $5,000; (ii) the consummation of a merger, acquisition or sale of the securities of the Company; or (iii) the event of an Initial Public
Offering of the Company's Ordinary shares (a "Transaction").
According to ASC-718-10-20, compensation cost will be recognized if the performance condition is satisfied. As of December 31, 2012, no compensation
cost was recognized.
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(A development stage company)
NOTE 9:- SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) (Cont.)
In addition, in December 2012, the Company granted a director the following options: (a) Options to purchase 89,553 Ordinary shares. The exercise price
shall be the effective price determined in the course of the Transaction; (b) Options to purchase 22,388 Ordinary shares according to the 2010 Plan. The
exercise price shall be the effective price determined in the course of the Transaction. The options will vest subject and upon initiation of phase III clinical
studies. According to ASC-718-10-20, compensation cost will be recognized if the performance condition is satisfied.
According to ASC-718-10-55-83, grant date did not occur because the recipient did not begin to benefit from or be adversely affected by the changes in the
price of the shares of the Company. As of December 31, 2012, no compensation cost was recognized.
e.

Options granted to consultants:
The Company granted options to certain service providers and accounted for these options in accordance with ASC 505-50.
The outstanding options granted to the Company's consultants are as follows:
Grant date

Exercise
price

Number of options

April 2, 2008
February 28, 2010
February 13, 2011
February 17, 2011

58,700
8,805
1,174
3,804

Expiration date
0.0005
2.184
0.0005
0.0005

April 2, 2018
February 28, 2020
February 13, 2021
February 17, 2021

72,483*)
*) All options were fully vested on grant date.
f.

Share-based payment:
The share based expense recognized in the financial statements for services received from employees and non-employees is shown in the following table:
Period from February
7, 2008 (date of
inception) to
December 31,
2012

Year ended
December 31,
2012
Research and development, net
General and administrative expenses

*)

Represents an amount lower than $ 1.
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2011

$

*) 26

$

18
1,535

$

483
1,736

$

26

$

1,553

$

2,219

ALCOBRA LTD.
(A development stage company)
NOTE 10:- RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
Balances with related parties:
December 31,
2012

2011

Convertible Notes (e)

$

610

$

-

Other accounts payable (c)

$

21

$

19

Related parties' expenses:
Year ended
December 31,
2012

2011

Amounts charged to: *)
General and administrative expense (a) (b) (c) (d)

$

401

$

1,786

Financial expense (e)

$

60

$

-

*)

Including share based compensation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 in the amounts of $ 26 and $ 1,394,
respectively.

a.

On March 1, 2008, the Company signed an agreement with a consultant, who is also one of the Company's shareholders and directors, as a contractor to
render management, finance and operation services. The Company pays the consultant an amount of $ 7 per month.

b.

The Company signed an agreement with a company owned by one of its related parties. Under the agreement, the company renders the Company with office
services and office lease for a monthly fee in the amount of approximately $ 4 since June 1, 2010. Each party may terminate the agreement with 30-days
notice.

c.

An agreement was signed on June 2, 2011 between the Company and one its shareholders, as a contractor to render services related to pre clinical, clinical,
regulatory and intellectual property issues, for an amount of approximately $ 3 per month.

d.

Under the employment agreement, dated March 4, 2010, with the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Director, and following a salary increase approved
April 14, 2011, the CEO is entitled to a gross monthly salary of $ 14. Besides a base salary, the CEO receives under the agreement other benefits that are
provided for by Israeli law or that are customary for senior executives in Israel, including the right to use a leased car and cellular telephone.

e.

One of the Company’s shareholders invested as part of the Company’s issuance of the Convertible Notes with terms as described in Note 6(b).
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NOTE 11:- FINANCIAL EXPENSES, NET
Period from
February 7, 2008
(date of inception)
to December 31,
2012

Year ended
December 31,
2012
Financial expenses:
Interest expense
Exchange rate
Interest on convertible notes

$

Financial income:
Interest income

$

2011
13
15
52

$

3
41
-

$

23
92
107

80

44

222

2

21

26

2

21

26

78

$

23

$

196

NOTE 12:- BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation of the Company's basic and diluted net loss per share of Ordinary share:
Year ended
December 31
2012
$

Net loss attributable to Ordinary shares as reported

(1,579)

$

7,791,932

Shares used in computing net loss per share of Ordinary shares, basic and diluted
$

Net loss per share of Ordinary share, basic and diluted

2011

(0.2)

(4,109)
7,843,388

$

(0.5)

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, all outstanding options and warrants have been excluded from the calculation of the diluted net loss per share since
their effect was anti-dilutive.
NOTE 13:- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
a.

During March 2013, the Company’s shareholders resolved to amend the vesting term of 88,050 options granted to an employee in 2010, such that the options
will also vest immediately prior to and subject to the completion of an initial public offering of the Company’s Ordinary shares. See also Note 9.
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NOTE 13:- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Cont.)
b.

During February 2013, the Company issued convertible promissory notes to certain investors for a total amount of $ 115. The terms of the convertible
promissory notes are the same as the terms of the convertible promissory notes issued in 2012. For the terms see Note 6 (b).

c.

During March 2013, the Company increased the monthly fee to be payable for its consultant who is also one of the Company's shareholders and directors to an
amount of $ 12 (see also Note 10 (a)), and the monthly fee for its contractor who is also one of the Company's shareholders to an amount of $ 5 (see also Note
10 (c)). These amendments are subject to and effective upon the closing of initial public offering.

d.

During March 2013, the Company's general meeting resolved to increase the Company’s authorized shares to 50,000,000 Ordinary shares.
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PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
Item 6. Indemnification of Directors, Officers and Employees
An Israeli company may indemnify an office holder in respect of certain liabilities either in advance of an event or following an event provided that a provision authorizing
such indemnification is inserted in its articles of association. Our amended and restated articles of association contain such a provision. An undertaking provided in advance by an
Israeli company to indemnify an office holder with respect to a financial liability imposed on him or her in favor of another person pursuant to a judgment, settlement or
arbitrator's award approved by a court must be limited to events which in the opinion of the board of directors can be foreseen based on the Company's activities when the
undertaking to indemnify is given, and to an amount or a criteria determined by the board of directors as reasonable under the circumstances, and such undertaking must detail the
abovementioned events and amount or criteria.
In addition, a company may indemnify an office holder against the following liabilities incurred for acts performed as an office holder:
·

reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by the office holder as a result of an investigation or proceeding instituted against him or her by an
authority authorized to conduct such investigation or proceeding, provided that (i) no indictment was filed against such office holder as a result of such investigation or
proceeding; and (ii) no financial liability, such as a criminal penalty, was imposed upon him or her as a substitute for the criminal proceeding as a result of such
investigation or proceeding or, if such financial liability was imposed, it was imposed with respect to an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent or as a
monetary sanction; and

·

reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by the office holder or imposed by a court in proceedings instituted against him or her by the Company,
on its behalf or by a third party or in connection with criminal proceedings in which the office holder was acquitted or as a result of a conviction for a crime that does not
require proof of criminal intent.

·

An Israeli company may insure a director or officer against the following liabilities incurred for acts performed as a director or officer:

·

a breach of duty of care to the Company or to a third party, including a breach arising out of the negligent conduct of an office holder;

·

a breach of duty of loyalty to the Company, provided the director or officer acted in good faith and had a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not prejudice the
interests of the Company; and

·

Financial liabilities imposed on the office holder for the benefit of a third party.
An Israeli company may not, however, indemnify or insure an office holder against any of the following:

·

a breach of duty of loyalty, except to the extent that the office holder acted in good faith and had a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not prejudice the
Company;

·

a breach of duty of care committed intentionally or recklessly, excluding a breach arising out of the negligent conduct of the office holder;

·

an act or omission committed with intent to derive unlawful personal benefit; or

·

a fine, monetary sanction, penalty or forfeit levied against the office holder.

Under the Israeli Companies Law, indemnification and insurance of office holders must be approved by our compensation committee, our Board of Directors and, in certain
circumstances, by our shareholders. We have obtained directors' and officers' liability insurance for the benefit of our office holders and intend to continue to maintain such
coverage and pay all premiums thereunder to the fullest extent permitted by the Israeli Companies Law. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with each
of our directors and officers providing them with indemnification for liabilities or expenses incurred as a result of acts performed by them in their capacity as our, or our
subsidiaries', directors and officers. This indemnification is limited both in terms of amount and coverage. In the opinion of the SEC, however, indemnification of directors and
office holders for liabilities arising under the Securities Act is against public policy and therefore unenforceable.
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Item 7. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Set forth below are the sales of all securities by the Company since January 1, 2010.
·

In February and August 2010 we issued an aggregate of 397,698 Series B1 preferred shares, convertible into ordinary shares on a one-for-one basis. The price per Series
B1 preferred share was approximately $2.18 and the aggregate consideration received was approximately $867,000.
Additionally, in February 2010 we issued 128,512 Series B2 preferred shares, convertible into ordinary shares on a one-for-one basis. The price per Series B2 preferred
share was approximately $1.75 and the aggregate consideration received was approximately $224,000.
In connection with the issuance of Series B1 preferred shares and Series B2 preferred shares, in February and August 2010 we issued warrants to purchase up to 129,257
Series B3 preferred shares, convertible into ordinary shares on a one-for-one basis, at an exercise price of $2.73 per share. As of the date of this registration statement,
none of the warrants have been exercised.

·

In March 2011 we issued 304,324 ordinary shares, at a price per share of approximately $11.5 and an aggregate consideration of approximately $3.5 million.

·

In July through November 2012 we issued convertible notes for an aggregate principal amount of $600,000. In February 2013 we issued to certain of our existing
shareholders additional convertible notes for an aggregate principal amount of $115,000. According to the terms of the convertible notes, the total amount, bearing an
annual interest rate of 6% shall be automatically converted into ordinary shares as of immediately following the closing of this offering, at a 25% discount from the
initial public offering price.

The issuance of the above-referenced securities was exempt from registration under the Securities Act because it was made outside of the United States to certain nonU.S. individuals or entities pursuant to Regulation S or in reliance upon the exemption from registration provided under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and the regulations
promulgated thereunder
·

We granted options to employees, directors and consultants under our equity incentive plan covering an aggregate of 1,345,909 ordinary shares, with exercise prices
ranging from $0.005 to the initial public offering price per share. As of the date of this registration statement, 292,531 ordinary shares have been issued upon the exercise
of these options; an additional amount of 288,933 options have been forfeited and cancelled without being exercised.

The grant of such options, and the issuance of shares pursuant to exercise thereof, were exempt from registration under the Securities Act because they were made
pursuant to Regulation S thereunder or pursuant to exemptions from registration provided under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Rule 701 and the regulations
promulgated thereunder.
No underwriters were employed in connection with any of the securities issuances set forth in this Item 7.
Item 8. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

1.1*

Form of Underwriting Agreement by and among the Company and the underwriters named therein.

3.1**

Amended and Restated Articles of Association of the Company, as currently in effect.

3.2**

Articles of Association of the Company, to be in effect upon completion of this offering.

4.1**

Form of a Convertible Note.

4.2*

Form of Representative’s Warrant.

5.1 *

Opinion of Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Co., Israeli counsel to the Company, as to the validity of the ordinary shares being offered
(including consent).

10.1**

Consulting Agreement between the Company and Adler Consulting LLC, dated November 2010.

10.2**

Addendum to Services Agreement between the Company and Top-Notch Consulting 2009 Ltd., dated June 1, 2010, and as an exhibit
thereto, Services Agreement between the Company and Top-Notch Finance (2003) Ltd., dated March 1, 2008.

10.3**

Alcobra Ltd. 2010 Incentive Option Plan.

10.4**

Form of Indemnification Agreement.

10.5**

Services Agreement between the Company and Ehud Gilboa, dated March 1, 2008.

10.6**

Addendum I to Services Agreement between the Company and Ehud Gilboa, dated March 14, 2013.

10.7**

Services Agreement between the Company and Dalia Megiddo, dated June 2, 2011.

10.8**

Addendum I to Services Agreement between the Company and Dalia Megiddo, dated March 14, 2013.

10.9*

Employment agreement between the Company and Yaron Daniely, dated March 4, 2010.

10.10** ∞

Letter of Approval from the Office of Chief Scientist.

23.1 *

Consent of Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer (a Member of Ernst & Young Global).

23.2 *

Consent of Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer, & Co. (included in Exhibit 5.1).

24.1**

Power of Attorney (included on the signature page of the Registration Statement).

99.1**

Consent of Daniel E. Geffken (Director Nominee)

99.2**

Consent of Howard B. Rosen (Director Nominee)

* Being filed herewith.
** Previously filed.
∞ English translation of original Hebrew document.
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Financial Statement Schedules:
All financial statement schedules have been omitted because either they are not required, are not applicable or the information required therein is otherwise set forth in the
Company’s financial statements and related notes thereto.
Item 9. Undertakings
(a) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriters at the closing specified in the underwriting agreements, certificates in such denominations
and registered in such names as required by the underwriter to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.
(b) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant
pursuant to the provisions described in Item 6 hereof, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as
expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses
incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or
controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent,
submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final
adjudication of such issue.
(c) The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:
(1) That for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this registration
statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4), or 497(h) under the Securities Act
shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
(2) That for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to
be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering
thereof.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on
Form F-1 and has duly caused this amendment to the registration statement on Form F-1 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Tel Aviv,
Israel on April 25, 2013.
ALCOBRA LTD.
By: /s/ Dr. Yaron Daniely_________
Yaron Daniely
Chief Executive Officer and President
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this amendment to the registration statement on Form F-1 has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Dr. Yaron Daniely
Yaron Daniely

Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer) and Director

April 25, 2013

/s/ Udi Gilboa*
Udi Gilboa

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer) and Director

April 25, 2013

/s/ Dr. Aharon Schwartz*
Dr. Aharon Schwartz

Director, Chairman of the Board of Directors

April 25, 2013

/s/ Dr. Dalia Megiddo*
Dalia Megiddo

Director

April 25, 2013

*

By: /s/ Yaron Daniely
Yaron Daniely, Attorney-in-Fact
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SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE IN THE UNITED STATES
Pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the undersigned, Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Sullivan & Worcester LLP, the duly authorized representative in the United
States of Alcobra Ltd., has signed this registration statement on April 25, 2013.
ZYSMAN, AHARONI, GAYER AND
SULLIVAN & WORCESTER LLP
By:
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/s/ Edwin L. Miller Jr.

Exhibit 1.1
UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT
between
ALCOBRA LTD.
and
AEGIS CAPITAL CORP.,
as Representative of the Several Underwriters

ALCOBRA LTD.
UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT
New York, New York
[•], 2013
Aegis Capital Corp.
As Representative of the several Underwriters named on Schedule 1 attached hereto
810 Seventh Avenue, 18th Floor
New York, New York 10019
Ladies and Gentlemen:
The undersigned, Alcobra Ltd., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel (collectively with its subsidiaries and affiliates, including, without
limitation, all entities disclosed or described in the Registration Statement (as hereinafter defined) as being subsidiaries or affiliates of Alcobra Ltd., the “Company”), hereby
confirms its agreement (this “Agreement”) with Aegis Capital Corp. (hereinafter referred to as “you” (including its correlatives) or the “Representative”) and with the other
underwriters named on Schedule 1 hereto for which the Representative is acting as representative (the Representative and such other underwriters being collectively called the
“Underwriters” or, individually, an “Underwriter”) as follows:
1.

Purchase and Sale of Shares.
1.1

Firm Shares.
1.1.1.

Nature and Purchase of Firm Shares.

(i)
On the basis of the representations and warranties herein contained, but subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth, the Company
agrees to issue and sell to the several Underwriters, an aggregate of [•] shares (“Firm Shares”) of the Company’s ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share (the “Ordinary
Shares”).
(ii)
The Underwriters, severally and not jointly, agree to purchase from the Company the number of Firm Shares set forth opposite their respective
names on Schedule 1 attached hereto and made a part hereof at a purchase price of $[•] per share (93% of the per Firm Share offering price). The Firm Shares are to be offered
initially to the public at the offering price set forth on the cover page of the Prospectus (as defined in Section 2.1.1 hereof).
1.1.2.

Shares Payment and Delivery.

(i)
Delivery and payment for the Firm Shares shall be made at 10:00 a.m., Eastern time, on the third (3rd) Business Day following the effective
date (the “Effective Date”) of the Registration Statement (as defined in Section 2.1.1 below) (or the fourth (4th) Business Day following the Effective Date if the Registration
Statement is declared effective after 4:01 p.m., Eastern time) or at such earlier time as shall be agreed upon by the Representative and the Company, at the offices of Troutman
Sanders LLP, The Chrysler Building, 405 Lexington Avenue, New York, NY 10174 (“Representative Counsel”), or at such other place (or remotely by facsimile or other
electronic transmission) as shall be agreed upon by the Representative and the Company. The hour and date of delivery and payment for the Firm Shares is called the “Closing
Date.”

(ii)
Payment for the Firm Shares shall be made on the Closing Date by wire transfer in Federal (same day) funds, payable to the order of the
Company upon delivery of the certificates (in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriters) representing the Firm Shares (or through the facilities of the Depository Trust
Company (“DTC”)) for the account of the Underwriters. The Firm Shares shall be registered in such name or names and in such authorized denominations as the Representative
may request in writing at least two (2) full Business Days prior to the Closing Date. The Company shall not be obligated to sell or deliver the Firm Shares except upon tender of
payment by the Representative for all of the Firm Shares. The term “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a legal holiday or a day on which banking
institutions are authorized or obligated by law to close in New York, New York.
1.2

Over-allotment Option.

1.2.1.
Option Shares. For the purposes of covering any over-allotments in connection with the distribution and sale of the Firm Shares, the Company
hereby grants to the Underwriters an option to purchase up to [•] additional Ordinary Shares, representing fifteen percent (15%) of the Firm Shares sold in the offering, from the
Company (the “Over-allotment Option”). Such [•] additional Ordinary Shares, the net proceeds of which will be deposited with the Company’s account, are hereinafter referred to
as “Option Shares.” The purchase price to be paid per Option Share shall be equal to the price per Firm Share set forth in Section 1.1.1 hereof. The Firm Shares and the Option
Shares are hereinafter referred to together as the “Public Securities.” The offering and sale of the Public Securities is hereinafter referred to as the “Offering.”
1.2.2.
Exercise of Option. The Over-allotment Option granted pursuant to Section 1.2.1 hereof may be exercised by the Representative as to all (at any
time) or any part (from time to time) of the Option Shares within 45 days after the Effective Date. The Underwriters shall not be under any obligation to purchase any Option
Shares prior to the exercise of the Over-allotment Option. The Over-allotment Option granted hereby may be exercised by the giving of oral notice to the Company from the
Representative, which must be confirmed in writing by overnight mail or facsimile or other electronic transmission setting forth the number of Option Shares to be purchased and
the date and time for delivery of and payment for the Option Shares (the “Option Closing Date”), which shall not be later than five (5) full Business Days after the date of the
notice or such other time as shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Representative, at the offices of Representative Counsel or at such other place (including remotely by
facsimile or other electronic transmission) as shall be agreed upon by the Company and the Representative. If such delivery and payment for the Option Shares does not occur on
the Closing Date, the Option Closing Date will be as set forth in the notice. Upon exercise of the Over-allotment Option with respect to all or any portion of the Option Shares,
subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, (i) the Company shall become obligated to sell to the Underwriters the number of Option Shares specified in such notice and
(ii) each of the Underwriters, acting severally and not jointly, shall purchase that portion of the total number of Option Shares then being purchased as set forth in Schedule 1
opposite the name of such Underwriter.
1.2.3.
Payment and Delivery. Payment for the Option Shares shall be made on the Option Closing Date by wire transfer in Federal (same day) funds,
payable to the order of the Company upon delivery to you of certificates (in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriters) representing the Option Shares (or through the
facilities of DTC) for the account of the Underwriters. The Option Shares shall be registered in such name or names and in such authorized denominations as the Representative
may request in writing at least two (2) full Business Days prior to the Option Closing Date. The Company shall not be obligated to sell or deliver the Option Shares except upon
tender of payment by the Representative for applicable Option Shares. The Option Closing Date may be simultaneous with, but not earlier than, the Closing Date.
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1.3

Representative’s Warrants.

1.3.1.
Purchase Warrants. The Company hereby agrees to issue and sell to the Representative (and/or its designees) on the Closing Date an option
(“Representative’s Warrant”) for the purchase of an aggregate of [•] Ordinary Shares, representing 5% of the Firm Shares (excluding the Option Shares), for an aggregate
purchase price of $100.00. The Representative’s Warrant, a form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Representative’s Warrant Agreement”), shall be exercisable at any
time and from time to time, in whole or in part, during a period commencing one year from the Effective Date (the “First Anniversary”), as follows: (i) one third of the
Representative’s Warrant will have an exercise period of 12 months beginning on the First Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per Ordinary Share of $[•], which is equal to
150.0% of the initial public offering price per share of Ordinary Share; (ii) one third of the Representative’s Warrant will have an exercise period of 18 months beginning on the
First Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per Ordinary Share of $[•], which is equal to 200.0% of the initial public offering price per share of Ordinary Share; and (iii) one
third of the Representative’s Warrant will have an exercise period of 24 months beginning on the First Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per share of Ordinary Share of $[•],
which is equal to 250.0% of the initial public offering price per share of Ordinary Share. The Representative’s Warrant Agreement and the Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise
thereof are hereinafter referred to together as the “Representative’s Securities.” The Representative understands and agrees that there are significant restrictions pursuant to
FINRA Rule 5110 against transferring the Representative’s Warrant Agreement and the underlying Ordinary Shares during the one hundred eighty (180) days after the Effective
Date and by its acceptance thereof shall agree that it will not sell, transfer, assign, pledge or hypothecate the Representative’s Warrant Agreement, or any portion thereof, or be the
subject of any hedging, short sale, derivative, put or call transaction that would result in the effective economic disposition of such securities for a period of one hundred eighty
(180) days following the Effective Date to anyone other than (i) an Underwriter or a selected dealer in connection with the Offering, or (ii) a bona fide officer or partner of the
Representative or of any such Underwriter or selected dealer; and only if any such transferee agrees to the foregoing lock-up restrictions.
1.3.2.
Delivery. Delivery of the Representative’s Warrant Agreement shall be made on the Closing Date and shall be issued in the name or names and in
such authorized denominations as the Representative may request.
2.
Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to the Underwriters as of the Applicable Time (as defined below), as of the
Closing Date and as of the Option Closing Date, if any, as follows:
2.1

Filing of Registration Statement.

2.1.1.
Pursuant to the Securities Act. The Company has filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) a registration
statement, and an amendment or amendments thereto, on Form F-1 (File No. 333-186003), including any related prospectus or prospectuses, for the registration of the Public
Securities and the Representative’s Securities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), which registration statement and amendment or amendments
have been prepared by the Company in all material respects in conformity with the requirements of the Securities Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission under the
Securities Act (the “Securities Act Regulations”) and will contain all material statements that are required to be stated therein in accordance with the Securities Act and the
Securities Act Regulations. Except as the context may otherwise require, such registration statement, as amended, on file with the Commission at the time the registration
statement became effective (including the Preliminary Prospectus included in the registration statement, financial statements, schedules, exhibits and all other documents filed as
a part thereof or incorporated therein and all information deemed to be a part thereof as of the Effective Date pursuant to paragraph (b) of Rule 430A of the Securities Act
Regulations (the “Rule 430A Information”)), is referred to herein as the “Registration Statement.” If the Company files any registration statement pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the
Securities Act Regulations, then after such filing, the term “Registration Statement” shall include such registration statement filed pursuant to Rule 462(b). The Registration
Statement has been declared effective by the Commission on the date hereof.
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Each prospectus used prior to the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, and each prospectus that omitted the Rule 430A Information that was used after such
effectiveness and prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, is herein called a “Preliminary Prospectus.” The Preliminary Prospectus, subject to completion, dated [•],
2013, that was included in the Registration Statement immediately prior to the Applicable Time is hereinafter called the “Pricing Prospectus.” The final prospectus in the form
first furnished to the Underwriters for use in the Offering is hereinafter called the “Prospectus.” Any reference to the “most recent Preliminary Prospectus” shall be deemed to
refer to the latest Preliminary Prospectus included in the Registration Statement.
“Applicable Time” means [TIME] [a.m./p.m.], Eastern time, on the date of this Agreement.
“Issuer Free Writing Prospectus” means any “issuer free writing prospectus,” as defined in Rule 433 of the Securities Act Regulations (“Rule 433”), including without
limitation any “free writing prospectus” (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act Regulations) relating to the Public Securities that is (i) required to be filed with the
Commission by the Company, (ii) a “road show that is a written communication” within the meaning of Rule 433(d)(8)(i), whether or not required to be filed with the
Commission, or (iii) exempt from filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 433(d)(5)(i) because it contains a description of the Public Securities or of the Offering that does
not reflect the final terms, in each case in the form filed or required to be filed with the Commission or, if not required to be filed, in the form retained in the Company’s records
pursuant to Rule 433(g).
“Issuer General Use Free Writing Prospectus” means any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus that is intended for general distribution to prospective investors (other than a
“bona fide electronic road show,” as defined in Rule 433 (the “Bona Fide Electronic Road Show”)), as evidenced by its being specified in Schedule 2-B hereto.
“Issuer Limited Use Free Writing Prospectus” means any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus that is not an Issuer General Use Free Writing Prospectus.
“Pricing Disclosure Package” means any Issuer General Use Free Writing Prospectus issued at or prior to the Applicable Time, the Pricing Prospectus and the
information included on Schedule 2-A hereto, all considered together.
2.1.2.
Pursuant to the Exchange Act. The Company has filed with the Commission a Form 8-A (File Number 000-[•]) providing for the registration
pursuant to Section 12(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), of the Ordinary Shares. The registration of Ordinary Shares under the
Exchange Act has been declared effective by the Commission on or prior to the date hereof. The Company has taken no action designed to, or likely to have the effect of,
terminating the registration of the Ordinary Shares under the Exchange Act, nor has the Company received any notification that the Commission is contemplating terminating
such registration.
2.2
Stock Exchange Listing. The Public Securities and the Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise of the Representative’s Warrant have been approved for listing
on The Nasdaq Capital Market (the “Exchange”), and the Company has taken no action designed to, or likely to have the effect of, delisting the Public Securities and the Ordinary
Share issuable upon exercise of the Representative’s Warrant, nor has the Company received any notification that the Exchange is contemplating terminating such listing.
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2.3
No Stop Orders, etc. Neither the Commission nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any state regulatory authority has issued any order preventing or suspending
the use of the Registration Statement, any Preliminary Prospectus or the Prospectus or has instituted or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened to institute, any proceedings
with respect to such an order. The Company has complied with each request (if any) from the Commission for additional information.
2.4

Disclosures in Registration Statement.
2.4.1.

Compliance with Securities Act and 10b-5 Representation.

(i)
Each of the Registration Statement and any post-effective amendment thereto, at the time it became effective, complied in all material respects
with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations. Each Preliminary Prospectus, including the prospectus filed as part of the Registration Statement
as originally filed or as part of any amendment or supplement thereto, and the Prospectus, at the time each was filed with the Commission, complied in all material respects with
the requirements of the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations. Each Preliminary Prospectus delivered to the Underwriters for use in connection with this Offering and
the Prospectus was or will be identical to the electronically transmitted copies thereof filed with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR, except to the extent permitted by
Regulation S-T.
(ii)
Neither the Registration Statement nor any amendment thereto, at its effective time, as of the Applicable Time, at the Closing Date or at any
Option Closing Date (if any), contained, contains or will contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted, omits or will omit to state a material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
(iii)
The Pricing Disclosure Package, as of the Applicable Time, at the Closing Date or at any Option Closing Date (if any), did not, does not and
will not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading; and each Issuer Limited Use Free Writing Prospectus hereto does not conflict with the information contained in the Registration
Statement, any Preliminary Prospectus, the Pricing Prospectus or the Prospectus, and each such Issuer Limited Use Free Writing Prospectus, as supplemented by and taken
together with the Pricing Prospectus as of the Applicable Time, did not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; provided, however, that this representation and warranty shall not apply to
statements made or statements omitted in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company with respect to the Underwriters by the
Representative expressly for use in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Prospectus or the Prospectus or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto. The parties
acknowledge and agree that such information provided by or on behalf of any Underwriter consists solely of the following disclosure contained in the “Underwriting” section of
the Prospectus: (a) the third full paragraph and (b) the first sentence and the four bullets points under the subcaption “Stabilization” (the “Underwriters’ Information”); and
(iv)
Neither the Prospectus nor any amendment or supplement thereto (including any prospectus wrapper), as of its issue date, at the time of any
filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b), at the Closing Date or at any Option Closing Date, included, includes or will include an untrue statement of a material fact or
omitted, omits or will omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; provided, however, that this representation and warranty shall not apply to the Underwriters’ Information.
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2.4.2.
Disclosure of Agreements. The agreements and documents described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the
Prospectus conform in all material respects to the descriptions thereof contained therein and there are no agreements or other documents required by the Securities Act and the
Securities Act Regulations to be described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus or to be filed with the Commission as exhibits to the
Registration Statement, that have not been so described or filed. Each agreement or other instrument (however characterized or described) to which the Company is a party or by
which it is or may be bound or affected and (i) that is referred to in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, or (ii) is material to the
Company’s business, has been duly authorized and validly executed by the Company, is in full force and effect in all material respects and is enforceable against the Company
and, to the Company’s knowledge, the other parties thereto, in accordance with its terms, except (x) as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, (y) as enforceability of any indemnification or contribution provision may be limited under the federal and
state securities laws, and (z) that the remedy of specific performance and injunctive and other forms of equitable relief may be subject to the equitable defenses and to the
discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought. None of such agreements or instruments has been assigned by the Company, and neither the
Company nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any other party is in default thereunder and, to the Company’s knowledge, no event has occurred that, with the lapse of time or the
giving of notice, or both, would constitute a default thereunder, except for any such default that would not have or reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse change in
the financial position or results of operations of the Company, nor any change or development that, singularly or in the aggregate, would involve a material adverse change, in or
affecting the condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations, business or assets of the Company (a “Material Adverse Change”). To the best of the Company’s knowledge,
performance by the Company of the material provisions of such agreements or instruments will not result in a violation of any existing applicable law, rule, regulation, judgment,
order or decree of any governmental agency or court, domestic or foreign, having jurisdiction over the Company or any of its assets or businesses (each, a “Governmental
Entity”), including, without limitation, those relating to environmental laws and regulations except for any such violation that would not have or reasonably be expected to result
in a Material Adverse Change.
2.4.3.
Prior Securities Transactions. During the last three years, no securities of the Company have been sold by the Company or by or on behalf of, or for
the benefit of, any person or persons controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Company, except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Pricing
Disclosure Package and the Preliminary Prospectus.
2.4.4.
Regulations. The disclosures in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus concerning the effects of federal,
state, local and all foreign regulation on the Offering and the Company’s business as currently contemplated are correct in all material respects and no other such regulations are
required to be disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus which are not so disclosed.
2.5

Changes After Dates in Registration Statement.

2.5.1.
No Material Adverse Change. Since the respective dates as of which information is given in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure
Package and the Prospectus, except as otherwise specifically stated therein: (i) there has been no Material Adverse Change; (ii) there have been no material transactions entered
into by the Company, other than as contemplated pursuant to this Agreement; and (iii) no officer or director of the Company has resigned from any position with the Company.
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2.5.2.
Recent Securities Transactions, etc. Subsequent to the respective dates as of which information is given in the Registration Statement, the Pricing
Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, and except as may otherwise be indicated or contemplated herein or disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure
Package and the Prospectus, the Company has not: (i) issued any securities or incurred any liability or obligation, direct or contingent, for borrowed money; or (ii) declared or
paid any dividend or made any other distribution on or in respect to its capital stock.
2.6
Independent Accountants. To the knowledge of the Company, Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer (a Member of Ernst & Young Global) (the “Auditor”), whose
report is filed with the Commission as part of the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, is an independent registered public accounting firm
as required by the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. The Auditor has not, during the periods covered by the
financial statements included in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, provided to the Company any non-audit services, as such term is
used in Section 10A(g) of the Exchange Act.
2.7
Financial Statements, etc. The financial statements, including the notes thereto and supporting schedules included in the Registration Statement, the Pricing
Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, fairly present the financial position and the results of operations of the Company at the dates and for the periods to which they apply; and
such financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), consistently applied throughout the periods involved
(provided that unaudited interim financial statements are subject to year-end audit adjustments that are not expected to be material in the aggregate and do not contain all
footnotes required by GAAP); and the supporting schedules included in the Registration Statement present fairly the information required to be stated therein. Except as included
therein, no historical or pro forma financial statements are required to be included in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus under the
Securities Act or the Securities Act Regulations. The pro forma and pro forma as adjusted financial information and the related notes, if any, included in the Registration
Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus have been properly compiled and prepared in accordance with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and
the Securities Act Regulations and present fairly the information shown therein, and the assumptions used in the preparation thereof are reasonable and the adjustments used
therein are appropriate to give effect to the transactions and circumstances referred to therein. All disclosures contained in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure
Package or the Prospectus regarding “non-GAAP financial measures” (as such term is defined by the rules and regulations of the Commission), if any, comply with Regulation G
of the Exchange Act and Item 10 of Regulation S-K of the Securities Act, to the extent applicable. Each of the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the
Prospectus discloses all material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the Company with
unconsolidated entities or other persons that may have a material current or future effect on the Company’s financial condition, changes in financial condition, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, capital resources, or significant components of revenues or expenses. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Pricing
Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, (a) neither the Company nor any of its direct and indirect subsidiaries, including each entity disclosed or described in the Registration
Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus as being a subsidiary of the Company (each, a “Subsidiary” and, collectively, the “Subsidiaries”), has incurred any
material liabilities or obligations, direct or contingent, or entered into any material transactions other than in the ordinary course of business, (b) the Company has not declared or
paid any dividends or made any distribution of any kind with respect to its capital stock, (c) there has not been any change in the capital stock of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, or, other than in the ordinary course of business and consistent with the Company's prior policies, made any grants under any stock compensation plan, and (d) there
has not been any material adverse change in the Company’s long-term or short-term debt.
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2.8
Authorized Capital; Options, etc. The Company had, at the date or dates indicated in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the
Prospectus, the duly authorized, issued and outstanding capitalization as set forth therein. Based on the assumptions stated in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure
Package and the Prospectus, the Company will have on the Closing Date the adjusted stock capitalization set forth therein. Except as set forth in, or contemplated by, the
Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, on the Effective Date, as of the Applicable Time and on the Closing Date and any Option Closing
Date, there will be no stock options, warrants, or other rights to purchase or otherwise acquire any authorized, but unissued Ordinary Shares of the Company or any security
convertible or exercisable into Ordinary Shares of the Company, or any contracts or commitments to issue or sell Ordinary Shares or any such options, warrants, rights or
convertible securities.
2.9

Valid Issuance of Securities, etc.

2.9.1.
Outstanding Securities. All issued and outstanding securities of the Company issued prior to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have
been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable; the holders thereof have no rights of rescission or the ability to force the Company to repurchase
such securities with respect thereto, and are not subject to personal liability by reason of being such holders; and none of such securities were issued in violation of the preemptive
rights of any holders of any security of the Company or similar contractual rights granted by the Company. The authorized Ordinary Shares conform in all material respects to all
statements relating thereto contained in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus. The offers and sales of the outstanding Ordinary Shares
were at all relevant times either registered under the Securities Act and the applicable state securities or “blue sky” laws or, based in part on the representations and warranties of
the purchasers of such Shares, exempt from such registration requirements.
2.9.2.
Securities Sold Pursuant to this Agreement. The Public Securities and Representative’s Securities have been duly authorized for issuance and sale
and, when issued and paid for, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable; the holders thereof are not and will not be subject to personal liability by reason of being such
holders; the Public Securities and Representative’s Securities are not and will not be subject to the preemptive rights of any holders of any security of the Company or similar
contractual rights granted by the Company; and all corporate action required to be taken for the authorization, issuance and sale of the Public Securities and Representative’s
Securities has been duly and validly taken. The Public Securities and Representative’s Securities conform in all material respects to all statements with respect thereto contained
in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus. All corporate action required to be taken for the authorization, issuance and sale of the
Representative’s Warrant Agreement has been duly and validly taken; the Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise of the Representative’s Warrant have been duly authorized and
reserved for issuance by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company and when paid for and issued in accordance with the Representative’s Warrant and the
Representative’s Warrant Agreement, such Ordinary Shares will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable; the holders thereof are not and will not be subject to personal
liability by reason of being such holders; and such Ordinary Shares are not and will not be subject to the preemptive rights of any holders of any security of the Company or
similar contractual rights granted by the Company.
2.10
Registration Rights of Third Parties. Except as set forth in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, no holders of any
securities of the Company or any rights exercisable for or convertible or exchangeable into securities of the Company have the right to require the Company to register any such
securities of the Company under the Securities Act or to include any such securities in a registration statement to be filed by the Company.
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2.11
Validity and Binding Effect of Agreements. This Agreement and the Representative’s Warrant Agreement have been duly and validly authorized by the
Company, and, when executed and delivered, will constitute, the valid and binding agreements of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with their
respective terms, except: (i) as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally; (ii) as
enforceability of any indemnification or contribution provision may be limited under the federal and state securities laws; and (iii) that the remedy of specific performance and
injunctive and other forms of equitable relief may be subject to the equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought.
2.12
No Conflicts, etc. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement, the Representative’s Warrant Agreement and all ancillary
documents, the consummation by the Company of the transactions herein and therein contemplated and the compliance by the Company with the terms hereof and thereof do not
and will not, with or without the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both: (i) result in a material breach of, or conflict with any of the terms and provisions of, or constitute a
material default under, or result in the creation, modification, termination or imposition of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any property or assets of the Company pursuant
to the terms of any agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party; (ii) result in any violation of the provisions of the Company’s Amended and Restated Articles of
Association of the Company (as the same may be amended or restated from time to time, the “Charter”); or (iii) violate any existing applicable law, rule, regulation, judgment,
order or decree of any Governmental Entity as of the date hereof (including, without limitation, those promulgated by the Food and Drug Administration of the U.S. Department
of Health and Human Services (the “FDA”) or by any foreign, federal, state or local regulatory authority performing functions similar to those performed by the FDA), except, in
the case of clause (iii), for any such violation that would not have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change.
2.13
No Defaults; Violations. No material default exists in the due performance and observance of any term, covenant or condition of any material license, contract,
indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, note, loan or credit agreement, or any other agreement or instrument evidencing an obligation for borrowed money, or any other material
agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party or by which the Company may be bound or to which any of the properties or assets of the Company is subject. The
Company is not in violation of any term or provision of its Charter, or in violation of any franchise, license, permit, applicable law, rule, regulation, judgment or decree of any
Governmental Entity.
2.14

Corporate Power; Licenses; Consents.

2.14.1.
Conduct of Business. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, the Company has all
requisite corporate power and authority, and has all necessary authorizations, approvals, orders, licenses, certificates and permits of and from all governmental regulatory officials
and bodies that it needs as of the date hereof to conduct its business purpose as described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, except
where the failure to have any such authorization, approval, order, license, certificate or permit would not have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change.
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2.14.2.
Transactions Contemplated Herein. The Company has all corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out the
provisions and conditions hereof, and all consents, authorizations, approvals and orders required in connection therewith have been obtained. No consent, authorization or order
of, and no filing with, any court, government agency or other body is required for the valid issuance, sale and delivery of the Public Securities and the consummation of the
transactions and agreements contemplated by this Agreement and the Representative’s Warrant Agreement and as contemplated by the Registration Statement, the Pricing
Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, except with respect to applicable federal and state securities laws and the rules and regulations of the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”).
2.15
D&O Questionnaires. To the Company’s knowledge, all information contained in the questionnaires (the “Questionnaires”) completed by each of the
Company’s directors and officers immediately prior to the Offering (the “Insiders”) as supplemented by all information concerning the Company’s directors, officers and
principal shareholders as described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, as well as in the Lock-Up Agreement (as defined in Section
2.25 below), provided to the Underwriters, is true and correct in all material respects and the Company has not become aware of any information which would cause the
information disclosed in the Questionnaires to become materially inaccurate and incorrect.
2.16
Litigation; Governmental Proceedings. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, arbitration, investigation, litigation or governmental proceeding pending
or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened against, or involving the Company or, to the Company’s knowledge, any executive officer or director which has not been disclosed in
the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, except for any such action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, arbitration, investigation, litigation or
governmental proceeding that would not have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change, or in connection with the Company’s listing application for the
listing of the Public Securities on the Exchange.
2.17
Good Standing. The Company has been duly organized and is validly existing as a corporation and is in good standing under the laws of the State of Israel as
of the date hereof, and is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each other jurisdiction in which its ownership or lease of property or the conduct of business
requires such qualification, except where the failure to qualify, singularly or in the aggregate, would not have or reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change.
2.18
Insurance. The Company carries or is entitled to the benefits of insurance, with reputable insurers, in such amounts and covering such risks which the
Company believes are adequate, and all such insurance is in full force and effect. The Company has no reason to believe that it will not be able (i) to renew its existing insurance
coverage as and when such policies expire or (ii) to obtain comparable coverage from similar institutions as may be necessary or appropriate to conduct its business as now
conducted and at a cost that would not result in a Material Adverse Change.
2.19

Transactions Affecting Disclosure to FINRA.

2.19.1.
Finder’s Fees. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, there are no claims,
payments, arrangements, agreements or understandings relating to the payment of a finder’s, consulting or origination fee by the Company or any Insider with respect to the sale
of the Public Securities hereunder or any other arrangements, agreements or understandings of the Company or, to the Company’s knowledge, any of its shareholders that may
affect the Underwriters’ compensation, as determined by FINRA.
2.19.2.
Payments Within Twelve (12) Months. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, the
Company has not made any direct or indirect payments (in cash, securities or otherwise) to: (i) any person, as a finder’s fee, consulting fee or otherwise, in consideration of such
person raising capital for the Company or introducing to the Company persons who raised or provided capital to the Company; (ii) any FINRA member; or (iii) any person or
entity that has any direct or indirect affiliation or association with any FINRA member, within the twelve (12) months prior to the Effective Date, other than the payment to the
Underwriters as provided hereunder in connection with the Offering.
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2.19.3.
Use of Proceeds. None of the net proceeds of the Offering will be paid by the Company to any participating FINRA member or its affiliates, except
as specifically authorized herein.
2.19.4.
FINRA Affiliation. There is no (i) officer or director of the Company, (ii) beneficial owner of 5% or more of any class of the Company's securities
or (iii) beneficial owner of the Company's unregistered equity securities which were acquired during the 180-day period immediately preceding the filing of the Registration
Statement that is an affiliate or associated person of a FINRA member participating in the Offering (as determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of FINRA).
2.19.5.
Information. All information provided by the Company in its FINRA questionnaire to Representative Counsel specifically for use by
Representative Counsel in connection with its Public Offering System filings (and related disclosure) with FINRA is true, correct and complete in all material respects.
2.20
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. None of the Company and its Subsidiaries or, to the Company’s knowledge, any director, officer, agent, employee or affiliate of
the Company and its Subsidiaries or any other person acting on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries, has, directly or indirectly, given or agreed to give any money, gift or
similar benefit (other than legal price concessions to customers in the ordinary course of business) to any customer, supplier, employee or agent of a customer or supplier, or
official or employee of any governmental agency or instrumentality of any government (domestic or foreign) or any political party or candidate for office (domestic or foreign) or
other person who was, is, or may be in a position to help or hinder the business of the Company (or assist it in connection with any actual or proposed transaction) that (i) might
subject the Company to any damage or penalty in any civil, criminal or governmental litigation or proceeding, (ii) if not given in the past, might have had a Material Adverse
Change or (iii) if not continued in the future, might adversely affect the assets, business, operations or prospects of the Company. The Company has taken reasonable steps to
ensure that its accounting controls and procedures are sufficient to cause the Company to comply in all material respects with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as
amended or Title 5 of the Israeli Penalty Law (Bribery Transactions).
2.21
Compliance with OFAC. None of the Company and its Subsidiaries or, to the Company’s knowledge, any director, officer, agent, employee or affiliate of the
Company and its Subsidiaries or any other person acting on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries, is currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by the Office of
Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”), and the Company will not, directly or indirectly, use the proceeds of the Offering hereunder, or lend,
contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any subsidiary, joint venture partner or other person or entity, for the purpose of financing the activities of any person
currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by OFAC.
2.22
Money Laundering Laws. The operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with applicable financial
recordkeeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, the Israeli Prohibition on Money Laundering Law, 2000,
the money laundering statutes of all jurisdictions, the rules and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, administered or enforced
by any Governmental Entity (collectively, the “Money Laundering Laws”); and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any Governmental Entity involving the Company with
respect to the Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the best knowledge of the Company, threatened.
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2.23
Regulatory. All preclinical and clinical studies conducted by or on behalf of the Company that are material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a
whole, are or have been adequately described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus in all material respects. The clinical and
preclinical studies conducted by or on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries that are described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the
Prospectus or the results of which are referred to in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus were and, if still ongoing, are being conducted
in material compliance with all laws and regulations applicable thereto in the jurisdictions in which they are being conducted and with all laws and regulations applicable to
preclinical and clinical studies from which data will be submitted to support marketing approval. The descriptions in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package
and the Prospectus of the results of such studies are accurate and complete in all material respects and fairly present the data derived from such studies, and the Company has no
knowledge of, or reason to believe that, any large well-controlled clinical study the aggregate results of which are inconsistent with or otherwise call into question the results of
any clinical study conducted by or on behalf of the Company that are described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus or the results of
which are referred to in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure
Package and the Prospectus, the Company has not received any written notices or statements from the FDA, the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”) or any other
governmental agency or authority imposing, requiring, requesting or suggesting a clinical hold, termination, suspension or material modification for or of any clinical or
preclinical studies that are described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus or the results of which are referred to in the Registration
Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, the
Company has not received any written notices or statements from the FDA, the EMA or any other governmental agency, and otherwise has no knowledge of, or reason to believe
that, (i) any investigational new drug application for potential product of the Company is or has been rejected or determined to be non-approvable or conditionally approvable;
and (ii) any license, approval, permit or authorization to conduct any clinical trial of any potential product of the Company has been, will be or may be suspended, revoked,
modified or limited.
2.24
Officers’ Certificate. Any certificate signed by any duly authorized officer of the Company and delivered to you or to Representative Counsel shall be deemed
a representation and warranty by the Company to the Underwriters as to the matters covered thereby.
2.25
Lock-Up Agreements. Schedule 3 hereto contains a complete and accurate list of the Company’s officers, directors and each owner of at least 5% of the
Company’s outstanding Ordinary Shares (or securities convertible or exercisable into Ordinary Shares), as well as certain other holders of Ordinary Shares heretofore agreed upon
between you and the Company (collectively, the “Lock-Up Parties”). The Company has caused each of the Lock-Up Parties to deliver to the Representative an executed Lock-Up
Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Lock-Up Agreement”), prior to the execution of this Agreement.
2.26
Subsidiaries. All direct and indirect Subsidiaries of the Company are duly organized and in good standing under the laws of the place of organization or
incorporation, and each Subsidiary is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which its ownership or lease of property or the conduct of business requires such qualification,
except where the failure to qualify would not have a Material Adverse Change. The Company’s ownership and control of each Subsidiary is as described in the Registration
Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.
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2.27
Related Party Transactions. There are no business relationships or related party transactions involving the Company or any other person required to be
described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus that have not been described as required.
2.28
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors of the Company is comprised of the persons set forth under the heading of the Pricing Prospectus and the
Prospectus captioned “Management.” The qualifications of the persons serving as board members and the overall composition of the board comply with the Exchange Act and
under the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated of the Commission promulgated thereunder (the "Exchange Act Regulations"), the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and the rules promulgated thereunder (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) applicable to the Company and the listing rules of the Exchange or as otherwise as agreed between the
Company and the Exchange.
2.29

Sarbanes-Oxley Compliance.

2.29.1.
Disclosure Controls. The Company has developed and currently maintains disclosure controls and procedures that will comply with Rule 13a-15
or 15d-15 under the Exchange Act Regulations, and such controls and procedures are effective to ensure that all material information concerning the Company will be made
known on a timely basis to the individuals responsible for the preparation of the Company’s Exchange Act filings and other public disclosure documents.
2.29.2.
Compliance. The Company is, or at the Applicable Time and on the Closing Date will be, in material compliance with the provisions of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act applicable to it, and has implemented or will implement such programs and taken reasonable steps to ensure the Company’s future compliance (not later than
the relevant statutory and regulatory deadlines therefor) with all of the material provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
2.30
Accounting Controls. The Company and its Subsidiaries maintain systems of “internal control over financial reporting” (as defined under Rules 13a-15 and
15d-15 under the Exchange Act Regulations) that comply with the requirements of the Exchange Act and have been designed by, or under the supervision of, their respective
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP, including, but not limited to, internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable
assurance that (i) transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorizations; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in conformity with GAAP and to maintain asset accountability; (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorization; and (iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any
differences. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, the Company is not aware of any material weaknesses in its
internal controls. The Company’s auditors and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company have been advised of: (i) all significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are known to the Company’s management and that have adversely affected or are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’ ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (ii) any fraud known to the Company’s
management, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.
2.31
No Investment Company Status. The Company is not and, after giving effect to the Offering and the application of the proceeds thereof as described in the
Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, will not be, required to register as an “investment company,” as defined in the Investment Company
Act of 1940, as amended.
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2.32
No Labor Disputes. No labor related litigation, and no labor dispute with the employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries exists or, to the knowledge
of the Company, is imminent. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with the labor and employment laws and collective bargaining
agreements and extension orders applicable to their employees in the State of Israel.
2.33
Intellectual Property Rights. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries owns or possesses or has valid rights to use all patents, patent applications, trademarks,
service marks, trade names, trademark registrations, service mark registrations, copyrights, licenses, inventions, trade secrets and similar rights (“Intellectual Property Rights”)
necessary for the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently carried on and as described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure
Package and the Prospectus. To the knowledge of the Company, no action or use by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries necessary for the conduct of its business as currently
carried on and as described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus will involve or give rise to any infringement of, or license or similar fees for, any Intellectual
Property Rights of others. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any notice alleging any such infringement, fee or conflict with asserted Intellectual
Property Rights of others. Except as would not reasonably be expected to result, individually or in the aggregate, in a Material Adverse Change (A) to the knowledge of the
Company, there is no infringement, misappropriation or violation by third parties of any of the Intellectual Property Rights owned by the Company; (B) there is no pending or, to
the knowledge of the Company, threatened action, suit, proceeding or claim by others challenging the rights of the Company in or to any such Intellectual Property Rights, and
the Company is unaware of any facts which would form a reasonable basis for any such claim, that would, individually or in the aggregate, together with any other claims in this
Section 2.33, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change; (C) the Intellectual Property Rights owned by the Company and, to the knowledge of the Company,
the Intellectual Property Rights licensed to the Company have not been adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and there is no
pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened action, suit, proceeding or claim by others challenging the validity or scope of any such Intellectual Property Rights, and the
Company is unaware of any facts which would form a reasonable basis for any such claim that would, individually or in the aggregate, together with any other claims in this
Section 2.33, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change; (D) there is no pending or, to the Company’s knowledge, threatened action, suit, proceeding or claim
by others that the Company infringes, misappropriates or otherwise violates any Intellectual Property Rights or other proprietary rights of others, the Company has not received
any written notice of such claim and the Company is unaware of any other facts which would form a reasonable basis for any such claim that would, individually or in the
aggregate, together with any other claims in this Section 2.33, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change; and (E) to the Company’s knowledge, no employee
of the Company is in or has ever been in violation in any material respect of any term of any employment contract, patent disclosure agreement, invention assignment agreement,
non-competition agreement, non-solicitation agreement, nondisclosure agreement or any restrictive covenant to or with a former employer where the basis of such violation
relates to such employee’s employment with the Company, or actions undertaken by the employee while employed with the Company and could reasonably be expected to result,
individually or in the aggregate, in a Material Adverse Change. To the Company’s knowledge, all material technical information developed by and belonging to the Company
which has not been patented has been kept confidential. The Company is not a party to or bound by any options, licenses or agreements with respect to the Intellectual Property
Rights of any other person or entity that are required to be set forth in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus and are not described
therein. The Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus contain in all material respects the same description of the matters set forth in the
preceding sentence. None of the technology employed by the Company has been obtained or is being used by the Company in violation of any contractual obligation binding on
the Company or, to the Company’s knowledge, any of its officers, directors or employees, or otherwise in violation of the rights of any persons. Company has not received claims
for royalties or other compensation from individuals, including employees of the Company, who made inventive contributions to Company’s technology or products, and
Company will have no obligation to pay royalties or other compensation to such individuals on account of such inventive contributions.
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2.34
Taxes. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has filed all returns (as hereinafter defined) required to be filed with taxing authorities prior to the date hereof
or has duly obtained extensions of time for the filing thereof. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has paid all taxes (as hereinafter defined) shown as due on such returns
that were filed and has paid all taxes imposed on or assessed against the Company or such respective Subsidiary. The provisions for taxes payable, if any, shown on the financial
statements filed with or as part of the Registration Statement are sufficient for all accrued and unpaid taxes, whether or not disputed, and for all periods to and including the dates
of such consolidated financial statements. Except as disclosed in writing to the Underwriters, (i) no issues have been raised (and are currently pending) by any taxing authority in
connection with any of the returns or taxes asserted as due from the Company or its Subsidiaries, and (ii) no waivers of statutes of limitation with respect to the returns or
collection of taxes have been given by or requested from the Company or its Subsidiaries. The term “taxes” mean all federal, state, local, foreign and other net income, gross
income, gross receipts, sales, use, ad valorem, transfer, franchise, profits, license, lease, service, service use, withholding, payroll, employment, national insurance, value added,
excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, property, windfall profits, customs, duties or other taxes, fees, assessments or charges of any kind whatever, together with any
interest and any penalties, inflation linkages, additions to tax or additional amounts with respect thereto. The term “returns” means all returns, declarations, reports, statements
and other documents required to be filed in respect to taxes.
2.35
PFIC Status. Based on the nature of the Company’s business, the projected composition of its income and the projected composition and estimated fair market
values of the Company’s assets, the Company does not expect to be a passive foreign investment company within the meaning of Section 1297 of the United States Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or the regulations promulgated thereunder in 2013, 2014 or a subsequent year.
2.36
Compliance with Environmental Laws. Except as described in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus and except as
would not, singly or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change, (i) the Company is not in violation of any material federal, state, local or
foreign statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, policy or rule of common law or any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including any judicial or
administrative order, consent, decree or judgment, relating to pollution or protection of human health, the environment (including, without limitation, ambient air, surface water,
groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata) or wildlife, including, without limitation, laws and regulations relating to the release or threatened release of chemicals, pollutants,
contaminants, wastes, toxic substances, hazardous substances, petroleum or petroleum products (collectively, “Hazardous Materials”) or to the manufacture, processing,
distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of Hazardous Materials (collectively, “Environmental Laws”), (ii) the Company has all material permits,
authorizations and approvals required under any applicable Environmental Laws and is in compliance with their requirements, (iii) there are no pending or, to the Company’s
knowledge, threatened administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, suits, demands, demand letters, claims, liens, notices of noncompliance or violation, investigation or
proceedings relating to any Environmental Law against the Company and (iv) to the Company’s knowledge, there are no events or circumstances that might reasonably be
expected to form the basis of an order for clean-up or remediation, or an action, suit or proceeding by any private party or governmental body or agency, against or affecting the
Company relating to Hazardous Materials or any Environmental Laws.
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2.37

ERISA Compliance. The Company has no employees in the United States and is not subject to Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

2.38
Compliance with Laws. The Company: (A) is and at all times has been in compliance with all statutes, rules, or regulations applicable to the ownership,
testing, development, manufacture, packaging, processing, use, distribution, marketing, labeling, promotion, sale, offer for sale, storage, import, export or disposal of any product
manufactured or distributed by the Company (“Applicable Laws”), except as could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Change; (B) has not received any FDA Form 483, notice of adverse finding, warning letter, untitled letter or other correspondence or notice from the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration or any other governmental authority alleging or asserting noncompliance with any Applicable Laws or any licenses, certificates, approvals, clearances,
authorizations, permits and supplements or amendments thereto required by any such Applicable Laws (“Authorizations”); (C) possesses all material Authorizations and such
Authorizations are valid and in full force and effect and are not in material violation of any term of any such Authorizations; (D) has not received notice of any claim, action, suit,
proceeding, hearing, enforcement, investigation, arbitration or other action from any governmental authority or third party alleging that any product operation or activity is in
violation of any Applicable Laws or Authorizations and has no knowledge that any such governmental authority or third party is considering any such claim, litigation,
arbitration, action, suit, investigation or proceeding; (E) has not received notice that any governmental authority has taken, is taking or intends to take action to limit, suspend,
modify or revoke any Authorizations and has no knowledge that any such governmental authority is considering such action; (F) has filed, obtained, maintained or submitted all
material reports, documents, forms, notices, applications, records, claims, submissions and supplements or amendments as required by any Applicable Laws or Authorizations
and that all such reports, documents, forms, notices, applications, records, claims, submissions and supplements or amendments were complete and correct on the date filed (or
were corrected or supplemented by a subsequent submission); and (G) has not, either voluntarily or involuntarily, initiated, conducted, or issued or caused to be initiated,
conducted or issued, any recall, market withdrawal or replacement, safety alert, post-sale warning, “dear doctor” letter, or other notice or action relating to the alleged lack of
safety or efficacy of any product or any alleged product defect or violation and, to the Company’s knowledge, no third party has initiated, conducted or intends to initiate any such
notice or action.
2.39
Ineligible Issuer. At the time of filing the Registration Statement and any post-effective amendment thereto, at the time of effectiveness of the Registration
Statement and any amendment thereto, at the earliest time thereafter that the Company or another offering participant made a bona fide offer (within the meaning of Rule 164(h)
(2) of the Securities Act Regulations) of the Public Securities and at the date hereof, the Company was not and is not an “ineligible issuer,” as defined in Rule 405, without taking
account of any determination by the Commission pursuant to Rule 405 that it is not necessary that the Company be considered an ineligible issuer.
2.40

Foreign Private Issuer. The Company is a “foreign private issuer” within the meaning of Rule 405 under the Securities Act.

2.41
Forward-Looking Statements. No forward-looking statement (within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act)
contained in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus has been made or reaffirmed without a reasonable basis or has been disclosed other than
in good faith.
2.42
Industry Data. The statistical and market-related data included in each of the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus are
based on or derived from sources that the Company reasonably and in good faith believes are reliable and accurate or represent the Company’s good faith estimates that are made
on the basis of data derived from such sources.
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2.43
Company”).

Emerging Growth Company. The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act (an “Emerging Growth

2.44
Testing-the-Waters Communications. The Company has not engaged in any Testing-the-Waters Communications. “Testing-the-Waters Communication” means
any oral or written communication with potential investors undertaken in reliance on Section 5(d) of the Securities Act.
2.45
Electronic Road Show. The Company has made available a Bona Fide Electronic Road Show in compliance with Rule 433(d)(8)(ii) of the Securities Act
Regulations such that no filing of any “road show” (as defined in Rule 433(h) of the Securities Act Regulations) is required in connection with the Offering.
2.46
Margin Securities. The Company owns no “margin securities” as that term is defined in Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
(the “Federal Reserve Board”), and none of the proceeds of Offering will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin security, for the
purpose of reducing or retiring any indebtedness which was originally incurred to purchase or carry any margin security or for any other purpose which might cause any of the
Ordinary Shares to be considered a “purpose credit” within the meanings of Regulation T, U or X of the Federal Reserve Board.
2.47

Israeli Law Matters.

2.47.1.
The Company has validly appointed Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Sullivan & Worcester LLP, 1633 Broadway, New York, NY 10019, as its
authorized agent for service of process.
2.47.2.
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries organized under the laws of the State of Israel nor any of their properties or assets has any
immunity from the jurisdiction of any court or from any legal process (whether through service or notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution or
otherwise) under the laws of the State of Israel.
2.47.3.
No consent, approval, authorization or order of, or filing, qualification or registration with, any Israeli court or governmental agency or body,
which has not been made, obtained or taken and is not in full force and effect, is required for the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Representative’s
Warrant by the Company, the offer or sale of the Pubic Securities and the Representative Warrants or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, other
than (A) the obligation to file certain information following the Closing and the Option Closing with the Israeli Investment Center and the Chief Scientist and (B) the filing of
certain notices with the Registrar of Companies in the State of Israel regarding the issuance of shares.
2.47.4.
Assuming none of the Underwriters maintains a permanent establishment in the State of Israel, or is either not subject to taxation in Israel or are
exempt from such taxation pursuant to the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance, 1961, or pursuant to the U.S. Israel Income Tax Treaty, then the issuance, delivery and sale of the Public
Shares and the Representative Warrant are not subject to any tax imposed by the State of Israel or any political subdivision thereof.
2.47.5.
The Company has not engaged in any form of solicitation, advertising or any other action constituting an offer of securities under the Israeli
Securities Law 5728-1968, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively, the “Israeli Securities Law”) in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby which would require the Company to publish a prospectus in the State of Israel under the laws of the State of Israel.
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2.47.6.
No stamp duty or similar tax or duty is payable under applicable laws or regulations in connection with the creation, issuance or delivery of the
Public Shares or the Representative Warrant.
2.47.7.
Subject to the conditions and qualifications set forth in the Registration Statement, the General Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, a final and
conclusive judgment against the Company for a definitive sum of money entered by any court in the United States may be enforced by an Israeli court.
2.47.8.
For a period of 12 months prior to and including the date of the Closing, the Company has not offered or sold any of its securities in Israel, except
for the issuance of the Ordinary Shares and options to purchase Ordinary Shares exercisable under the Company’s equity incentive plans, which are exempt from prospectus
requirements under the Israeli Securities Law or otherwise as described in the Registration Statement.
2.47.9.
Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any condition or requirement stipulated (A) by any instruments of approval,
granted to it by the Office of the Chief Scientist in the Israeli Ministry of Industry, Trade and Labor (the “Chief Scientist”), or the Law for Encouragement of Industrial Research
and Development, 5744-1984 (the “R&D Law”), with respect to any research and development grants or benefits given to the Company by the Chief Scientist or (B) with respect
to any instrument of approval granted to it by the Investment Center of the Ministry of Industry, Trade and Labor of the State of Israel with respect to grants or benefits given to
the Company. The Company has not received any notice denying, revoking or modifying any “approved enterprise” or “benefited enterprise” or “privilged enterprise” status with
respect to any of the Company’s facilities or operations or with respect to any grants or benefits from the Chief Scientist or the Investment Center (including, in all such cases,
notice of proceedings or investigations related thereto). All information supplied by the Company with respect to the applications or notifications relating to such “approved
enterprise” status, “privileged enterprise status” and “benefitted enterprise” status and to grants and benefits from the Chief Scientist and/or the Investment Center was true,
correct and complete in all material respects when supplied to the appropriate authorities.
2.47.10.

No proceedings have been instituted in the State of Israel for the dissolution of the Company.

2.47.11.
The Company acknowledges, understands and agrees that Public Securities may be sold in Israel only by the Underwriters and only to such Israeli
investors listed in the First Addendum to the Israeli Securities Law (the “Addendum”).
3.

Covenants of the Company. The Company covenants and agrees as follows:

3.1
Amendments to Registration Statement. The Company shall deliver to the Representative, prior to filing, any amendment or supplement to the Registration
Statement or Prospectus proposed to be filed after the Effective Date and not file any such amendment or supplement to which the Representative shall reasonably object in
writing.
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3.2

Federal Securities Laws.

3.2.1.
Compliance. The Company, subject to Section 3.2.2, shall comply with the requirements of Rule 430A of the Securities Act Regulations, and will
notify the Representative promptly, and confirm the notice in writing, (i) when any post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement shall become effective or any
amendment or supplement to the Prospectus shall have been filed; (ii) of the receipt of any comments from the Commission; (iii) of any request by the Commission for any
amendment to the Registration Statement or any amendment or supplement to the Prospectus or for additional information; (iv) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop
order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment or of any order preventing or suspending the use of any Preliminary Prospectus
or the Prospectus, or of the suspension of the qualification of the Public Securities and Representative’s Securities for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the initiation or
threatening of any proceedings for any of such purposes or of any examination pursuant to Section 8(d) or 8(e) of the Securities Act concerning the Registration Statement and
(v) if the Company becomes the subject of a proceeding under Section 8A of the Securities Act in connection with the Offering of the Public Securities and Representative’s
Securities. The Company shall effect all filings required under Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act Regulations, in the manner and within the time period required by Rule 424(b)
(without reliance on Rule 424(b)(8)), and shall take such steps as it deems necessary to ascertain promptly whether the form of prospectus transmitted for filing under Rule 424(b)
was received for filing by the Commission and, in the event that it was not, it will promptly file such prospectus. The Company shall use its best efforts to prevent the issuance of
any stop order, prevention or suspension and, if any such order is issued, to obtain the lifting thereof at the earliest possible moment.
3.2.2.
Continued Compliance. The Company shall comply with the Securities Act, the Securities Act Regulations, the Exchange Act and the Exchange Act
Regulations so as to permit the completion of the distribution of the Public Securities as contemplated in this Agreement and in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure
Package and the Prospectus. If at any time when a prospectus relating to the Public Securities is (or, but for the exception afforded by Rule 172 of the Securities Act Regulations
(“Rule 172”), would be) required by the Securities Act to be delivered in connection with sales of the Public Securities, any event shall occur or condition shall exist as a result of
which it is necessary, in the opinion of Representative Counsel or for the Company, to (i) amend the Registration Statement in order that the Registration Statement will not
include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; (ii) amend or
supplement the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus in order that the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus, as the case may be, will not include any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances existing at the time it
is delivered to a purchaser or (iii) amend the Registration Statement or amend or supplement the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus, as the case may be, in order to
comply with the requirements of the Securities Act or the Securities Act Regulations, the Company will promptly (A) give the Representative notice of such event; (B) prepare
any amendment or supplement as may be necessary to correct such statement or omission or to make the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus
comply with such requirements and, a reasonable amount of time prior to any proposed filing or use, furnish the Representative with copies of any such amendment or
supplement and (C) file with the Commission any such amendment or supplement; provided that the Company shall not file or use any such amendment or supplement to which
the Representative or Representative Counsel shall reasonably object. The Company will furnish to the Underwriters such number of copies of such amendment or supplement as
the Underwriters may reasonably request. The Company has given the Representative notice of any filings made pursuant to the Exchange Act or the Exchange Act Regulations
within 48 hours prior to the Applicable Time. The Company shall give the Representative notice of its intention to make any such filing from the Applicable Time until the later
of the Closing Date and the exercise in full or expiration of the Over-allotment Option specified in Section 1.2 hereof and will furnish the Representative with copies of the
related document(s) a reasonable amount of time prior to such proposed filing, as the case may be, and will not file or use any such document to which the Representative or
Representative Counsel shall reasonably object.
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3.2.3.
Exchange Act Registration. For a period of three (3) years after the date of this Agreement, the Company shall use its best efforts to maintain the
registration of the Ordinary Shares under the Exchange Act. The Company shall not deregister the Ordinary Shares under the Exchange Act without the prior written consent of
the Representative.
3.2.4.
Free Writing Prospectuses. The Company agrees that, unless it obtains the prior written consent of the Representative, it shall not make any offer
relating to the Public Securities that would constitute an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or that would otherwise constitute a “free writing prospectus,” or a portion thereof,
required to be filed by the Company with the Commission or retained by the Company under Rule 433; provided that the Representative shall be deemed to have consented to
each Issuer General Use Free Writing Prospectus hereto and any “road show that is a written communication” within the meaning of Rule 433(d)(8)(i) that has been reviewed by
the Representative. The Company represents that it has treated or agrees that it will treat each such free writing prospectus consented to, or deemed consented to, by the
Underwriters as an “issuer free writing prospectus,” as defined in Rule 433, and that it has complied and will comply with the applicable requirements of Rule 433 with respect
thereto, including timely filing with the Commission where required, legending and record keeping. If at any time following issuance of an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus there
occurred or occurs an event or development as a result of which such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus conflicted or would conflict with the information contained in the
Registration Statement or included or would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted or would omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances existing at that subsequent time, not misleading, the Company will promptly notify the Underwriters and will promptly amend
or supplement, at its own expense, such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus to eliminate or correct such conflict, untrue statement or omission.
3.2.5.
Testing-the-Waters Communications. If at any time following the distribution of any Written Testing-the-Waters Communication there occurred or
occurs an event or development as a result of which such Written Testing-the-Waters Communication included or would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted
or would omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances existing at that subsequent time, not misleading, the
Company shall promptly notify the Representative and shall promptly amend or supplement, at its own expense, such Written Testing-the-Waters Communication to eliminate or
correct such untrue statement or omission.
3.3
Delivery to the Underwriters of Registration Statements. The Company has delivered or made available or shall deliver or make available to the Representative
and Representative Counsel, without charge, signed copies of the Registration Statement as originally filed and each amendment thereto (including exhibits filed therewith) and
signed copies of all consents and certificates of experts, and will also deliver to the Underwriters, without charge, a conformed copy of the Registration Statement as originally
filed and each amendment thereto (without exhibits) for each of the Underwriters. The copies of the Registration Statement and each amendment thereto furnished to the
Underwriters will be identical to the electronically transmitted copies thereof filed with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR, except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
3.4
Delivery to the Underwriters of Prospectuses. The Company has delivered or made available or will deliver or make available to each Underwriter, without
charge, as many copies of each Preliminary Prospectus as such Underwriter reasonably requested, and the Company hereby consents to the use of such copies for purposes
permitted by the Securities Act. The Company will furnish to each Underwriter, without charge, during the period when a prospectus relating to the Public Securities is (or, but
for the exception afforded by Rule 172, would be) required to be delivered under the Securities Act, such number of copies of the Prospectus (as amended or supplemented) as
such Underwriter may reasonably request. The Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto furnished to the Underwriters will be identical to the electronically
transmitted copies thereof filed with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR, except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.
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3.5
Effectiveness and Events Requiring Notice to the Representative. The Company shall use its best efforts to cause the Registration Statement to remain
effective with a current prospectus for at least nine (9) months after the Applicable Time, and shall notify the Representative immediately and confirm the notice in writing: (i) of
the effectiveness of the Registration Statement and any amendment thereto; (ii) of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order or of the initiation, or the threatening, of any
proceeding for that purpose; (iii) of the issuance by any state securities commission of any proceedings for the suspension of the qualification of the Public Securities for offering
or sale in any jurisdiction or of the initiation, or the threatening, of any proceeding for that purpose; (iv) of the mailing and delivery to the Commission for filing of any
amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or Prospectus; (v) of the receipt of any comments or request for any additional information from the Commission; and
(vi) of the happening of any event during the period described in this Section 3.5 that, in the judgment of the Company, makes any statement of a material fact made in the
Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus untrue or that requires the making of any changes in (a) the Registration Statement in order to make the
statements therein not misleading, or (b) in the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading. If the Commission or any state securities commission shall enter a stop order or suspend such qualification at any time, the Company shall make
every reasonable effort to obtain promptly the lifting of such order.
3.6

[Reserved]

3.7
Listing. The Company shall use its best efforts to maintain the listing of the Ordinary Shares (including the Public Securities) on the Exchange for at least three
years from the date of this Agreement.
3.8
Financial Public Relations Firm. As of the Effective Date, the Company shall have retained a financial public relations firm reasonably acceptable to the
Representative and the Company, which shall initially be [__________________], which firm shall be experienced in assisting issuers in initial public offerings of securities and
in their relations with their security holders, and shall retain such firm or another firm reasonably acceptable to the Representative for a period of not less than two (2) years after
the Effective Date.
3.9

Reports to the Representative.

3.9.1.
Periodic Reports. For a period of three (3) years after the date of this Agreement, the Company shall furnish to the Representative copies of such
financial statements and other periodic and special reports as the Company from time to time furnishes generally to holders of any class of its securities and also promptly furnish
to the Representative: (i) a copy of each periodic report the Company shall be required to file with the Commission under the Exchange Act and the Exchange Act Regulations;
(ii) a copy of every press release and every news item and article with respect to the Company or its affairs which was released by the Company; (iii) a copy of each Form 6-K
prepared and filed by the Company; (iv) five copies of each registration statement filed by the Company under the Securities Act; and (v) such additional documents and
information with respect to the Company and the affairs of any future subsidiaries of the Company as the Representative may from time to time reasonably request; provided the
Representative shall sign, if requested by the Company, a Regulation FD compliant confidentiality agreement which is reasonably acceptable to the Representative and
Representative Counsel in connection with the Representative’s receipt of such information. Documents filed with the Commission pursuant to its EDGAR system shall be
deemed to have been delivered to the Representative pursuant to this Section 3.9.1.
- 21 -

3.9.2.
Transfer Agent; Transfer Sheets. For a period of three (3) years after the date of this Agreement, the Company shall retain a transfer agent and
registrar acceptable to the Representative (the “Transfer Agent”) and shall furnish to the Representative at the Company’s sole cost and expense such transfer sheets of the
Company’s securities as the Representative may reasonably request, including the daily and monthly consolidated transfer sheets of the Transfer Agent and DTC.
[______________] is acceptable to the Representative to act as Transfer Agent for the Ordinary Shares.
3.9.3.
Trading Reports. During such time as the Public Securities are listed on the Exchange, the Company shall provide to the Representative, at the
Company’s expense, such reports published by Exchange relating to price trading of the Public Securities, as the Representative shall reasonably request.
3.10

Payment of Expenses

3.10.1.
General Expenses Related to the Offering. The Company hereby agrees to pay on each of the Closing Date and the Option Closing Date, if any, to
the extent not paid at the Closing Date, all expenses incident to the performance of the obligations of the Company under this Agreement, including, but not limited to: (a) all
filing fees and communication expenses relating to the registration of the Ordinary Shares to be sold in the Offering (including the Over-allotment Shares) with the Commission;
(b) all Public Filing System filing fees and up to $10,000 for expenses of the Representative's counsel associated with the review of the Offering by FINRA; (c) all fees and
expenses relating to the listing of such Public Securities on the Exchange and such other stock exchanges as the Company and the Representative together determine; (d) all fees,
expenses and disbursements relating to background checks of the Company’s officers and directors in an amount not to exceed $15,000 in the aggregate; (e) all fees, expenses and
disbursements relating to the registration or qualification of the Public Securities under the “blue sky” securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions as the Representative
may reasonably designate (including, without limitation, all fees and expenses of "blue sky counsel which shall not exceed $15,000); (f) all fees, expenses and disbursements
relating to the registration, qualification or exemption of the Public Securities under the securities laws of such foreign jurisdictions as the Representative may reasonably
designate; (g) the costs of all mailing and printing of the underwriting documents (including, without limitation, the Underwriting Agreement, any Blue Sky Surveys and, if
appropriate, any Agreement Among Underwriters, Selected Dealers’ Agreement, Underwriters’ Questionnaire and Power of Attorney), Registration Statements, Prospectuses and
all amendments, supplements and exhibits thereto and as many preliminary and final Prospectuses as the Representative may reasonably deem necessary; (h) the costs and
expenses of a public relations firm; (i) the costs of preparing, printing and delivering certificates representing the Public Securities; (j) fees and expenses of the transfer agent for
the Ordinary Shares; (k) stock transfer and/or stamp taxes, if any, payable upon the transfer of securities from the Company to the Underwriters; (l) the costs associated with postClosing advertising the Offering in the national editions of the Wall Street Journal and New York Times up to $1,000; (m) the costs associated with bound volumes of the public
offering materials as well as commemorative mementos and lucite tombstones, each of which the Company or its designee shall provide within a reasonable time after the
Closing Date in such quantities as the Representative may reasonably request; (n) the fees and expenses of the Company’s accountants; (o) the fees and expenses of the
Company’s legal counsel and other agents and representatives; (p) the $21,775 cost associated with the Underwriter’s use of Ipreo’s book-building, prospectus tracking and
compliance software for the Offering; and (q) up to $20,000 of the Underwriter’s actual accountable “road show” expenses for the Offering. The Representative may deduct from
the net proceeds of the Offering payable to the Company on the Closing Date, or the Option Closing Date, if any, the expenses set forth herein to be paid by the Company to the
Underwriters or Representative Counsel.
3.10.2.
Non-accountable Expenses. The Company further agrees that, in addition to the expenses payable pursuant to Section 3.10.1, on the Closing Date
it shall pay to the Representative, by deduction from the net proceeds of the Offering contemplated herein, a non-accountable expense allowance equal to one percent (1%) of the
gross proceeds received by the Company from the sale of the Firm Shares (excluding the Option Shares).
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3.11
Application of Net Proceeds. The Company shall apply the net proceeds from the Offering received by it in a manner consistent with the application thereof
described under the caption “Use of Proceeds” in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus.
3.12
Delivery of Earnings Statements to Security Holders. The Company shall make generally available to its security holders as soon as practicable, but not later
than the first day of the fifteenth (15th) full calendar month following the date of this Agreement, an earnings statement (which need not be certified by independent registered
public accounting firm unless required by the Securities Act or the Securities Act Regulations, but which shall satisfy the provisions of Rule 158(a) under Section 11(a) of the
Securities Act) covering a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months beginning after the date of this Agreement.
3.13
Stabilization. Neither the Company nor, to its knowledge, any of its employees, directors or shareholders (without the consent of the Representative) has taken
or shall take, directly or indirectly, any action designed to or that has constituted or that might reasonably be expected to cause or result in, under Regulation M of the Exchange
Act, or otherwise, stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of the Public Securities.
3.14
Internal Controls. The Company shall maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that: (i) transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization; (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary in order to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with GAAP and to maintain accountability for assets; (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization; and
(iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences.
3.15
Accountants. The Company shall continue to retain a nationally recognized independent registered public accounting firm for a period of at least three (3)
years after the date of this Agreement. The Representative acknowledges that the Auditor is acceptable to the Representative
3.16
FINRA. The Company shall advise the Representative (who shall make an appropriate filing with FINRA) if it is or becomes aware that (i) any officer or
director of the Company, (ii) any beneficial owner of 5% or more of any class of the Company's securities or (iii) any beneficial owner of the Company's unregistered equity
securities which were acquired during the 180 days immediately preceding the filing of the Registration Statement is or becomes an affiliate or associated person of a FINRA
member participating in the Offering (as determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of FINRA).
3.17
No Fiduciary Duties. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Underwriters’ responsibility to the Company is solely contractual in nature and that
none of the Underwriters or their affiliates or any selling agent shall be deemed to be acting in a fiduciary capacity, or otherwise owes any fiduciary duty to the Company or any
of its affiliates in connection with the Offering and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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3.18

Company Lock-Up Agreements.

3.18.1.
Restriction on Sales of Capital Stock. The Company, on behalf of itself and any successor entity, agrees that, without the prior written consent of
the Representative, it will not, for a period of 180 days after the date of this Agreement (the “Lock-Up Period”), (i) with the exception of strategic transactions, acquisitions or
equity plans, offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend,
or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of capital stock of the Company or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for shares of
capital stock of the Company; (ii) file or cause to be filed any registration statement with the Commission relating to the offering of any shares of capital stock of the Company or
any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of the Company except for a registration statement on Form S-8 to register shares
issuable pursuant to the Company's equity incentive plans; or (iii) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic
consequences of ownership of capital stock of the Company, whether any such transaction described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above is to be settled by delivery of shares of capital
stock of the Company or such other securities, in cash or otherwise.
The restrictions contained in this Section 3.18.1 shall not apply to (i) the Ordinary Shares to be sold hereunder, or (ii) the issuance by the Company of Ordinary
Shares upon the exercise of a stock option or warrant or the conversion of a security outstanding on the date hereof, of which the Representative has been advised in writing.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) during the last 17 days of the Lock-Up Period, the Company issues an earnings release or material news or a material event
relating to the Company occurs, or (ii) prior to the expiration of the Lock-Up Period, the Company announces that it will release earnings results or becomes aware that material
news or a material event will occur during the 16-day period beginning on the last day of the Lock-Up Period, the restrictions imposed by this Section 3.18.1 shall continue to
apply until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the issuance of the earnings release or the occurrence of such material news or material event, as applicable, unless
the Representative waives, in writing, such extension; provided, however, that this extension of the Lock-Up Period shall not apply to the extent that FINRA has amended or
repealed NASD Rule 2711(f)(4), or has otherwise provided written interpretive guidance regarding such rule, in each case, so as to eliminate the prohibition of any broker, dealer,
or member of a national securities association from publishing or distributing any research report, with respect to the securities of an Emerging Growth Company prior to or after
the expiration of any agreement between the broker, dealer, or member of a national securities association and the Emerging Growth Company or its shareholders that restricts or
prohibits the sale of securities held by the Emerging Growth Company or its shareholders after the initial public offering date.
3.18.2.

Reserved.

3.19
Release of D&O Lock-up Period. If the Representative, in its sole discretion, agrees to release or waive the restrictions set forth in the Lock-Up Agreements
described in Section 2.25 hereof for an officer or director of the Company and provide the Company with notice of the impending release or waiver at least three (3) Business
Days before the effective date of the release or waiver, the Company agrees to announce the impending release or waiver by a press release substantially in the form of Exhibit C
hereto through a major news service at least two (2) Business Days before the effective date of the release or waiver.
3.20
Blue Sky Qualifications. The Company shall use its best efforts, in cooperation with the Underwriters, if necessary, to qualify the Public Securities for offering
and sale under the applicable securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions (domestic or foreign) as the Representative may designate and to maintain such qualifications in
effect so long as required to complete the distribution of the Public Securities; provided, however, that the Company shall not be obligated to file any general consent to service of
process or to qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction in which it is not so qualified or to subject itself to taxation in respect of doing business
in any jurisdiction in which it is not otherwise so subject.
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3.21
Reporting Requirements. The Company, during the period when a prospectus relating to the Public Securities is (or, but for the exception afforded by Rule
172, would be) required to be delivered under the Securities Act, will file all documents required to be filed with the Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act within the time
periods required by the Exchange Act and Exchange Act Regulations. Additionally, the Company shall report the use of proceeds from the issuance of the Public Securities as
may be required under Rule 463 under the Securities Act Regulations.
3.22
Emerging Growth Company Status. The Company shall promptly notify the Representative if the Company ceases to be an Emerging Growth Company at any
time prior to the later of (i) completion of the distribution of the Public Securities within the meaning of the Securities Act and (ii) fifteen (15) days following the completion of
the Lock-Up Period.
4.
Conditions of Underwriters’ Obligations. The obligations of the Underwriters to purchase and pay for the Public Securities, as provided herein, shall be subject to (i) the
continuing accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Company as of the date hereof and as of each of the Closing Date and the Option Closing Date, if any; (ii) the
accuracy of the statements of officers of the Company made pursuant to the provisions hereof; (iii) the performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder; and (iv) the
following conditions:
4.1

Regulatory Matters.

4.1.1.
Effectiveness of Registration Statement; Rule 430A Information. The Registration Statement has become effective not later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern
time, on the date of this Agreement or such later date and time as shall be consented to in writing by you, and, at each of the Closing Date and any Option Closing Date, no stop
order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any post-effective amendment thereto has been issued under the Securities Act, no order preventing or
suspending the use of any Preliminary Prospectus or the Prospectus has been issued and no proceedings for any of those purposes have been instituted or are pending or, to the
Company’s knowledge, contemplated by the Commission. The Company has complied with each request (if any) from the Commission for additional information. The
Prospectus containing the Rule 430A Information shall have been filed with the Commission in the manner and within the time frame required by Rule 424(b) (without reliance
on Rule 424(b)(8)) or a post-effective amendment providing such information shall have been filed with, and declared effective by, the Commission in accordance with the
requirements of Rule 430A.
4.1.2.
FINRA Clearance. On or before the date of this Agreement, the Representative shall have received clearance from FINRA as to the amount of
compensation allowable or payable to the Underwriters as described in the Registration Statement.
4.1.3.
Exchange Stock Market Clearance. On the Closing Date, the Company’s Ordinary Shares, including the Firm Shares, shall have been approved for
listing on the Exchange, subject only to official notice of issuance. On the first Option Closing Date (if any), the Company’s Ordinary Shares, including the Option Shares, shall
have been approved for listing on the Exchange, subject only to official notice of issuance.
4.2

Company Counsel Matters.

4.2.1.
Closing Date Opinion of U.S. Counsel to the Company. On the Closing Date, the Representative shall have received the favorable opinion of
Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Sullivan & Worcester LLP, U.S. counsel to the Company, and a written statement providing certain “10b-5” negative assurances, dated the Closing
Date and addressed to the Representative, in form and substance satisfactory to Representative Counsel.
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4.2.2.
Closing Date Opinion of Israeli Counsel to the Company. On the Closing Date, the Representative shall have received the favorable opinion of
Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Co., Israeli counsel to the Company, and a written statement providing certain “10b-5” negative assurances, dated the Closing Date and addressed to
the Representative, in form and substance satisfactory to Representative Counsel.
4.2.3.
Opinion of Special Intellectual Property Counsel for the Company. On the Closing Date, the Representative shall have received the opinion of
Mintz Levin Cohn Ferris Glovsky & Popeo PC, special intellectual property counsel for the Company, dated the Closing Date, addressed to the Representative in form and
substance satisfactory to Representative Counsel.
4.2.4.
Option Closing Date Opinions of Counsel. On the Option Closing Date, if any, the Representative shall have received the favorable opinions of each
counsel listed in Sections 4.2.1, 4.2.2 and 4.2.3, dated the Option Closing Date, addressed to the Representative and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Representative, confirming as of the Option Closing Date, the statements made by such counsels in their respective opinions delivered on the Closing Date.
4.2.5.
Reliance. In rendering such opinions, such counsel may rely: (i) as to matters involving the application of laws other than the laws of the United
States and jurisdictions in which they are admitted, to the extent such counsel deems proper and to the extent specified in such opinion, if at all, upon an opinion or opinions (in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Representative) of other counsel reasonably acceptable to the Representative, familiar with the applicable laws; and (ii) as to
matters of fact, to the extent they deem proper, on certificates or other written statements of officers of the Company and officers of departments of various jurisdictions having
custody of documents respecting the corporate existence or good standing of the Company, provided that copies of any such statements or certificates shall be delivered to
Representative Counsel if requested.
4.3

Comfort Letters.

4.3.1.
Cold Comfort Letter. At the time this Agreement is executed you shall have received a cold comfort letter containing statements and information of
the type customarily included in accountants’ comfort letters with respect to the financial statements and certain financial information contained in the Registration Statement, the
Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus, addressed to the Representative and in form and substance satisfactory in all respects to you and to the Auditor, dated as of the
date of this Agreement.
4.3.2.
Bring-down Comfort Letter. At each of the Closing Date and the Option Closing Date, if any, the Representative shall have received from the
Auditor a letter, dated as of the Closing Date or the Option Closing Date, as applicable, to the effect that the Auditor reaffirms the statements made in the letter furnished pursuant
to Section 4.3.1, except that the specified date referred to shall be a date not more than three (3) business days prior to the Closing Date or the Option Closing Date, as applicable.
- 26 -

4.4

Officers’ Certificates.

4.4.1.
Officers’ Certificate. The Company shall have furnished to the Representative a certificate, dated the Closing Date and any Option Closing Date (if
such date is other than the Closing Date), of its Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer stating that (i) such officers have carefully examined the Registration
Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and the Prospectus and, in their opinion, the Registration Statement and each amendment thereto,
as of the Applicable Time and as of the Closing Date (or any Option Closing Date if such date is other than the Closing Date) did not include any untrue statement of a material
fact and did not omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and the Pricing Disclosure Package, as of the
Applicable Time and as of the Closing Date (or any Option Closing Date if such date is other than the Closing Date), any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as of its date and as of
the Closing Date (or any Option Closing Date if such date is other than the Closing Date), the Prospectus and each amendment or supplement thereto, as of the respective date
thereof and as of the Closing Date, did not include any untrue statement of a material fact and did not omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
therein, in the light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading, (ii) since the effective date of the Registration Statement, no event has occurred which should
have been set forth in a supplement or amendment to the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus, (iii) to the best of their knowledge after
reasonable investigation, as of the Closing Date (or any Option Closing Date if such date is other than the Closing Date), the representations and warranties of the Company in
this Agreement are true and correct and the Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied hereunder at or prior to
the Closing Date (or any Option Closing Date if such date is other than the Closing Date), and (iv) there has not been, subsequent to the date of the most recent audited financial
statements included or incorporated by reference in the Pricing Disclosure Package, any Material Adverse Change , except as set forth in the Prospectus.
4.4.2.
Chief Financial Officer’s Certificate. At each of the Closing Date and the Option Closing Date, if any, the Representative shall have received a
certificate of the Company signed by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, dated the Closing Date or the Option Date, as the case may be, respectively, certifying: (i) that
the Charter is true and complete, has not been modified and is in full force and effect; (ii) that the resolutions of the Company’s Board of Directors relating to the Offering are in
full force and effect and have not been modified; (iii) as to the accuracy and completeness of all correspondence between the Company or its counsel and the Commission; and
(iv) as to the incumbency of the officers of the Company. The documents referred to in such certificate shall be attached to such certificate.
4.5
No Material Changes. Prior to and on each of the Closing Date and each Option Closing Date, if any: (i) there shall have been no material adverse change or
development involving a prospective material adverse change in the condition or prospects or the business activities, financial or otherwise, of the Company from the latest dates
as of which such condition is set forth in the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus; (ii) no action, suit or proceeding, at law or in equity, shall
have been pending or threatened against the Company or any Insider before or by any court or federal or state commission, board or other administrative agency wherein an
unfavorable decision, ruling or finding which could reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Change, except as set forth in the Registration Statement, the Pricing
Disclosure Package and the Prospectus; (iii) no stop order shall have been issued under the Securities Act and no proceedings therefor shall have been initiated or threatened by
the Commission; and (iv) the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package and the Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto shall contain all material
statements which are required to be stated therein in accordance with the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations and shall conform in all material respects to the
requirements of the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations, and neither the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package nor the Prospectus nor any
amendment or supplement thereto shall contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
4.6

Delivery of Agreements.

4.6.1.
Lock-Up Agreements. On or before the date of this Agreement, the Company shall have delivered to the Representative executed copies of the
Lock-Up Agreements from each of the persons listed in Schedule 3 hereto.
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4.6.2.
Representative’s Warrant Agreement. On the Closing Date, the Company shall have delivered to the Representative executed copies of the
Representative’s Warrant Agreement.
4.7
Additional Documents. At the Closing Date and at each Option Closing Date (if any) Representative and Representative Counsel shall have been furnished
with such documents and certificates as they may reasonably require, or in order to evidence the accuracy of any of the representations or warranties, or the fulfillment of any of
the conditions, herein contained; and all proceedings taken by the Company in connection with the issuance and sale of the Public Securities and the Representative’s Securities
as herein contemplated shall be satisfactory in form and substance to the Representative and Representative Counsel.
5.

Indemnification.
5.1

Indemnification of the Underwriters.

5.1.1.
General. Subject to the conditions set forth below, the Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless each Underwriter, its affiliates and each of
its and their respective directors, officers, members, employees, representatives and agents and each person, if any, who controls any such Underwriter within the meaning of
Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act (collectively the “Underwriter Indemnified Parties,” and each an “Underwriter Indemnified Party”), against
any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever (including but not limited to any and all legal or other expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing
or defending against any litigation, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever, whether arising out of any action between any of the Underwriter Indemnified Parties and
the Company or between any of the Underwriter Indemnified Parties and any third party, or otherwise) to which they or any of them may become subject under the Securities
Act, the Exchange Act or any other statute or at common law or otherwise or under the laws of foreign countries, arising out of or based upon any untrue statement or alleged
untrue statement of a material fact contained in (i) the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package, the Preliminary Prospectus, the Prospectus or in any Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus (as from time to time each may be amended and supplemented); (ii) any materials or information provided to investors by, or with the approval of, the
Company in connection with the marketing of the Offering, including any “road show” or investor presentations made to investors by the Company (whether in person or
electronically); or (iii) any application or other document or written communication (in this Section 5, collectively called “application”) executed by the Company or based upon
written information furnished by the Company in any jurisdiction in order to qualify the Public Securities and Representative’s Securities under the securities laws thereof or filed
with the Commission, any state securities commission or agency, the Exchange or any other national securities exchange; or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, unless such
statement or omission was made in reliance upon, and in conformity with, the Underwriters’ Information. With respect to any untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue
statement or omission made in the Pricing Disclosure Package, the indemnity agreement contained in this Section 5.1.1 shall not inure to the benefit of any Underwriter
Indemnified Party to the extent that any loss, liability, claim, damage or expense of such Underwriter Indemnified Party results from the fact that a copy of the Prospectus was not
given or sent to the person asserting any such loss, liability, claim or damage at or prior to the written confirmation of sale of the Public Securities to such person as required by
the Securities Act and the Securities Act Regulations, and if the untrue statement or omission has been corrected in the Prospectus, unless such failure to deliver the Prospectus
was a result of non-compliance by the Company with its obligations under Section 3.3 hereof.
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5.1.2.
Procedure. If any action is brought against an Underwriter Indemnified Party in respect of which indemnity may be sought against the Company
pursuant to Section 5.1.1, such Underwriter Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the Company in writing of the institution of such action and the Company shall assume the
defense of such action, including the employment and fees of counsel (as identified by such Underwriter Indemnified Party) and payment of actual expenses. Such Underwriter
Indemnified Party shall have the right to employ its or their own counsel in any such case, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such Underwriter
Indemnified Party unless (i) the employment of such counsel at the expense of the Company shall have been authorized in writing by the Company in connection with the defense
of such action, or (ii) the Company shall not have employed counsel to have charge of the defense of such action, or (iii) such indemnified party or parties shall have reasonably
concluded that there may be defenses available to it or them which are different from or additional to those available to the Company (in which case the Company shall not have
the right to direct the defense of such action on behalf of the indemnified party or parties), in any of which events the reasonable fees and expenses of not more than one
additional firm of attorneys selected by the Underwriter Indemnified Party (in addition to local counsel) shall be borne by the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, if any Underwriter Indemnified Party shall assume the defense of such action as provided above, the Company shall have the right to approve the terms of any
settlement of such action, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
5.2
Indemnification of the Company. Each Underwriter, severally and not jointly, agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its directors, its officers
who signed the Registration Statement and persons who control the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act against
any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense described in the foregoing indemnity from the Company to the several Underwriters, as incurred, but only with respect to
untrue statements or omissions, or alleged untrue statements or omissions made in the Registration Statement, any Preliminary Prospectus, the Pricing Disclosure Package or
Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto or in any application, in reliance upon, and in strict conformity with, the Underwriters’ Information. In case any action shall
be brought against the Company or any other person so indemnified based on any Preliminary Prospectus, the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package or
Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto or any application, and in respect of which indemnity may be sought against any Underwriter, such Underwriter shall have
the rights and duties given to the Company, and the Company and each other person so indemnified shall have the rights and duties given to the several Underwriters by the
provisions of Section 5.1.2. The Company agrees promptly to notify the Representative of the commencement of any litigation or proceedings against the Company or any of its
officers, directors or any person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, in connection with
the issuance and sale of the Public Securities or in connection with the Registration Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus.
5.3

Contribution.

5.3.1.
Contribution Rights. If the indemnification provided for in this Section 5 shall for any reason be unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless an
indemnified party under Section 5.1 or 5.2 in respect of any loss, claim, damage or liability, or any action in respect thereof, referred to therein, then each indemnifying party
shall, in lieu of indemnifying such indemnified party, contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result of such loss, claim, damage or liability, or
action in respect thereof, (i) in such proportion as shall be appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company, on the one hand, and the Underwriters, on the
other, from the Offering of the Public Securities, or (ii) if the allocation provided by clause (i) above is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as is appropriate to
reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in clause (i) above but also the relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and the Underwriters, on the other, with respect to
the statements or omissions that resulted in such loss, claim, damage or liability, or action in respect thereof, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative
benefits received by the Company, on the one hand, and the Underwriters, on the other, with respect to such Offering shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total net
proceeds from the Offering of the Public Securities purchased under this Agreement (before deducting expenses) received by the Company, as set forth in the table on the cover
page of the Prospectus, on the one hand, and the total underwriting discounts and commissions received by the Underwriters with respect to the Ordinary Shares purchased under
this Agreement, as set forth in the table on the cover page of the Prospectus, on the other hand. The relative fault shall be determined by reference to whether the untrue or alleged
untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Company or the Underwriters, the intent of the
parties and their relative knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The Company and the Underwriters agree that it
would not be just and equitable if contributions pursuant to this Section 5.3.1 were to be determined by pro rata allocation (even if the Underwriters were treated as one entity for
such purpose) or by any other method of allocation that does not take into account the equitable considerations referred to herein. The amount paid or payable by an indemnified
party as a result of the loss, claim, damage or liability, or action in respect thereof, referred to above in this Section 5.3.1 shall be deemed to include, for purposes of this Section
5.3.1, any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the
provisions of this Section 5.3.1 in no event shall an Underwriter be required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount by which the total underwriting discounts and
commissions received by such Underwriter with respect to the Offering of the Public Securities exceeds the amount of any damages that such Underwriter has otherwise been
required to pay by reason of such untrue or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of
Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.
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5.3.2.
Contribution Procedure. Within fifteen (15) days after receipt by any party to this Agreement (or its representative) of notice of the
commencement of any action, suit or proceeding, such party will, if a claim for contribution in respect thereof is to be made against another party (“contributing party”),
notify the contributing party of the commencement thereof, but the failure to so notify the contributing party will not relieve it from any liability which it may have to any
other party other than for contribution hereunder. In case any such action, suit or proceeding is brought against any party, and such party notifies a contributing party or its
representative of the commencement thereof within the aforesaid 15 days, the contributing party will be entitled to participate therein with the notifying party and any other
contributing party similarly notified. Any such contributing party shall not be liable to any party seeking contribution on account of any settlement of any claim, action or
proceeding affected by such party seeking contribution on account of any settlement of any claim, action or proceeding affected by such party seeking contribution without
the written consent of such contributing party. The contribution provisions contained in this Section 5.3.2 are intended to supersede, to the extent permitted by law, any right
to contribution under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise available. Each Underwriter’s obligations to contribute pursuant to this Section 5.3 are several and
not joint.
5A.

Certain Understandings Regarding Israeli Securities Laws.

Other than as set forth in the this paragraph, the Underwriters will not offer any Public Securities to offerees in Israel, other than to Institutional Investors (mashki’im
mosdiem), as such term is defined in the Israel Securities Law. The Company acknowledges, understands and agrees that Public Securities may be sold in Israel only by the
Underwriters and only to such Israeli investors listed in the First Addendum to the Israeli Securities Law (“Addendum”) and to certain other investors who are not institutional
investors in such number as shall be exempt from prospectus requirements under the Israeli Securities Law; all of whom are to be specifically identified and approved by the
Underwriters, and provided further that as a prerequisite to sale of Public Securities by the Underwriters to such Israeli investors, each of them shall be required to submit written
confirmation to the Underwriters and the Company that such investor (i) falls within the scope of the Addendum; and (ii) is acquiring the Public Securities being offered to it for
investment for its own account or, if applicable, for investment for clients who are institutional investors and in any event not as a nominee, market maker or agent and not with a
view to, or for resale in connection with, any distribution thereof. Company acknowledges and agrees that any failure of the Company to comply with the above procedure may
result in a default under Israeli Securities Law.
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6.

Default by an Underwriter.

6.1
Default Not Exceeding 10% of Firm Shares or Option Shares. If any Underwriter or Underwriters shall default in its or their obligations to purchase the Firm
Shares or the Option Shares, if the Over-allotment Option is exercised hereunder, and if the number of the Firm Shares or Option Shares with respect to which such default relates
does not exceed in the aggregate 10% of the number of Firm Shares or Option Shares that all Underwriters have agreed to purchase hereunder, then such Firm Shares or Option
Shares to which the default relates shall be purchased by the non-defaulting Underwriters in proportion to their respective commitments hereunder.
6.2
Default Exceeding 10% of Firm Shares or Option Shares. In the event that the default addressed in Section 6.1 relates to more than 10% of the Firm Shares or
Option Shares, you may in your discretion arrange for yourself or for another party or parties to purchase such Firm Shares or Option Shares to which such default relates on the
terms contained herein. If, within one (1) Business Day after such default relating to more than 10% of the Firm Shares or Option Shares, you do not arrange for the purchase of
such Firm Shares or Option Shares, then the Company shall be entitled to a further period of one (1) Business Day within which to procure another party or parties satisfactory to
you to purchase said Firm Shares or Option Shares on such terms. In the event that neither you nor the Company arrange for the purchase of the Firm Shares or Option Shares to
which a default relates as provided in this Section 6, this Agreement will automatically be terminated by you or the Company without liability on the part of the Company (except
as provided in Sections 3.9 and 5 hereof) or the several Underwriters (except as provided in Section 5 hereof); provided, however, that if such default occurs with respect to the
Option Shares, this Agreement will not terminate as to the Firm Shares; and provided, further, that nothing herein shall relieve a defaulting Underwriter of its liability, if any, to
the other Underwriters and to the Company for damages occasioned by its default hereunder.
6.3
Postponement of Closing Date. In the event that the Firm Shares or Option Shares to which the default relates are to be purchased by the non-defaulting
Underwriters, or are to be purchased by another party or parties as aforesaid, you or the Company shall have the right to postpone the Closing Date or Option Closing Date for a
reasonable period, but not in any event exceeding five (5) Business Days, in order to effect whatever changes may thereby be made necessary in the Registration Statement, the
Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus or in any other documents and arrangements, and the Company agrees to file promptly any amendment to the Registration
Statement, the Pricing Disclosure Package or the Prospectus that in the opinion of counsel for the Underwriter may thereby be made necessary. The term “Underwriter” as used in
this Agreement shall include any party substituted under this Section 6 with like effect as if it had originally been a party to this Agreement with respect to such Ordinary Shares.
7.

Additional Covenants.

7.1
Board Composition and Board Designations. The Company shall ensure that: (i) the qualifications of the persons serving as members of the Board of Directors
and the overall composition of the Board comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, with the Exchange Act, the Israel Companies Law, and with the listing rules of the Exchange or
any other national securities exchange, as the case may be, in the event the Company seeks to have its Public Securities listed on another exchange or quoted on an automated
quotation system, (ii) if applicable, at least one member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as such term is
defined under Regulation S-K and the listing rules of the Exchange; and (iii) each of the persons to be appointed as “external directors” under the Israeli Companies Law shall be
qualified to serve as an external director.
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7.2
Prohibition on Press Releases and Public Announcements. The Company shall not issue press releases or engage in any other publicity, without the
Representative’s prior written consent, for a period ending at 5:00 p.m., Eastern time, on the first (1st) Business Day following the forty-fifth (45th) day after the Closing Date,
other than normal and customary releases issued in the ordinary course of the Company’s business or if in the judgment of the Company and its counsel, and after notification to
the Representative, such press release or communication is required by law.
7.3
Right of First Refusal. Provided that the Firm Shares are sold in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Representative shall have an irrevocable
right of first refusal (the “Right of First Refusal”), for a period of six (6) months after the date the Offering is completed, to act as lead or managing underwriter on the
Representative’s customary terms and conditions, in the event the Company or any Subsidiary retains or otherwise uses (or seeks to retain or use) the services of an investment
bank or similar financial advisor to pursue a registered, underwritten public offering of securities (in addition to the Offering) (a “Subject Transaction”). The Company shall
notify the Representative of its intention to pursue a Subject Transaction, including the material terms thereof, by providing written notice thereof by registered mail or overnight
courier service addressed to the Representative. If the Representative fails to exercise its Right of First Refusal with respect to any Subject Transaction within ten (10) Business
Days after the mailing of such written notice, then the Representative shall have no further claim or right with respect to the Subject Transaction. The Representative may elect, in
its sole and absolute discretion, not to exercise its Right of First Refusal with respect to any Subject Transaction; provided that any such election by the Representative shall not
adversely affect the Representative’s Right of First Refusal with respect to any other Subject Transaction. The terms and conditions of any such engagements shall be set forth in
separate agreements and may be subject to, among other things, satisfactory completion of due diligence by the Representative, market conditions, the absence of a material
adverse change to the Company’s business, financial condition and prospects, approval of the Representative’s internal committee and any other conditions that the
Representative may deem appropriate for transactions of such nature. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Subject Transaction involves a public sale of securities, the
Representative shall be entitled to receive as its compensation at least [33% of the compensation payable to the underwriting or placement agent group when serving as comanager and at least 25% of the compensation payable to the underwriting group when serving as co-manager or co-placement agent with respect to a proposed financing in
which there are three co-managing or lead underwriters or co-placement agents.
8.

Effective Date of this Agreement and Termination Thereof.

8.1
Effective Date. This Agreement shall become effective when both the Company and the Representative have executed the same and delivered counterparts of
such signatures to the other party.
8.2
Termination. The Representative shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time prior to any Closing Date, (i) if any domestic or international
event or act or occurrence has materially disrupted, or in your opinion will in the immediate future materially disrupt, general securities markets in the United States; or (ii) if
trading on the New York Stock Exchange or the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC shall have been suspended or materially limited, or minimum or maximum prices for trading shall
have been fixed, or maximum ranges for prices for securities shall have been required by FINRA or by order of the Commission or any other government authority having
jurisdiction; or (iii) if the United States shall have become involved in a new war or an increase in major hostilities; or (iv) if a banking moratorium has been declared by a New
York State or federal authority; or (v) if a moratorium on foreign exchange trading has been declared which materially adversely impacts the United States securities markets; or
(vi) if the Company shall have sustained a material loss by fire, flood, accident, hurricane, earthquake, theft, sabotage or other calamity or malicious act which, whether or not
such loss shall have been insured, will, in your opinion, make it inadvisable to proceed with the delivery of the Firm Shares or Option Shares; or (vii) if the Company is in
material breach of any of its representations, warranties or covenants hereunder; or (viii) if the Representative shall have become aware after the date hereof of such a material
adverse change in the conditions or prospects of the Company, or such adverse material change in general market conditions as in the Representative’s judgment would make it
impracticable to proceed with the offering, sale and/or delivery of the Public Securities or to enforce contracts made by the Underwriters for the sale of the Public Securities.
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8.3
Expenses. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, except in the case of a default by the Underwriters, pursuant to Section 6.2 above, in
the event that this Agreement shall not be carried out for any reason whatsoever, within the time specified herein or any extensions thereof pursuant to the terms herein, the
Company shall be obligated to pay to the Underwriters their actual and accountable out-of-pocket expenses related to the transactions contemplated herein then due and payable
(including the fees and disbursements of Representative Counsel) up to $100,000, inclusive of the $50,000 advance for non-accountable expenses previously paid by the
Company to the Representative and upon demand the Company shall pay the full amount thereof to the Representative on behalf of the Underwriters; provided, however, that
such expense cap in no way limits or impairs the indemnification and contribution provisions of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any advance received by the
Representative will be reimbursed to the Company to the extent not actually incurred in compliance with FINRA Rule 5110(f)(2)(C).
8.4
Indemnification. Notwithstanding any contrary provision contained in this Agreement, any election hereunder or any termination of this Agreement, and
whether or not this Agreement is otherwise carried out, the provisions of Section 5 shall remain in full force and effect and shall not be in any way affected by, such election or
termination or failure to carry out the terms of this Agreement or any part hereof.
8.5
Representations, Warranties, Agreements to Survive. All representations, warranties and agreements contained in this Agreement or in certificates of officers
of the Company submitted pursuant hereto, shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of (i) any investigation made by or on behalf of any Underwriter or its
Affiliates or selling agents, any person controlling any Underwriter, its officers or directors or any person controlling the Company or (ii) delivery of and payment for the Public
Securities.
9.

Miscellaneous.

9.1
Notices. All communications hereunder, except as herein otherwise specifically provided, shall be in writing and shall be mailed (registered or certified mail,
return receipt requested), personally delivered or sent by facsimile transmission and confirmed and shall be deemed given when so delivered or faxed and confirmed or if mailed,
two (2) days after such mailing.
If to the Representative:
Aegis Capital Corp.
810 Seventh Avenue, 18th Floor
New York, New York 10019
Attn: Mr. David Bocchi, Managing Director of Investment Banking
Fax No.: 212-813-1047
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
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Troutman Sanders LLP
The Chrysler Building
405 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10174
Attn: Henry I. Rothman
Fax No.: 212-704-6288
and to:
Yigal Arnon & Co.
22 Rivlin Street
Jerusalem 94263 Israel
Attention: Barry Levenfeld, Adv.
Fax No.: + 972-2-623-9236
If to the Company:
Alcobra Ltd.
65 Rothschild Blvd.
Tel Aviv 65785 Israel
Attention: Dr. Yaron Daniely
Fax No: 011-972-72-220-4664
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
ZAG/S&W LLP
1633 Broadway
New York, NY 10019
Attention: Edwin L. Miller Jr.
Fax No: 617-338-2880
9.2
Headings. The headings contained herein are for the sole purpose of convenience of reference, and shall not in any way limit or affect the meaning or
interpretation of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement.
9.3

Amendment. This Agreement may only be amended by a written instrument executed by each of the parties hereto.

9.4
Entire Agreement. This Agreement (together with the other agreements and documents being delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement)
constitutes the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings of the parties,
oral and written, with respect to the subject matter hereof. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, it is understood and agreed by the parties hereto that all other
terms and conditions of that certain engagement letter between the Company and Aegis Capital Corp., dated October 31, 2012, shall remain in full force and effect.
9.5
Binding Effect. This Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of and shall be binding upon the Representative, the Underwriters, the Company and the
controlling persons, directors and officers referred to in Section 5 hereof, and their respective successors, legal representatives, heirs and assigns, and no other person shall have
or be construed to have any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of or by virtue of this Agreement or any provisions herein contained. The term
“successors and assigns” shall not include a purchaser, in its capacity as such, of securities from any of the Underwriters.
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9.6
Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect
to conflict of laws principles thereof that would defer to the substantive laws of another jurisdiction.
9.7

Agent for Service, Submission to Jurisdiction; Trial by Jury; waiver of Immunities.

9.7.1.
By the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company hereby irrevocably designates and appoints Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Sullivan &
Worcester LLP, 1633 Broadway, New York, NY 10019 as its authorized agent upon whom process may be served in any suit, proceeding or other action against it instituted by
any Underwriter or by any person controlling an Underwriter as to which such Underwriter or any such controlling person is a party and based upon this Agreement, or in any
other action against the Company in the New York Supreme Court, County of New York and the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, arising out of
the offering made by the Prospectus or any purchase or sale of Public Securities in connection therewith. The Company expressly accepts jurisdiction of any such court in respect
of any such suit, proceeding or other action and, without limiting other methods of obtaining jurisdiction, expressly submits to nonexclusive personal jurisdiction of any such
court in respect of any such suit, proceeding or other action. Such designation and appointment shall be irrevocable, unless and until a successor authorized agent in the County
and State of New York reasonably acceptable to the Representative shall have been appointed by the Company, such successor shall have accepted such appointment and written
notice thereof shall have been given to the Underwriters. The Company further agrees that service of process upon its authorized agent or successor shall be deemed in every
respect personal service of process upon the Company in any such suit, proceeding or other action. In the event that service of any process or notice of motion or other application
to any such court in connection with any such motion in connection with any such action or proceeding cannot be made in the manner described above, such service may be made
in the manner set forth in conformance with the Hague Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents on Civil and Commercial Matters or any
successor convention or treaty. The Company hereby irrevocably waives any objection that it may have or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding
arising out of or based on the Public Shares, or this Agreement or otherwise relating to the offering, issuance and sale of the Public Shares in any Federal or state court sitting in
the County of New York and hereby further irrevocably waives any claim that any such action or proceeding in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. The
Company agrees that any final judgment after exhaustion of all appeals or the expiration of time to appeal in any such action or proceeding arising out of the sale of the Shares or
this Agreement rendered by any such Federal court or state court shall be conclusive and may be enforced in any other jurisdiction by suit on the judgment or in any other manner
provided by law. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall affect or limit the right of the Underwriters or any person controlling an Underwriter to serve any process or notice of
motion or other application in any other manner permitted by law or limit or affect the right of the Underwriters or any person controlling an Underwriter to bring any action or
proceeding against the Company or any of its properties in the courts of any other jurisdiction. The Company further agrees to take any and all action, including the execution and
filing of all such instruments and documents, as may be necessary to continue such designations and appointments or such substitute designations and appointments in full force
and effect. The Company hereby agrees with the Underwriters to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the New York Supreme Court, County of New York or the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York in connection with any action or proceeding arising from the sale of the Public Shares or this Agreement brought by the Company,
the Underwriters or any person controlling an Underwriter. The Company (on its behalf and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, on behalf of its stockholders and affiliates)
and each of the Underwriters hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all right to trial by jury in any legal proceeding arising out of or
relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby
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9.7.2.
The Company agrees that in any suit (whether in a court in the United States, Israel or elsewhere) seeking enforcement of this Agreement or
provisions of this Agreement (i) if the plaintiffs therein seek a judgment in either United States dollars or Israeli currency, subject to Israeli foreign currency control regulations,
the Company will not interpose any defense or objection to or otherwise oppose judgment, if any, being awarded in such currencies except to the extent that such a judgment
would violate the laws of the State of Israel, and (ii) if the plaintiffs therein seek to have any judgment (or any aspect thereof) awarded in New Israeli Shekels linked, for the
period from entry of such judgment until actual payment thereof in full has been made, to either or both of the consumer price index of Israel or changes in the New Israeli
Shekel-United States dollar exchange rate, the Company will not interpose any defense or objection to or otherwise oppose inclusion of such linkage in any such judgment except
to the extent that such a judgment would violate the laws of the State of Israel. The Company agrees that it will not initiate or seek to initiate any action, suit or proceeding, in
Israel or in any other jurisdiction other than in the United States, seeking damages in respect of or for the purpose of obtaining any injunction or declaratory judgment against the
enforcement of, or a declaratory judgment concerning any alleged breach by the Company or other claim by the Underwriters, or any person controlling an Underwriter in respect
of this Agreement or any of the Underwriters’ rights under this Agreement, including without limitation any action, suit or proceeding challenging the enforceability of or seeking
to invalidate in any respect the submission by the Company hereunder to the jurisdiction of the courts or the designation of the laws as the law applicable to this Agreement, in
each case as set forth herein.
9.7.3.
The Company agrees that if any payment of any sum due under this Agreement from the Company is made to or received by the Underwriters or
any controlling person of any Underwriter in a currency other than freely transferable United States dollars, whether by judicial judgment or otherwise, the obligations of the
Company under this Agreement shall be discharged only to the extent of the net amount of freely transferable United States dollars that the Underwriters or such controlling
persons, as the case may be, in accordance with normal bank procedures, are able to lawfully purchase with such amount of such other currency. To the extent that the
Underwriters or such controlling persons are not able to purchase sufficient United States dollars with such amount of such other currency to discharge the obligations of the
Company to the Underwriters or such controlling persons, the obligations of the Company shall not be discharged with respect to such difference, and any such undischarged
amount will be due as a separate obligation and shall not be affected by payment of or judgment being obtained for any other sums due under or in respect of this Agreement.
9.8
Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement, and shall become effective when one or more counterparts
has been signed by each of the parties hereto and delivered to each of the other parties hereto. Delivery of a signed counterpart of this Agreement by facsimile or email/pdf
transmission shall constitute valid and sufficient delivery thereof.
9.9
Waiver, etc. The failure of any of the parties hereto to at any time enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be deemed or construed to be a
waiver of any such provision, nor to in any way effect the validity of this Agreement or any provision hereof or the right of any of the parties hereto to thereafter enforce each and
every provision of this Agreement. No waiver of any breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be effective unless set forth in a
written instrument executed by the party or parties against whom or which enforcement of such waiver is sought; and no waiver of any such breach, non-compliance or nonfulfillment shall be construed or deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment.
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[Signature Page Follows]
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If the foregoing correctly sets forth the understanding between the Underwriters and the Company, please so indicate in the space provided below for that purpose,
whereupon this letter shall constitute a binding agreement between us.
Very truly yours,
ALCOBRA LTD.
By:
Name:
Title:
Confirmed as of the date first written above mentioned, on behalf of itself and as Representative of the several Underwriters named on Schedule 1 hereto:
AEGIS CAPITAL CORP.
By:
Name:
Title:
[SIGNATURE PAGE]
[COMPANY] – UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT

SCHEDULE 1

Underwriter

Total Number of
Firm Shares to be Purchased

Aegis Capital Corp.

TOTAL

Sch. 1 -1

Number of Additional Shares
to be Purchased if the Over-Allotment Option is Fully
Exercised

SCHEDULE 2-A
Pricing Information
Number of Firm Shares: [•]
Number of Option Shares: [•]
Public Offering Price per Share: $[•]
Underwriting Discount per Share: $[•]
Underwriting Non-accountable expense allowance per Share: $[•]
Proceeds to Company per Share (before expenses): $[•]
SCHEDULE 2-B
Issuer General Use Free Writing Prospectuses

Sch. 2 -1

SCHEDULE 3
List of Lock-Up Parties

Sch. 3 -1

EXHIBIT A
Form of Representative’s Warrant Agreement
THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF THIS PURCHASE WARRANT BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT SELL, TRANSFER OR ASSIGN THIS
PURCHASE WARRANT EXCEPT AS HEREIN PROVIDED AND THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF THIS PURCHASE WARRANT AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT SELL,
TRANSFER, ASSIGN, PLEDGE OR HYPOTHECATE THIS PURCHASE WARRANT FOR A PERIOD OF ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY DAYS FOLLOWING THE
EFFECTIVE DATE (DEFINED BELOW) TO ANYONE OTHER THAN (I) AEGIS CAPITAL CORP. OR AN UNDERWRITER OR A SELECTED DEALER IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING, OR (II) A BONA FIDE OFFICER OR PARTNER OF AEGIS CAPITAL CORP. OR OF ANY SUCH UNDERWRITER OR
SELECTED DEALER.
ORDINARY SHARE PURCHASE WARRANT
For the Purchase of [_____] Ordinary Shares
of
ALCOBRA LTD.
1.
Purchase Warrant. THIS CERTIFIES THAT, in consideration of funds duly paid by or on behalf of Aegis Capital Corp. (“Holder”), as registered owner of this Purchase
Warrant, to Alcobra Ltd., a Israeli corporation (the “Company”), Holder is entitled, at any time or from time to time from time to time, in whole or in part, during a period
commencing one year (the “First Anniversary”) from [_______________] [DATE THAT IS ONE YEAR FROM THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE OFFERING] (the
“Commencement Date”) to subscribe for, purchase and receive, in whole or in part, up to an aggregate of [____] ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share (the “Shares”),
subject to adjustment as provided in Section 6 hereof the rights granted by this Purchase Warrant, including the exercise price per Share and the number of Shares to be received
upon such exercise, shall be adjusted as therein specified, as follows: (i) one third of this Purchase Warrant will have an exercise period of 12 months beginning on the First
Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per Ordinary Share of $[•] [150.0% of the initial public offering price per share of ordinary share]; (ii) one third of this Purchase Warrant
will have an exercise period of 18 months beginning on the First Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per Ordinary Share of $[•] [200.0% of the initial public offering price per
share of ordinary share]; and (iii) one third of this Purchase Warrant will have an exercise period of 24 months beginning on the First Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per
share of Ordinary Share of $[•], [250.0% of the initial public offering price per share of ordinary share] (each an ”Expiration Date”), provided, however, that upon the occurrence
of any of the events specified in Section 6 hereof, the rights granted by this Purchase Warrant, including the exercise price per Share and the number of Shares to be received
upon such exercise, shall be adjusted as therein specified. If an applicable Expiration Date is a day on which banking institutions are authorized by law to close, then this
Purchase Warrant may be exercised on the next succeeding day which is not such a day in accordance with the terms herein. During the period ending on applicable Expiration
Date, the Company agrees not to take any action that would terminate this Purchase Warrant. The term “Exercise Price” shall mean, as the case maybe, the applicable initial
exercise prices or the adjusted applicable exercise prices, depending on the context.
Ex. A-1

2.

Exercise.

2.1
Exercise Form. In order to exercise this Purchase Warrant, the exercise form attached hereto must be duly executed and completed and delivered to the
Company, together with this Purchase Warrant and payment of the applicable Exercise Price for the Shares being purchased payable in cash by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated by the Company or by certified check or official bank check. If the subscription rights represented hereby shall not be exercised at or
before 5:00 p.m., Eastern time, on the Expiration Date, this Purchase Warrant shall become and be void without further force or effect, and all rights represented hereby shall
cease and expire.
2.2
Cashless Exercise. If at any time after the Commencement Date there is no effective registration statement registering, or no current prospectus available for,
the resale of the Shares by the Holder, then in lieu of exercising this Purchase Warrant by payment of cash or check payable to the order of the Company pursuant to Section 2.1
above, Holder may elect to receive the number of Shares equal to the value of this Purchase Warrant (or the portion thereof being exercised), by surrender of this Purchase
Warrant to the Company, together with the exercise form attached hereto, in which event the issue to Holder, Shares in accordance with the following formula:
X

=

Y(A-B)
A

Where,
X
Y
A
B

=
=
=
=

The number of Shares to be issued to Holder;
The number of Shares for which the Purchase Warrant is being exercised;
The fair market value of one Share; and
The applicable Exercise Price.

For purposes of this Section 2.2, the fair market value of a Share is defined as follows:
(i)

if the Company’s ordinary shares are traded on a securities exchange, the value shall be deemed to be the closing price on such exchange prior to the exercise
form being submitted in connection with the exercise of the Purchase Warrant; or

(ii)

if the Company’s ordinary shares are actively traded over-the-counter, the value shall be deemed to be the closing bid prior to the exercise form being submitted
in connection with the exercise of the Purchase Warrant; if there is no active public market, the value shall be the fair market value thereof, as determined in
good faith by the Company’s Board of Directors.

2.3
Legend. Each certificate for the securities purchased under this Purchase Warrant shall bear a legend as follows unless such securities have been registered
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”):
“The securities represented by this certificate have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), or applicable state law. Neither the
securities nor any interest therein may be offered for sale, sold or otherwise transferred except pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, or pursuant
to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act and applicable state law which, in the opinion of counsel to the Company, is available.”
Ex. A-2

3.

Transfer.

3.1
General Restrictions. The registered Holder of this Purchase Warrant agrees by his, her or its acceptance hereof, that such Holder will not: (a) sell, transfer,
assign, pledge or hypothecate this Purchase Warrant for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days following the Effective Date to anyone other than: (i) Aegis Capital Corp.
(“Aegis”) or an underwriter or a selected dealer participating in the Offering, or (ii) a bona fide officer or partner of AEGIS or of any such underwriter or selected dealer, in each
case in accordance with FINRA Conduct Rule 5110(g)(1), or (b) cause this Purchase Warrant or the securities issuable hereunder to be the subject of any hedging, short sale,
derivative, put or call transaction that would result in the effective economic disposition of this Purchase Warrant or the securities hereunder, except as provided for in FINRA
Rule 5110(g)(2). On and after 180 days after the Effective Date, transfers to others may be made subject to compliance with or exemptions from applicable securities laws. In
order to make any permitted assignment, the Holder must deliver to the Company the assignment form attached hereto duly executed and completed, together with the Purchase
Warrant and payment of all transfer taxes, if any, payable in connection therewith. The Company shall within five (5) Business Days transfer this Purchase Warrant on the books
of the Company and shall execute and deliver a new Purchase Warrant or Purchase Warrants of like tenor to the appropriate assignee(s) expressly evidencing the right to purchase
the aggregate number of Shares purchasable hereunder or such portion of such number as shall be contemplated by any such assignment.
3.2
Restrictions Imposed by the Securities Act. The securities evidenced by this Purchase Warrant shall not be transferred unless and until: (i) the Company has
received the opinion of counsel for the Holder that the securities may be transferred pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act and applicable state
securities laws, the availability of which is established to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company (the Company hereby agreeing that the opinion of Troutman Sanders LLP
shall be deemed satisfactory evidence of the availability of an exemption), or (ii) a registration statement or a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement relating to
the offer and sale of such securities has been filed by the Company and declared effective by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the ”Commission”) and compliance
with applicable state securities law has been established.
4.

Registration Rights.
4.1

Demand Registration.

4.1.1
Grant of Right. The Company, upon written demand (a “Demand Notice”) of the Holder(s) of at least 51% of the Purchase Warrants and/or the
underlying Shares (“Majority Holders”), agrees to register, on one occasion, all or any portion of the Shares underlying the Purchase Warrants (collectively, the “Registrable
Securities”). On such occasion, the Company will file a registration statement with the Commission covering the Registrable Securities within sixty (60) days after receipt of a
Demand Notice and use its reasonable best efforts to have the registration statement declared effective promptly thereafter, subject to compliance with review by the Commission;
provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to comply with a Demand Notice if the Company has filed a registration statement with respect to which the Holder is
entitled to piggyback registration rights pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof and either: (i) the Holder has elected to participate in the offering covered by such registration statement or
(ii) if such registration statement relates to an underwritten primary offering of securities of the Company, until the offering covered by such registration statement has been
withdrawn or until thirty (30) days after such offering is consummated. The demand for registration may be made at any time during a period of four (4) years beginning on the
Commencement Date. The Company covenants and agrees to give written notice of its receipt of any Demand Notice by any Holder(s) to all other registered Holders of the
Purchase Warrants and/or the Registrable Securities within ten (10) days after the date of the receipt of any such Demand Notice.
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4.1.2
Terms. The Company shall bear all fees and expenses attendant to the registration of the Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 4.1.1, but the
Holders shall pay any and all underwriting commissions and the expenses of any legal counsel selected by the Holders to represent them in connection with the sale of the
Registrable Securities. The Company agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to cause the filing required herein to become effective promptly and to qualify or register the
Registrable Securities in such States as are reasonably requested by the Holder(s); provided, however, that in no event shall the Company be required to register the Registrable
Securities in a State in which such registration would cause: (i) the Company to be obligated to register or license to do business in such State or submit to general service of
process in such State, or (ii) the principal shareholders of the Company to be obligated to escrow their shares of capital stock of the Company. The Company shall cause any
registration statement filed pursuant to the demand right granted under Section 4.1.1 to remain effective for a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months after the date that
the Holders of the Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement are first given the opportunity to sell all of such securities. The Holders shall only use the
prospectuses provided by the Company to sell the shares covered by such registration statement, and will immediately cease to use any prospectus furnished by the Company if
the Company advises the Holder that such prospectus may no longer be used due to a material misstatement or omission. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 4.1.2, the
Holder shall be entitled to a demand registration under this Section 4.1.2 on only one (1) occasion and such demand registration right shall terminate on the fifth anniversary of
the effectiveness of the registration statement in accordance with FINRA Rule 5110(f)(2)(H)(iv).
4.2

Reserved.

4.3

General Terms.

4.3.1
Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify the Holder(s) of the Registrable Securities to be sold pursuant to any registration statement hereunder
and each person, if any, who controls such Holders within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(“Exchange Act”), against all loss, claim, damage, expense or liability (including all reasonable attorneys’ fees and other expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing
or defending against any claim whatsoever) to which any of them may become subject under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, arising from such registration
statement but only to the same extent and with the same effect as the provisions pursuant to which the Company has agreed to indemnify the Underwriters contained in Section
5.1 of the Underwriting Agreement between the Underwriters and the Company, dated as of [___________], 2013. The Holder(s) of the Registrable Securities to be sold pursuant
to such registration statement, and their successors and assigns, shall severally, and not jointly, indemnify the Company, against all loss, claim, damage, expense or liability
(including all reasonable attorneys’ fees and other expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any claim whatsoever) to which they may
become subject under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, arising from information furnished by or on behalf of such Holders, or their successors or assigns, in
writing, for specific inclusion in such registration statement to the same extent and with the same effect as the provisions contained in Section 5.2 of the Underwriting Agreement
pursuant to which the Underwriters have agreed to indemnify the Company.
4.3.2
Exercise of Purchase Warrants. Nothing contained in this Purchase Warrant shall be construed as requiring the Holder(s) to exercise their Purchase
Warrants prior to or after the initial filing of any registration statement or the effectiveness thereof.
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4.3.3
Documents Delivered to Holders. The Company shall furnish to each Holder participating in any of the foregoing offerings and to each underwriter of
any such offering, if any, a signed counterpart, addressed to such Holder or underwriter, of: (i) an opinion of counsel to the Company, dated the effective date of such registration
statement (and, if such registration includes an underwritten public offering, an opinion dated the date of the closing under any underwriting agreement related thereto), and (ii) a
“cold comfort” letter dated the effective date of such registration statement (and, if such registration includes an underwritten public offering, a letter dated the date of the closing
under the underwriting agreement) signed by the independent registered public accounting firm which has issued a report on the Company’s financial statements included in such
registration statement, in each case covering substantially the same matters with respect to such registration statement (and the prospectus included therein) and, in the case of
such accountants’ letter, with respect to events subsequent to the date of such financial statements, as are customarily covered in opinions of issuer’s counsel and in accountants’
letters delivered to underwriters in underwritten public offerings of securities. The Company shall also deliver promptly to each Holder participating in the offering requesting the
correspondence and memoranda described below and to the managing underwriter, if any, copies of all correspondence between the Commission and the Company, its counsel or
auditors and all memoranda relating to discussions with the Commission or its staff with respect to the registration statement and permit each Holder and underwriter to do such
investigation, upon reasonable advance notice, with respect to information contained in or omitted from the registration statement as it deems reasonably necessary to comply
with applicable securities laws or rules of FINRA. Such investigation shall include access to books, records and properties and opportunities to discuss the business of the
Company with its officers and independent auditors, all to such reasonable extent and at such reasonable times as any such Holder shall reasonably request.
4.3.4
Underwriting Agreement. The Company shall enter into an underwriting agreement with the managing underwriter(s), if any, selected by any Holders
whose Registrable Securities are being registered pursuant to this Section 4, which managing underwriter shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Company. Such agreement shall
be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Company, each Holder and such managing underwriters, and shall contain such representations, warranties and covenants
by the Company and such other terms as are customarily contained in agreements of that type used by the managing underwriter. The Holders shall be parties to any underwriting
agreement relating to an underwritten sale of their Registrable Securities and may, at their option, require that any or all the representations, warranties and covenants of the
Company to or for the benefit of such underwriters shall also be made to and for the benefit of such Holders. Such Holders shall not be required to make any representations or
warranties to or agreements with the Company or the underwriters except as they may relate to such Holders, their Shares and their intended methods of distribution.
4.3.5
Documents to be Delivered by Holder(s). Each of the Holder(s) participating in any of the foregoing offerings shall furnish to the Company a
completed and executed questionnaire provided by the Company requesting information customarily sought of selling security holders.
4.3.6
Damages. Should the registration or the effectiveness thereof required by Sections 4.1 and 4.2 hereof be delayed by the Company or the Company
otherwise fails to comply with such provisions, the Holder(s) shall, in addition to any other legal or other relief available to the Holder(s), be entitled to obtain specific
performance or other equitable (including injunctive) relief against the threatened breach of such provisions or the continuation of any such breach, without the necessity of
proving actual damages and without the necessity of posting bond or other security.
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5.

New Purchase Warrants to be Issued.

5.1
Partial Exercise or Transfer. Subject to the restrictions in Section 3 hereof, this Purchase Warrant may be exercised or assigned in whole or in part. In the event
of the exercise or assignment hereof in part only, upon surrender of this Purchase Warrant for cancellation, together with the duly executed exercise or assignment form and funds
sufficient to pay any applicable Exercise Price and/or transfer tax if exercised pursuant to Section 2.1 hereto, the Company shall cause to be delivered to the Holder without
charge a new Purchase Warrant of like tenor to this Purchase Warrant in the name of the Holder evidencing the right of the Holder to purchase the number of Shares purchasable
hereunder as to which this Purchase Warrant has not been exercised or assigned.
5.2
Lost Certificate. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence satisfactory to it of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Purchase Warrant and of
reasonably satisfactory indemnification or the posting of a bond, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Purchase Warrant of like tenor and date. Any such new Purchase
Warrant executed and delivered as a result of such loss, theft, mutilation or destruction shall constitute a substitute contractual obligation on the part of the Company.
6.

Adjustments.

6.1
Adjustments to Exercise Price and Number of Securities. The applicable Exercise Price and the number of Shares underlying the Purchase Warrant shall be
subject to adjustment from time to time as hereinafter set forth:
6.1.1
Share Dividends; Split Ups. If, after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 6.3 below, the number of outstanding Shares is
increased by a stock dividend payable in Shares or by a split up of Shares or other similar event, then, on the effective day thereof, the number of Shares purchasable hereunder
shall be increased in proportion to such increase in outstanding Shares, and the applicable Exercise Price shall be proportionately decreased.
6.1.2
Aggregation of Shares. If, after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 6.3 below, the number of outstanding Shares is decreased by
a consolidation, combination or reclassification of Shares or other similar event, then, on the effective date thereof, the number of Shares purchasable hereunder shall be
decreased in proportion to such decrease in outstanding Shares, and the applicable Exercise Price shall be proportionately increased.
6.1.3
Replacement of Securities upon Reorganization, etc. In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding Shares other than a change
covered by Section 6.1.1 or 6.1.2 hereof or that solely affects the par value of such Shares, or in the case of any share reconstruction or amalgamation or consolidation of the
Company with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation in which the Company is the continuing corporation and that does
not result in any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding Shares), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the property of the
Company as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection with which the Company is dissolved, the Holder of this Purchase Warrant shall have the right thereafter
(until the expiration of the right of exercise of this Purchase Warrant) to receive upon the exercise hereof, for the same aggregate applicable Exercise Price payable hereunder
immediately prior to such event, the kind and amount of shares of stock or other securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such reclassification, reorganization, share
reconstruction or amalgamation, or consolidation, or upon a dissolution following any such sale or transfer, by a Holder of the number of Shares of the Company obtainable upon
exercise of this Purchase Warrant immediately prior to such event; and if any reclassification also results in a change in Shares covered by Section 6.1.1 or 6.1.2, then such
adjustment shall be made pursuant to Sections 6.1.1, 6.1.2 and this Section 6.1.3. The provisions of this Section 6.1.3 shall similarly apply to successive reclassifications,
reorganizations, share reconstructions or amalgamations, or consolidations, sales or other transfers.
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6.1.4

[Reserved.]

6.1.5
Changes in Form of Purchase Warrant. This form of Purchase Warrant need not be changed because of any change pursuant to this Section 6.1, and
Purchase Warrants issued after such change may state the same applicable Exercise Price and the same number of Shares as are stated in the Purchase Warrants initially issued
pursuant to this Agreement. The acceptance by any Holder of the issuance of new Purchase Warrants reflecting a required or permissive change shall not be deemed to waive any
rights to an adjustment occurring after the Commencement Date or the computation thereof.
6.2
Substitute Purchase Warrant. In case of any consolidation of the Company with, or share reconstruction or amalgamation of the Company with or into, another
corporation (other than a consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation which does not result in any reclassification or change of the outstanding Shares), the corporation
formed by such consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation shall execute and deliver to the Holder a supplemental Purchase Warrant providing that the holder of each
Purchase Warrant then outstanding or to be outstanding shall have the right thereafter (until the stated expiration of such Purchase Warrant) to receive, upon exercise of such
Purchase Warrant, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable upon such consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation, by a
holder of the number of Shares of the Company for which such Purchase Warrant might have been exercised immediately prior to such consolidation, share reconstruction or
amalgamation, sale or transfer. Such supplemental Purchase Warrant shall provide for adjustments which shall be identical to the adjustments provided for in this Section 6. The
above provision of this Section shall similarly apply to successive consolidations or share reconstructions or amalgamations.
6.3
Elimination of Fractional Interests. The Company shall not be required to issue certificates representing fractions of Shares upon the exercise of the Purchase
Warrant, nor shall it be required to issue scrip or pay cash in lieu of any fractional interests, it being the intent of the parties that all fractional interests shall be eliminated by
rounding any fraction up or down, as the case may be, to the nearest whole number of Shares or other securities, properties or rights.
7.
Reservation and Listing. The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized Shares, solely for the purpose of issuance upon exercise of the
Purchase Warrants, such number of Shares or other securities, properties or rights as shall be issuable upon the exercise thereof. The Company covenants and agrees that, upon
exercise of the Purchase Warrants and payment of the applicable Exercise Price therefor, in accordance with the terms hereby, all Shares and other securities issuable upon such
exercise shall be duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to preemptive rights of any shareholder. The Company further covenants and agrees that
upon exercise of the Purchase Warrants and payment of the applicable exercise price therefor, all Shares and other securities issuable upon such exercise shall be duly and validly
issued, fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to preemptive rights of any shareholder. As long as the Purchase Warrants shall be outstanding, the Company shall use its
commercially reasonable efforts to cause all Shares issuable upon exercise of the Purchase Warrants to be listed (subject to official notice of issuance) on all national securities
exchanges (or, if applicable, on the OTC Bulletin Board or any successor trading market) on which the Shares issued to the public in the Offering may then be listed and/or
quoted.
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8.

Certain Notice Requirements.

8.1
Holder’s Right to Receive Notice. Nothing herein shall be construed as conferring upon the Holders the right to vote or consent or to receive notice as a
shareholder for the election of directors or any other matter, or as having any rights whatsoever as a shareholder of the Company. If, however, at any time prior to the expiration
of the Purchase Warrants and their exercise, any of the events described in Section 8.2 shall occur, then, in one or more of said events, the Company shall give written notice of
such event at least fifteen days prior to the date fixed as a record date or the date of closing the transfer books for the determination of the shareholders entitled to such dividend,
distribution, conversion or exchange of securities or subscription rights, or entitled to vote on such proposed dissolution, liquidation, winding up or sale. Such notice shall specify
such record date or the date of the closing of the transfer books, as the case may be. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall deliver to each Holder a copy of each
notice given to the other shareholders of the Company at the same time and in the same manner that such notice is given to the shareholders.
8.2
Events Requiring Notice. The Company shall be required to give the notice described in this Section 8 upon one or more of the following events: (i) if the
Company shall take a record of the holders of its Shares for the purpose of entitling them to receive a dividend or distribution payable otherwise than in cash, or a cash dividend
or distribution payable otherwise than out of retained earnings, as indicated by the accounting treatment of such dividend or distribution on the books of the Company, (ii) the
Company shall offer to all the holders of its Shares any additional shares of capital stock of the Company or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock
of the Company, or any option, right or warrant to subscribe therefor, or (iii) a dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company (other than in connection with a
consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation) or a sale of all or substantially all of its property, assets and business shall be proposed.
8.3
Notice of Change in applicable Exercise Price. The Company shall, promptly after an event requiring a change in the applicable Exercise Price pursuant to
Section 6 hereof, send notice to the Holders of such event and change (“Price Notice”). The Price Notice shall describe the event causing the change and the method of
calculating same and shall be certified as being true and accurate by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer.
8.4
Transmittal of Notices. All notices, requests, consents and other communications under this Purchase Warrant shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly made when hand delivered, or mailed by express mail or private courier service: (i) if to the registered Holder of the Purchase Warrant, to the address of such Holder as
shown on the books of the Company, or (ii) if to the Company, to following address or to such other address as the Company may designate by notice to the Holders:
If to the Holder:
Aegis Capital Corp.
810 Seventh Avenue, 11th Floor
New York, New York 10019
Attn: Mr. David Bocchi, Managing Director of Investment Banking
Fax No.: 212-813-1047
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
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Troutman Sanders LLP
The Chrysler Building
405 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10174
Attn: Henry I. Rothman
Fax No.: 212-704-6288
If to the Company:
Alcobra Ltd.
65 Rothschild Blvd.
Tel Aviv 65785 Israel
Attention: Dr. Yaron Daniely
Fax No: 011-972-72-220-4664
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
ZAG/S&W LLP
1633 Broadway
New York, NY 10019
Attention: Edwin L. Miller Jr.
Fax No: 617-338-2880
9.

Miscellaneous.

9.1
Amendments. The Company and Aegis may from time to time supplement or amend this Purchase Warrant without the approval of any of the Holders in order
to cure any ambiguity, to correct or supplement any provision contained herein that may be defective or inconsistent with any other provisions herein, or to make any other
provisions in regard to matters or questions arising hereunder that the Company and Aegis may deem necessary or desirable and that the Company and Aegis deem shall not
adversely affect the interest of the Holders. All other modifications or amendments shall require the written consent of and be signed by the party against whom enforcement of
the modification or amendment is sought.
9.2
Headings. The headings contained herein are for the sole purpose of convenience of reference, and shall not in any way limit or affect the meaning or
interpretation of any of the terms or provisions of this Purchase Warrant.
9.3.
Entire Agreement. This Purchase Warrant (together with the other agreements and documents being delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Purchase
Warrant) constitutes the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings of the parties, oral
and written, with respect to the subject matter hereof.
9.4
Binding Effect. This Purchase Warrant shall inure solely to the benefit of and shall be binding upon, the Holder and the Company and their permitted assignees,
respective successors, legal representative and assigns, and no other person shall have or be construed to have any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of
or by virtue of this Purchase Warrant or any provisions herein contained.
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9.5

Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Trial by Jury.

9.5.1
This Purchase Warrant shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to
conflict of laws principles thereof that would defer to the substantive laws of another jurisdiction. By the execution and delivery of this Purchase Warrant , the Company hereby
irrevocably designates and appoints Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Sullivan & Worcester LLP, 1633 Broadway, New York, NY 10019 as its authorized agent upon whom process
may be served in any suit, proceeding or other action against it instituted by any Holder or by any person controlling a Holder as to which such Holder or any such controlling
person is a party and based upon Purchase Warrant, or in any other action against the Company in the New York Supreme Court, County of New York and the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York, arising out of this Purchase Warrant. The Company expressly accepts jurisdiction of any such court in respect of any such
suit, proceeding or other action and, without limiting other methods of obtaining jurisdiction, expressly submits to nonexclusive personal jurisdiction of any such court in respect
of any such suit, proceeding or other action. Such designation and appointment shall be irrevocable, unless and until a successor authorized agent in the County and State of New
York reasonably acceptable to the Holder shall have been appointed by the Company, such successor shall have accepted such appointment and written notice thereof shall have
been given to the Holder. The Company further agrees that service of process upon its authorized agent or successor shall be deemed in every respect personal service of process
upon the Company in any such suit, proceeding or other action. In the event that service of any process or notice of motion or other application to any such court in connection
with any such motion in connection with any such action or proceeding cannot be made in the manner described above, such service may be made in the manner set forth in
conformance with the Hague Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents on Civil and Commercial Matters or any successor convention or treaty.
The Company hereby irrevocably waives any objection that it may have or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding arising out of or based on this
Purchase Warrant in any Federal or state court sitting in the County of New York and hereby further irrevocably waives any claim that any such action or proceeding in any such
court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. The Company agrees that any final judgment after exhaustion of all appeals or the expiration of time to appeal in any such
action or proceeding arising out of this Purchase Warrant rendered by any such Federal court or state court shall be conclusive and may be enforced in any other jurisdiction by
suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing contained in this Purchase Warrant shall affect or limit the right of the Holder or any person controlling a
Holder to serve any process or notice of motion or other application in any other manner permitted by law or limit or affect the right of the Holder or any person controlling a
Holder to bring any action or proceeding against the Company or any of its properties in the courts of any other jurisdiction. The Company further agrees to take any and all
action, including the execution and filing of all such instruments and documents, as may be necessary to continue such designations and appointments or such substitute
designations and appointments in full force and effect. The Company hereby agrees with the Holder to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the New York Supreme Court, County of
New York or the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York in connection with any action or proceeding arising from this Purchase Warrant brought by
the Company, the Holder or any person controlling a Holder. The Company (on its behalf and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, on behalf of its stockholders and
affiliates) and each of the Holder hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all right to trial by jury in any legal proceeding arising out
of or relating to this Purchase Warrant or the transactions contemplated hereby
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9.5.2
The Company agrees that in any suit (whether in a court in the United States, Israel or elsewhere) seeking enforcement of this Purchase Warrant or
provisions of this Purchase Warrant (i) if the plaintiffs therein seek a judgment in either United States dollars or Israeli currency, subject to Israeli foreign currency control
regulations, the Company will not interpose any defense or objection to or otherwise oppose judgment, if any, being awarded in such currencies except to the extent that such a
judgment would violate the laws of the State of Israel, and (ii) if the plaintiffs therein seek to have any judgment (or any aspect thereof) awarded in New Israeli Shekels linked,
for the period from entry of such judgment until actual payment thereof in full has been made, to either or both of the consumer price index of Israel or changes in the New Israeli
Shekel-United States dollar exchange rate, the Company will not interpose any defense or objection to or otherwise oppose inclusion of such linkage in any such judgment except
to the extent that such a judgment would violate the laws of the State of Israel. The Company agrees that it will not initiate or seek to initiate any action, suit or proceeding, in
Israel or in any other jurisdiction other than in the United States, seeking damages in respect of or for the purpose of obtaining any injunction or declaratory judgment against the
enforcement of, or a declaratory judgment concerning any alleged breach by the Company or other claim by the Holder, or any person controlling a Holder in respect of this
Purchase Warrant or any of the Holder's rights under this Purchase Warrant, including without limitation any action, suit or proceeding challenging the enforceability of or
seeking to invalidate in any respect the submission by the Company hereunder to the jurisdiction of the courts or the designation of the laws as the law applicable to this Purchase
Warrant, in each case as set forth herein.
9.5.3
The Company agrees that if any payment of any sum due under this Purchase Warrant from the Company is made to or received by the Holder or
any controlling person of any Holder in a currency other than freely transferable United States dollars, whether by judicial judgment or otherwise, the obligations of the Company
under this Purchase Warrant shall be discharged only to the extent of the net amount of freely transferable United States dollars that the Holder or such controlling persons, as the
case may be, in accordance with normal bank procedures, are able to lawfully purchase with such amount of such other currency. To the extent that the Holder or such controlling
persons are not able to purchase sufficient United States dollars with such amount of such other currency to discharge the obligations of the Company to the Holder or such
controlling persons, the obligations of the Company shall not be discharged with respect to such difference, and any such undischarged amount will be due as a separate
obligation and shall not be affected by payment of or judgment being obtained for any other sums due under or in respect of this Purchase Warrant.
9.6
Waiver, etc. The failure of the Company or the Holder to at any time enforce any of the provisions of this Purchase Warrant shall not be deemed or construed to
be a waiver of any such provision, nor to in any way affect the validity of this Purchase Warrant or any provision hereof or the right of the Company or any Holder to thereafter
enforce each and every provision of this Purchase Warrant. No waiver of any breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment of any of the provisions of this Purchase Warrant shall be
effective unless set forth in a written instrument executed by the party or parties against whom or which enforcement of such waiver is sought; and no waiver of any such breach,
non-compliance or non-fulfillment shall be construed or deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment.
9.7
Execution in Counterparts. This Purchase Warrant may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement, and shall become effective when one or more
counterparts has been signed by each of the parties hereto and delivered to each of the other parties hereto. Such counterparts may be delivered by facsimile transmission or other
electronic transmission.
9.8
Exchange Agreement. As a condition of the Holder’s receipt and acceptance of this Purchase Warrant, Holder agrees that, at any time prior to the complete
exercise of this Purchase Warrant by Holder, if the Company and Aegis enter into an agreement (“Exchange Agreement”) pursuant to which they agree that all outstanding
Purchase Warrants will be exchanged for securities or cash or a combination of both, then Holder shall agree to such exchange and become a party to the Exchange Agreement.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Purchase Warrant to be signed by its duly authorized officer as of the ____ day of _______, 2013.
ALCOBRA LTD.
By:
Name:
Title:
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[Form to be used to exercise Purchase Warrant]
Date: __________, 20___
The undersigned hereby elects irrevocably to exercise the Purchase Warrant for ______ ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share (the “Shares”), of Alcobra Ltd., an
Israeli corporation (the “Company”), and hereby makes payment of $____ (at the rate of $____ per Share) in payment of the applicable Exercise Price pursuant thereto. Please
issue the Shares as to which this Purchase Warrant is exercised in accordance with the instructions given below and, if applicable, a new Purchase Warrant representing the
number of Shares for which this Purchase Warrant has not been exercised.
or
The undersigned hereby elects irrevocably to convert its right to purchase ___ Shares of the Company under the Purchase Warrant for ______ Shares, as determined in
accordance with the following formula:
X

Y(A-B)
A

=

Where,
X
Y
A
B

=
=
=
=

The number of Shares to be issued to Holder;
The number of Shares for which the Purchase Warrant is being exercised;
The fair market value of one Share which is equal to $_____; and
The applicable Exercise Price which is equal to $______ per share

The undersigned agrees and acknowledges that the calculation set forth above is subject to confirmation by the Company and any disagreement with respect to the
calculation shall be resolved by the Company in its sole discretion.
Please issue the Shares as to which this Purchase Warrant is exercised in accordance with the instructions given below and, if applicable, a new Purchase Warrant
representing the number of Shares for which this Purchase Warrant has not been converted.
Signature
Signature Guaranteed
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES
Name:
(Print in Block Letters)
Address:

NOTICE: The signature to this form must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the Purchase Warrant without alteration or enlargement or any change
whatsoever, and must be guaranteed by a bank, other than a savings bank, or by a trust company or by a firm having membership on a registered national securities exchange.
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[Form to be used to assign Purchase Warrant]
ASSIGNMENT
(To be executed by the registered Holder to effect a transfer of the within Purchase Warrant):
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, __________________ does hereby sell, assign and transfer unto the right to purchase ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share, of Alcobra Ltd.,
an Israeli corporation (the “Company”), evidenced by the Purchase Warrant and does hereby authorize the Company to transfer such right on the books of the Company.
Dated: __________, 20__
Signature
Signature Guaranteed
NOTICE: The signature to this form must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the within Purchase Warrant without alteration or enlargement or any change
whatsoever, and must be guaranteed by a bank, other than a savings bank, or by a trust company or by a firm having membership on a registered national securities exchange.
Ex. A-15

EXHIBIT B
Form of Lock-Up Agreement
Aegis Capital Corp.
810 Seventh Avenue, 18th Floor
New York, New York 10019
Re: Alcobra Ltd. (the "Company")
Dear Sirs:
This letter agreement (this "Agreement") is delivered to you pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement (the "Underwriting Agreement") to be entered into by the
Company, as issuer, and Aegis Capital Corp., as the underwriter (the "Underwriter"), and as the representative (the "Representative") of the several Underwriters, if any, named
therein. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriter intends to effect a public offering (the "Offering") of ordinary shares, par
value NIS 0.01 per share, of the Company (the "Shares"), as described in and contemplated by the registration statement of the Company on Form F-1, File No. 333-186003 (the
"Registration Statement"), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The undersigned recognizes that it is in the best financial interests of the undersigned, as an officer or director, or an owner of shares, options, warrants or other
securities of the Company (the "Company Securities"), that the Company complete the proposed Offering.
The undersigned further recognizes that the Company Securities held by the undersigned are, or may be, subject to certain restrictions on transferability, including those
imposed by United States federal securities laws. Notwithstanding these restrictions, the undersigned has agreed to enter into this Agreement to further assure the Underwriter
that the Company Securities of the undersigned, now held or hereafter acquired, will not enter the public market at a time that might impair the underwriting effort.
Therefore, as an inducement to the Underwriter to execute the Underwriting Agreement, the undersigned hereby acknowledges and agrees that the undersigned will not
(i) offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge, grant any option to purchase, make any short sale or otherwise dispose of, engage in any hedging or other transactions, including, without
limitation, any short sale or any purchase, sale or grant of any right (including without limitation any put or call option) with respect to, or with respect to any security that
includes, relates to, or derives any significant part of its value from (collectively a "Disposition"), any Company Securities, or any securities convertible into or exercisable or
exchangeable for, or any rights to purchase or otherwise acquire, any Company Securities held by the undersigned or acquired by the undersigned after the date hereof, or that
may be deemed to be beneficially owned by the undersigned (collectively, the "Lock-Up Shares"), pursuant to the rules and regulations promulgated under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the "Act"), and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for a period commencing on the date hereof and ending 180 days after the date of the
Company’s prospectus (the "Prospectus") first filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Act, (the "Lock-Up Period"), without the prior written consent of the Representative, or (ii)
exercise or seek to exercise or effectuate in any manner any rights of any nature that the undersigned has or may have hereafter to require the Company to register, under the Act,
the undersigned’s sale, transfer or other disposition of any of the Lock-Up Shares or other securities of the Company held by the undersigned, or to otherwise participate as a
selling securityholder in any manner in any registration effected by the Company under the Act, including under the Registration Statement, during the Lock-Up Period.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (x) during the last 17 days of the Lock-Up Period, the Company issues a release concerning earnings or material news or a material event
relating to the Company occurs; or (y) prior to the expiration of the Lock-Up Period, the Company announces it will release earnings results during the 16-day period beginning
on the last day of the Lock-Up Period; the restrictions imposed in this Agreement shall continue to apply until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the issuance of the
earnings release or the occurrence of the material news or material event.
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The undersigned agrees and consents to the entry of stop transfer instructions with the Company’s transfer agent against the transfer of any Company Securities or any
securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for, or any rights to purchase or otherwise acquire, any Company Securities, held by the undersigned except in
compliance with this Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, and subject to the conditions below, the undersigned may transfer the Lock-Up Shares in the transactions listed as (i)-(iv) below without
the prior written consent of the Underwriter, provided that (1) prior to such a transfer, the Underwriter shall have received a duplicate form of this Agreement executed and
delivered by each donee, trustee, distributee or transferee, as the case may be, and (2) no such transfer shall involve a disposition for value:
(i)

as a bona fide gift or gifts;

(ii)

to any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the undersigned or the immediate family of the undersigned;

(iii)

to any beneficiary of the undersigned pursuant to a will or other testamentary document or applicable laws of descent; or

(iv)

to any corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity all of the beneficial ownership interests of which are held by the undersigned or the
immediate family of the undersigned.

It is understood that if the Underwriting Agreement (other than the provisions thereof that survive termination) shall terminate or be terminated prior to payment for and
delivery of the Shares, you will release the undersigned from the obligations under this Agreement.
Facsimile or electronically transmitted signatures to this Agreement shall be binding and have the same force and effect as manually executed original signatures.
In furtherance of the foregoing, the Company and its transfer agent and registrar are hereby authorized to decline to make any transfer of Lock-Up Shares if such
transfer would constitute a violation or breach of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be binding on the undersigned and the respective successors, heirs, personal
representatives and assigns of the undersigned. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Underwriting
Agreement.
This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without regard to the conflict of laws principles thereof.
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Very truly yours,

Name:
Ex. B-3

EXHIBIT C
Form of Press Release
ALCOBRA LTD.
[Date]
Alcobra Ltd. (the “Company”) announced today that Aegis Capital Corp., acting as representative for the underwriters in the Company’s recent public offering of _______
ordinary shares of the Company, is [waiving] [releasing] a lock-up restriction with respect to _________ shares of the Company’s ordinary shares held by [certain officers or
directors] [an officer or director] of the Company. The [waiver] [release] will take effect on _________, 20___, and the shares may be sold on or after such date.
This press release is not an offer or sale of the securities in the United States or in any other jurisdiction where such offer or sale is prohibited, and such securities may not be
offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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Exhibit 4.2
Form of Representative’s Warrant Agreement
THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF THIS PURCHASE WARRANT BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT SELL, TRANSFER OR ASSIGN THIS
PURCHASE WARRANT EXCEPT AS HEREIN PROVIDED AND THE REGISTERED HOLDER OF THIS PURCHASE WARRANT AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT SELL,
TRANSFER, ASSIGN, PLEDGE OR HYPOTHECATE THIS PURCHASE WARRANT FOR A PERIOD OF ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY DAYS FOLLOWING THE
EFFECTIVE DATE (DEFINED BELOW) TO ANYONE OTHER THAN (I) AEGIS CAPITAL CORP. OR AN UNDERWRITER OR A SELECTED DEALER IN
CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING, OR (II) A BONA FIDE OFFICER OR PARTNER OF AEGIS CAPITAL CORP. OR OF ANY SUCH UNDERWRITER OR
SELECTED DEALER.
ORDINARY SHARE PURCHASE WARRANT
For the Purchase of [_____] Ordinary Shares
of
ALCOBRA LTD.
1.
Purchase Warrant. THIS CERTIFIES THAT, in consideration of funds duly paid by or on behalf of Aegis Capital Corp. (“Holder”), as registered owner of this Purchase
Warrant, to Alcobra Ltd., a Israeli corporation (the “Company”), Holder is entitled, at any time or from time to time from time to time, in whole or in part, during a period
commencing one year (the “First Anniversary”) from [_______________] [DATE THAT IS ONE YEAR FROM THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE OFFERING] (the
“Commencement Date”) to subscribe for, purchase and receive, in whole or in part, up to an aggregate of [____] ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share (the “Shares”),
subject to adjustment as provided in Section 6 hereof the rights granted by this Purchase Warrant, including the exercise price per Share and the number of Shares to be received
upon such exercise, shall be adjusted as therein specified, as follows: (i) one third of this Purchase Warrant will have an exercise period of 12 months beginning on the First
Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per Ordinary Share of $[•] [150.0% of the initial public offering price per share of ordinary share]; (ii) one third of this Purchase Warrant
will have an exercise period of 18 months beginning on the First Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per Ordinary Share of $[•] [200.0% of the initial public offering price per
share of ordinary share]; and (iii) one third of this Purchase Warrant will have an exercise period of 24 months beginning on the First Anniversary, at an initial exercise price per
share of Ordinary Share of $[•], [250.0% of the initial public offering price per share of ordinary share] (each an ”Expiration Date”), provided, however, that upon the occurrence
of any of the events specified in Section 6 hereof, the rights granted by this Purchase Warrant, including the exercise price per Share and the number of Shares to be received
upon such exercise, shall be adjusted as therein specified. If an applicable Expiration Date is a day on which banking institutions are authorized by law to close, then this
Purchase Warrant may be exercised on the next succeeding day which is not such a day in accordance with the terms herein. During the period ending on applicable Expiration
Date, the Company agrees not to take any action that would terminate this Purchase Warrant. The term “Exercise Price” shall mean, as the case maybe, the applicable initial
exercise prices or the adjusted applicable exercise prices, depending on the context.

2.

Exercise.

2.1
Exercise Form. In order to exercise this Purchase Warrant, the exercise form attached hereto must be duly executed and completed and delivered to the
Company, together with this Purchase Warrant and payment of the applicable Exercise Price for the Shares being purchased payable in cash by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated by the Company or by certified check or official bank check. If the subscription rights represented hereby shall not be exercised at or
before 5:00 p.m., Eastern time, on the Expiration Date, this Purchase Warrant shall become and be void without further force or effect, and all rights represented hereby shall
cease and expire.
2.2
Cashless Exercise. If at any time after the Commencement Date there is no effective registration statement registering, or no current prospectus available for,
the resale of the Shares by the Holder, then in lieu of exercising this Purchase Warrant by payment of cash or check payable to the order of the Company pursuant to Section 2.1
above, Holder may elect to receive the number of Shares equal to the value of this Purchase Warrant (or the portion thereof being exercised), by surrender of this Purchase
Warrant to the Company, together with the exercise form attached hereto, in which event the issue to Holder, Shares in accordance with the following formula:
X

Y(A-B)
A

=

Where,
X
Y
A
B

=
=
=
=

The number of Shares to be issued to Holder;
The number of Shares for which the Purchase Warrant is being exercised;
The fair market value of one Share; and
The applicable Exercise Price.

For purposes of this Section 2.2, the fair market value of a Share is defined as follows:
(i)

if the Company’s ordinary shares are traded on a securities exchange, the value shall be deemed to be the closing price on such exchange prior to the exercise
form being submitted in connection with the exercise of the Purchase Warrant; or

(ii)

if the Company’s ordinary shares are actively traded over-the-counter, the value shall be deemed to be the closing bid prior to the exercise form being submitted
in connection with the exercise of the Purchase Warrant; if there is no active public market, the value shall be the fair market value thereof, as determined in
good faith by the Company’s Board of Directors.

2.3
Legend. Each certificate for the securities purchased under this Purchase Warrant shall bear a legend as follows unless such securities have been registered under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”):
“The securities represented by this certificate have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), or applicable state law. Neither the
securities nor any interest therein may be offered for sale, sold or otherwise transferred except pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, or pursuant
to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act and applicable state law which, in the opinion of counsel to the Company, is available.”
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3.

Transfer.

3.1
General Restrictions. The registered Holder of this Purchase Warrant agrees by his, her or its acceptance hereof, that such Holder will not: (a) sell, transfer,
assign, pledge or hypothecate this Purchase Warrant for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days following the Effective Date to anyone other than: (i) Aegis Capital Corp.
(“Aegis”) or an underwriter or a selected dealer participating in the Offering, or (ii) a bona fide officer or partner of AEGIS or of any such underwriter or selected dealer, in each
case in accordance with FINRA Conduct Rule 5110(g)(1), or (b) cause this Purchase Warrant or the securities issuable hereunder to be the subject of any hedging, short sale,
derivative, put or call transaction that would result in the effective economic disposition of this Purchase Warrant or the securities hereunder, except as provided for in FINRA
Rule 5110(g)(2). On and after 180 days after the Effective Date, transfers to others may be made subject to compliance with or exemptions from applicable securities laws. In
order to make any permitted assignment, the Holder must deliver to the Company the assignment form attached hereto duly executed and completed, together with the Purchase
Warrant and payment of all transfer taxes, if any, payable in connection therewith. The Company shall within five (5) Business Days transfer this Purchase Warrant on the books
of the Company and shall execute and deliver a new Purchase Warrant or Purchase Warrants of like tenor to the appropriate assignee(s) expressly evidencing the right to purchase
the aggregate number of Shares purchasable hereunder or such portion of such number as shall be contemplated by any such assignment.
3.2
Restrictions Imposed by the Securities Act. The securities evidenced by this Purchase Warrant shall not be transferred unless and until: (i) the Company has
received the opinion of counsel for the Holder that the securities may be transferred pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act and applicable state
securities laws, the availability of which is established to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company (the Company hereby agreeing that the opinion of Troutman Sanders LLP
shall be deemed satisfactory evidence of the availability of an exemption), or (ii) a registration statement or a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement relating to
the offer and sale of such securities has been filed by the Company and declared effective by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the ”Commission”) and compliance
with applicable state securities law has been established.
4.

Registration Rights.
4.1

Demand Registration.

4.1.1
Grant of Right. The Company, upon written demand (a “Demand Notice”) of the Holder(s) of at least 51% of the Purchase Warrants and/or the
underlying Shares (“Majority Holders”), agrees to register, on one occasion, all or any portion of the Shares underlying the Purchase Warrants (collectively, the “Registrable
Securities”). On such occasion, the Company will file a registration statement with the Commission covering the Registrable Securities within sixty (60) days after receipt of a
Demand Notice and use its reasonable best efforts to have the registration statement declared effective promptly thereafter, subject to compliance with review by the Commission;
provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to comply with a Demand Notice if the Company has filed a registration statement with respect to which the Holder is
entitled to piggyback registration rights pursuant to Section 4.2 hereof and either: (i) the Holder has elected to participate in the offering covered by such registration statement or
(ii) if such registration statement relates to an underwritten primary offering of securities of the Company, until the offering covered by such registration statement has been
withdrawn or until thirty (30) days after such offering is consummated. The demand for registration may be made at any time during a period of four (4) years beginning on the
Commencement Date. The Company covenants and agrees to give written notice of its receipt of any Demand Notice by any Holder(s) to all other registered Holders of the
Purchase Warrants and/or the Registrable Securities within ten (10) days after the date of the receipt of any such Demand Notice.
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4.1.2
Terms. The Company shall bear all fees and expenses attendant to the registration of the Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 4.1.1, but the
Holders shall pay any and all underwriting commissions and the expenses of any legal counsel selected by the Holders to represent them in connection with the sale of the
Registrable Securities. The Company agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to cause the filing required herein to become effective promptly and to qualify or register the
Registrable Securities in such States as are reasonably requested by the Holder(s); provided, however, that in no event shall the Company be required to register the Registrable
Securities in a State in which such registration would cause: (i) the Company to be obligated to register or license to do business in such State or submit to general service of
process in such State, or (ii) the principal shareholders of the Company to be obligated to escrow their shares of capital stock of the Company. The Company shall cause any
registration statement filed pursuant to the demand right granted under Section 4.1.1 to remain effective for a period of at least twelve (12) consecutive months after the date that
the Holders of the Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement are first given the opportunity to sell all of such securities. The Holders shall only use the
prospectuses provided by the Company to sell the shares covered by such registration statement, and will immediately cease to use any prospectus furnished by the Company if
the Company advises the Holder that such prospectus may no longer be used due to a material misstatement or omission. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 4.1.2, the
Holder shall be entitled to a demand registration under this Section 4.1.2 on only one (1) occasion and such demand registration right shall terminate on the fifth anniversary of
the effectiveness of the registration statement in accordance with FINRA Rule 5110(f)(2)(H)(iv).
4.2

Reserved.

4.3

General Terms.

4.3.1
Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify the Holder(s) of the Registrable Securities to be sold pursuant to any registration statement hereunder
and each person, if any, who controls such Holders within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(“Exchange Act”), against all loss, claim, damage, expense or liability (including all reasonable attorneys’ fees and other expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing
or defending against any claim whatsoever) to which any of them may become subject under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, arising from such registration
statement but only to the same extent and with the same effect as the provisions pursuant to which the Company has agreed to indemnify the Underwriters contained in Section
5.1 of the Underwriting Agreement between the Underwriters and the Company, dated as of [___________], 2013. The Holder(s) of the Registrable Securities to be sold pursuant
to such registration statement, and their successors and assigns, shall severally, and not jointly, indemnify the Company, against all loss, claim, damage, expense or liability
(including all reasonable attorneys’ fees and other expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any claim whatsoever) to which they may
become subject under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, arising from information furnished by or on behalf of such Holders, or their successors or assigns, in
writing, for specific inclusion in such registration statement to the same extent and with the same effect as the provisions contained in Section 5.2 of the Underwriting Agreement
pursuant to which the Underwriters have agreed to indemnify the Company.
4.3.2
Exercise of Purchase Warrants. Nothing contained in this Purchase Warrant shall be construed as requiring the Holder(s) to exercise their Purchase
Warrants prior to or after the initial filing of any registration statement or the effectiveness thereof.
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4.3.3
Documents Delivered to Holders. The Company shall furnish to each Holder participating in any of the foregoing offerings and to each underwriter of
any such offering, if any, a signed counterpart, addressed to such Holder or underwriter, of: (i) an opinion of counsel to the Company, dated the effective date of such registration
statement (and, if such registration includes an underwritten public offering, an opinion dated the date of the closing under any underwriting agreement related thereto), and (ii) a
“cold comfort” letter dated the effective date of such registration statement (and, if such registration includes an underwritten public offering, a letter dated the date of the closing
under the underwriting agreement) signed by the independent registered public accounting firm which has issued a report on the Company’s financial statements included in such
registration statement, in each case covering substantially the same matters with respect to such registration statement (and the prospectus included therein) and, in the case of
such accountants’ letter, with respect to events subsequent to the date of such financial statements, as are customarily covered in opinions of issuer’s counsel and in accountants’
letters delivered to underwriters in underwritten public offerings of securities. The Company shall also deliver promptly to each Holder participating in the offering requesting the
correspondence and memoranda described below and to the managing underwriter, if any, copies of all correspondence between the Commission and the Company, its counsel or
auditors and all memoranda relating to discussions with the Commission or its staff with respect to the registration statement and permit each Holder and underwriter to do such
investigation, upon reasonable advance notice, with respect to information contained in or omitted from the registration statement as it deems reasonably necessary to comply
with applicable securities laws or rules of FINRA. Such investigation shall include access to books, records and properties and opportunities to discuss the business of the
Company with its officers and independent auditors, all to such reasonable extent and at such reasonable times as any such Holder shall reasonably request.
4.3.4
Underwriting Agreement. The Company shall enter into an underwriting agreement with the managing underwriter(s), if any, selected by any Holders
whose Registrable Securities are being registered pursuant to this Section 4, which managing underwriter shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Company. Such agreement shall
be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Company, each Holder and such managing underwriters, and shall contain such representations, warranties and covenants
by the Company and such other terms as are customarily contained in agreements of that type used by the managing underwriter. The Holders shall be parties to any underwriting
agreement relating to an underwritten sale of their Registrable Securities and may, at their option, require that any or all the representations, warranties and covenants of the
Company to or for the benefit of such underwriters shall also be made to and for the benefit of such Holders. Such Holders shall not be required to make any representations or
warranties to or agreements with the Company or the underwriters except as they may relate to such Holders, their Shares and their intended methods of distribution.
4.3.5
Documents to be Delivered by Holder(s). Each of the Holder(s) participating in any of the foregoing offerings shall furnish to the Company a
completed and executed questionnaire provided by the Company requesting information customarily sought of selling security holders.
4.3.6
Damages. Should the registration or the effectiveness thereof required by Sections 4.1 and 4.2 hereof be delayed by the Company or the Company
otherwise fails to comply with such provisions, the Holder(s) shall, in addition to any other legal or other relief available to the Holder(s), be entitled to obtain specific
performance or other equitable (including injunctive) relief against the threatened breach of such provisions or the continuation of any such breach, without the necessity of
proving actual damages and without the necessity of posting bond or other security.
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5.

New Purchase Warrants to be Issued.

5.1
Partial Exercise or Transfer. Subject to the restrictions in Section 3 hereof, this Purchase Warrant may be exercised or assigned in whole or in part. In the event
of the exercise or assignment hereof in part only, upon surrender of this Purchase Warrant for cancellation, together with the duly executed exercise or assignment form and funds
sufficient to pay any applicable Exercise Price and/or transfer tax if exercised pursuant to Section 2.1 hereto, the Company shall cause to be delivered to the Holder without
charge a new Purchase Warrant of like tenor to this Purchase Warrant in the name of the Holder evidencing the right of the Holder to purchase the number of Shares purchasable
hereunder as to which this Purchase Warrant has not been exercised or assigned.
5.2
Lost Certificate. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence satisfactory to it of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Purchase Warrant and of
reasonably satisfactory indemnification or the posting of a bond, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Purchase Warrant of like tenor and date. Any such new Purchase
Warrant executed and delivered as a result of such loss, theft, mutilation or destruction shall constitute a substitute contractual obligation on the part of the Company.
6.

Adjustments.

6.1
Adjustments to Exercise Price and Number of Securities. The applicable Exercise Price and the number of Shares underlying the Purchase Warrant shall be
subject to adjustment from time to time as hereinafter set forth:
6.1.1
Share Dividends; Split Ups. If, after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 6.3 below, the number of outstanding Shares is increased
by a stock dividend payable in Shares or by a split up of Shares or other similar event, then, on the effective day thereof, the number of Shares purchasable hereunder shall be
increased in proportion to such increase in outstanding Shares, and the applicable Exercise Price shall be proportionately decreased.
6.1.2
Aggregation of Shares. If, after the date hereof, and subject to the provisions of Section 6.3 below, the number of outstanding Shares is decreased by a
consolidation, combination or reclassification of Shares or other similar event, then, on the effective date thereof, the number of Shares purchasable hereunder shall be decreased
in proportion to such decrease in outstanding Shares, and the applicable Exercise Price shall be proportionately increased.
6.1.3
Replacement of Securities upon Reorganization, etc. In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding Shares other than a change
covered by Section 6.1.1 or 6.1.2 hereof or that solely affects the par value of such Shares, or in the case of any share reconstruction or amalgamation or consolidation of the
Company with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation in which the Company is the continuing corporation and that does
not result in any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding Shares), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the property of the
Company as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection with which the Company is dissolved, the Holder of this Purchase Warrant shall have the right thereafter
(until the expiration of the right of exercise of this Purchase Warrant) to receive upon the exercise hereof, for the same aggregate applicable Exercise Price payable hereunder
immediately prior to such event, the kind and amount of shares of stock or other securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such reclassification, reorganization, share
reconstruction or amalgamation, or consolidation, or upon a dissolution following any such sale or transfer, by a Holder of the number of Shares of the Company obtainable upon
exercise of this Purchase Warrant immediately prior to such event; and if any reclassification also results in a change in Shares covered by Section 6.1.1 or 6.1.2, then such
adjustment shall be made pursuant to Sections 6.1.1, 6.1.2 and this Section 6.1.3. The provisions of this Section 6.1.3 shall similarly apply to successive reclassifications,
reorganizations, share reconstructions or amalgamations, or consolidations, sales or other transfers.
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6.1.4

[Reserved.]

6.1.5
Changes in Form of Purchase Warrant. This form of Purchase Warrant need not be changed because of any change pursuant to this Section 6.1, and
Purchase Warrants issued after such change may state the same applicable Exercise Price and the same number of Shares as are stated in the Purchase Warrants initially issued
pursuant to this Agreement. The acceptance by any Holder of the issuance of new Purchase Warrants reflecting a required or permissive change shall not be deemed to waive any
rights to an adjustment occurring after the Commencement Date or the computation thereof.
6.2
Substitute Purchase Warrant. In case of any consolidation of the Company with, or share reconstruction or amalgamation of the Company with or into, another
corporation (other than a consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation which does not result in any reclassification or change of the outstanding Shares), the corporation
formed by such consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation shall execute and deliver to the Holder a supplemental Purchase Warrant providing that the holder of each
Purchase Warrant then outstanding or to be outstanding shall have the right thereafter (until the stated expiration of such Purchase Warrant) to receive, upon exercise of such
Purchase Warrant, the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable upon such consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation, by a
holder of the number of Shares of the Company for which such Purchase Warrant might have been exercised immediately prior to such consolidation, share reconstruction or
amalgamation, sale or transfer. Such supplemental Purchase Warrant shall provide for adjustments which shall be identical to the adjustments provided for in this Section 6. The
above provision of this Section shall similarly apply to successive consolidations or share reconstructions or amalgamations.
6.3
Elimination of Fractional Interests. The Company shall not be required to issue certificates representing fractions of Shares upon the exercise of the Purchase
Warrant, nor shall it be required to issue scrip or pay cash in lieu of any fractional interests, it being the intent of the parties that all fractional interests shall be eliminated by
rounding any fraction up or down, as the case may be, to the nearest whole number of Shares or other securities, properties or rights.
7.
Reservation and Listing. The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized Shares, solely for the purpose of issuance upon exercise of the
Purchase Warrants, such number of Shares or other securities, properties or rights as shall be issuable upon the exercise thereof. The Company covenants and agrees that, upon
exercise of the Purchase Warrants and payment of the applicable Exercise Price therefor, in accordance with the terms hereby, all Shares and other securities issuable upon such
exercise shall be duly and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to preemptive rights of any shareholder. The Company further covenants and agrees that
upon exercise of the Purchase Warrants and payment of the applicable exercise price therefor, all Shares and other securities issuable upon such exercise shall be duly and validly
issued, fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to preemptive rights of any shareholder. As long as the Purchase Warrants shall be outstanding, the Company shall use its
commercially reasonable efforts to cause all Shares issuable upon exercise of the Purchase Warrants to be listed (subject to official notice of issuance) on all national securities
exchanges (or, if applicable, on the OTC Bulletin Board or any successor trading market) on which the Shares issued to the public in the Offering may then be listed and/or
quoted.
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8.

Certain Notice Requirements.

8.1
Holder’s Right to Receive Notice. Nothing herein shall be construed as conferring upon the Holders the right to vote or consent or to receive notice as a
shareholder for the election of directors or any other matter, or as having any rights whatsoever as a shareholder of the Company. If, however, at any time prior to the expiration
of the Purchase Warrants and their exercise, any of the events described in Section 8.2 shall occur, then, in one or more of said events, the Company shall give written notice of
such event at least fifteen days prior to the date fixed as a record date or the date of closing the transfer books for the determination of the shareholders entitled to such dividend,
distribution, conversion or exchange of securities or subscription rights, or entitled to vote on such proposed dissolution, liquidation, winding up or sale. Such notice shall specify
such record date or the date of the closing of the transfer books, as the case may be. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall deliver to each Holder a copy of each
notice given to the other shareholders of the Company at the same time and in the same manner that such notice is given to the shareholders.
8.2
Events Requiring Notice. The Company shall be required to give the notice described in this Section 8 upon one or more of the following events: (i) if the
Company shall take a record of the holders of its Shares for the purpose of entitling them to receive a dividend or distribution payable otherwise than in cash, or a cash dividend
or distribution payable otherwise than out of retained earnings, as indicated by the accounting treatment of such dividend or distribution on the books of the Company, (ii) the
Company shall offer to all the holders of its Shares any additional shares of capital stock of the Company or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock
of the Company, or any option, right or warrant to subscribe therefor, or (iii) a dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company (other than in connection with a
consolidation or share reconstruction or amalgamation) or a sale of all or substantially all of its property, assets and business shall be proposed.
8.3
Notice of Change in applicable Exercise Price. The Company shall, promptly after an event requiring a change in the applicable Exercise Price pursuant to
Section 6 hereof, send notice to the Holders of such event and change (“Price Notice”). The Price Notice shall describe the event causing the change and the method of
calculating same and shall be certified as being true and accurate by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer.
8.4
Transmittal of Notices. All notices, requests, consents and other communications under this Purchase Warrant shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly made when hand delivered, or mailed by express mail or private courier service: (i) if to the registered Holder of the Purchase Warrant, to the address of such Holder as
shown on the books of the Company, or (ii) if to the Company, to following address or to such other address as the Company may designate by notice to the Holders:
If to the Holder:
Aegis Capital Corp.
810 Seventh Avenue, 11th Floor
New York, New York 10019
Attn: Mr. David Bocchi, Managing Director of Investment Banking
Fax No.: 212-813-1047
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
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Troutman Sanders LLP
The Chrysler Building
405 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10174
Attn: Henry I. Rothman
Fax No.: 212-704-6288
If to the Company:
Alcobra Ltd.
65 Rothschild Blvd.
Tel Aviv 65785 Israel
Attention: Dr. Yaron Daniely
Fax No: 011-972-72-220-4664
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
ZAG/S&W LLP
1633 Broadway
New York, NY 10019
Attention: Edwin L. Miller Jr.
Fax No: 617-338-2880
9.

Miscellaneous.

9.1
Amendments. The Company and Aegis may from time to time supplement or amend this Purchase Warrant without the approval of any of the Holders in order
to cure any ambiguity, to correct or supplement any provision contained herein that may be defective or inconsistent with any other provisions herein, or to make any other
provisions in regard to matters or questions arising hereunder that the Company and Aegis may deem necessary or desirable and that the Company and Aegis deem shall not
adversely affect the interest of the Holders. All other modifications or amendments shall require the written consent of and be signed by the party against whom enforcement of
the modification or amendment is sought.
9.2
Headings. The headings contained herein are for the sole purpose of convenience of reference, and shall not in any way limit or affect the meaning or
interpretation of any of the terms or provisions of this Purchase Warrant.
9.3.
Entire Agreement. This Purchase Warrant (together with the other agreements and documents being delivered pursuant to or in connection with this Purchase
Warrant) constitutes the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings of the parties, oral
and written, with respect to the subject matter hereof.
9.4
Binding Effect. This Purchase Warrant shall inure solely to the benefit of and shall be binding upon, the Holder and the Company and their permitted assignees,
respective successors, legal representative and assigns, and no other person shall have or be construed to have any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of
or by virtue of this Purchase Warrant or any provisions herein contained.
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9.5

Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Trial by Jury.

9.5.1
This Purchase Warrant shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect
to conflict of laws principles thereof that would defer to the substantive laws of another jurisdiction. By the execution and delivery of this Purchase Warrant , the Company
hereby irrevocably designates and appoints Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Sullivan & Worcester LLP, 1633 Broadway, New York, NY 10019 as its authorized agent upon whom
process may be served in any suit, proceeding or other action against it instituted by any Holder or by any person controlling a Holder as to which such Holder or any such
controlling person is a party and based upon Purchase Warrant, or in any other action against the Company in the New York Supreme Court, County of New York and the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York, arising out of this Purchase Warrant. The Company expressly accepts jurisdiction of any such court in respect of any
such suit, proceeding or other action and, without limiting other methods of obtaining jurisdiction, expressly submits to nonexclusive personal jurisdiction of any such court in
respect of any such suit, proceeding or other action. Such designation and appointment shall be irrevocable, unless and until a successor authorized agent in the County and State
of New York reasonably acceptable to the Holder shall have been appointed by the Company, such successor shall have accepted such appointment and written notice thereof
shall have been given to the Holder. The Company further agrees that service of process upon its authorized agent or successor shall be deemed in every respect personal service
of process upon the Company in any such suit, proceeding or other action. In the event that service of any process or notice of motion or other application to any such court in
connection with any such motion in connection with any such action or proceeding cannot be made in the manner described above, such service may be made in the manner set
forth in conformance with the Hague Convention on the Service Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents on Civil and Commercial Matters or any successor convention
or treaty. The Company hereby irrevocably waives any objection that it may have or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding arising out of or based
on this Purchase Warrant in any Federal or state court sitting in the County of New York and hereby further irrevocably waives any claim that any such action or proceeding in
any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. The Company agrees that any final judgment after exhaustion of all appeals or the expiration of time to appeal in any
such action or proceeding arising out of this Purchase Warrant rendered by any such Federal court or state court shall be conclusive and may be enforced in any other jurisdiction
by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing contained in this Purchase Warrant shall affect or limit the right of the Holder or any person controlling
a Holder to serve any process or notice of motion or other application in any other manner permitted by law or limit or affect the right of the Holder or any person controlling a
Holder to bring any action or proceeding against the Company or any of its properties in the courts of any other jurisdiction. The Company further agrees to take any and all
action, including the execution and filing of all such instruments and documents, as may be necessary to continue such designations and appointments or such substitute
designations and appointments in full force and effect. The Company hereby agrees with the Holder to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the New York Supreme Court, County of
New York or the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York in connection with any action or proceeding arising from this Purchase Warrant brought by
the Company, the Holder or any person controlling a Holder. The Company (on its behalf and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, on behalf of its stockholders and
affiliates) and each of the Holder hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all right to trial by jury in any legal proceeding arising out
of or relating to this Purchase Warrant or the transactions contemplated hereby
- 10 -

9.5.2
The Company agrees that in any suit (whether in a court in the United States, Israel or elsewhere) seeking enforcement of this Purchase Warrant or
provisions of this Purchase Warrant (i) if the plaintiffs therein seek a judgment in either United States dollars or Israeli currency, subject to Israeli foreign currency control
regulations, the Company will not interpose any defense or objection to or otherwise oppose judgment, if any, being awarded in such currencies except to the extent that such a
judgment would violate the laws of the State of Israel, and (ii) if the plaintiffs therein seek to have any judgment (or any aspect thereof) awarded in New Israeli Shekels linked,
for the period from entry of such judgment until actual payment thereof in full has been made, to either or both of the consumer price index of Israel or changes in the New Israeli
Shekel-United States dollar exchange rate, the Company will not interpose any defense or objection to or otherwise oppose inclusion of such linkage in any such judgment except
to the extent that such a judgment would violate the laws of the State of Israel. The Company agrees that it will not initiate or seek to initiate any action, suit or proceeding, in
Israel or in any other jurisdiction other than in the United States, seeking damages in respect of or for the purpose of obtaining any injunction or declaratory judgment against the
enforcement of, or a declaratory judgment concerning any alleged breach by the Company or other claim by the Holder, or any person controlling a Holder in respect of this
Purchase Warrant or any of the Holder's rights under this Purchase Warrant, including without limitation any action, suit or proceeding challenging the enforceability of or
seeking to invalidate in any respect the submission by the Company hereunder to the jurisdiction of the courts or the designation of the laws as the law applicable to this Purchase
Warrant, in each case as set forth herein.
9.5.3
The Company agrees that if any payment of any sum due under this Purchase Warrant from the Company is made to or received by the Holder or
any controlling person of any Holder in a currency other than freely transferable United States dollars, whether by judicial judgment or otherwise, the obligations of the Company
under this Purchase Warrant shall be discharged only to the extent of the net amount of freely transferable United States dollars that the Holder or such controlling persons, as the
case may be, in accordance with normal bank procedures, are able to lawfully purchase with such amount of such other currency. To the extent that the Holder or such controlling
persons are not able to purchase sufficient United States dollars with such amount of such other currency to discharge the obligations of the Company to the Holder or such
controlling persons, the obligations of the Company shall not be discharged with respect to such difference, and any such undischarged amount will be due as a separate
obligation and shall not be affected by payment of or judgment being obtained for any other sums due under or in respect of this Purchase Warrant.
9.6
Waiver, etc. The failure of the Company or the Holder to at any time enforce any of the provisions of this Purchase Warrant shall not be deemed or construed to
be a waiver of any such provision, nor to in any way affect the validity of this Purchase Warrant or any provision hereof or the right of the Company or any Holder to thereafter
enforce each and every provision of this Purchase Warrant. No waiver of any breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment of any of the provisions of this Purchase Warrant shall be
effective unless set forth in a written instrument executed by the party or parties against whom or which enforcement of such waiver is sought; and no waiver of any such breach,
non-compliance or non-fulfillment shall be construed or deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach, non-compliance or non-fulfillment.
9.7
Execution in Counterparts. This Purchase Warrant may be executed in one or more counterparts, and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement, and shall become effective when one or more
counterparts has been signed by each of the parties hereto and delivered to each of the other parties hereto. Such counterparts may be delivered by facsimile transmission or other
electronic transmission.
9.8
Exchange Agreement. As a condition of the Holder’s receipt and acceptance of this Purchase Warrant, Holder agrees that, at any time prior to the complete
exercise of this Purchase Warrant by Holder, if the Company and Aegis enter into an agreement (“Exchange Agreement”) pursuant to which they agree that all outstanding
Purchase Warrants will be exchanged for securities or cash or a combination of both, then Holder shall agree to such exchange and become a party to the Exchange Agreement.
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Purchase Warrant to be signed by its duly authorized officer as of the ____ day of _______, 2013.
ALCOBRA LTD.
By:
Name:
Title:
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[Form to be used to exercise Purchase Warrant]
Date: __________, 20___
The undersigned hereby elects irrevocably to exercise the Purchase Warrant for ______ ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share (the “Shares”), of Alcobra
Ltd., an Israeli corporation (the “Company”), and hereby makes payment of $____ (at the rate of $____ per Share) in payment of the applicable Exercise Price pursuant
thereto. Please issue the Shares as to which this Purchase Warrant is exercised in accordance with the instructions given below and, if applicable, a new Purchase
Warrant representing the number of Shares for which this Purchase Warrant has not been exercised.
or
The undersigned hereby elects irrevocably to convert its right to purchase ___ Shares of the Company under the Purchase Warrant for ______ Shares, as
determined in accordance with the following formula:
X

Y(A-B)
A

=

Where,
X
Y
A
B

=
=
=
=

The number of Shares to be issued to Holder;
The number of Shares for which the Purchase Warrant is being exercised;
The fair market value of one Share which is equal to $_____; and
The applicable Exercise Price which is equal to $______ per share

The undersigned agrees and acknowledges that the calculation set forth above is subject to confirmation by the Company and any disagreement with respect to
the calculation shall be resolved by the Company in its sole discretion.
Please issue the Shares as to which this Purchase Warrant is exercised in accordance with the instructions given below and, if applicable, a new Purchase
Warrant representing the number of Shares for which this Purchase Warrant has not been converted.
Signature
Signature Guaranteed
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES
Name:
(Print in Block Letters)
Address:

NOTICE: The signature to this form must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the Purchase Warrant without alteration or enlargement or any change
whatsoever, and must be guaranteed by a bank, other than a savings bank, or by a trust company or by a firm having membership on a registered national securities exchange.
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[Form to be used to assign Purchase Warrant]
ASSIGNMENT
(To be executed by the registered Holder to effect a transfer of the within Purchase Warrant):
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, __________________ does hereby sell, assign and transfer unto the right to purchase ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share, of Alcobra Ltd.,
an Israeli corporation (the “Company”), evidenced by the Purchase Warrant and does hereby authorize the Company to transfer such right on the books of the Company.
Dated: __________, 20__
Signature
Signature Guaranteed
NOTICE: The signature to this form must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the within Purchase Warrant without alteration or enlargement or any change
whatsoever, and must be guaranteed by a bank, other than a savings bank, or by a trust company or by a firm having membership on a registered national securities exchange.
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Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Co.
To:

April 25, 2013

Alcobra Ltd.
35 Ehad Ha’am St.
Tel-Aviv 6520206, Israel
Re: Registration Statement on Form F-1
Ladies and Gentlemen,
We have acted as Israeli counsel for Alcobra Ltd., an Israeli company (the “Company”), in connection with the underwritten initial public offering (the “Offering”) by the
Company of the following securities (all of which are collectively referred to herein as the “Securities”): (i) up to an aggregate of 1,569,750 shares (the “Offered Shares”) of the
Company’s ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share (the “Ordinary Shares”), including shares issuable upon exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option; (ii) a
warrant (the “Representative’s Warrant”) to purchase up to an aggregate of 68,250 Ordinary Shares; and (iii) 68,250 Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise of the
Representative’s Warrant (the “Warrant Shares”). This opinion letter is rendered pursuant to Item 8(a) of Form F-1 of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) and Item 601(b)(5) of the SEC’s Regulation S-K under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”).
In connection herewith, we have examined the originals, photocopies or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of: (i) the form of the registration
statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-186003), filed by the Company with the SEC and to which this opinion is attached as an exhibit (the “Registration Statement”); (ii) the
exhibits to the Registration Statement including the form of Underwriting Agreement between the Company and Aegis Capital Corp., as representatives of the several
underwriters (the “Underwriting Agreement”), (iii) the Representative’s Warrant (iv) copies of the articles of association of the Company, as currently in effect; (v) copies of the
amended and restated articles of association of the Company to become effective concurrently with the Offering; (vi) resolutions of the board of directors of the Company which
have heretofore been approved which relate to the Registration Statement and the actions to be taken in connection with the Offering; and (vii) such other corporate records,
agreements, documents and other instruments, and such certificates or comparable documents of public officials and of officers and representatives of the Company, and have
made inquires of such officers and representatives as we have deemed relevant and necessary as a basis for the opinions hereafter set forth.
In such examination, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the legal capacity of all natural persons, the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as
originals, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to us as certified, confirmed as photostatic copies and the authenticity of the originals of such latter
documents. As to all questions of fact material to these opinions that have not been independently established, we have relied upon certificates or comparable documents of
officers and representatives of the Company.
Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that (i) the Securities have been duly authorized for issuance by all necessary corporate action by the
Company; (ii) upon payment to the Company of the consideration in such amount and form as shall be determined by the board of directors of the Company or an authorized
committee thereof, the Offered Shares, when issued and sold in the Offering as described in the Registration Statement, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable; (iii)
the Representative’s Warrant, when executed and delivered by the Company in accordance with and in the manner described in the Registration Statement and the Underwriting
Agreement, will be validly issued and will constitute a valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and equitable principles of general applicability; and (iv) the Warrant Shares, when issued
and sold by the Company and delivered by the Company against receipt of the exercise price therefor, in accordance with and in the manner described in the Registration
Statement and the Representative’s Warrant, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.
We are members of the Bar of the State of Israel and we do not express any opinion as to the laws of any other jurisdiction other than those of the State of Israel.

We consent to the filing of this opinion as an exhibit to the Registration Statement and to the reference to our firm appearing under the caption “Legal Matters” and
“Enforceability of Civil Liabilities” in the prospectus forming part of the Registration Statement. In giving this consent, we do not thereby admit that we are within the category
of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the rules and regulations of the SEC.
Very truly yours,
/s/ Zysman, Aharoni, Gayer & Co.
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Exhibit 10.9
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
AND
A NOTICE UNDER THE NOTICE TO EMPLOYEE LAW
(TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT), 5762 – 2002
Duly executed at the 4 date of March, 2010
BY AND BETWEEN
ALCOBRA LTD.
Company incorporated under the laws of the State of Israel
(the “Company”)
AND
Yaron Daniely I.D. 038300331
(the “Executive”)
WHEREAS

the Company wishes to employ the Executive according to the terms and conditions set herein; and

WHEREAS

the Executive agrees to be employed by the Company according to the said terms and conditions; and

WHEREAS

Executive's employment requires Executive's involvement with confidential information of the Company.

Now therefore, in considerations of the mutual promises and agreements, the parties hereto agree, declare and stipulate as follows:
1.

General
The preamble and any appendix attached hereto shall constitute an integral part hereof.

2.

The Company hereby hires the Executive as CEO of the Company reporting to the Company's Board of Directors and Executive accepts such employment upon the
following terms and conditions.

3.

The Executive shall be employed as a "full time employee", in accordance with the standard working hours in the Company.

4.

5.

Term and Termination
4.1.

The term of this Agreement shall commence as of May _, 2010. This Agreement is for an unlimited duration. Notwithstanding the above, each party to this
Agreement may terminate it without cause upon serving the other party a written notice, 60 days in advance (the “Term”, “Notice”). During the period after
Notice is given, the Executive shall continue to perform all of his obligations pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, by
notifying Executive concurrently with or at any time after a termination Notice is delivered by either party hereto, Company shall be entitled to waive
Executive’s services with Company during the Notice period or any part thereof and/or terminate the employer-employee relationship prior to the completion of
the Notice period; In such events Company shall pay Executive that sum equal to the amount which Executive would have been entitled to receive for his
services rendered until the lapse of the Notice period absent such waiver or termination, as applicable.

4.2.

Upon termination of this Agreement, for whatever reason, the Executive shall immediately return to the Company all the information, documents, office
equipment, furniture, computers, fax machines, cellular telephone and Company car (if applicable) and other supplies which the Executive received. The
Executive hereby waives any rights to withhold or retain any of the items above, whether the Executive had the right under law or contract or otherwise. During
the period following the Notice was given, the Executive shall cooperate with the Company and use his best efforts to assist the integration into the Company’s
organization of the person or persons who will assume the Executive’s responsibilities.

4.3.

Notwithstanding the above, the Company shall be entitled to immediately terminate this Agreement without providing a prior notice and with no additional
compensation in the following events: (i) Executive has willfully failing to perform duties, consistent with his position, under this Agreement, provided that the
Company informed on such failure and such failure was not cured ; (ii) Executive has committed a dishonorable criminal offense; (iii) Executive is in breach of
his duties of trust or loyalty to Company or the commission by the Executive of an act of fraud or embezzlement, or any other act involving the
misappropriation of funds or assets of the Company or any of its affiliates; (iv) Executive deliberately causes harm to Company’s business affairs; (v) Executive
breaches any of his confidentiality and/or non-competition and/or non-solicitation and/or assignment of inventions provisions of this Agreement; and/or (vi)
circumstances that do not entitle Executive to severance payments under any applicable law and/or under any judicial decision of a competent tribunal
("Termination For Cause").

Executive’s representations and undertakings
5.1.

The Executive represents and warrants to the Company that the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the fulfillment of the terms hereof (i) will not
constitute a default under or breach of any agreement or instrument to which he is party or by which he is bound, including without limitation, any
confidentially and non competition agreement, (ii) does not require the consent of any person or entity (iii) shall not utilize during the Term any proprietary
information of any third party, including prior employers of the Executive.
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5.2.

The Executive undertakes to comply with the Company's disciplinary regulations, work rules, policies, procedures and objectives, and the policy with respect to
the prevention of sexual harassment code as set from time to time and with the requirements of the applicable law.

5.3.

During the Term, the Executive shall, except during customary vacation periods and periods of illness or military service (Milu’im), devote all necessary time
and attention to the business of the Company and shall perform his duties diligently and promptly for the benefit of the Company. The Executive shall devote all
his attention to promoting the best interests of the Company. The Executive shall competently perform all assigned duties, carry out the policies, directives, and
decisions of the Company.

5.4.

Unless authorized in writing by the Board of Directors, the Executive shall not undertake or accept any other (paid or unpaid) employment or occupation or
engage in or be associated with, directly or indirectly, any other businesses, duties or pursuits, other than the Executive prior academic obligations requiring, in
aggregate, not more than 2 hours of the Executive's work-time per week ("Additional Engagement(s)"). The Executive shall inform the Company's Board of
Directors in advance of any Additional Engagements he intends to undertake or accept. The Executive undertakes to immediately and without delay inform the
Company of any affairs and/or matters that might constitute a conflict of interest with Executive’s Position and/or employment with Company.

5.5.

The Executive acknowledges and agrees that Executive’s position with the Company is one that requires a special measure of personal trust as defined under the
Work and Rest Hours Law, 5711-1951, and therefore, the provisions of such law shall not apply to the Executive. The Executive further acknowledges and
agrees that his duties and responsibilities may entail irregular work hours and extensive traveling, for which he is adequately rewarded by the compensation
provided for in this Agreement. Not withholding from the above, the Executive shall report his work hours as required by law.

5.6.

The Executive shall be employed by the Company at its offices in such place as shall be determined by the Company. However, it is agreed that the Executive
may be required to spend time in other offices of the Company in Israel and worldwide.
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In this Section 5 the term ‘Company’ shall include the Company and its subsidiaries and branches.
6.

Compensation
Executive shall be entitled to compensation and other benefits and conditions as detailed in Appendix A attached hereto.

7.

Confidentiality and Non Compete Undertakings
The Executive undertakes, in addition to any other commitment he may take upon himself, and without derogating from any such undertaking, to confirm and fulfill all
the undertakings set in the non disclosure, assignment of rights and non competition undertaking is attached hereto as Appendix B.

8.

Media Equipment
The Company may provide the Executive with a cellular phone, a computer, an e-mail or any other property of the Company for communication needs during the
Executive's work (the "Media Equipment"). The Executive undertakes to use the Company’s Media Equipment and facilities only for the purpose of his employment.
The Executive acknowledges that all of the Media Equipment is the property of the Company and agrees that the Company is entitled to conduct inspections within the
Company’s offices and on the Company’s the Media Equipment, including inspections of e-mail transmissions, internet usage and inspections of their content at the
Company's discretion. For the avoidance of any doubt, it is hereby clarified that all such examination findings shall be the Company’s sole property. The Executive
acknowledges that, in order to keep his privacy, he should avoid any personal use of the Company’s Media Equipment and facilities. By Signing this Agreement, The
Executive grants the Company an irrevocable right to conduct inspections as aforesaid, including unannounced inspections.

9.

Military Reserve Duty
Executive shall inform Company of any military reserve duty Executive has been ordered to perform, immediately after he has been notified of the same. Executive
undertakes to provide Company with proper confirmation of active military reserve duty, so that Company may collect from the National Insurance Institute all amounts
to which Executive or Company is entitled in connection with such service.

10.

Miscellaneous
10.1.

In the event of (i) a merger, acquisition or reorganization of the Company with one or more other entities, in which the Company is not the surviving entity; or
(ii) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets or shares of the Company, the Company may assign or transfer this Agreement or any right, claim or obligation
provided herein, provided however that none of Executive’s rights under this Agreement are thereby diminished.
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10.2.

Company shall withhold, or charge Executive with, all taxes and other compulsory payments as required under applicable law with respect to all payments,
benefits and/or other compensation paid to Executive in connection with his employment with Company.

10.3.

Company shall be entitled to offset from any and/or all payments to which Executive shall be entitled thereof, any and/or all amounts to which Company shall
be entitled from Executive at such time.

10.4.

Captions and paragraph headings used in this Agreement are for convenience purposes only and shall not be used for the interpretation thereof.

10.5.

The terms and conditions of this Agreement are strictly confidential and shall not be disclosed to any of other Company’s employees. Breaching of this section
shall be considered a material breach of Executive’s fiduciary duties as well as of this Agreement. The Company will provide this information only on a need to
know basis, or according to the law.

10.6.

This Agreement shall survive an accidental invalidity of one or more of its sections. Company’s failure or delay in enforcing any of the provisions of this
Agreement shall not, in any way, be construed as a waiver of any such provisions, or prevent Company thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision
of this Agreement which were previously not enforced.

10.7.

This Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Israel. All disputes arising from this Agreement shall be
exclusively referred to the competent courts of Tel Aviv-Jaffa district, Israel.

10.8.

This Agreement, including its appendices, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof. Amendments to, and
modifications of, this Agreement, shall be effective only upon approval thereof by both parties in writing. This Agreement and the appendixes hereto shall be
deemed as a notice to the Executive in accordance with the Notice to Employees Law (Terms and Conditions of Employment), 5762-2002.
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10.9.

All notices, requests and other communications to any party hereunder shall be given or made in writing and electronically transmitted, mailed (by registered or
certified mail) or delivered by hand to the respective party at the address set forth in the caption of this Agreement or to such other address (or facsimile number
or an e-mail address) as such party may hereafter specify for the purpose of notice to the other party hereto. Each such notice, request or other communication
shall be effective (i) if given by facsimile or e- mail, when such facsimile or electronic mail is transmitted to the facsimile number or electronic mail address
specified herein and the appropriate answerback is received or (ii) if given by any other means, when delivered at the address specified herein.

In witness whereof the parties hereunder set their hands
/s/ Yaron Daniely
Yaron Daniely

/s/ Udi Gilboa
Alcobra Ltd.
By:
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Udi Gilboa

APPENDIX A
1.

Subject to and in consideration of Executive’s fulfillment of his obligations in pursuance of this Agreement, Company shall pay Executive a monthly gross salary of NIS
45,000 (the “Monthly Salary”).

2.

The Monthly Salary shall be paid no later than the ninth day after the end of any calendar month. From the said payment the Company will deduct any obligatory and/or
agreed deductions, including, without limitation, income tax, health tax and social security.

3.

The Monthly Salary shall serve as the basis for deductions and contributions to the management fund and advanced study fund (keren hishtalmut) pursuant to section 5
hereunder, and for the calculation of all social benefits.

4.

Vacation

5.

4.1.

The Executive shall be entitled to 18 vacation days (the “Vacation Days”), with respect to each twelve (12) months’ period of continuous employment with the
Company.

4.2.

The dates of the Executive’s vacation shall be coordinated by the Company and the Executive, in accordance with the Company’s needs. The Company shall be
entitled to set uniform dates for vacation to all or part of its employees, as it shall deem fit.

4.3.

The Executive shall be entitled to carry forward only the unused vacation days out of the Vacation Days, from one year to the next, provided that the Executive
shall not, at any time, accumulate more than twice the Vacation Days. Any unused Vacation Days exceeding the aforesaid accumulation quota shall be cancelled,
subject to applicable law.

4.4.

The Executive will be entitled to redeem his unused vacation days, accumulated in accordance herewith, upon termination of employment.

Certain Benefits
5.1.

The Company shall grant the Executive the following benefits: (i) An “Advanced Study Fund” (to which the Company shall pay, on a monthly basis, an amount
equal to 7.5% of the Monthly Salary against deduction of 2.5% of the base salary, as the Executive’s contribution, and transfer thereof to the Advanced Study
Fund); (ii) “Management Fund” to which the Company shall pay, on a monthly basis, contributions in an amount equal to 13 1/3% (8 1/3% toward severance
and 5% toward savings) of the Monthly Salary and disability insurance (Ovdan Kosher Avoda) according to Company policy, against deduction from the
Monthly Salary of an amount equal to 5% of the Monthly Salary as Executive’s contribution towards savings to the Management Fund.
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5.2.

To avoid any doubt it is explicitly stated that the payments of the Company for severance compensation are done to cover and to insure the Company’s future
contingent liability to pay the Executive severance compensation, in case the Executive shall be entitled to receive such compensation according to applicable
law. This section is in accordance with Section 14 of the Severance Compensation Law, 1963 and the General Approval of the Labor Minister, dated June 30,
1998 issued in accordance with the said section 14, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix C. The Executive hereby expressly agrees to the
arrangement according to the said section 14 as specified in Appendix C.

6.

The Executive shall be entitled to recreation pay (Dmei havra’a) according to the Israeli regulations as in effect from time to time with respect to such pay.

7.

The Executive shall be entitled to such number of days for sick leave according to the Sick Pay Law - 1976.

8.

Company car: The Executive shall be provided with a level 4 company car (the "Company Car") according to the Company's policy. The Company Car is provided to
the Executive for work purposes and due to the nature of the Executive's duties towards the Company. The Company agrees, leniently, that the Executive shall be entitled
to use the Company Car for personal purposes in Executive's spare time. It is hereby agreed that Executive shall be entitled to use the Company Car during the notice
period in the event of termination of this Agreement. The expenses relating to the Company Car (except for Income Tax and other compulsory deductions) including
with out limitation, fuel, insurance, annual test maintenance costs and highway tolls shall be paid by the Company. In case of damage subject to excess insurance due to
driver's conduct or responsibility, the Executive shall bear such excess insurance. The Company Car shall be considered as reimbursement of travel expenses pursuant to
applicable law (to the extent the Executive is entitled to such travel expenses under law). Executive shall bear and pay all penalties and expenses relating to any violation
of law committed in connection with the use of the Company Car. Executive hereby irrevocably authorizes Company to set off and deduct all amounts that may be owed
to Company under this subsection against any and all amounts due to Executive from the Company under this Agreement or from any source whatsoever.

9.

Mobile phone. The Company shall furnish the Executive with a mobile phone, and shall bear all costs and expenses relating thereto, not including tax gross up, in
accordance with the Company’s policy, as amended from time to time. Upon termination of this Agreement, for whatever reason, the Company may, at the Executive's
request and expense, transfer the ownership in the mobile phone and number to the Executive. The value of the benefit to Executive with regard to such mobile phone
shall not be deemed as an integral part of the Monthly Salary for any intent and purpose (including without limitation for the purpose of the Executive's entitlement to
severance pay and payments towards the pension policy and Keren Hishtalmut).
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10.

Options.
10.1.

The Executive shall be granted with an option to purchase 43,000 Ordinary Shares, 0.01 par value each of the Company (the “Option”). The exercise price of
the Option shall be US$ 1.923 per share equal to 15% of the price per share offered in the Preferred B round. The Option shall be subject to a four (4) years
vesting schedule with a 1 year cliff as to 25% of the Option and the remaining 75% vesting on a quarterly basis during the following three (3) years. The grant
of the Option is subject to the Executive exercising the Company's standard Option Agreement and to the approval of the Company's Board of Directors for the
grant. All of the unvested options under this Option shall automatically vest immediately prior to a Transaction (as defined in the Company's Incentive Option
Plan).

10.2.

All other terms of the Option, shall be subject to the Company’s Incentive Option Plan and in accordance therewith.
/s/ Yaron Daniely
Yaron Daniely

/s/ Udi Gilboa
Alcobra Ltd.
By:
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Udi Gilboa

APPENDIX B
SECRECY, NON-COMPETITION AND PROPRIETARY
INFORMATION AGREEMENT
This Secrecy, Non-Competition and Proprietary Information Agreement (the "Agreement") is made as of the ____ day of February, 2010 by and between Alcobra Ltd. (the
“Company”) and Yaron Daniely (the “Executive”).
1.

Secrecy

(a)
The Executive recognizes and acknowledges that Executive’s access to the trade secrets and confidential or proprietary information (collectively, the
“Confidential Information”) of the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries (collectively, the “Companies”), is essential to the performance of Executive’s duties as an
employee of the Company.
By way of illustration and not limitation, such Confidential Information shall include (i) any and all information concerning the business and affairs of the Companies, product
specifications, data, know-how, compositions, processes, formulas, methods, designs, samples, inventions and ideas, past, current and future development or experimental work,
current and future distribution methods and processes, customer lists, current and future customer requirements, price lists, market studies, business plans, computer software and
programs (including object code and source code), computer software and database technologies, systems, structures and architectures (and related processes, algorithms,
compositions, improvements, know-how, inventions, discoveries, concepts, ideas, designs, methods and information) of the Company, and any other information, however
documented of the Companies; (ii) any and all information concerning the business and affairs of the Companies (which includes historical financial statements, financial
projections and budgets, historical and projected sales, capital spending budgets and plans, the names and backgrounds of key personnel, personnel training and techniques and
materials), however documented; and (iii) all derivatives, improvements and enhancements to the Company’s technology which are created or developed by Executive while an
employee of the Company or while otherwise providing services to the Company; and (iv) information of third parties as to which the Company has an obligation of
confidentiality; and (v) any and all notes, analysis, compilations, studies, summaries, and other material prepared by or for the Companies containing or based, in whole or in part,
on any information included in the foregoing.
The Confidential Information shall not include information which: (i) has become publicly known and made generally available through no wrongful act of Executive; (ii) was
known to the Executive prior to his involvement with the Companies; (iii) was or is developed by the Executive not during his employment by the Companies and not in relation,
directly or indirectly, to the Companies’ business and was not or is not created or prepared during working hours in the Companies or in the Companies' premises or with the
Companies' equipment, provided that such information is not in any way competitive or likely to be competing with the Companies’ business as currently conducted and as may
be conducted in the future.
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(b)
Executive further recognizes and acknowledges that such Confidential Information is a valuable and unique asset of the Company's, and that its use or
disclosure (except use or disclosure as required for carrying out Executive’s duties as an employee of the Company) would cause the Company substantial loss and damages.
Executive undertakes and agrees that Executive will not, in whole or in part, disclose such Confidential Information to any person or organization under any circumstances
(except disclosure as required for carrying out Executive’s duties as an employee of the Company), will not make use of any such Confidential Information for Executive’s own
purposes or for the benefit of any other person or organization, and will not reproduce any of the Confidential Information without the Company’s prior written consent; provided,
however, that this provision shall not preclude Executive from making, upon written advice of counsel satisfactory to the Company, any disclosure required by any applicable law
or from using or disclosing information lawfully known generally to the public (other than information known generally to the public as a result of any violation of this subsection
(b) by or on behalf of Executive).
(c)

Executive will not disclose or otherwise make available to the Companies in any manner any confidential information received by Executive from third parties.

(d)

The obligations set forth in this section are perpetual, and shall survive termination of Executive’s employment with the Company.

(e)
Executive further recognizes and acknowledges that the Company has received and in the future will receive from third parties their confidential or proprietary
information subject to certain limited purposes. Executive agrees to hold all such confidential or proprietary information in the strictest confidence and not to disclose it to any
person, firm or corporation or to use it except as necessary in carrying out Executive’s work for the Company consistent with the Company’s agreement with the third party.
2.
Return of Materials
Upon termination of Executive’s employment with the Company or at the request of the Company before termination, Executive will promptly deliver to the Company all copies
of all written and tangible material, in Executive’s possession or under Executive’s control, incorporating the Confidential Information or otherwise relating to the Company’s
business, without retaining any copies thereof. The obligations set forth in this subsection shall survive termination of Executive’s employment with the Company.
3.

Ownership of Property and Rights

(a)
Exclusive Property. Executive confirms that all Confidential Information and Inventions (as defined below) are, will be, and shall remain the exclusive property
of the Company for its sole and exclusive use and benefit. All business records, papers and documents however documented kept or made by Executive during the employment of
the Executive by the Company shall be and remain the property of the Company.
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(b)
Assignment & Waiver. All Inventions (as defined below) designed or developed by, with the participation of, or under the supervision of Executive, shall be
owned exclusively by the Company. Executive hereby assigns and waives to the Company, without any additional consideration to Executive other than his Monthly Salary, the
entire right, title and interest in and to any ideas, inventions, original works of authorship, developments, improvements, modifications, enhancements, trade secrets, and in and to
any documentation, software, hardware, firmware, creative works, know-how and information, conceived or reduced to practice, in whole or in part, by Executive during time he
is actually associated with the Company (irrespective of the commencement date stated in Section 4.1 of the Agreement and irrespective of any Additional Engagements) which
are related to the Company’s business as currently conducted and as may be conducted during the Term, whether or not such Inventions patentable, copyrightable or otherwise
protectable, and Executive assigns to the Company as above stated, the entire right, title and interest in and to any proprietary rights therein or based thereon (collectively, the
“Inventions”).
It is hereby clarified that Executive waives any right Executive may have to royalties or any other payment from the Company with regard to the assigned Inventions, including
any right to royalties pursuant to Section 134 to the Patents Law, 1967.
(c)
Perfection of Rights. Executive shall provide all assistance the Company may request, and shall execute, verify and deliver such documents and perform such
other acts (including appearing as a witness) the Company may reasonably request for use in applying for, obtaining, perfecting, evidencing, sustaining and enforcing such
proprietary rights and the assignment thereof, as set forth above. Executive’s obligation to assist the Company with respect to proprietary rights in any and all countries shall
continue beyond the termination of Executive’s employment with the Company, but the Company shall compensate Executive at a reasonable rate after termination of Executive’s
employment for the time actually spent by Executive at the Company’s request on providing such assistance.
(d)

Survivability. The obligations set forth in this section are perpetual, and shall survive termination of Executive’s employment with the Company.

(e)
Attorney-in-fact. If the Company is unable because of the Executive’s mental or physical incapacity or the Executive's refusal to cooperate with the
Company after receiving the Company's request pursuant Section 3(c) above to secure the Executive’s signature to application for any Israeli or foreign patent or
copyright registration covering Inventions or original works of authorship assigned to the Company as set forth above, Executive hereby irrevocably designates and
appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for in behalf and stead to execute and file any such
application and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of letter patent or copyright registration thereon with same legal force
and effect as if executed by the Executive.
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4.
No Competition. For so long as Executive is employed by the Company and continuing for 12 months after the termination or expiration of such employment, Executive
shall not, directly or indirectly:
(a)
solicit, endeavor to entice away from the Companies or otherwise interfere with the relationship of the Companies with any person or organization who is, or
was within the preceding two years, a customer of the Companies, or who is employed by the Companies; or
(b)
own an interest in, manage, operate, join, control, or participate in or be connected with, as an officer, employee, partner, stockholder, consultant or otherwise,
any project, at such time, directly competes with the Company anywhere in the world; provided that this shall not preclude Executive from owning a stock interest not greater
than 1% in a publicly traded company.
(c)
Provide to any competitor of the Company technological, marketing or other information connected to the Company and its products, and/or knowledge
acquired during time Executive was associated with the Company (irrespective of the commencement date stated in Section 4.1 of the Agreement and irrespective of any
Additional Engagements).
5.
Enforcement. The Company may enforce this Agreement and any of its provisions by injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief, without bond and
without prejudice to any other rights and remedies that the Company may have for the breach of this Agreement. This Agreement shall be enforced to the fullest extent
permissible under the laws of the State of Israel, without regard to its conflict of law principles. If any portion of this Agreement shall be adjudicated to be invalid or
unenforceable, it shall be deemed to be amended to delete such portion. Executive expressly consents to the exclusive personal jurisdiction and venue of Tel-Aviv courts for any
lawsuit arising from or relating to this Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date written first above.
Alcobra Ltd.

Yaron Daniely

/s/ Udi Gilboa

/s/ Yaron Daniely

Name and Title: Udi Gilboa, CFO

-13-

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" and to the use of our report dated January 14, 2013 (Except for Note 9.a and Note 13 to which the date is XX,
2013) with respect to the financial statements of Alcobra Ltd. Included in Amendment No. 5 to the Registration Statement on Form F-1 and related Prospectus of Alcobra Ltd.,
dated April 25, 2013.
KOST, FORER, GABBAY & KASIERER
A member of Ernst & Young Global
The foregoing report is in the form that will be signed upon completion of the bonus shares described in Note 9(a) to the financial statements.
Tel-Aviv, Israel

/s/ KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER
KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER

April 25, 2013

A Member of Ernst & Young Global

